IFIP AICT 449

Kecheng Liu Keiichi Nakata Weizi Li Daniel Galarreta (Eds.)

Information and Knowledge Management in Complex Systems

16th IFIP WG 8.1 International Conference on Informatics and Semiotics in Organisations, ICISO 2015 Toulouse, France, March 19–20, 2015 Proceedings



IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology

449

Editor-in-Chief

Kai Rannenberg, Goethe University Frankfurt, Germany

Editorial Board

Foundations of Computer Science Jacques Sakarovitch, Télécom ParisTech, France
Software: Theory and Practice Michael Goedicke, University of Duisburg-Essen, Germany
Education Arthur Tatnall, Victoria University, Melbourne, Australia
Information Technology Applications Erich J. Neuhold, University of Vienna, Austria
Communication Systems Aiko Pras, University of Twente, Enschede, The Netherlands
System Modeling and Optimization Fredi Tröltzsch, TU Berlin, Germany
Information Systems Jan Pries-Heje, Roskilde University, Denmark
ICT and Society Diane Whitehouse, The Castlegate Consultancy, Malton, UK
Computer Systems Technology Ricardo Reis, Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil
Security and Privacy Protection in Information Processing Systems Yuko Murayama, Iwate Prefectural University, Japan
Artificial Intelligence Tharam Dillon, Curtin University, Bentley, Australia
Human-Computer Interaction Jan Gulliksen, KTH Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, Sweden
Entertainment Computing Matthias Rauterberg, Eindhoven University of Technology, The Netherlands

IFIP - The International Federation for Information Processing

IFIP was founded in 1960 under the auspices of UNESCO, following the First World Computer Congress held in Paris the previous year. An umbrella organization for societies working in information processing, IFIP's aim is two-fold: to support information processing within its member countries and to encourage technology transfer to developing nations. As its mission statement clearly states,

IFIP's mission is to be the leading, truly international, apolitical organization which encourages and assists in the development, exploitation and application of information technology for the benefit of all people.

IFIP is a non-profitmaking organization, run almost solely by 2500 volunteers. It operates through a number of technical committees, which organize events and publications. IFIP's events range from an international congress to local seminars, but the most important are:

- The IFIP World Computer Congress, held every second year;
- Open conferences;
- Working conferences.

The flagship event is the IFIP World Computer Congress, at which both invited and contributed papers are presented. Contributed papers are rigorously refereed and the rejection rate is high.

As with the Congress, participation in the open conferences is open to all and papers may be invited or submitted. Again, submitted papers are stringently refereed.

The working conferences are structured differently. They are usually run by a working group and attendance is small and by invitation only. Their purpose is to create an atmosphere conducive to innovation and development. Refereeing is also rigorous and papers are subjected to extensive group discussion.

Publications arising from IFIP events vary. The papers presented at the IFIP World Computer Congress and at open conferences are published as conference proceedings, while the results of the working conferences are often published as collections of selected and edited papers.

Any national society whose primary activity is about information processing may apply to become a full member of IFIP, although full membership is restricted to one society per country. Full members are entitled to vote at the annual General Assembly, National societies preferring a less committed involvement may apply for associate or corresponding membership. Associate members enjoy the same benefits as full members, but without voting rights. Corresponding members are not represented in IFIP bodies. Affiliated membership is open to non-national societies, and individual and honorary membership schemes are also offered. Kecheng Liu Keiichi Nakata Weizi Li Daniel Galarreta (Eds.)

Information and Knowledge Management in Complex Systems

16th IFIP WG 8.1 International Conference on Informatics and Semiotics in Organisations, ICISO 2015 Toulouse, France, March 19-20, 2015 Proceedings



Volume Editors

Kecheng Liu Keiichi Nakata Weizi Li University of Reading Informatics Research Centre Reading, RG6 6UG, UK E-mail: {k.liu, k.nakata, weizi.li}@henley.ac.uk

Daniel Galarreta Centre national d'études spatiales (CNES) 2, place Maurice Quentin, 75001 Paris, France E-mail: daniel.galarreta@cnes.fr

ISSN 1868-4238 e-ISSN 1868-422X ISBN 978-3-319-16273-7 e-ISBN 978-3-319-16274-4 DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-16274-4 Springer Cham Heidelberg New York Dordrecht London

Library of Congress Control Number: 2015932255

© IFIP International Federation for Information Processing 2015

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Exempted from this legal reservation are brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis or material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the Copyright Law of the Publisher's location, in ist current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Permissions for use may be obtained through RightsLink at the Copyright Clearance Center. Violations are liable to prosecution under the respective Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Typesetting: Camera-ready by author, data conversion by Scientific Publishing Services, Chennai, India

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Preface

The 16th International Conference on Informatics and Semiotics in Organisations (ICISO 2015), following the footsteps of earlier events in the conference series, was devoted to the latest research in informatics and organizational semiotics. The aim of this conference is to provide a focal forum for participants from various domains of information management and information systems, computational science, semiotics, finance and accounting, business and enterprise, service science, and business and engineering. One of the important emphases of this 16th conference was information and knowledge management of complex systems, such as large-scale projects, network of networks, and dynamic and evolving enterprises (see www.orgsem.org for earlier conferences since 1995).

Effective information and knowledge management through the entire lifetime of a complex system such as a space project or a network of networks is critical. Some systems such as space projects are transient and dynamic, with clearly defined stages and involving different players at these stages. Consistency, coherence, and continuity in information and knowledge management are the key to success. However, an adoption of information and knowledge management is often hindered right from the beginning by the challenges and sometimes resultant deficiencies in understanding the complex system itself, and by the related requirements for information and knowledge management.

Between stating the broad objectives and defining precisely the means of satisfying them with a clear plan of action, the project requires the contribution of a growing and changing community of players that must also develop trusting relationships and be able to share information and knowledge, even while working on designs and plans that often introduce creative but possibly conflicting ideas. Such a situation is not the prerogative of space projects; other projects and dynamic systems such as nuclear engineering and product innovation, for instance, also share these characteristics.

Information is an important resource for any organization, whether it is large or small, or in the service or production sector. To understand the nature of information and how it can be effectively managed and used in organizations is highly relevant. Following earlier events in the series, the key theme of this conference was on information, and management in complex organizations such as space industries and research institutions. Particular interest was placed in exploring and understanding from both theoretical and empirical perspectives how information enables an organization to sustain and, furthermore, to leverage innovation and competitiveness. In both cases, the organizations will rely heavily on effective management and use of information.

Informatics is the study of information as a resource, which helps a business organization, often through knowledge management, innovation, and service design, engineering, and management. Organizational semiotics, as a discipline of study of sign, information, and human communication in organized contexts, will provide a holistic and comprehensive approach with which to examine the issues of information management and utilization from a scholarly and practical perspective.

The conference received 46 paper submissions from 17 countries, which demonstrates the success and global dimension of this conference. From these, 21 (45%) were accepted for presentation. These numbers show the intention of preserving a high level of quality for future editions of this conference. The papers are organized into five topics: organizational semiotics theory and concepts, organizational semiotics application, information systems and services, complex system modelling and simulation, innovation and organizational learning.

The high quality of the papers received imposed difficult choices in the review process. To evaluate each submission, two rounds of paper review were performed by the Program Committee and reviewing panels, whose members are highly qualified researchers in the conference topic areas. Moreover, ICISO also featured a number of keynote lectures delivered by internationally recognized experts, namely, Mr. Ruediger Suess and Mr. Uwe Knodt from DLR German Aerospace Centre, Cologne, Germany, and Dr. Vincent Minier and Dr. Vincent Bontems from CEA French Alternative Energies and Atomic Energy Commission, Saclay, France. Although not included in this volume, we also had great pleasure in having a special contribution from, Prof. Ronald Stamper. These special contributions were significant highlights and brought great added value to the conference.

Building an interesting and successful program for the conference required the dedicated effort of many people. We would like to express our thanks to all authors including those whose papers were not included in the program. We would also like to express our gratitude to all members of the Program Committee and auxiliary reviewers, who helped us with their expertise and valuable time. Furthermore, we thank the invited speakers for their invaluable contribution and for taking the time to prepare their talks.

Moreover, we thank the session chairs, whose contribution to the diversity of the programme was essential. Finally, we gratefully acknowledge the professional and organizational support from Centre National d'Etudes Spatiale (CNES), France, and Henley Business School, University of Reading, UK.

January 2015

Kecheng Liu Keiichi Nakata Weizi Li Daniel Galarreta

Organization

Conference Chair

Kecheng Liu	University of Reading, UK		
Program Chairs			
Daniel Galarreta	Centre National d'Etudes Spatiale (CNES), France		
Keiichi Nakata	University of Reading, UK		
Publication Chair			
Wenge Rong	Beihang University, China		
Organizing Chairs			
Daniel Galarreta	Centre National d'Etudes Spatiale (CNES), France		
Weizi Li	University of Reading, UK		
Conference Secretariat			
Shixiong Liu Siwen Liu	University of Reading, UK University of Reading, UK		
Program Committee			
Joseph Barjis	Delft University of Technology, The Netherlands		
Rodrigo Bonacin	State University of Campinas , Brazil		
Mang Tang Chan	Hong Kong City University, China		
Pierre-Jean Charrel	IRIT, France		
Deren Chen	Zhejiang University, China		
Michola Doni	Iniversité de Nîmer, Site Heche, France		
Hui Du	Beijing Jisotong University China		
John Effah	University of Ghana Business School Ghana		
Haiqi Feng	Central University of Finance and Economics, China		
Joaquim Filipe	Technical Institute of Setubal, Portugal		

Tim French University of Bedfordshire, UK Renchu Gan Beijing Institute of Technology, China Huiving Gao Beijing Institute of Technology, China Stephen Gulliver University of Reading, UK Selcuk Burak Hasiloglu Pamukkale University, Turkey Rafiqul Zaman Khan Aligarh Muslim University, India Pericles Loucopoulos University of Manchester, UK Aimin Luo National University of Defense Technology. China Vania Neris Federal University of São Carlos, Brazil Angela Nobre Technical Institute of Setubal, Portugal Andreas Oberweis Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Germany Janos J. Sarbo University of Nijmegen, The Netherlands Keng Siau University of Nebraska-Lincoln, USA Ismael Soto University of Santiago, Chile Ronald Stamper University of Twente, The Netherlands Lilv Sun University of Reading, UK Yinshan Tang University of Reading, UK Christina Tay Chinese Culture University, Taipei, Taiwan Martin Wheatman Brightace Ltd., UK Mohammad Yamin King Abdulaziz University, Saudi Arabia Zhijun Yan Beijing Institute of Technology, China Changrui Yu Shanghai University of Finance and Economics, China Wuhan University of Science and Technology, Yunchuan Zhang China Alessandro Zinna Laboratoire dEtudes et Recherches Appliquées en Sciences Sociales, France

Additional Reviewers

Xiuxiu Chen Jing Li Shixiong Liu Roberto Pereira Chekfoung Tan Beijing Institute of Technology, China Beijing Jiaotong University, China University of Reading, UK University of Campinas, Brazil University of Reading, UK Sponsors







In cooperation with







Abstracts of Invited Talks

Bottom-Up! - Social Knowledge Sharing in DLR

Ruediger Suess and Uwe Knodt

DLR German Aerospace Centre, Cologne, Germany

As a research organisation, the German Aerospace Centre (DLR) relies on creative and disruptive ideas to create new knowledge efficiently. But how can those new ideas be raised when you see that there is a lot of inefficiency in the knowledge flow? Three years ago Mr. Uwe Knodt started to investigate the knowledge management processes of DLR. For this purpose a new internal project "Establishing an integrated knowledge management system (EIWis)" was launched. By conducting surveys on employees' needs concerning knowledge, he found out that the knowledge processes were not primarily driven by technology but especially by the way people react and interchange information with each other. The information technology is not the key to a successful knowledge management, but the people are. Following that, the improvement of knowledge processes can be done by bringing the right people together - whether online or offline – in order to share their knowledge and develop new ideas. Whenever technology is used to enhance these knowledge processes, it has to be in a social way to improve the bottom-up knowledge flow.

Mr Ruediger Suess integrated EIWis into his strategic project portfolio. He connected other strategic projects with knowledge management and reported the results directly to the board. He will show how an organized project portfolio can help to reach the strategic goals.

Uwe and Ruediger will also show two examples. The first example is the DLR-Wiki, in which each employee can easily share his/her own knowledge with others inside DLR. The second example is the Knowledge Sharing Meeting, a format of collaboration workshops aiming at creating communities of experts by using a bottom-up approach with the acceptance of executive staff. An overview of the other knowledge management activities at DLR will also be given.

Mr Ruediger Suess is project portfolio manager at the Corporate Strategy and Alliances division at the headquarters of DLR – the German Aerospace Center, located in Cologne /Germany. In his current function. As project portfolio manager Ruediger Suess coordinates the update of the corporate strategy at DLR and manages the portfolio of strategic projects for the implementation of the corporate strategy.

Mr Uwe Knodt is Project Manager for Knowledge Management, DLR.

Knowledge Management and Digital Diagrammatisation of Innovative Technical Systems

Vincent Minier and Vincent Bontems

CEA French Alternative Energies and Atomic Energy Commission, Saclay, France

A novel methodology is proposed for the analysis and knowledge management of the processes leading to innovative industrial. The methodology is derived from study cases in the field of "big science" instruments, such as space telescopes, for which the technical and natural environments are necessary conditions for their functioning. Big Science instruments are designed and realised over a long time, sometimes decades, and each generation represents a major technical progress compared to the precedent ones as they are always made to accomplish huge breakthroughs in science. They result from international planning, complex management, scientific coopetition, industrial research and production, and inventions born in the fundamental research laboratories. Similar properties characterise large programs in the space, energy or maritime industries. In this paper, we focus our study on the Herschel space observatory, an ESA space science mission launched in May 2009 and ending in April 2013. The study consists of various steps, including technological analysis, interviews with the designer team, analysis of transductions inside the instruments, historical analysis of technical lineages, and socio-technological analysis of the industrial design process. At the end of the study process, thanks to digitalisation, this information can then be displayed as digital database, diagrams and images allowing knowledge management, innovation forecast and even public outreach. Then, we introduce the concept of digital "Image-Objects" in the framework of the Gilbert Simondon's cycle of technology. "Image-objects" could be, for example, some interactive diagrams, e-book, MOOCs or even exhibits. The cultural role of these digital devices is not only to display technical information about the objects but also to valorise their cultural signification. They are not some scientific relics. They are Image-Objects, which convey explicit and latent meanings about the technical objects and, above all, about their invention. Image-Objects are meant to be a major booster for the culture of invention.

Dr Vincent Minier, is an astrophysicist at CEA (French Alternative Energies and Atomic Energy Commission) in Saclay, France. He leads the ExplorNova research project that explores the scientific, technological and cultural dimensions of space sciences, deduces innovating models for the future and share knowledges with all (http://explornova.cea.fr).

Dr Vincent Bontems, is a philosopher at CEA (French Alternative Energies and Atomic Energy Commission) in Saclay, France. His work concerns mainly the philosophy of sciences and technology, the sociology of sciences and the images. He is an expert of Gilbert Simondon, a french philosopher of technology and the author of Bachelard (Les Belles Lettres. Paris. 2010). He leads a seminar in Paris on Design and Innovation.

Table of Contents

Organisational Semiotics: Theory and Concepts

A Generative Grammar for Modal Syntagms Francesco Galofaro	1
A Semiotic Approach to Critical Reasoning Janos J. Sarbo and Jessica H. Yang	10
Information Systems and Sign Systems Coen Suurmond	20
On the Relationships between Norms, Values and Culture: Preliminary Thoughts in HCI	30

Organisational Semiotics and Applications

A Semiotic Approach to Investigate Quality Issues of Open Big Data Ecosystems	41
Virtual Process Control Modelling in Organisational Semiotics: A Case of Higher Education Admission John Effah	51
Assessing Pragmatic Interoperability for Process Alignment in Collaborative Working Environment Shixiong Liu, Weizi Li, and Kecheng Liu	60
Clarifying the Situational Context of a TV Company towards the Design of iDTV Applications Samuel B. Buchdid, Heiko H. Hornung, Roberto Pereira, and M. Cecília C. Baranauskas	70
Applying Organizational Semiotics for Developing Knowledge-Based Cost Estimation of Construction Project Shen Xu, Kecheng Liu, and Llewellyn CM Tang	80

Designing Natural User Interfaces Scenarios for All and for Some:	
An Analysis Informed by Organizational Semiotics Artifacts	92
Vanessa R.M.L. Maike, Samuel B. Buchdid,	
and M. Cecília C. Baranauskas	

Information Systems and Services

An Evolution Method of Service View Products Supported Dynamic	
Integration of Information Resources	102
Shu Zhen, Luo Aimin, and Luo Xueshan	
The Adoption of Smartphones Among Older Adults in China Shang Gao, Yuhao Yang, and John Krogstie	112
Towards Automatic Generation of Project-Based Solutions Krikor Maroukian, Kevin Lano, and Mohammad Yamin	123
Translation of Requirements Engineering Models Imad Eddine Saidi, Taoufiq Dkaki, Nacer Eddine Zarour, and Pierre-Jean Charrel	135

Complex System Modelling and Simulation

An Optimization of Collaborative Filtering Personalized Recommendation Algorithm Based on Time Context Information Xian Jin, Qin Zheng, and Lily Sun	146
A Meta-heuristic Approach for Copper Price Forecasting Fabián Seguel, Raúl Carrasco, Pablo Adasme, Miguel Alfaro, and Ismael Soto	156
Complexity Management in the Semiconductor Supply Chain and Manufacturing Using PROS Analysis Can Sun, Thomas Rose, Hans Ehm, and Stefan Heilmayer	166
Simulation on Resident Individual Trip Choice Decision Making: Based on Modeling of Rough Set and Genetic Algorithms Jing Li, Xin Zhu, and Dan Chang	176
Visualization of the UK Stock Market Based on Complex Networks for Company's Revenue Forecast	186

Innovation and Organisational Learning

Creativity Filter and Start-Ups to Resolve the Innovation Paradox	195
David Audretsch and Maksim Belitski	

The Relationship between Flexible Human Resource Management	
and Enterprise Innovation Performance: A Study from Organizational	
Learning Capability Perspective	204
Jin Chen and Weizi Li	
Author Index	215

A Generative Grammar for Modal Syntagms

Francesco Galofaro

Università Politecnico di Milano, Italy semioatp@gmail.com

Abstract. The contribution presents a generative grammar for Greimas' semiotic square, designed to represent modal syntax. In particular: (1) the grammar will generate both modal syntagms and their structural descriptions; (2) the articulation of the immanent narrative structure will be clarified; (3) structural features which are not manifested on the linear surface will become easier to examine. This model contributes to computational narratology theory, aiming at merging post-structuralist narratology with formal language theory.

Keywords: Computational Narratology, Generative Grammar, Modal Structures, Semiotic Square, Automaton.

1 State-of-the-Art

Greimas and Courtés [11] highlighted how formalization could be useful for proving logical coherence to the structural framing of semiotics, and for comparing different theories applied to the same cognitive object. Generative grammar and its success have a clear influence on Greimas' project. He developed his structural semantics by utilizing computational linguistics [9], formulating the semiotic square to describe the fundamental syntax of meaning [12], which should then generate the more complex structural levels. Following the same line of research, this paper aims to develop a generative grammar that formalizes fundamental syntax. In particular, we are interested in generating modal operators which feature narrative enunciates. In this manner we intend to study the immanent articulation of modality, and describe it in terms of standard algorithmic procedures which can be applied by researchers – cf. "automaton" and "algorithm" in [11].

Greimas' modal semiotic square¹ [10] is displayed in table 1:

The semiotic square summarizes the respective relations between four kinds of simple semiotic oppositions: antonymy (a versus b); presupposition (if a then not b and/or vice-versa); contradiction (a versus not -a); and neutralization (not a nor b). This abstract, fundamental syntax articulates the modalities. The table presents the relationships between the various possible modal syntagms, composed by a modal operator (M) and an enunciate (R), which can express an action (to do) or a state (to be). Modal syntagms are combination such as "Wanting to do"; "Not being able to be"; "Not having to do"

¹ Petitot tried to demonstrate the inconsistency of the semiotic square by using Boolean logic (cf. 3.3.3 in [18]), yet committed a trivial error. He wrote that 1+1 = 0 whereas, given the idempotent laws, in Boolean algebra 1 + 1 = 1. For an outline of the semiotic debate on the consistency of the semiotic square, see [4], [7].

K. Liu et al. (Eds.): ICISO 2015, IFIP AICT 449, pp. 1-9, 2015.

[©] IFIP International Federation for Information Processing 2015



Table 1. The semiotic square

In the framework of a structural semantics, modalities are considered to be general values that are immanent to different semiotic manifestations, such as a literary text, a movie, as well as a technical object [5]. For example, the "Being able to do" modal syntagm can feature the hero of a movie or a real employee, when either of them find something that allows them to reach their goal (a magical potion; a new software).

Two distinct fields of research converge in Greimas' model: modal logics [2], [19], and structural linguistics. Greimas and Kalinowski worked together on the link between them [15], until the second scholar decided that the two disciplinary souls could not inhabit the same body [16]. Seen through deontic logic, for example, if "I have to do something" then "I can do it", "ought implies can" and therefore modal operators are inter-defined. In semiotics, on the contrary, the two modalities are largely independent, given the modal conflicts we find in texts. Kalinowski, instead, rejects this liberalization of the relationships between modalities, in spite of the fact that there are many logical systems in which the operators are not inter-defined².

A typology of different possible modalities is presented in table 2:

Modalities (S)	Virtualising (V)	Actualising (A)	Realising (R)
Exotactical (X)	Having to (h)	Being able to (a)	Doing (d)
Endotactical ³ (N)	Wanting to (w)	Knowing to (k)	Being (b)

Table 2. Modal typology. Each symbol represents a generative grammar category (upper case) or a terminal modality (lower case).

² For example, in the intuitionistic framework, modal operators are usually independent [6]. An example of intuitionistic deontic logical framework has been proposed in relation to the Talmud [1]. Furthermore, since each system in modal logics represents a specific textual domain that assigns a specific non-ambiguous meaning: for example, Kripke's structures for temporal logic have been converted into Moore's machines [21].

³ A modality is exotactical when it links enunciates with different subjects, endotactical when it attains a single subject. cf. "Modality" in [11].

The kind of modal syntagms we would like to produce are composed of all of the possibilities generated by the semiotic square in table (1), when M corresponds to virtualising or actualising modalities, and R to realising ones. For example: (+a+d); (-w+b); (+h-d) are well-formed syntagms because they can be generated by selecting a corner of the semiotic square and by substituting the values seen in table 2 for the categories M and R. We would also like to generate a structural description of these syntagms. There are numerous possibilities. If we want to accurately represent the typology in table 2, we require an unrestricted grammar. Otherwise, by making minor changes to the categories used to classify the modalities, we can design simpler grammars. This second option finds support in Hjelmslev's empirical principle, which privileges coherent, adequate, and simple theoretical choices [13].

2 An Unrestricted Grammar

In order to represent Greimas' typology (table 2), we will first consider an unrestricted grammar G₁, that is able to generate a modal syntagm, and is represented by a combination of two lower case letters each of which is preceded by a positive or negative sign – see table 3. The grammar consists of two alphabets Z and T, variables (upper case letters) and terminals (lower case letters), and an initial variable I \in Z. It also contains a set of rules of substitution $\alpha \rightarrow \beta$ where α is a string of variables, and β is a string of both variables and terminal symbols.

Table 3. The unrestricted grammar G_1 . Each symbol in Z represents a category within the grammar structure– cf. Tables 1 and 2. We have added the category C to represent the endo/exotactical category, and the category G (+/-) to represent the affirmative/negative opposition. The subset I of Z includes the starting symbol S, whereas T is the set of terminal symbols.

Symbolic repertoire	Rules	
$Z:=\{S, M, R, C, G, V, A, X, N\}$	$1 - S \rightarrow$	GCMGCR
I:={S}	$2-G \rightarrow$	+
$T{:=} \{h, w, a, k, d, b, +, -\}$	$3-G \rightarrow$	-
	$4 - C \rightarrow$	Х
	$5 - C \rightarrow$	Ν
	$6 - M \rightarrow$	V
	$7-\mathrm{M} ightarrow$	А
	$8 - XV \rightarrow$	h
	$9 - NV \rightarrow$	W
	$10 - XA \rightarrow$	а
	$11 - NA \rightarrow$	k
	$12 - XR \rightarrow$	d
	$13 - NR \rightarrow$	b

A derivation starts from the initial symbol S and applies one of the rules of substitution. The language generated by the grammar is a string consisting only of terminals that can be derived from I with a chain of substitutions.

In order to provide an example of the way in which the grammar works, we derive the modal syntagm:

(a): -w+d ("not wanting to do")

We can also design the tree of substitutions, which reveals the hierarchical relationships between the terminals (see table 4). The tree shows how each symbol of the alphabet Z represents a category in the meta-language. For example, w is an endotactical virtualising modality, whereas d is an exotactical realising modality. This grammar is an unrestricted one, therefore some of the substitution rules are contextual. For example, according to rule 8, one can substitute h in V iff it is preceded by an X.



Table 4. The derivation of (a). This figure was generated with JFLAP (www.jflap.org)

3 A Context-Free Grammar

We can reduce the complexity of this grammar if we observe how the endo/exotactical category is implicitly represented by the two separate rules which allows to substitute each V/A/R modality with two and only two terminal symbols, without changes in the generated language. The result is the context-free grammar G_2 , shown in table 5. Table 6 shows the derivation of (a).

 G_2 , is remarkably simpler than G_1 not only because it requires less rules and symbols, but also because it is context-free, it does not use contextual rules.

Symbolic repertoire	Rules	
$Z := \{S, M, R, G, V, A\}$	$1 - S \rightarrow$	GMGR
$I:=\{S\}$	$2-G \rightarrow$	+
$T{:=} \{h, w, a, k, d, b, +, -\}$	$3-G \rightarrow$	-
	$4 - M \rightarrow$	V
	$5 - M \rightarrow$	А
	$6 - V \rightarrow$	h
	$7 - V \rightarrow$	W
	$8 - A \rightarrow$	a
	$9 - A \rightarrow$	k
	$10 - R \rightarrow$	d
	$11 - R \rightarrow$	b

Table 5. The context-free grammar G₂

Table 6.	The	derivation	of	(a)	in	G_2
----------	-----	------------	----	-----	----	-------



4 A Right Linear Regular Grammar

If we drastically change the philosophy applied to the representation we can further reduce the complexity of the grammar (see G_3 in table 7 and the corresponding derivation of (a) in table 8). This time we need only two categories (S, R) that respectively

correspond to the modal enunciate and the doing/state enunciate. Both are preceded by a positive or negative symbol, and each category can be substituted with a terminal symbol.

Symbolic repertoire	Rules
Z:={S, R} I:={S} T:= {h, w, a, k, d, b, +, -}	$\begin{array}{l} 1 - S \rightarrow +S \\ 2 - S \rightarrow -S \\ 3 - S \rightarrow wR \\ 4 - S \rightarrow hR \\ 5 - S \rightarrow aR \\ 6 - S \rightarrow kR \\ 7 - R \rightarrow +R \\ 8 - R \rightarrow -R \\ 9 - R \rightarrow b \\ 10 - R \rightarrow d \end{array}$

Table 7. The right-linear regular grammar G₃

Table 8. The derivation of (a) in G₃



Regular grammars generate regular languages: according to automata theory, a finitestate automaton can determine if a particular expression belongs to the grammar [14] – see table 9. The automaton is composed of three states. The initial one, q0, corresponds to the S category; the second one, q1, corresponds to the R category; and q2 is the final state. The symbols of the string (a) represent the transitions between states. As the reader can see: when the automaton reads the (+, -) symbols it remains in the same state; when it reads the (k, a, h, w) symbols it changes its internal states to q1; and finally, if it reads (d,b) it reaches the final state. Then, the automaton accepts the string as belonging to the grammar. If this does not happen, the string is rejected. Following Chomsky, the grammar can be considered a model of modal competence, whereas the automaton is a model of modal performance [3].

Table 9. A finite-state automaton that can establish if a string of symbols belongs to G_2 . The figure was generated with JFLAP (www.jflap.org).



5 Conclusions

What is the "true" grammar, among the three we proposed? There was a similar debate in the sixties concerning syntax grammar. Chomsky [22] proposed extralinguistic criteria to facilitate the choice between different models, such as the "psychological plausibility". In my opinion, this only led to a circular reasoning basing cognitive linguistics on cognitive psychology and vice-versa [23]. A grammar is just one of the possible solutions to the problem of how to construct a formal demonstration in semiotic theory, showing an immanent structural articulation of meaning. As is shown by G₂, some semantic features are incorporated in the syntax. This means that the more complex grammars explicit simpler semantic features of each modality, h = +V+X, "Having to do" is "Virtualising and Exotactical". In Greimas' structuralist perspective, "Semantic" means simply relational and functional (a given tract such as the "virtualising" tract cannot exist positively, i.e. independently from the presence of "actualising" and "realising" tracts). In G₃, some semantic features of modality are lost: the automaton in table 9 is just a simple form of the semiotic square. As Marsciani wrote, even formal languages have categories that represent their semantics [17, pp. 22-24]. Thus, the identification of Hjelmslev's symbolic systems [13] with "asemantic" languages seems questionable.

A tree such as the one in table 8 at least reveals a structural feature which was unclear in the other grammars: the ipotactical relation between the (do/be) enunciate and the modal enunciate. Furthermore, given that modal syntagms are generated by a right-linear regular grammar, they can be considered regular languages, a well-known class of formal languages. This is not a trivial result due to the properties shared by regular languages: commutativity, associativity, distributivity, idempotency ... [14]. Thanks to these properties it becomes possible to describe the complex chains of modal syntagms we find in semiotic processes as modal devices which "merge" smaller languages generated by simple grammars such as G_3 [20, p. 70]. We observe another interesting structural property of regular languages, they are neither recursive nor self-embedded. Now this is puzzling because narrative programs are both recursive and self-embedded [8]. They share these properties with language syntax, as represented in classical generative linguistics [3]. Therefore, further important research questions concern the origins of recursiveness, given the fact that this property is not present in the simpler, deep fundamental structures of meaning described by Greimas, but appear only at a certain degree of structural complexity.

References

- 1. Abraham, M., Gabbay, D.M., Schild, U.: Obligations and prohibitions in Talmudic deontic logic. Artificial Intelligence and Law. Springer (2011)
- Béziau, J.Y.: New light on the Square of Oppositions and its Nameless Corner. Logical Studies 11 (2003)
- Chomsky, N.: Formal Properties of Grammars. In: Duncan Luce, R., Bush, R., Galanter, R. (eds.) Handbook of Mathematical Psychology II, pp. 323–418. John Wiley and Sons, New York (1963)
- Compagno, D.: Due quadrati semiotici per due tipi di relazioni semantiche: contrarietà e indipendenza. In: Proceedings of the XVI national congress of the SFL, CUEC, Cagliari, pp. 75–85 (2010)
- 5. Deni, M.: Oggetti in azione, Franco Angeli, Milano (2002)
- Fischer-Servi, G.: Axiomatizations for some Intuitionistic Modal Logics. Rend. Sem. Mat Polit. de Torino 42, 179-194 (1984)
- Galofaro, F.: Dal quadrato semiotico alle controversie bioetiche. Una discussione formale? In: Proceedings of the XVI National Congress of the SFL, CUEC, Cagliari, pp. 86–99 (2010)
- 8. Galofaro, F.: Formalizing narrative structures. Glossematics, Generativity, and transformational rules. Signata 4, Liège (2013)
- 9. Greimas, A.J.: Esquisse d'une morphologie du français en vue de sa description mécanographique. Linguistics 4(22), 34–59 (1966)
- 10. Greimas, A.J.: Pour une théorie des modalités. Langages 10(43), 90-107 (1976)
- Greimas, A.J., Courtés, J.: Sémiotique. Dictionnaire raisonné de la théorie du langage, Paris, Seuil (1983) English trans. Semiotics and language: an analytical dictionary. Indiana University Press, Bloomington
- Greimas, A.J., Rastier, F.: The Interaction of the semiotic constraints. Du Sens, Seuil (1970), English trans. On meaning, Collins, F., Perron, P. (eds.). University of Minnesota Press, Minneapolis (1987)
- Hjelmslev, L.: Omkring sprogteoriens grundlasggelse, Munskgaard, København (1943), English trans. Whitfield, F.J (ed.): Prolegomena to a Theory of Language. University of Winsconsin Press, Madison (1961)
- 14. Hopcroft J.E., Motwani, R., Ullman, J.D.: Introduction to Automata Theory, Languages, and Computation. Pearson Paravia Bruno Mondadori (2009)
- Kalinowski, G.: Du mètalangage en logique. Réflexions sur la logique déontique et son rapport avec la logique des normes. Documents de Travail et prépubblications n.48 serie A, Centro Internazionale di Semiotica e di Linguistica. Università di Urbino, Urbino (1975)

- Kalinowski, G.: Carré sémiotique et carré logique. Les remarques d'un logicien sur le carré sémiotique. In: Landowski, E. (ed.) Le carré sémiotique, Actes Sémiotiques – Bulletin, vol. 17. EHESS – CNRS (1981)
- 17. Marsciani, F.: Ricerche semiotiche II, Esculapio, Bologna (2012)
- Petitot, J.: Morphogenèse du sens. Presses Universitaires de France, Paris (1985), English trans. Morphogenesis of Meaning. Peter Lang, Bern (2003)
- 19. Ricoeur, P.: Lectures 2, Seuil, Paris (1999)
- 20. Greimas, A.J., Fontanille, J.: Sémiotique des passions. Des états des choses aux états d'âme, Paris, Seuil (1991)
- Baumgarten, J., Tripp, A., Aziz, A., Singhal, V., Andersen, F.: An Abstraction Algorithm for the Verification of Generalized C-Slow Designs. In: Emerson, E.A., Sistla, A.P. (eds.) CAV 2000. LNCS, vol. 1855, pp. 5–19. Springer, Heidelberg (2000)
- 22. Chomsky, N.: Some Empirical Issues in the Theory of Transformational Grammar. In: Peters, S. (ed.) Goals of Linguistic Theory. Prentice-Hall Inc., Englewood Cliffs (1972)
- Galofaro, F.: We have to change mind. Neural Plausibility and the Crisis of Cognitive Explanation. In: Cosentino, E. (ed.) Un conto aperto. Il neoculturalismo dopo la svolta cognitiva, RIFL, Special number, pp. 101–115 (2012)

A Semiotic Approach to Critical Reasoning

Janos J. Sarbo¹ and Jessica H. Yang²

¹ Radboud University Nijmegen, ICIS, NL janos@cs.ru.nl
² Henley Business School, Reading, UK j.h.yang@henley.ac.uk

Abstract. Information can be interpreted as in-formation, which refers to the potential of the form for a mediation of meaning. In this paper we focus on reasoning information and consider the question how form involved in reasoning can be used for an analysis of accounting narratives in corporate disclosures. An evaluation of experimental results is included.

Keywords: Semiotic, reasoning, rhetoric, argument, accounting narratives.

1 Introduction

The Latin word 'informatio' equivalently designates information and bringing-intoform (cf. in-formation). The second refers to the potential of the form for the mediation of meaning (cf. interpreted information). In an extreme case, form and interpretation can be uniquely related. This is parodied by the classical joke of a psychiatric institute in which patients tell stories to each other. As the stories are told frequently they are assigned a number. One of the patients says 'number 42', which gets a big laugh. Another patient cries out 'number 68'. Everybody finds it hilarious. A new patient watching this cannot stop himself and shouts 'number 232'! The entire public bursts into a huge laugh. 'Why are you laughing so much?' the patient asks. His neighbor responds: 'We haven't heard this joke before.'

In everyday language use, form and intended meaning are rarely so closely related. In most cases we are in need of auxiliary words and more refined (formal) expressions for the communication of our thoughts. How does form mediate meaning? Traditional semiotics, which is concerned with interpretation enabled by the sign, does not consider this question. In this paper we suggest that an answer can be given by considering the sign to be an object, and following this line of thought, through introducing a form related, and in this sense, formal model of sign interpretation.

Form involved in information can be used for a derivation of meaning. In the example above, saying a number can be satisfactory as long as the relation between numbers and stories is known by the receiver. If the receiver is not familiar with this relation, the sender may have to use additional information, e.g. syntactic information, and so, a more elaborate form of expression in order to enable the interpretation intended to arise. Besides syntactic information hence a syntactic perspective, many

other types of perspectives are possible such as a semantical, mathematical, and logical one, that all involve rules of interpretation including those that are related to the form.

If complex thoughts are to be communicated, for instance, an entire text, a sequence of signs is needed. In this case, an important goal is to enable the reader to reveal the line of reasoning by the writer. Reasoning too can be associated with form. In this paper we ask: what are the types of reasoning information, what are the involved forms, and what are the effects of the form on the mediation of reasoning? The answer suggested by this paper is briefly discussed below.

Sign interpretation can be modeled as a process. An analysis from the perspective of reasoning reveals the potential of the events of this process for a representation of the three types of reasoning, deduction, induction, and abduction, as sign aspects. The involved form can be associated with Aristotle's three syllogistic figures as a structure. Through their type of reasoning, the events of the process can be assigned a degree of truthfulness: necessarily true (cf. deduction), expectedly true (cf. induction), and hypothetically true (cf. abduction). By linking the forms of reasoning with their associated claims to truth, the process model can be used for measuring the plausibility and understandability of a sign, e.g., an accounting narrative.

Sign aspects are representations that are in a process of becoming a sign. The development of meaning through sign aspects can be explained by the metaphor of apparent motion perception. In that phenomenon, a series of steady pictures are presented and, although each picture may be meaningful in itself, combined they are interpreted as parameters in the experience of the series of pictures as motion. Snapshots correspond to a sign aspect, the experience of motion to a meaningful interpretation of a sign.

An advantage of the semiotic approach is its potential for a uniform representation for sign interpretation.¹ This enables syntactic information (e.g. required by a reasoning analysis) and reasoning information to be combined easily. Because of the involvement of the relation between formal and meaningful interpretation, we assume that through analyzing the form, we may draw conclusions about a possible meaning, e.g. from the syllogistic structure of a text about a type of reasoning.

This paper proposes the use of the process-oriented semiotic approach, as an alternative text-focused approach, to interpret corporate disclosures. Corporate disclosures constitute an important channel for organizations to communicate with the public users since it contains rich content of information. Decision-making is built on efficient and effective processing of financial and non-financial (narrative) information [1]. The paper is based on the premise that goal of a critical corporate disclosure should be to reach conclusions by means of reasoned argument.

Research on understandability of accounting narratives in corporate disclosure has gained increasing importance over the years [2,3]. Prior studies can be categorized into two groups measured by content (thematic analysis) [4,5,6,13] and form (syntactical analysis) [7,8,9]. Thematic content analysis is to 'extract and analyze themes inherent within the message' [11] so as to find trends, correlations or attitudes from the text. Syntactical studies adopt readability formulas such as Flesch index,

¹ For a number of perspectives (cf. knowledge domains), including those mentioned earlier, this has been illustrated in [10].

Dale-Chall index, and Fog index to measure the probable readability of texts from the perspective of syntactical complexity. This study fills in a gap in the literature on corporate disclosures and communication research in relation to the meaning interpretation of accounting narratives. This approach shows advantages over other traditional ones, in a high degree of focus on the form and process of disclosures rather than on the text itself.

The structure of the paper is the following. First we briefly delve into Peircean semiotics (sect. 2). This is followed by an introduction of a process model of sign interpretation (sect. 3). Finally we offer an explorative study of our model to an analysis of accounting narratives i.e. chairman statements (sect. 4). We close the paper with a summary of the results (sect. 5).

2 Signs and Interpretation

Peircean semiotics is founded in Peirce's theory of categories [14]. Contrary to the Aristotelian view that phenomena can be classified in two types, attributes and substances (that are a carrier of attributes), Peirce distinguished phenomena in three categories, firstness, secondness, and thirdness, that have a relational character. An example of phenomena is a letter-V formed by a pair of fingers. The two fingers, their shape, incidence, etc., as a quality, are a firstness; ad-hoc relations between the qualities, such as the simultaneity involved in the incidence of the two fingers, are a secondness; meaningful interpretations of a relation, such as the interpretation of the incidence relation of the fingers as the symbol of victory, are a thirdness. The categories are ordered according to a relation of involvement, e.g. simultaneity (secondness) is involved in the interpretation of the letter-V as a symbol of victory.

Beyond the above dependency between the categories, we are interested in the process generating meaningful interpretations (thirdness) from qualities (firstness), through a mediation of relations (secondness). In order to develop a model for this process we need to introduce a few assumptions that are concerned with the questions how qualities may appear, how they may establish relations in an ad-hoc, and a meaningful sense.

In our model below we assume that qualities appear via interactions with the interpreting system (e.g. the human). In an interaction, the qualities of the stimulus (cf. effect) affect the interpreting system occurring in some state. This effect (q1) and state (q2), that both are collections of independent qualities, define the input for information processing (cf. firstness). The goal of interpretation is establishing a relation: why this effect is occurring to this state. To this end, the interpreting system has to sort out the two types of qualities in the input, abstract them from one another in order to determine their interpretation in the light of complementary or context information (cf. secondness), and finally, establish a relation between the input qualities in context, through predication (cf. thirdness). See Fig.1.



Fig. 1. The process model of cognitive activity. State (q1), effect (q2), context (C). Horizontal lines designate relations. The types of interpretation events are displayed on the right-hand side, in italics. Square brackets indicate that an entity is not yet interpreted, usual bracket symbols and a lack of brackets indicate that some interpretation is already available.



Fig. 2. Peircean sign aspects (left) and corresponding mundane terms (right)

Conforming to our goal, which is the definition of a process model of interpretation, our focus is restricted to interpretation as a sequence of events (hence in the paragraph above references to the Peircean categories are references to categorical aspects only). Following this line of thought we offer a semiotic analysis of our process model and assign sign aspects to its events [12]. See Fig.2. The goal of this slightly technical part in the next paragraph is to show that the events can be assigned to all Peircean sign aspects hence, in this sense, the process is semiotically complete.

State and effect appear as independent qualities ([q1 q2]; *qualisign*). Sorting of the input has the sign aspects of likeness or constituency ([q1]; *icon*), simultaneity ([q2]; *sinsign*), and connection² ([C]; *index*). As a state may occur in itself, but an effect always assumes the existence of a state, qualities of the state and effect can be used for a representation of a relation of constituency and simultaneity, respectively. Abstraction of the input qualities has the sign aspects of a possible state (q1; *rheme*), and effect (q2; *legisign*). By virtue of the involvement relation between state and effect, the abstract effect, which stands for the possible combinations known about the input state and effect, in context ([C]), has the sign aspects of an existent or actual state ((q1,C); *dicent*), and a conventional event ((q2, C); *symbol*). Finally, predication, expressing a relation between the input state and effect in context has the sign aspect of a proposition which is a premise ((q1,C)-(q2,C); *argument*).

² We tacitly assume that C, representing complementary information corresponding to q1 and q2, appears together with q1 and q2 as a quality. In Fig.1 this is omitted.



Fig. 3. A reasoning analysis of the process model. Types of reasoning aspects (left), syllogistic functions (middle), and formal expression (right). Aristotle's three figures are referred to by integers in parenthesis (see also Fig. 4). A Y and Y B designate q1 and q2 as premises

deduction	abduction	induction	figure-1	figure-2	figure-3
rule case result	rule result case	result <u>case</u> rule	$\begin{array}{cc} Y & C \\ \underline{A} & Y \\ \overline{A} & C \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cc} B & C \\ \underline{A} & C \\ \overline{A} & B \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cc} Y & C \\ \hline Y & B \\ \hline B & C \end{array}$

Fig. 4. A functional (left) and a formal representation of Aristotle's syllogistic figures. Deduction corresponds to figure-1, abduction to figure-2, induction to figure-3 [10].

The introduction of a semiotic analysis above was necessary in order to be able to offer a reasoning analysis of our process model. In this paper, our focus is on the relational events themselves. The reasoning aspects, syllogistic functions (following Peirce [14]), and formal expressions, associated to them are depicted in Fig. 3. In our analysis below we may refer to the events by their syllogistic terms in Fig. 4.

The generation of the final predication relation has the reasoning aspect of *abduction* (2). Through combining the expressions of the state (A) and effect (B), in context (C), we raise a hypothesis concerning their relation, which is involved in a meaningful interpretation of the input interaction. The generation of a possible representation of the input state in context has the aspect of *deduction* (1). In this event, complementary information (Y), that the interpreting system is familiar with, is used to derive 'new' information (C) about the state (A). This is opposed to the event generating an expression of the effect in context, which has the aspect of *induction* (3). In this event, a habitual interpretation of the effect (B) is applied to hence tested for a new state (C), enabled by the context (Y). A presentation of the input qualities as co-occurring premises, by sorting, has the aspect of abduction, degenerately (in a reasoning sense).

Noting the completeness of the process model, the semiotic analysis (Fig. 2) shows the involvement of all nine Peircean sign aspects, the reasoning analysis (Fig. 3) reveals the potential of the process for a representation of all three types of reasoning as aspects of reasoning, syllogistic functions and formal expressions. By virtue of the dependency between the categories, we may assume that the above completeness (secondness) is involved in a meaningful interpretation of the input as a phenomenon as well (thirdness).

In the case of language phenomena, examples of an effect are words, sentences, paragraphs, or even entire texts, for instance, chairman statements. In this paper, we assume that in such statements, complex thoughts by the author are split into smaller fragments, in order to help the reader's comprehension. Each paragraph is meaningful

in itself and layout is used to draw the reader's attention as well. If a paragraph is an expression of a single thought, then by virtue of the completeness of meaningful interpretation, it must represent all three types of reasoning (aspects). From this we conclude that when the line of reasoning is complex, the author of the text may wish to add formal information thereby enhancing a reasoning interpretation by the reader. We conjecture that through analyzing the form of reasoning involved in a text, a measure of plausibility and understandability by the reader can be derived.

3 An Illustration of Corporate Disclosures

We apply our theory to a paragraph found in a chairman's statement³ (See also Fig.5). We assume that a syntactic analysis of the input sentences is available. In our reasoning analysis below, sentences are interpreted as premises, the subject and predicate of a sentence as the minor and major terms of a premise. A common term can be found by matching. Information, such as syntactic and semantic-syntactic, necessary for this operation is assumed to be available (this may put a great burden on lexicon definition).

A sentence may function as a premise in different syllogisms. A syllogism can be interpreted from the perspective of itself, as well as from the stance of the paragraph as a whole. The import of a syllogism can be the expression of a reasoning aspect in the interpretation of the paragraph (cf. the positions in the upper 'triangle' marked by rheme, legisign and argument), but also it can be only a representation of a single sign aspect (cf. the positions in the lower 'triangle' marked by qualisign, rheme, and legisign). In the second case the involved reasoning aspect is represented degenerately, from a logical stance (see sect. 3.1 and 3.2).

- **S1:** *Rebuilding the bank is a significant challenge but I believe we now have the tools to begin turning the business around.*
- **S2:** Niall Booker, a veteran of the banking world, joined the Bank at the same time as me, and he and his new Executive Team have worked closely with the Board over the second half of last year to understand the true state of the Bank.
- **S3:** Devising a Recapitalisation Plan acceptable to all stakeholders in very difficult circumstances, we were able to complete the Liability Management Exercise (LME) in December without which we wouldn't be here today.
- **S4**: This could not have been accomplished without the support of the vast majority of our subordinated bondholders, customers and colleagues for which we are extremely grateful.

Fig. 5. A sample paragraph from a chairman's statement

3.1 S1

The first sentence, S1, is setting the scene (the first clause in S1 is setting the context). This sentence is not part of a syllogism, except as a proposition which is a conclusion.

³ The Co-operative Bank plc. Annual report and account, 2013

The subject ('we') and predicate ('have the tools to begin turning the business around') are brought into relation via predication. In the interpretation of the paragraph as a whole, the above two symbols are used for a definition of the icon and sinsign positions. The first clause of S1 is represented as complementary information in the index position ('*Rebuilding*', '*challenge*'). See Fig. 6. Note the relation of overlapping between the abduction involved in predication (cf. S1) and in sorting (cf. paragraph).



Fig. 6. A reasoning interpretation of the paragraph depicted in Fig. 5. A representation of the qualisign position is omitted. In the icon position, '*have the tools*' mediates between '*we*' (agent) and '*to begin turning the business around*' (theme). The term, '*Recap Plan*' is used as short for '*a Recapitalisation Plan acceptable to all stakeholders*'. Reasoning aspects that are represented degenerately (in a logical sense) are omitted.

3.2 S1 – S2

S1 and S2 can be interpreted as premises of a syllogism exhibiting the aspects of induction (cf. Fig. 4). The common term is defined by the expressions '*Rebuilding the Bank*', and by '*Niall Booker*' and '*Executive Team*', as theme and agent, respectively, of the predicates of S1 and S2 interpreted as major terms. The import of this syllogism in the paragraph as a whole is an expression of the legisign position:⁴ '*understand the true state of the Bank*' (a full definition: '(*they*) worked closely to understand the true state of the Bank IS (enabled by) having the tools to begin turning the business around'). In addition, S1 and S2 can also be interpreted as premises of a syllogism exhibiting the aspects of deduction. This time the common term is defined by 'Rebuilding the Bank' (S1), and 'worked closely to understand the true state of the Bank' (S2). The import of this syllogism is an expression of the rheme position⁵: '*Executive Team*'.

3.3 S2 – S3

S2 and S3 can be interpreted as premises of a syllogism exhibiting the aspects of induction. The common term is defined by the expressions '*He and his Executive Team*',

⁴ It will be applied as result in a later syllogism exhibiting the aspects of induction.

⁵ It will be applied as rule in a later syllogism exhibiting the aspects of deduction.

and 'we'. The import of this syllogism in the analysis of the entire paragraph is a representation of the aspect of induction and an expression of the symbol position (rule): 'completion of the LME' (a full definition: '(we) were able to complete the LME IS (through) understand(ing) the true state of the Bank'). Information about 'the Liability Management Exercise', involved in the expression of the symbol position, as well as information about 'devising a Recapitalisation Plan', occurring in the first clause of S3 are represented as a context sign, in the index position ('LME', 'Recap Plan').

3.4 S1 – S3

S1 (by its first clause) and S3 can be interpreted as premises of a syllogism exhibiting the aspects of deduction. The common term is defined by '*challenge*' (S1) and '*we*' (S3), as theme and agent, respectively. The import of this syllogism in the paragraph as a whole is a representation of the aspect of deduction and an expression of the dicent position (result): '*Rebuilding the Bank*' (a full definition: '*Rebuilding the Bank* IS (*was*) *enabled by the completion of the LME* (*through*) *devising a Recapitalisation Plan*').

3.5 S3 – S4

S3 and S4 can be interpreted as premises of a syllogism exhibiting the aspects of abduction. The common term is defined by the expressions 'complete', and 'accomplish'. The import of this syllogism in the paragraph as a whole is a representation of the aspect of abduction and an expression of the argument position (case): 'This (=the completion of the LME hence the Rebuilding of the Bank) IS (accomplished through) devising a Recapitalisation Plan' (a full definition, following paraphrasing: 'Through devising a Recapitalisation Plan we completed the LME. (This way) we are rebuilding the Bank'.

A reasoning interpretation of S1 and S4 is already involved in that of S3 and S4; a reasoning interpretation of S2 and S4 is not possible.

4 Experimental Results

We devised a test to measure understandability and plausibility, using two sample chairman's statements taken from 2009 and 2013 Annual Report of a UK company. Understandability was tested through questions concerning the meaning involved in the informationally *not* represented syllogistic aspects according to our analysis, while their meaning must be clear to the reader, by virtue of the assumed completeness of the paragraphs. Completeness offers the possibility to verify whether the syllogistic structure is a good approximation of reasoning involved in meaningful interpretation. For instance, a paragraph, which can be analyzed in inductive syllogism(s) must convey information about the reasoning aspects of an involved deduction and abduction as well that can be verified through questions. Scale questions (1=Not at all plausible, 4=Plausible) were employed to test plausibility thereby to determine the persuasiveness. The score can be used for verifying our hypothesis concerning the ordering of syllogistic schemes. We conjecture that a text mostly representing the reasoning aspects of deduction will be perceived to be more plausible than a text, which mostly representing the reasoning aspects of induction (testing) and abduction (hypotheses). A tacit goal of this experiment is to show that an analysis of reasoning can be analogous to syntactic parsing.

The experiment was conducted with undergraduate accounting students in a UK university. It resulted in 27 responses, from which 21 were acceptable, from a group of 70 students. These students' first language was English and can be classed as knowledgeable users of financial reports. Each student was required to read five paragraphs extracted from two chairman's statements and fill out an on-line questionnaire via Kwiksurvey, consisting of 14 multiple-choice questions. The experiment required about 20-30 minutes to complete. SPSS was used to analyze the data as part of a descriptive statistics research, which measures the occurrence of the 'correct' answers for each question. When measuring understandability, one cannot expect a single correct answer since the interpretation process among individuals is different. Therefore the answers to the type of questions were distributed in levels of 'correctness' (1=worst answer, 4= best answer).

We found that in questions measuring understandability, once the text is complete from a reasoning stance, 76% students were able to select the best and second best answers, while 14% chose the worst answer. In the case of incompleteness, only 9% students managed to select the best and second best answers. This indicates that completeness leads to better understandability. The results from the plausibility questions showed that the use of aspects of deductive reasoning makes the paragraphs more plausible as deductive reasoning conforms to more logical reasoning and to less persuasive reasoning. In the experiment, all questions deriving from deductive reasoning type attracted only one "not at all plausible" answer. The answers to questions involved in inductive reasoning were more dispersed than others, ranging from "plausible" to "not at all plausible". A very interesting finding was that no students chose "not at all plausible" for abductive type of reasoning questions, which is deemed to the correct answer. Instead, nearly half of the students selected "plausible" in their answers, which means that students could still be persuaded by a "good reason". This supports Fisher's (1987) narrative assumption that human beings are fundamentally storytelling creatures, therefore, the most persuasive information is not that of a logical argument, but instead a narrative rationality.

5 Summary and Future Research

Accounting narratives in annual reports constitute a key part of corporate disclosures. Organizations utilize narratives to communicate corporate information to various publics. Effective communication depends on the accuracy in the construction and transmission of the message between senders and readers. In this paper, we presented a practical illustration of the application of our semiotically inspired process model to interpret a text (i.e. chairman's statement), through the analysis of syllogistic forms. Our experiment results suggest that the syllogistic form analysis measure aspects of the understandability and persuasiveness. This form-oriented study contributes to the narrative studies by capturing both syntactic and semantic interpretation. The limitation of the study is that we only investigate 2 chairman statements and the scale of the experiment is small. We leave an examination of the statistical correlation between syllogistic reasoning and understandability/plausibility for further research.

References

- Smith, M., Jones, M.: Traditional and alternative methods of measuring the understandability of accounting narratives. Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal 27, 183–208 (2014)
- Courtis, J.K.: An Investigation into Annual Report Readability and Corporate Risk-Return Relationships. Accounting and Business Research 16, 285–294 (1986)
- Tregidga, H., Milne, M., Kearins, K. (Re)presenting 'sustainable organizations'. Accounting, Organizations and Society 39, 477–494 (2014)
- 4. Aerts, W.: On the use of accounting logic as an explanatory category in narrative accounting disclosures. Accounting, Organizations and Society 19, 337–353 (1994)
- Kothari, S.P., Xu, L., Short, J.E.: The Effect of Disclosures by Management, Analysts, and Business Press on Cost of Capital, Return Volatility, and Analyst Forecasts: A Study Using Content Analysis. Accounting Review 84, 1639–1670 (2009)
- García Osma, B., Guillamón-Saorín, E.: Corporate governance and impression management in annual results press releases. Accounting, Organizations and Society 36, 187–208 (2011)
- Smith, J.E., Smith, N.P.: Readability: A Measure of the Performance of the Communication Function of Financial Reporting. Accounting Review 46, 552 (1971)
- Jones, M.J.: A Longitudinal Study of the Readability of the Chairman's Narratives in the Corporate Reports of a UK Company. Accounting and Business Research 18, 297–305 (1988)
- Loughran, T., McDonald, B.: Measuring Readability in Financial Disclosures. Journal of Finance 69, 1643–1671 (2014)
- 10. Sarbo, J.J., Farkas, J.I., Van Breemen, A.J.J.: Knowledge in Formation: A Computational Theory of Interpretation. Springer, Berlin (2011)
- 11. Jones, M., Shoemaker, P.: Accounting narratives a review of empirical studies of content and readability. Journal of Accounting Literature 13, 142–184 (1994)
- Sarbo, J.J.: On Well-formedness in Requirement Elicitation Processes. In: Feng, X., Liu, K., Jiang, G. (eds.) Proc. 11th Int. Conf. on Informatics and Semiotics in Organizations, Beijing, China, pp. 18–25 (2009)
- Li, F.: The Information Content of Forward-Looking Statements in Corporate Filings-A Naive Bayesian Machine Learning Approach. Journal of Accounting Research 48, 1049–1102 (2010)
- Peirce, C.S.: Collected papers by Charles Sanders Peirce. Harvard University Press, Cambridge (1931-1958)
Information Systems and Sign Systems

Coen Suurmond

RBK Group, Keulenstraat 18, 7418 ET Deventer, The Netherlands csuurmond@rbk.nl

Abstract. The organisational world can be considered as a collective of social sign systems and formal sign systems (computer based information systems). In this paper the issue of the fundamental differences between the two kinds of sign systems will be discussed, and the implications of these fundamental differences for system development.

Keywords: Organisational Semiotics, Sign Systems, Business Processes.

1 Introduction

Semiotics is the study of sign processes. In organisational context it covers the study of the use and the production of signs in the execution of business processes. The information flows within an organisation are inextricably connected to the use of signs. Signs are the tangible or intangible carriers used for the transfer of information, and interpretation of signs generates meaning.

Within an organisation all kinds of different sign systems are used. In the development of information systems, we generally tend to be focused solely on one kind of sign system, namely the highly structured and formalised IT sign system. In analysis, modelling, requirements elicitation, specification, design and building we use partly formalised language in order to construct IT artefacts, rigid and formal computer based sign systems. Yet, in the daily routine of business processes, real people do not use only or even primarily formalised language. People interact through various kinds of social sign systems like natural language, specialised language (jargon), body language, pictorial information, and they use experience and background knowledge in their daily business routines. People interact on the basis of a combination of patterns, conventions, and norms. In the execution of their organisational tasks real people must deal with real world situations and with the expectations of other real people, using IT systems, natural language, sensory information, experience and background knowledge simultaneously in order to interpret the situation, take the correct actions, and inform people and automated processes in subsequent processes.

Much organisational work is routine and can be automated. At the same time, automation itself is a human activity. Both automation projects and working with the results of automated operational processes are human activities and must necessarily be covered by human responsibilities in the organisation. This implies that formal sign systems (computer systems) will always be embedded in social sign systems. In the study of the use of information systems in organizational context, we should focus on the role of information in the business processes. The primary question should be: what information is needed in what form to carry out the tasks and responsibilities in business processes, where the tasks and responsibilities must necessarily include the production of information for subsequent processes. A similar focus on information rather than on technology is expressed by Ron Weber when he states that the core of the information systems discipline will lie in theories that account for information systems-related phenomena, and not in theories that account for information technology-related phenomena [1]. However, in much of ISR literature, and also in the statement on the IFIP website of the scope of TC8, the emphasis seems to be on the application of information technology [2].

For the exchange of information between business processes different kinds of sign systems are involved, some formal, some informal. The different sign systems may complement each other, or they may overlap. One can distinguish between the mechanisms of the formal organisation (as specified in the official documents) and 'shadow' mechanisms (as evolved through the needs of the processes as perceived by the people involved). This leads to the following questions:

- Which different kinds of sign systems can be distinguished within an organisation, and what are their respective characteristics?
- What are the implications of the differences between sign systems for system development?

To find answers to these questions I will first discuss some basic insights from semiotics, and I will give tentative definitions of the concepts of sign system, formal sign system and social sign system. The paper will continue with a discussion of the economic criteria for the execution of business processes. The core of the paper is in the presentation and discussion of a typical business case and the role of formal and social sign systems in the case. To conclude, I will give provisional answers to the questions asked above, and I will indicate lines for further research.

2 Semiotics

Kecheng Liu writes in his work on organisational semiotics about the use of signs in organisations: "that all organised behaviour is effected through the communication and interpretation of signs by people, individually and in groups" [3]. According to a much used definition by Peirce "a sign, or representamen, is something which stands to somebody for something in some respect or capacity" (2.228) [4]. Any individual percept can (must) be interpreted and as such function as a sign. In semiosis, humans are aware of the difference between the sign itself and that which is represented by the sign. This awareness is fundamental for semiosis, as Van Heusden has analysed in his work. He defines: "Semiosis is the relating, by someone, of a form and an icon" [5]. In this definition, the form represents the general, the convention, the stability and the continuity. This allows us to communicate with each other. The icon represents the specific situation, the individual perception. The awareness of the difference between form and icon is the driving force in the development of meaning. New words and new meanings of words are implicitly learned by ostension (pointing out typical examples) by use, and by generalising

from individual instances of use to general conventional meaning [6]. A specific case of the development of general (and binding) meaning by conscious assessment of individual cases against general meaning is the administration of justice. One example from the Dutch High Court: when the maximum amount of nitrate on lettuce is explicitly bound by law, does the same law apply to crinkly lettuce? Is crinkly lettuce a different vegetable, or is it just another kind of lettuce? [7]

In the context of organisational semiotics, Van Heusden and Jorna have analysed how in organisations types of knowledge can be related to the use of signs. In sensory knowledge (the craftsman) the iconicity is predominant, in theoretically concrete knowledge standardised forms (codification) is predominant (classification schemes, conventional signs such as pictograms), and in theoretical knowledge (structures) the relation between abstract forms is predominant [8]. Their semiotic space, an adaptation of the information space of Boisot [9], has thus three axes: degree of sensory detail (global/detailed), degree of codification (weak/strong), and degree of theoretical abstraction (concrete/abstract). The semiotic space indicates the kind of knowledge that is predominant in a specific business process as the relative weight of the three dimensions. In each and every case, however, all three dimensions are present. Pure iconicity cannot be communicated (works of art come close), pure theory would be unconnected to concrete events (mathematics and logic come close).

In our social world we deal mostly with signs in the context of more or less comprehensive sign systems. Natural language is an example (utterances stand for meaning and intentions), it is the sign system in which our culture as a whole is embedded. Morse code is another example, and is a dedicated sign system designed for a specific purpose, both in a narrow sense (the coding of letters in dots and bars) and in a broad sense (the conventions that regulate the communication by means of Morse code). The nautical system of flag signals is another example of a sign system. To elaborate a little on the last examples (and in agreement with the general system theory that says that any coherent set of elements and relations can be considered a system): the system of flag signals, the system of colours and forms of buoys, the convention of nautical radio communication, the use of symbols on water charts can each be considered as separate sign systems, or the sum of all conventions regarding nautical communication together can be considered as a single sign system. Each part of the nautical sign system is governed by explicitly stated rules and conventions, the nautical sign system as a whole is both governed by the underlying rules and conventions, and will probably also show emerging social habits and patterns that are characteristic for certain places or for certain types of sea traffic.

In natural language a lot of different sign systems could be differentiated, and it would be difficult to find good demarcations between them. Lotman has coined the term "semiosphere" for the grand total of all the different and overlapping sign systems that make up the environment a human being lives in [10]. It is certainly not my ambition in this paper to develop a method for distinguishing all kinds of possible sign systems in human communication. For this paper it suffices to make the essential distinction between formal sign systems (especially as used in computer systems) and social sign systems (as used in human communication). I will start with some tentative definitions of sign system, formal sign system, and social sign system.

A <u>sign system</u> is a set of signs, used by a social group in a social context, together with for that group in that context settled practices regarding the application and interpretation of the signs and combinations of signs.

A **formal sign system** is a sign system where the set of signs and the set of rules governing well-formed formulas as valid combinations of signs are formally defined. A good example of a definition of such a system is the proposal for an International Algebraic Language (IAL, precursor of Algol-60) by Backus in his paper at the ACM-Conference in Zürich in 1959 [11]. Backus writes in this paper:

"(1) There must exist a precise description of those sequences of symbols which constitute legal IAL programs. Otherwise it will often be the case that a program which is legal and translatable for one translating program will not be so with respect to another.

(2) For every program there must be a precise description of its "meaning", the process or transformation which it describes. Otherwise the machine language programs obtained by two translating programs from a single IAL program may behave differently in one or more crucial respects."

What is stated here, is that given the formal and deterministic nature of translator programs (translating source code into machine code), the rules for the source code must be fully specified. If not, writers of translator programs may make different choices, resulting in different behaviour for the same source code.

A <u>social sign system</u> is a sign system where the set of signs and the set of habits governing the application and interpretation of signs are formed by social practices, varying from explicit stated rules via social conventions to evolving patterns). In law, we find explicitly stated rules. In the application of law (police, court) we recognise the normative force of social conventions and social patterns. For example, what counts as "self-defence" is dependent on the societal context and of the interpretation of the actual situation and the societal context. In the case of Oscar Pistorius in South Africa the judge had to decide whether to interpret Pistorius' killing of his girlfriend as an act of mistaken self-defence, as an act of manslaughter, or an act of murder.

2.1 Meaning and Sign Systems

Meaning can only be found in the use of social sign systems. A formal sign system by itself is devoid of meaning, although there is often the suggestion that it does have meaning. Backus writes "meaning" between quotation marks when discussing automatic processing or transforming, to indicate there is no real meaning involved here (my interpretation). I will give an example from daily practice of the meaninglessness of formal sign systems.

Some time ago I needed a new bank card because the old card was pretty damaged. It was still functioning, but it would be broken soon. In order to request a new card via the website of the bank I had to log in first. For this action I needed to use my damaged but functioning card. The request form for the new card asked for the reason (an obligatory choice) for requesting a new bank card: (A) my card is broken; (B) my card was lost; (C) my card was stolen. My reason did not appear in the options. How to answer the question? My line of thought was: if I choose either "lost" or "stolen", I will probably get a new PIN code. If I choose "broken", I will retain my PIN code. Therefore, I chose "broken". Then, I finished the other questions on the form and concluded my dialogue with the website by again using my damaged card and entering the security code connected to that card. The final message of the website was: "You requested a new bank card because your current card does not function any more. The new card will be available after three working days". So, I had to use my damaged card twice to tell the system the self-same card did not function any more. I was quite happy this formal sign system did not have meaning!

This example shows three different domains of interpretation: (1) natural language as used and interpreted in human communication, here used for the description of the case; (2) the formal operations within the ICT system according to the formally declared variables, their values, and the conditions as specified in the program code; and (3) natural language in the presentation layer of the software. The last domain suggests the use of meaningful terms by the computer, but is nothing more than an alias for some formal variable or value on a variable.

3 Economic Norms

Information systems are resources for business processes, and just like any other kind of resource organisational and economic norms apply for their effective and efficient deployment. Information systems include all kinds of organised exchange of information, both computer based and based on numerous other forms of exchange of information by face to face meeting, email, reporting, and so on. Norms of effectiveness and efficiency are generic economic criteria and are always relevant. These norms apply for the use of sign systems in business processes like they apply for the use of every kind of resource.

Sign systems fulfil a role in the transfer of information within and between internal business processes, as well as in the interaction and transfer of information between the organisation and its customers, suppliers, and any other external stakeholder. Sign system A is better suited than sign system B for a certain task if A consumes less resources than B. Like many other economic issues the generic criterion is straightforward and clear. However, practice is more often than not complex and not straightforward: (1) the criteria for the successful execution of the task are multi-dimensional, (2) the term resources encloses a heterogeneous group of very different kinds of resources, (3) the determination of the price per unit consumed for a resource can be a highly complex and challenging issue, and (4) the attribution of the amount of resources to specific tasks is often difficult. All these consideration do not take away the fundamental insight that the issues of effectiveness and efficiency always apply in an organisational context. Sometimes effectivity will prevail, sometimes efficiency, but it is always an essential consideration in an organisational context.

Apart from the generic criteria mentioned above specific norms for the particular organisation will apply. Partly, these norms derive from the position of the organisation in its environment (for a company: primarily market relations, in combination with relations with other external stakeholders), and partly the norms derive from the internal

organisation (Mintzberg: the way of splitting up the tasks and the supplementary mechanisms for coordination of the tasks) [12].

In the context of this paper for the market relationship (both as seller and as buyer) the difference between classical contracts and relational contracts is very important [13]. Classical contracts are explicit and based on standard terms. These kind of contracts are therefore suited for elementary stand-alone economic transactions between anonymous trading partners, such as can be found on spot markets (buying a paper at the news stand or buying a shipload of crude oil). Relational contracts are not fully specified and are based on a longer lasting trusting relationship between the trading partners. In traditional economic theory, the model of the classical contract prevails with its notion of the individualistic and selfish behaviour of economic actors. In real economic relationships, elements of relational contracts are usually present. The relational aspect of economic relationships of the company with its customers and suppliers is the basis for some of the company's operational norms in business processes. In executing its processes the implicit rules of the economic relationship with the customer must be obeyed (and rules apply for the behaviour of the customer towards the company also). For those who are familiar with the Demo method: in Demo literature the examples are typically examples of transactions in classical contracts, and give therefore a distorted view of business practices [14].

4 Case Study

The following example shows what the considerations are in choosing the right sign system. Suppose a customer has a long standing relationship with his supplier / producer, and the customer asks: "Could you deliver about 3000 kg trimming in the second half of next week, not too fat". The supplier answers: "I will take care of it!". What kind agreement do we have here, as expressed in loose natural language? And how will this agreement be translated into the computer systems of the supplier / producer, from order entry, through production and shipping to delivery and invoicing?

Producer / Supplier 1

Suppose the supplier / producer has a simple and small-scale computer system for sales & invoicing. The internal processes are not supported by this system. In this situation the order will be put into the sales-system with customer-number, delivery date either Thursday or Friday (more or less arbitrarily), the quantity ordered is 3000kg, and the item-number for the product with the description "trimmings 80/20" (trimmings with 80% meat and 20% fat), price. If it is a regular order from a regular customer, this information will suffice. If this order is in some respect an exception to the regular habits and patterns, some notes will be made to remind the colleagues in production and shipment department what is to be known about this particular order. These notes might be made into the computer system (if some comment fields for free text are available), or in the sales-agenda of the sales-person, or on some paper.

When later on the order is prepared, and it is a regular order from a regular customer, then the information Customer C, Product P, Delivery D, Amount A will be sufficient for the production department to select or produce the trimmings that will satisfy this customer order. Just the variable parameters of the order are communicated to the shop floor. All further information to fulfil this order is known by the employees on the shop floor, including the slack permitted in the product specifications, the delivery date and the amount to be delivered (routine is presupposed). In other words: to know the customer and the product ordered is sufficient for the execution of the order on the work floor, all to specifications and expectations.

Part of the established habits of this particular customer – supplier relationship might be that the supplier informs the customer on Tuesday or Wednesday what will probably be delivered, and when. Or the customer informs the supplier that due to unforeseen demand he has a shortage, so please deliver at the earliest possible moment.

Producer / Supplier 2

Suppose, by contrast, a supplier / producer who has a highly integrated ERP system. Here also the first step is order entry with the customer-number, product-number, delivery date, quantity, price. The differences are in the subsequent processes. The order data are processed in production planning, as a result production orders will be generated to have exactly the ordered quantity of the ordered product available at the shipping date. Next, production will execute the production orders. The shop floor control module of the ERP system will be monitoring the progress and results of the production processes. Deviations from the production planning are detected and result in corrective actions. If the output from production is less than planned, production will be replanned to produce the lacking quantity. If the output from production is more than planned, the extra output will be added to stock. Is demand for that product-number more than what is available, for example because of late orders from other customers, replanning (or buying) must provide the lacking quantity. All the actions indicated above can be executed automatically in the ERP system.

4.1 Analysis of the Sign Systems in the Business Case

In the examples above we see two different sign systems at work. The first supplier / producer uses a natural language sign system with apparently vague descriptive terms and very loosely formulated and imprecise specifications. The trade partners have a stable relationship and each of the trade partners in this economic relation understands the product, the market, and the partner. In this situation, the margins of the trade are sufficiently clear, the trade partners grant each other some latitude in the interpretation of the agreement, and as a result both the internal and external transaction costs are kept at a minimum level. It is a typical example of a relational contract.

For the financial aspects some very specific formal obligations apply. Financial transactions must be factual, consistent and transparent for external stakeholders (Inland Revenue, chartered accountants). Therefore, each invoice must have a unique number (with checks on completeness), and each invoice will show the VAT number of seller and buyer, and each invoice must declare the delivered goods (description and quantity). These formal requirements are met in the sales / invoicing system, partly automatically generated (unique successive invoice-number), partly configuration (VAT-rate, own VAT number), partly master data (VAT-number customer, address data of the customer, description of the product), and partly from order / delivery data (product-number, price, possibly discount, quantity delivered). The second supplier / producer uses a formal sign system which operates by unique ID's for customers, address data, sales items and all other entities involved in the processing of information. The Bill of Material specifies precisely which resources in which quantities are required to produce one unit of a sales unit, sometimes in combination with a specification of setup times for production, sometime with a specification of setup times dependent on the preceding product on the production line. The ordering process (commerce), the production planning process (coordination), and the production and distribution processes (material handling) are (dis)connected by the ERP system

At the beginning of the trade process, at order entry, there is no difference between the two suppliers / producers. Basically, they record the same information in the same way. At the end of the trade process, after establishing the delivery data, the subsequent processes of preparing the delivery documents (either on paper or electronically), and invoicing are the same. The latter processes are bound by financial rules and commercial law. But in between, in all processes involved in order fulfilment, important differences can be found. In the case of the first supplier / producer, the order entry data are made available for the internal processes, and all interpretation is done by knowledgeable employees. In the case of the second supplier, the order entry data of this particular order is automatically processed together with a bunch of other customer orders. Formally derived information is made available for specific processes. The two essential differences between the cases are: (1) the kind of interpretation / processing of information, and (2) the kind of information that is available at different points in the order fulfilment processes. Both differences have a strong connection with the predominant sign system used for the internal processes in the organisation: a social sign system in the first case (common natural language, professional language, organisational terminology), formal sign systems in the second case (computer systems).

5 Sign Systems and Business Processes

From the example case it will be clear that formal and social sign systems differ in their characteristics to a considerable extent. A general problem in developing computer based information systems is a lack of awareness of these differences. Taken collectively, the user community tends to neglect the differences and ascribe meaning and a capacity of understanding to machines and automata, while the system developer community tends to neglect the differences and blame users for not making clear what they are doing and what they want. Under the hypothetical assumption that in a concrete project both user community and developer community (1) are well aware of the differences between formal sign systems and social sign systems, and (2) are well aware of the double embeddedness of formal sign systems in social sign systems (both in the development of formal sign systems and in the operational application of formal sign systems), the question is what the practical implications are of the differences in the development of an information system.

The same economic norms apply for information systems as for all other kind of resources; the information systems should be effective and efficient. Towards external stakeholders, effectiveness means satisfying their justified requirements and expectations (the expectations being an essential component of relational contracts). For the internal business processes, the effectiveness of the information systems means satisfying the maxims of Grice for a conversation: give all relevant information for the task at hand, avoid all irrelevant information, be accurate, brief, clear and orderly [15]. To meet these Gricean maxims, some information is best provided by computer systems, and some by human communication. Situational factors like the kinds of relationship with the outside world and the internal company's culture are codetermining for what the best mix between formal and social sign systems would be.

John Kay writes: "The firm is defined by its contracts and relationships. Added value is created by its success in putting these contracts and relationships together, so it is the quality and distinctiveness of these contracts that promote added value" [16]. To sustain the distinctive capabilities of a company with relational contracts, social sign systems matter most.

Also important is the human accountability for actions in an organisational context. Tasks and decisions may be delegated to computer systems, but people are responsible for the execution of the automated tasks. Firstly, this implies that in the configuring of a computer system the responsible people in the organisation must determine the categorisations and the business rules, and must be able to observe and approve the behaviour of the system before operational application of the system. This makes high demands on the translation of the organisational practices into formalised models, and vice versa. Secondly, in operational use people must be able to translate their operational situation into meaningful categories in the computer system (N.B.: this means meaningful for the employee!). Thirdly, in operational use people must be able to translate at hand.

6 Conclusions

In the sections above the fundamental differences between social sign systems and formal sign systems were discussed and illustrated with some business examples. When practitioners in both the user community and the developer community are more aware of these differences, much would be gained already. Subsequent research is necessary to further conceptualise sign systems and its properties, and to analyse business processes in relation to the properties of sign systems.

Apart from the essential distinction between social sign systems and formal sign systems, many subtypes in both social and formal sign systems can be differentiated. However, there is the risk of uncontrolled proliferation in such differentiation when a clear goal is lacking. In Information Systems Research, the goal would be to gain a better understanding of the fit of computer based information systems to the business processes. In this perspective, both social sign systems, formal sign systems and business processes should be analysed and categorised in relation to each other. Several kinds of problems are to be solved: (1) the practical problem of the translation of information between formal sign systems and social sign systems; (2) the practical problem of the translation of information between different formal sign systems (in a heterogeneous landscape of different computer systems, also EDI issues); (3) the practical problem of translation between different social sign systems (a classical organisational issue); and last but not least (4) the fitness of a specific sign system for specific business processes.

To conclude, insight in the nature and characteristics of different kinds of sign systems is highly relevant for information system development, and will gain both economic results (effectiveness and efficiency, competitiveness) and organisational results (better definition of tasks, less erosion of responsibilities).

References

- 1. Weber, R.: Still Desperately Seeking the IT Artefact. In: King, J.L., Lyytinen, K. (eds.) Information Systems – The State of the Field, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester (2006)
- IFIP TC8. TC 8 Information Systems Aims and Scopes, (revised 1990), retrieved from http://www.ifip.org/bulletin/bulltcs/tc8_aim.htm
- 3. Liu, K.: Semiotics in Information Systems Engineering. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2000)
- Hartshorne, C., Weiss, P. (eds.): Collected Papers of Charles Sanders Peirce, reprint of the 1931-58 edition. Thoemess Press, Bristol (1998)
- 5. Van Heusden, B.P.: Why Literature? Stauffenberg Verlag, Tübingen (1997)
- Engelland, C.: Ostension, Word Learning and the Embodied Mind. MIT Press, Cambridge (2014)
- 7. Corstens, G.: De Rechtsstaat moet je leren. Prometheus Bert Bakker, Amsterdam (2014)
- Van Heusden, B.P., Jorna, R.: Toward a Semiotic Theory of Cognitive Dynamics in Organisations. In: Liu, K., Clarke, R.J., Andersen, P.P., Stamper, R.K. (eds.) Information, Organisation and Technology, KAP, Boston Dordrecht London (2001)
- 9. Boisot, M.: Information Space. Routledge, London (1995)
- 10. Lotman, Y.M.: Universe of the Mind. I.B. Tauris Publishers, London (1990)
- 11. Backus, J.W.: The Syntax and Semantics of the Proposed International Algebraic Language of Zurich ACM-GAMM Conference (1959), Retrieved from: http://www.softwarepreservation.org/projects/ALGOL/paper/Bac kus-Syntax_and_Semantics_of_Proposed_IAL.pdf/view
- 12. Mintzberg, H.: The Structuring of Organizations. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs (1979)
- Campbell, D. (ed.): The Relational Theory of Contract, Selected Works of Ian MacNeil. Sweet & Maxwell, London (2001)
- 14. Dietz, J.: Enterprise Ontology. Springer Verlag, Berlin (2006)
- 15. Grice, P.: Studies in the Way of Words. Harvard University Press, Cambridge (1989)
- 16. Kay, J.: Foundations of Corporate Success. Oxford University Press, Oxford (1993)

On the Relationships between Norms, Values and Culture: Preliminary Thoughts in HCI

Roberto Pereira^{1,2}, M. Cecília C. Baranauskas¹, and Kecheng Liu²

¹ Institute of Computing, University of Campinas (UNICAMP), Brazil ² Informatics Research Centre, Henley Business School, University of Reading, UK {rpereira, cecilia}@ic.unicamp.br, k.liu@henley.ac.uk

Abstract. Different studies and initiatives have indicated a new moment in the Human-Computer Interaction field that requires it to consider aspects that are difficult to be identified, such as values and culture. However, these aspects have been traditionally left on the margin of approaches for technology development, and still demand investigations on how to effectively deal with them in design activities. In this paper, we consider the concept of Norms as a promising concept to advance the understanding and knowledge on this topic, and draw on a socially aware perspective to the design of information systems, presenting preliminary discussions on the concepts of norms, values and culture, and their possible relationships, as a first step into a norm-oriented perspective for values and culture in HCI.

Keywords: Norms, Organizational Semiotics, Values in Design, Culture in Design, Information Systems.

1 Introduction

Every technology triggers (positive and/or negative) impacts on the environment in which it is inserted and on the people who live in this environment — even if they do not use it directly. Ubiquitous Computing, Wearable Computing and Social Software are some examples of how Information and Communication Technologies (ICTs) have permeated all aspects of personal and collective life. In this sense, the task of designing interactive systems has assumed new dimensions in terms of complexity and has required a wider and deeper understanding of the ethical and social responsibilities of those who create them [12].

Different studies and initiatives intended to identify, discuss and inspire the research in Human-Computer Interaction (HCI) have indicated a new paradigm, or wave, in the area [1][5][8]. This new moment requires HCI theories, methods and practices to be rethought in order to consider aspects that are difficult to be identified, such as values and culture.

Values are culturally built [13], varying in meaning, importance and priority according to the culture being analyzed and across time and space. Therefore, although there are some universal values, it is possible to say that values cannot be properly understood outside their cultural context: while a value indicates what is important for people, culture explains why [12].

The (lack of) consideration and implication of values in technology are usually too subtle and only noticed when a social rule is violated, a behavioral pattern is broken, or a conflict of interest arises. The lack of attention to values and the complex cultural context of people have led to the creation of products that are not suitable to their needs and expectations, that do not make sense to them, and that often generates undesirable side-effects.

In the literature, there are relevant works on values and culture that discuss the design, adoption, use, and impact of technologies, the relationship between culture and usability, and that address the involvement/concern with values during design activities [6]. However, there is still a lack of studies that support the explicit and articulated involvement of both values and culture throughout the design process, helping designers to deal with them, reflecting them in their design decisions and products. From the perspective of the Semiotic Onion [16], there is a need for investigation on how to deal with values and cultural aspects not only in the informal layer, but also in the formal and technical ones.

In this paper, we start discussions about the potential of norms for supporting the understanding, involvement and formalization of aspects related to values and culture in the design of information systems from a HCI perspective. These discussions are grounded on different theories on norms, values and culture, as well as on practical examples. The paper is organized as follows: in Section 2, we present the background and a brief discussion on the concepts of values and culture, and in Section 3, we present different types of norms related to these concepts. In Section 4, we draw on the Value Pie artifact to exemplify different perspectives for the relationship between norms, values and culture, and in section 5, we present our conclusion and suggestions for future work.

2 Background

The ACM (Association for Computing Machinery) defines HCI as "a discipline concerned with the design, evaluation and implementation of interactive computing systems for human use and with the study of major phenomena surrounding them". This definition represents the complexity and comprehensiveness of the area, and attributes to HCI the responsibility to consider beyond technical issues, the formal and informal ones that coexist in society.

Aligned with ACM's definition for HCI, Winograd [21] asserts that the role of an interactive system designer goes beyond the construction of an interface to encompass all the interspace in which people live, and argues that it is necessary a shift from understanding the machinery to understand the lives of the people using it. This shift is key to the new moment in HCI that have been indicated by authors, such as [1][5][8][15], and results in a quite different perspective for the design of interactive systems, where technical issues play only part of the role, and not necessarily the most important one.

Such perspective have been proposed and explored by Baranauskas [3][4] for more than a decade through her social perspective to the design of interactive systems, often named as "Socially Aware Design". Baranauskas recognizes the existence of three levels in which humans operate and understand the world: the informal, formal and technical.

These levels were introduced by Hall [7] and structured by Stamper [16], through the Semiotic Onion (Fig. 1.), in order to explain how these levels exist in the context of organizations and information systems. The informal represents the culture, values, habits, beliefs, behavioral patterns of people and other aspects that are usually difficult to describe and even identify. The formal represents aspects that are well established and accepted, becoming social conventions, norms, or laws. Finally, the technical represents aspects that are so formalized that can be automated or approached in a technical way.

Grounded on Organizational Semiotics [9] and inspired by Participatory Design [14], Baranauskas [2][3][4] brings to HCI the understanding that any technical system exists in the context of a formal system that, in turn, exists in the context of an informal one. In this sense, a design process that is centered in technical aspects ends up giving little (or no) attention to the formal and informal aspects of organizations and the society, preventing designers from a wider sense-making of the problem being handled, the solution being designed, the stakeholders involved and the complex social world in which they live. Therefore, positive and negative effects on the formal and informal layers are completely undefined and unanticipated, leading to solutions that frequently do not make sense to users and trigger negative side effects on them and on the environment in which they are introduced.

Friedman [6] argues that, although the neglect of values (and here we include culture) in any organization is disturbing, it is particularly damaging in the design of computer technology where we can hardly disagree and negotiate about values and their meanings. In fact, as Hall [7] indicates, the technical system is where one can introduce changes with the greatest ease. However, as Baranauskas [2] indicates, the degree to which the system will respect or violate the *norms of the informal and formal systems* depends on how much these levels were understood.

In her socially aware design, Baranauskas [2][3][4] recognizes design processes as a movement that begins from outside to inside the Semiotic Onion (see the dashed arrows in Fig. 1.), crossing the informal and formal layers of signs towards the construction of the technical system. This movement favors the identification, articulation and formalization of relevant aspects of the social world, such as the ones related to stakeholders' values and culture. Therefore, when the movement returns, the technical system will impact on the formal and informal layers and on the society in an informed way, reflecting an understanding of the social world, potentially making sense to users, promoting its acceptance and adoption.

Adopting Baranauskas perspective, Pereira [10][12] proposed and experienced a set of artifacts to support the consideration and involvement of aspects related to culture and values in different design activities: from the identification of stakeholders, to the clarification of requirements and the evaluation of the resulting interactive system. Results obtained from different case studies recognized the need for further studies to support designers in the representation and formalization of such aspects, suggesting norms as a promising concept to be considered.

The three main words in this paper, "Values", "Culture" and "Norms" have been used in many senses, often with an unclear meaning. Each one has been the main concern of researchers from different disciplines, being approached and investigated for and from quite different perspectives. Therefore, we are not looking for an ultimate definition, and do not intend to unify the different interests and understandings around these words. Instead, we are presenting one possible view for them, which may support their consideration in the design of information systems from a HCI perspective. In the next sections, we introduce the definitions we are adopting for each one, and develop a discussion about the relationships between them.

2.1 Values and Culture

In HCI, Friedman [6] have adopted a broad understanding for value, defining it as something that a person or a group of people consider important in life. This understanding goes beyond the notion of moral and ethical values, allowing additional notions (e.g., personal values, technical values). The key point we highlight in this understanding is that it opens space for considering (and inquiring) not only what theories and formal definitions determine as values, but mainly what people think about when they are thinking about values.

However, a more elaborated definition may be useful to support our discussions. According to Williams [20], the word "values" has been used to refer to interests, pleasures, preferences, moral obligations, desires, goals, needs, etc., reflecting a kind of selective orientation where the core phenomenon is the presence of criteria or standard of preference. The author defines values as core conceptions of the desirable within individuals and society that serve as standards or criteria to guide not only action, but also judgment, argument, evaluation, choice. This definition encompasses Friedman's aforementioned understanding and is the one we consider in this paper.

Stamper et al. [17] assert that people's systems of values are largely determined by their culture or subculture. Different authors, such as Hall [7] and Rokeach [13], recognize the cultural nature of values, arguing that their importance and roles vary strongly according to the culture being analyzed. In this paper, we adopt Hall's [7] understanding of culture, which refers to people's attitudes, material things, and learned behavioral patterns, representing the very different ways of organizing life, thinking, and understanding basic assumptions about the family, the economic system, and even the mankind. For Hall, culture controls the behavior of people in deep and persisting ways, many of which are out of their awareness, being the link between people and the means they have of interacting with others.

When talking about culture, Hall [7] believes it is more important to look at the way things are put together than at specific theories, suggesting that, although it is useful to question about specific situations, understanding the cultural context in which people live, the way they interact, and their behavioral patterns can offer more information than looking at pre-defined hypothesis. In this sense, the author proposed 10 Primary Messages Systems (PMS), or areas, he named the basic building blocks of culture (Interaction, Association, Learning, Play, Protection, Exploitation, Temporality, Territoriality, Classification, and Subsistence), arguing that any culture could be characterized, analyzed and compared through a combination between these areas (e.g., in a 10x10 matrix). Hall also suggests that values are developed according to these areas and their combination.

According to the exposed above, one may consider that: 1. if values are core conceptions of the desirable, and these conceptions are culturally determined, then, the desirable is not only influenced by what is taught, verbally communicated and explicitly identified in a society, but also by time and space (and their role in people's lives), socioeconomic conditions, and the environment characteristics (e.g., climate, natural resources). 2. If values serve as standards to guide action, judgment, argument, evaluation, and choice, then, they may act as a specific kind of force that make "the members of a community tend to behave or think in a certain way [17]", i.e., a norm.

3 Types of Norms

The OS theory considers an organization and its information system as a social system in which human behaviors are organized by a system of norms [9]. Norms are a key concept in OS, being understood as collective constructions of agents at the social level, providing guidance for their actions. Among the methods offered by the OS there is the Norm Analysis Method, which supports the study of an organization from the perspective of the behavior of agents that are governed by norms, and that makes it possible to specify the studied organization by specifying norms.

Stamper et al. [17] argue that the shared norms are what define a culture, or a subculture, presenting and explaining different taxonomies for norms: 1. formality (informal, formal, technical); 2. Social psychological (perceptual, evaluative, cognitive, behavioral); 3. Kinds of tasks (substantive, communication, control). From these different kind of norms, the Evaluative Norms are considered the most basic ones, being directly related to people's system of values and influencing people's behavior (e.g., action, judgment, argument, choice). However, understanding evaluative norms, the way they interact with other kinds of norms, and representing them are still issues that demand further investigations.

In his book "Norm and Action", von Wright [19] developed a deep discussion on norms in general, exposing the complexity of giving a definition for the word norms, focusing on norms related to actions, and distinguishing between three major groups of norms: 1. rules, 2. prescriptions, and 3. directives. Briefly, 1) Rules are regulations or principles governing conduct within a particular activity, such as the rules of game, grammar, and even logic. 2) Prescriptions are commands, permissions and prohibitions, such as the laws of the state. 3) Directives are also understood as technical norms and are concerned with the means for reaching an ending, such as the instructions that will take the person who follows them to a specific result.

Additionally to the three major groups, three minor groups were introduced by von Wright [19]: i) customs, ii) moral principles, and iii) ideal rules. These groups may be related to one or more of the major groups, and can help us to discuss more about evaluative norms.

Customs determine certain patterns of conduct, exerting a normative pressure on the members of a community to follow them. They can be understood as social habits that are imposed on the members of a community rather than acquired by them individually. For instance, if a person is late for a meeting, it may be a custom he or she to apologize to the other participants for being late. Whether the apology happens, its intention (inform, explain, justify), in what moment (when the person arrives, at the end of the meeting) and in what way (gestures, voice tone, vocabulary) it happens, etc., reveal additional cultural norms.

Moral principles enter in the realm of ethics and, therefore, require a deeper and critical discussion that is out of the scope of this paper. The key point suggested by von Wright [19] is that moral norms are "conceptually autonomous", standing by themselves, and having complicated relationships to the other kind of norms and to

35

the (value) notions of good and evil. For instance, introduced in 2010, full body scanners at airports produced livid naked pictures of people. In several countries, the concern with the possible ethical problems triggered by these scanners resulted in different movements and actions: in United Kingdom, these scanners conflicted with child protection laws that ban the creation of indecent images of children [18]. While no one could argue against the possible evil consequences of producing and storing images of naked people, prioritizing people's security and well-being for the common good (e.g., against terrorism) was often used as a justification.

Ideal rules, in turn, are not directly related to actions, i.e. something to be done, but to the nature of being (or not being). Ideal norms are usually related to the idea of goodness, and unlike moral rules that are related to moral action, they set a pattern of what is good (the characteristic of being good). Ideal rules apply to people, organizations, as well as classes and objects, allowing us to say they apply to both agents and affordances. In the example of full body scanners, ideal norms would not define the properties or behavior of every scanner, but the ones that would characterize an ideal body scanner.

One may develop extensive discussion about these three minor groups of norms, bringing innumerous examples and exceptions. However, we can highlight two common points shared by these minor groups: 1) the existence of relationships with the major groups and between them; and 2) the idea of the desirable and, therefore, the link to the notion of values – what allow us to talk in terms of evaluative norms.

In von Wright's theory [19], the author argues that to understand the nature of moral norms is not to discover some unique features in them, but to survey their complex relationships to a number of other things. This may suggest that understanding evaluative norms is not to specify and represent their unique characteristics, but to recognize and understand their possible relationships to the other kind of norms. In the next section, we draw on the Value Pie artifact to expose practical discussions on values, culture and norms.

4 The Links between Values, Culture and Norms

The Value Pie (VP) is a culturally informed conceptual scheme for guiding discussions on values and culture in design [11] [12]. The VP was built on the grounds of Organizational Semiotics [9] and the Building Blocks of Culture [7], presenting three layers and ten slices that organize and support the discussion about values according to their dominant level of formality (informal, formal and technical) and cultural nature (Hall's 10 areas of culture) — see Fig. 2. Formality means that values are manifested on one of the three levels, but have aspects to be considered in all the three simultaneously. Cultural nature means that values are developed according to an area of culture, and with possible intersections between different areas. In [12, 10], the interested reader can find additional discussions and examples of values according to the VP and its dimensions.



Fig. 1. The Semiotic Onion

Fig. 2. The Value Pie

According to the notion of "privacy" given by Encyclopedia Britannica: "the quality or state of being apart from company or observation; freedom from unauthorized intrusion (one's right to); a private matter", one may see it was a value developed in the VP's "Protection" area, reflecting the importance of protecting personal information, things, ideas etc. — see Fig. 2. Because the areas of culture interact with each other, it is natural their values to present aspects developed from the intersection among them. For instance, when privacy refers to the protection of space (personal, social, physical), then it has a clear relationship to the "Territoriality" area.

Furthermore, what is necessary or expected to protect and why, what are the means to protect it, the extension and limits of privacy, and the importance given to it are examples of aspects that differ strongly according to the culture being analyzed. People from different cultures have their own informal understanding of what privacy is, as well as its meaning and importance. There are social protocols, conventions, rules and laws that are formally established to define the limits and guarantees of an individual's privacy. There are also some facets of privacy that are so formally accepted that can be technically supported, such as a curtain to cover a window, the wall for restricting the visibility of a house, and the privacy of medical examinations, just to name a few.

Considering Baranauskas' perspective to the design of information systems [2][3], the VP's structure suggests at least two core ideas on norms and values. The first idea is that each value has formal issues to be understood and considered, and that may be represented by norms. Therefore, norms may act as the bridge between the informal and the technical levels, specifying the way technical features should work. The second idea is that cultural areas, their values and, consequently, the norms related to them, are not isolated, but interact with each other in a complex interplay. Thus, if values are not understood in their cultural context, the norms related to them tend not to reflect their role and importance, being supported by technical features that do not make sense to users, do not afford the behaviors they are used to in their social world, and may trigger undesired side-effects on them and on their environment. Following, we present brief examples that illustrate the different norms we discussed in the previous section, and the way they are related to values and cultures of stakeholders.

4.1 Designing the TNR (Portuguese acronym for "All of Us Networked") System

In Brazil, public policies for inclusive education created the Specialized Educational Services (SES), in which teachers conduct activities with students in rooms equipped with specialized resources at traditional schools. In order to qualify professionals, teachers from all over the country started specialization courses within e-learning environments, but with a limited period (18 months). After that, teachers must be able to work with students regardless their disability, and have no additional support for a continuing learning. In this context, researchers from Education and Computer Science have been working in a research project, which one of the main goals is to design a social network system for these teachers. This system is intended to support teachers in their day-by-day work in a continuing education process.

The TNR system is being designed with representatives from the target audience in an iterative and incremental style according to Baranauskas' design model [2][3][4]. During all the design activities, artifacts created on the grounds of the VP were used to support the explicit consideration of stakeholders' values and culture. Therefore, the TNR system is a viable context to investigate and analyze the different norms related to values and culture. Following we present some examples.

Customs: participatory activities with representatives from the teachers revealed the concept of "authorship" (property, ownership) as a value for them. Using a teacher's words: "I understand that a contribution must be edited only by its authors. I think it is interesting a space for discussion, but respecting and keeping the contribution of each member. The interventions/editions in texts created by other people may not be well-accepted".

In fact, teachers are used to work in groups, exchanging ideas and sharing materials; they believe it is possible to develop better solutions when they work together. However, the identification and the recognition of the individual contribution and participation must always be explicit and preserved. In an information system, they would not conceive the idea of someone but the author modifying an existing contribution (content). Therefore, a collaborative editor would trigger conflicts between the participants: e.g., a user could modify the text typed by other user when adding his or her own contribution. In this sense, a cooperative feature that allows users to contribute to each other but that identifies and keeps the individual contribution would be more adequate.

Norms may be derived from the explanation about this custom and may be represented according to the format proposed by the OS theory [9]. For instance: i) "WHENEVER new data is created in the system, IF it was created by a user, THEN the user must be defined as the data author". ii) "WHENEVER an existing data is selected, IF the user is the data author, THEN the user may update the data."

Moral Principles: because teachers are used to discuss their problems and ideas at their schools, they first did not express concern with privacy: they think it is good to share their opinions and information, and do not see risks in making them available to others. However, they are very concerned about security issues, and start to worry about privacy when they became aware of the possible impact on their life, or on the file of students and their families. This indicates that teachers believe privacy is important and must be considered, but they usually become aware of that only when a

problem or conflict arises. Therefore, the system should be designed not only to protect the stakeholders' privacy, but also to instruct users to be aware of it.

Example of norms: i) "WHENEVER new data is created in the system, IF it contains personal information of others, THEN its author must have the authorization to use the information". ii) "WHENEVER a new content is shared to other users, IF it is publicly available, THEN the user must indicate that the content does not offer risks to his/her privacy and the privacy of others".

Ideal rules: the system's terms of usage were also defined in a participatory way. As a by-product, teachers and researchers identified values that were not being considered in the terms, but that were important to guide the users' ethical behavior in the system (the ideal behavior). Thus, it was created a "Letter of Principles" to make these values explicit at the system home page. Examples of values are: i) Accessibility: the network must be able to attend to the different needs of a heterogeneous group of participants. ii) Autonomy: people may be capable of making decisions, planning, and acting in order to achieve their goals; of controlling the technology and using it. iii) Collaboration: possibility to cooperate, working together for a common goal. iv) Groups (team spirit): participants may work together, with common interests, needs and goals, supporting each other.

Mapping the values listed in the Letter into the VP supports a deep discussion about each one, and provides useful information for their effective consideration and promotion in the TNR system (due to the limited space we will not develop such discussion here). Example of norms: (accessibility) "WHENEVER a new content is shared, IF it is a picture or a video, THEN the author may inform a textual description for it."

The examples presented in this section demonstrate the existence of values related to different types of norms. For each type (customs, moral principles, ideal rules), behavioral norms where identified, indicating a relationship between them. These examples support our previous discussions about the importance of considering the different types of norms and their possible relationships. However, understanding how evaluative norms influence behavioral norms, and how they can be represented is still an issue that requires further research.

5 Conclusion

Considering values and culture in the design of information systems is still a challenge for the Human-Computer Interaction field. Although literature presents relevant works on these issues, how to support designers to deal with them and to reflect them in their design decisions and products are still open issues that require further investigations.

In this paper, we presented preliminary discussions about the relationships between norms, culture and values, offering a perspective to understand these concepts and articulate them. We consider norms as a concept able to support designers to move from informal understandings about values and culture of different stakeholders to their effective involvement and consideration in the resulting technical artifact. We also suggest that different types of norms interact with each other, and are required to represent different facets of values and culture. For further investigations, it is necessary both deepen theoretical discussions and to analyze more practical examples. A conceptual scheme to represent norms and their interplay may contribute to clarify the relationship between norms and values, as well as to support the creation of artifacts and methods to carry design activities.

Acknowledgements. This research is partially funded by FAPESP (2014/01382-7; 2013/02821-1) and Proesp/CAPES through the TNR Project (23038.01457/2009-11).

References

- Bannon, L.: Reimagining HCI: toward a more human-centered perspective. Interactions 18(4), 50–57 (2011)
- Baranauskas, M.C.C.: Socially Aware Computing. In: Proceedings of VI International Conference on Engineering and Computer Education (ICECE), pp. 1–5 (2009)
- Baranauskas, M.C.C., Bonacin, R.: Design Indicating Through Signs. MIT Press Design Issues 24, 30–45 (2008)
- 4. Baranauskas, M.C.C.: Social awareness in HCI. Interactions 21(4), 66-69 (2014)
- Bødker, S.: When second wave HCI meets third wave challenges. In: Proc. of 4th Nordic Conference on HCI: Changing Roles, pp. 1–8 (2006)
- 6. Friedman, B.: Value-Sensitive Design. Interactions 3(6), 16-23 (1996)
- 7. Hall, E.T.: The Silent Language. Anchoor Books (1959)
- Harrison, S., Tatar, D., Sengers, P.: The three paradigms of HCI. In: Proceedings of ACM AltCHI 2007, pp. 1–21 (2007)
- 9. Liu, K.: Semiotics in Information Systems Engineering. Cambridge University Press (2000)
- Pereira, R., Buchdid, S.B., Baranauskas, M.C.C.: Keeping Values in Mind-Artifacts for a Value-oriented and Culturally Informed Design. In: 14th International Conference on Enterprise Information Systems (ICEIS), pp. 25–34 (2012)
- Pereira, R., Baranauskas, M.C.C., Silva, S.R.P.: Social Software and Educational Technology: Informal, Formal and Technical Values. Educational Technology & Society 16, 4–14 (2013)
- Pereira, R., Baranauskas, M.C.C.: Value Pie: A Culturally Informed Conceptual Scheme for Understanding Values in Design. In: Human-Computer Interaction. Theories, Methods, and Tools, pp. 122–133 (2014)
- 13. Rokeach, M.: Understanding Human Values: individual and societal. The Free Press (1979)
- Schuler, D., Namioka, A. Participatory design: principles and practices, Hillsdale. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates (1993)
- 15. Sellen, A., Rogers, Y., Harper, R., Rodden, T.: Reflecting human values in the digital age. Communications of the ACM 52, 58–66 (2009)
- Stamper, R.: Signs, norms, and information systems. Signs at work. Walter de Gruyter, Berlin, 349-397 (1996)
- Stamper, R., Liu, K., Hafkamp, M., Ades, Y.: Understanding the Role of Signs and Norms in Organisations – a semiotic approach to information systems design. Journal of Behaviour and Information Technology 19(1), 15–27 (2000)
- 18. The Guardian, New scanners break child porn laws, http://www.theguardian.com/politics/2010/jan/04/newscanners-child-porn-laws (last access on November 1, 2014)

40 R. Pereira et al.

- 19. Von Wright, G.H.: Norm and action: a logical enquiry (1963)
- Williams, R.M.: Change and Stability in Values and Values Systems: A Sociological Perspective. In: Rokeach, M. (ed.) Understanding Human Values: individual and societal, pp. 15–46. The Free Press (1979)
- 21. Winograd, T.: The design of interaction. In: Beyond Calculation: The Next Fifty Years of Computing, pp. 149–161. Springer (1997)

A Semiotic Approach to Investigate Quality Issues of Open Big Data Ecosystems

John Krogstie and Shang Gao

Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU) {krogstie,shanggao}@idi.ntnu.no

Abstract. The quality of data models has been investigated since the midnineties. In another strand of research, data and information quality has been investigated even longer. Data can also be looked upon as a type of model (on the instance level), as illustrated e.g. in the product models in CAD-systems. We have earlier presented a specialization of the general SEQUAL-framework to be able to evaluate the combined quality of data models and data. In this paper we look in particular on the identified issues of 'Big Data'. We find on the one hand that the characteristics of quality of big data can be looked upon in the light of the quality levels of the SEQUAL-framework as it is specialized for data quality, and that there are aspects in this framework that are not covered by the existing work on big data. On the other hand, the exercise has resulted in a useful deepening of the generic framework for data quality, and has in this way improved the practical applicability of the SEQUAL-framework when applied to discussing and assessing quality of big data.

Keywords: Big data, data quality, Semiotic levels.

1 Introduction

The term 'big data' and the accompanying area have received increasing interest over the last years. The area is often defined through describing a number of V-s (Volume, Variety ... etc). In a way, with an area where a major conference already in the seventies took the name VLDB - Very Large Data Bases one might wonder what is particularly different, and how the notion of data quality in connection to big data is different than data quality in general.

Data quality has for a long time been an established area of research [4] and work on quality assessment in data integration has also appeared as an area recently [24]. A related area that was established in the nineties is quality of models (in particular quality of conceptual data models) [25]. Data can be looked upon as a type of model (on the instance level), as illustrated e.g., in the product models in a CAD-system. Traditionally, one has looked at model quality for models on the M1 (type) level (to use the model-levels found in e.g., MOF). On the other hand, it is clear especially in product and enterprise modelling that there are models on the instance level (M0), an area described as containing data (or objects in MOF-terminology). Also if we look upon administrative data, e.g. data on persons, it is clear that this is an abstraction, focusing on certain properties (e.g. name, age) of persons based on the purpose of having the data, not being a mirror of reality capturing all perceivable properties of persons. Thus, our outset is that also data quality can be looked upon relative to more generic frameworks for quality of models.

In this paper we look on characteristics of big data in the light of data quality as conceptualized using the SEQUAL-framework for quality of models. We will in section 2 describe some different work describing big data characteristics. In section 3 we described SEQUAL and its specialization for data quality based on earlier work. The main contribution of this work is section 4, where we position the big data characteristics within this semiotic framework. Section 5 concludes the paper.

2 Background on Big Data

Big Data has by many been 'conceptualized' by letter-magic centred on the letter V. Big Data first related to Volume, but later 3 V, 4 V and 5 V frameworks have been presented. As a start, Beyer and Laney [6] describe 3 areas:

- Volume, referring to the size of the data.
- Variety, referring to the heterogeneity of data representations, data acquisition, and semantic interpretation.
- Velocity, referring to the rate at which new data arrive and the time in which it must be acted upon.

IBM presents four areas¹. In addition to the three above, they mention veracity, relating to the uncertainty of the data quality. Another source² also add a fourth area, namely viability pointing to that it is necessary to filter through all the data and carefully select the attributes and factors that most likely to predict outcomes and matter most to the business.

Finally Advanced Performance Institute [23] summarizes the area with 5 V-s, giving a bit more detailed information on the characteristics. We further exemplify with the current situation in the media industry.

- Volume refers to the large amounts of data generated going from are Terabytes to Zettabytes and more. This makes many datasets too large to store and analyse using traditional database technology. New big data tools use distributed systems so that we can store and analyse data across databases that are potentially spread around the world. In the news area, it means that larger volumes of data are available to be analysed relative to understanding what is happening.
- Velocity refers to the speed at which new data is generated and distributed. One example is a social media messages going viral in minutes. Technology allows us now to analyse the data while it is being generated, without ever putting it into databases. E.g. the SAP HANA architecture is providing an in-memory database solution that can integrate transactional data and analytical queries.

¹ http://www.ibmbigdatahub.com/infographic/four-vs-big-data

² http://www.pros.com/big-vs-big-data/

- Variety refers to the different types of data that one might want to look at in concert. In the past one mainly focused on structured data that fitted into tables or relational databases. A large amount of the world's data is unstructured (text, images, video, voice, etc.), kind of data that is particularly relevant in the media industry. With big data technology one can now analyse and bring together data of different types such as messages, social media conversations, photos, sensor data, video and voice recordings. Note that the variety aspect is not particular to Big Data, the issues is also found within large organizations in their attempt to address data integration [19, 24] internally or in collaboration with business partners.
- Veracity refers to the messiness or trustworthiness of the data. With many forms of big data, quality including accuracy are less controllable (just think of Twitter posts with hash tags, abbreviations, typos and colloquial speech as well as the reliability and accuracy of the content). In the media industry the veracity issue has become increasingly acute with the mix of journalistic and public sources of news.
- Value. Having access to big data is no good unless one can turn it into some value. This can be said to relate to Viability as described above. To have value in the news area, it is important to be able to report quickly based on what is happening. In newspapers we find for instance special systems such as Quake-Bot used by LA Times for more or less auto-generating news-articles based on available data. It can also be an issue as for the rights of reusing existing data to create value from the data.

On our own account, we add the need for visualization. To be able to get value from the data, it must be abstracted and visualized in an appropriate way to make the data useful, applying and extending techniques in the area of information visualization [35].

3 SEQUAL Data Quality Framework

SEQUAL [17] is a framework for assessing and understanding the quality of models and modelling languages. It builds on early work on quality of model [22, 26], but has been extended based on theoretical results [27, 28, 31] and practical experiences [17, 21] with the original framework. It has earlier been used for evaluation of modelling and modelling languages of a large number of perspectives, including data quality [18, 19], data modeling [16], ontologies [11], process modeling [1, 15], enterprise modeling [20], topological modeling (maps) [29] and goal-oriented modelling [13, 14]. Quality has been defined referring to the correspondence between statements belonging to the following sets:

- **G**, the set of goals of the modelling task.
- L, the language extension.
- **D**, the domain, i.e., the set of all statements that can be stated about the situation.
- Domains can be divided into two parts, exemplified by looking at a software requirements specification:

- Everything the computerized information system (CIS) is supposed to do. This is termed the primary domain.
- Constraints on the model because of earlier baselined models such as system level requirements specifications, enterprise architecture models, statements of work, and earlier versions of the requirement specification. This is termed the modelling context. In relation to data quality, the underlying data model is part of the modelling context when it is defined.
- **M**, the externalized model itself.
- **K**, the explicit knowledge relevant to the domain of the audience.
- I, the social actor interpretation of the model
- T, the technical actor interpretation of the model
- The main quality types following the steps of the so-called semiotic ladder [9] are:
- Physical quality: The basic quality goal is that the externalized model **M** is available to the relevant social and technical actors (and not to others).
- Empirical quality deals with comprehension and predictable error frequencies when a model **M** is read by different social actors
- Syntactic quality is the correspondence between the model M and the language extension L.
- Semantic quality is the correspondence between the model \mathbf{M} and the domain \mathbf{D} .
- Perceived semantic quality is the similar correspondence between the social actor interpretation I of a model M and his or hers current knowledge K of domain D.
- Pragmatic quality is the correspondence between the model **M** and the actor interpretation (**I** and **T**) and application of it.
- The goal defined for social quality is agreement among actor's interpretations.
- The deontic quality of the model relates to that all statements in the model **M** contribute to fulfilling the goals of modelling **G**, and that all the goals of modelling **G** are addressed through the model **M**.

3.1 Data Quality Relative to the SEQUAL Quality Types

We here discuss means within each quality level, positioning the areas that are specified by Batini et al. [4] and Price et al. [10, 11]. These are emphasised using italic. This overview is largely taken from [18].

Physical Data Quality: Aspects of persistence, data being accessible (Price) for all (accessibility (Batini)), currency (Batini) and security (Price) cover aspects on the physical level. This area can be looked upon relative to measures of persistence, currency and availability that apply also to all other types of models.

Empirical Data Quality: This is addressed by understandable (Price). Since data can be presented in many different ways, this relates to how the data is presented and visualized. How to best present different data depends on the underlying data-type. There are a number of generic guidelines within data visualization and related areas that can be applied, and we will only mention a few of these here. For computer-output specifically, many of the principles and tools used for improving human computer interfaces are relevant at the empirical level [33]. For visual presentation of data, one can also base the guidelines on

work in cognitive psychology and cartography with the basis that data is meant to be useful in connection to communication between people.

Syntactic Data Quality: From the generic SEQUAL framework we have one main syntactic quality characteristics, syntactical correctness. This means that all statements in the model are according to the syntax and vocabulary of the language

Syntax errors are of two kinds:

- Syntactic invalidity, in which graphemes not part of the language are used.
- Syntactic incompleteness, in which one lack constructs or information to obey the language's grammar

Conforming to metadata (Price) including that the data conform to the expected data type of the data (as described in the data model) are part of syntactic data quality. This will typically be related to syntactic invalidity when e.g. the data is of the wrong data-type.

Semantic Data Quality: When looking upon semantic quality relative to the primary domain of modelling, we have the following properties:

- Completeness in SEQUAL is covered by completeness (Batini), mapped completely (Price), and mapped unambiguously (Price).
- Validity in SEQUAL is covered by accuracy (Batini), both syntactic and semantic accuracy as they have defined it, the difference between these is rather to decide on how incorrect the data is, phenomena mapped correctly (Price), properties mapped correctly (Price) and properties mapped meaningfully (Price). Since the rules of representation are formally given, consistency (Batini)/mapped consistently (Price) is also related to validity. The use of metadata such as the source of the data is an important mean to support validity evaluation of the data.

Properties related to the model context are related to the adherence of the data to the data model. One would expect for instance that

- All tables of the data model should include tuples
- Data is according to the constraints defined in the data-model

The possibility of ensuring high semantic quality of the data is closely related to the semantic quality of the underlying data model. When looking upon semantic quality of the data model relative to the primary domain of modelling, we have the following properties: Completeness (Moody and Batini) (number of missing requirements) and integrity (Moody) (number of missing business rules) relates to completeness.

Completeness (Moody) (number of superfluous requirements) and integrity (Moody) (number of incorrect business rules) relates to validity. The same applies to Batini's points on correctness with respect to model and correctness with respect to requirements.

Pragmatic Data Quality: Pragmatic quality relates to the comprehension of the model by participants. Two aspects can be distinguished:

- That the interpretation by human stakeholders of the data is correct relative to what is meant to be expressed. In addition to the data it will often be useful to have different meta-data represented (making it easier to understand the intent behind the data).
- That the tool interpretation is correct relative to what is meant to be expressed.

Starting with the human comprehension part, pragmatic quality on this level is the correspondence between the data and the audience's interpretation of it. Moreover, it is not only important that the data has been understood, but also who has understood (the relevant parts of) the data.

The main aspect at this level is interpretability (Batini), that data is suitably presented (Price) and data being flexibly presented (Price). Allowing access to relevant metadata (Price) is an important mean to achieve comprehension.

Social Data Quality: The goal defined for social quality is agreement. Relative agreement means that the various sets to be compared are consistent -- hence, there may be many statements in the data representation of one actor that are not present in that of another, as long as they do not contradict each other. The area quality of information source (Batini) touches important means for the social quality of the data, since a high quality source will increase the probability of agreement. Another term found in data quality literature on this aspect is provenance.

In some cases one need to combine different data sources. This consists of combing the data-models, and then transferring the data from the two sources into the new schema. Schema integration techniques [10] are specifically relevant for this area.

Deontic Data Quality: A number of aspects are on this level relating to the goals of having the data in the first place. Aspects do decide volatility (Batini) and timeliness (Batini)/ timely (Price) needs to relate to the goal of having and distributing the data. The same is the case for type-sufficient (Price), the inclusion of all the types of information important for its use. For anything but extremely simple and highly intersubjectively agreed domains, total validity, completeness, comprehension, and agreement as described above under semantic, pragmatic and social quality cannot be achieved. Hence, for the goals on these levels to be realistic, they have to be relaxed, by introducing the idea of feasibility. The time to terminate a modelling activity is thus not when the model is ``perfect" (which will never happen), but when it has reached a state where further modelling is regarded to be less beneficial than applying the model in its current state. Accordingly, a relaxed kind of these goals being dependent on human judgement can be defined, which we term feasible validity, feasible completeness, feasible comprehension, and feasible agreement. Feasibility thus introduces a trade-off between the value and drawbacks for achieving a given model quality. When we structure different aspects according to these levels, one will find that there might be conflicts between the levels (e.g., what is good for semantic quality might be bad for pragmatic quality and vice versa).

4 Applying SEQUAL on Big Data Characteristics

On a high level, we can position the big data characteristics described in section 2 in relation to SEQUAL data quality framework in the following way:

Physical Quality: Volume is particularly relevant on this level, since it can be hard to have access to all relevant data at the same time. That it is the right (most current) data that is accessible is influenced by the velocity of data change. Supporting provenance, it might also be necessary to store the full chain of the data revisions, and not only the last version. In general, provenance meta-data should be represented independent on the technologies used for data storage, e.g. by using PROV3. An area that is not so much discussed in the big data literature is aspects of security, although in particular the use of Big Data-oriented techniques on personal data is rife with privacy-challenges. If people are more aware of this, potentially more people will make it more difficult for those working with Big Data techniques to get access to all the data that is of interest, indicating a need to also be open on how Big Data (e.g. location data) is meant to be used in a preferably anonymous manner in doing analysis [7].

Empirical Quality: Visualization of data is typically done on the basis of guidelines from cognitive psychology, and applying these is a good approach for achieving pragmatic quality (i.e. that people understand what the accumulated data mean). Note that guidelines for aesthetics are partly incompatible, and one has to make choices based on the usage and interpreters of the representation. In connection to maps [32] states that "different combinations, amounts of application, and different orderings of these techniques can produce different yet aesthetically acceptable solutions". Since the data visualization often must be auto-generated (to address issues of velocity), aspects described under this level is even more important for pragmatic quality than for traditional models developed mostly manually by human modelers.

Syntactic Quality: Variety comes into play here, since not all data sources have a strictly defined meta-model with a pre-defined syntax. This means that to match the different data-sources, certain presumptions have to be made on the structure and contents of data, i.e. one need to instil structure if it is not there, and in some cases meaning (see semantic quality) to data based on at best qualified guesses.

Semantic Quality: Whereas traditional data quality aspects such as completeness, accuracy and consistency are not covered specifically in Big Data - literature, the area veracity points to data quality more generally. A reason for the wanted variety is to ensure completeness since not all relevant data is to be found in one data source. Variety on the other hand brings traditional challenges in data integration quality [24] matching data on different level of abstraction and preciseness. When data is retained from sensor networks, one might experience issues of redundancy (e.g. reporting location every second from an object that is not moving). Such redundancies should be filtered out as should erroneous readings due to noise, e.g. indicating than an object suddenly moved a large distance in a short time, and this filtering should be done in the right order. To avoid issues of poor physical quality, one might often abstract the data, in which case it is important that the resulting dataset keep the important characteristics of the original dataset [34]. This points to an interesting side of big data not experienced in traditional modeling and data representations, namely that the modeling is partly done by algorithms, and not only be humans.

Pragmatic Quality: Relates both to machine understanding of data sources, and of human understanding of the results. As for machine understanding, the issues here is

³ http://www.w3.org/TR/prov-dm/

very different for different types of data (e.g. between structured and unstructured data such as text, video etc.). When it comes to human understanding of the results, this is primarily supported by taking empirical quality into account when devising visualizations of the data. Another approach that can be used is to provide personalized output, in which case it might be important to make the user-model used in the personalization controllable for the user [3]

Social Quality: Provenance relating to the trustworthiness of the source as part of veracity is central at this level. Also in combination with variety (including data coming from a variety of sources that is evolving in an uncoordinated fashion by autonomous agents constituting parts of a digital ecosystem), we get apparently new issues, since some sources might be more trustworthy than other. Also internally in organizations this might be an issue, e.g. matching personal data in spreadsheets, with data from enterprise systems such as a PLM-system [19]. Since these sources are in the same organization though, the possibility to enforce compliance is larger than in a Big Data setting. Due to velocity aspects, one might need to quickly and automatically deduce a trust-level using a trust model [2] based on existing meta-data on the data-source.

Deontic quality is closely related to what is meant under the point value, are we able to utilize the data for our purpose? Viability is a sub-point of this relating to the discussion of feasible quality in SEQUAL. Based on the goal of data-use, and also partly dependent on data sources to be matched, different weight might be put on different quality levels. A framework for personalization of big data quality deliberations is found in [8], using scientific data as a case.

5 Conclusions and Further Work

We observe on a high level that the V-characteristics of big data can be mapped and understood relative to the levels of model and data quality described in the SEQUAL framework, although the mapping is not 1-to-1. The focus areas of big data do not describe to the same detail though many of the aspects found relevant in work of information and data quality. Issues with variety in Big Data can often be related to issues found in data integration quality in general, but we have also identified new issues from Big Data research when combining the effect of several V-s.

We notice that the treatment of quality in the Big Data area is so far relatively shallow. A first step is to a larger extent describe quality of Big Data relative to traditional data quality. Future work on our general approach on data quality will be to device more concrete guidelines and metrics and evaluate the adaptation and use of these empirically in case studies, also studies dealing with big data - issue e.g. within the media domain. An important aspects is how to perform trade-offs between the different data quality types Some generic guidelines for this exist in SEQUAL [17], which might be specialised for data quality. We will also look at newer work [5, 12] in the area in addition to the ones we have mapped so far. Due to the rapid changes to big data compared to conceptual models indicates that guidelines for achieving and keeping model quality might need to be further adapted to be useful when achieving and keeping quality of big data ecosystems, especially since a lot of what is normally modelled by humans in a big data scenario are modelled through the use of complex algorithms.

References

- Aagesen, G., Krogstie, J.: Analysis and design of business processes using BPMN. In: vom Brocke, J., Rosemann, M. (eds.) Handbook on Business Process Management. Springer (2010)
- 2. Artz, D., Gil, Y.: A survey of trust in computer science and the semantic web. Web Semantics: Science. Services and Agents on the World Wide Web 5(2), 58–71 (2007)
- Asif, M., Krogstie, J.: Externalization of User Model in Mobile Services. International Journal of Interactive Mobile Technologies (iJIM) 8(1), 4–9 (2014)
- 4. Batini, C., Scannapieco, M.: Data Quality: Concepts, Methodologies and Techniques. Springer (2006)
- 5. Batini, C., Cappiello, C., Francalanci, C., Maurino, A.: Methodologies for data quality assessment and improvement. ACM Comput. Surv. 41(3) (2009)
- Beyer, M. A., Laney, D.: The importance of big data': a definition. Stamford. Gartner, CT (2012)
- 7. Biczok, G., Martinez, S.D., Jelle, T., Krogstie, J.: Navigating Mazemap: Indoor human mobility, spatio-logical ties and future potential. PERMODY IEEE (2014)
- Embury, S.M., Missier, P., Sampaio, S., Greenwood, R.M., Preece, A.D.: Incorporating domain-specific information quality constraints into database queries. Journal of Data and Information Quality (JDIQ) 1(2), 11 (2009)
- Falkenberg, E.D., Hesse, W., Lindgreen, P., Nilsson, B.E., Oei, J.L.H., Rolland, C., Stamper, R.K., Assche, F.J.M.V., Verrijn-Stuart, A.A., Voss, K.: A Framework of information system concepts - IFIP WG 8.1 Task Group FRISCO (1996)
- Francalanci, C., Pernici, B.: View integration: A survey of current developments. Technical Report 93-053, Politecnico de Milano, Milan, Italy (1993)
- Hella, L., Krogstie, J.: A Structured Evaluation to Assess the Reusability of Models of User Profiles. Paper presented at the EMMSAD Hammamet, Tunis, 7-8/6 (2010)
- Jiang, L., Barone, D., Borgida, A., Mylopoulos, J.: Measuring and Comparing Effectiveness of Data Quality Techniques. In: van Eck, P., Gordijn, J., Wieringa, R. (eds.) CAiSE 2009. LNCS, vol. 5565, pp. 171–185. Springer, Heidelberg (2009)
- Krogstie, J.: Using Quality Function Deployment in Software Requirements Specification. Paper presented at the Fifth International Workshop on Requirements Engineering: Foundations for Software Quality (REFSQ 1999), Heidelberg, Germany, June 14-15 (1999)
- Krogstie, J.: Integrated Goal, Data and Process Modeling: From TEMPORA to Model-Generated Work-Places. In: Johannesson, P., Søderstrøm, E. (eds.) Information Systems Engineering From Data Analysis to Process Networks, pp. 43–65. IGI (2008)
- Krogstie, J.: Quality of Business Process Models. Proceedings PoEM 2012, Rostock Germany LNBIP (2012)
- Krogstie, J.: Quality of Conceptual Data Models. Proceedings 14th ICISO, Stockholm Sweden (2013)
- 17. Krogstie, J.: Model-based development and evolution of information systems: A quality approach. Springer, London (2012)
- Krogstie, J.: A Semiotic Framework for Data Quality. Proceedings EMMSAD 2013, Valencia, Spain (June 2013)
- Krogstie, J.: Evaluating Data Quality for Integration of Data Sources. In: Proceedings PoEM 2013, Riga, Latvia, pp. 39–53 (2013)
- Krogstie, J., Arnesen, S.: Assessing Enterprise ModelingLanguages using a Generic Quality Framework. In: Krogstie, J., Siau, K., Halpin, T. (eds.) Information Modeling Methods and Methodologies. Idea Group Publishing (2004)

- Krogstie, J., Dalberg, V., Jensen, S.M.: Process modeling value framework. In: Manolopoulos, Y., Filipe, J., Constantopoulos, P., Cordeiro, J. (eds.) Selected papers from 8th International Conference, ICEIS 2006. LNBIP, vol. 3, pp. 309–321. Springer, Heidelberg (2008)
- Lindland, O.I., Sindre, G., Sølvberg, A.: Understanding Quality in Conceptual Modelling,". IEEE Software 11(2), 42–49 (1994)
- 23. Marr, B.: Big Data (2014), http://www.ap-institute.com/
- Martin, N., Poulovassillis, A., Wang, J.: A Methodology and Architecture Embedding Quality Assessment in Data Integration. ACM Journal of Data and Information Quality 4(4) (2012)
- Moody, D.L.: Metrics for Evaluating the Quality of Entity Relationship Models. In: Ling, T.-W., Ram, S., Li Lee, M. (eds.) ER 1998. LNCS, vol. 1507, pp. 211–225. Springer, Heidelberg (1998)
- Moody, D.L., Shanks, G.G.: What Makes a Good Data Model? Evaluating the Quality of Entity Relationship Models. In: Loucopoulos, P. (ed.) ER 1994. LNCS, vol. 881, pp. 94–111. Springer, Heidelberg (1994)
- Moody, D.L.: Theoretical and practical issues in evaluating the quality of conceptual models: Current state and future directions. Data and Knowledge Engineering 55, 243–276 (2005)
- Nelson, H.J., Poels, G., Genero, M., Piattini, M.: A conceptual modeling quality framework. Software Quality Journal 20, 201–228 (2012)
- Nossum, A., Krogstie, J.: Integrated Quality of Models and Quality of Maps. In: Halpin, T., Krogstie, J., Nurcan, S., Proper, E., Schmidt, R., Soffer, P., Ukor, R. (eds.) Enterprise, Business-Process and Information Systems Modeling. LNBIP, vol. 29, pp. 264–276. Springer, Heidelberg (2009)
- Price, R., Shanks, G.: A Semiotic Information Quality Framework. In: IFIP WG8.3 International Conference on DecisionSupport Systems (DSS 2004), Prato, Italy, 1-3, pp. 658–672 (2004)
- Price, R., Shanks, G.: A semiotic information quality framework: Development and comparative analysis. Journal of Information Technology 20(2), 88–102 (2005)
- 32. Shekhar, S., Xiong, H.: Encyclopedia of GIS. Springer (2008)
- 33. Shneiderman, B.: Designing the User Interface: Strategies for Effective Human- Computer Interaction, 2nd edn. Addison Wesley, Reading (1992)
- Wad, C.: QoS: Quality Driven Data Abstraction for Large Databases. Worcester Polytechnic Institute (2008)
- 35. Ware, C.: Information Visualization. Morgan Kaufmann (2000)

Virtual Process Control Modelling in Organisational Semiotics: A Case of Higher Education Admission

John Effah

University of Ghana Business School jeffah@ug.edu.gh

Abstract. This study explores Web-based virtual process control modelling based on organisational semiotics, Web modelling language (WebML), and higher education admission process. Despite some discussions on control activities in the organisational semiotics literature, less attention has been paid to process control modelling in general and Web-based virtual processes in particular. Process controls help to implement required organisational constraints as regulatory norms that enforce established rules, procedures, and standards for meeting intended organisational goals. This study contributes to organisational semiotics research by extending the discourse on control norms to the realm of Web-based virtual process modelling in a real life situation.

Keywords: organisational semiotics, business processes, process control, process modeling, virtual processes, WebML.

1 Introduction

This study draws from the theory of organisational semiotics and Web modelling language (WebML) to model virtual process controls based on a case study of a university's admission process. Business processes consist of related activities performed to achieve organisational goals. Processes can be physical or virtual. Whereas physical processes get performed through direct, co-located interaction between agents, virtual processes remove such direct, physical contacts and replace them with mediated remote interactions [1, 2]. For Web-based virtual processes, activities occur via the Internet [3].

Within the organisational semiotics literature, three forms of activities are discussed, namely substantive, communication and control [4]. While much attention has been paid to substantive norms in business process modelling [3], relatively less research has focused on control norms, especially in virtual environments. Process controls are embedded constraints that serve as conditions for performing related activities [5]. However, the increasing migration of physical activities to virtual environments calls for urgent research attention to virtual process control modelling. Therefore, this study employs organisational semiotics [4] and WebML [5-7] to explore virtual process control modelling in a Web-based higher education admission environment.

The rest of the paper is organised as follows. Section 2 reviews related works on virtual processes, process controls and business process modelling. Section 3 discusses the relevant organisational semiotics models used for the study. Section 4 uses a university's postgraduate admission process as a case study to illustrate a Web-based virtual process model embedded with controls. Section 5 concludes the paper with a discussion on its contribution and recommendations for future research.

2 Related Works

2.1 Virtual Processes

Organisational processes consist of related activities performed to achieve intended goals. Processes can be physical or virtual [2]. Whereas physical processes require direct contact between agents, virtual processes involve remote interaction [2] through a mediating technology such as the Internet. The mediating technology can be manual such the traditional postal system or Web-based. The focus of the current study is on Web-based virtual process.

Process virtualization has begun to receive attention in information systems research. However, the focus has been on theorizing and testing for which activities can or cannot be virtualized. Less attention has been paid to process modelling in general and controls in particular. [1] and [3] are exceptions that focused mainly on substantive activities, hence the focus of this study on process controls.

2.2 Process Control

Organisations institute process controls to ensure that activities are performed in accordance with prescribed norms [8]. For physical processes, controls are recorded in documents and are expected to be enforced by human agents. However, process virtualization offers an opportunity for their automation and delegation of enforcement to machine agents such as the Internet and Web applications. For Web-based information systems, a natural means for enforcing user control is through hyperlink navigation [5]. However, Web-based agents offer opportunities for process control enforcement beyond navigation. The WebML *if condition* notation shown in Fig. 1 offers an opportunity for specifying control activities beyond navigation.



Fig. 1. If Condition Notation [5]

The *if condition* notation determines what can or cannot be done following a true/false conditional result [5]. Control norm has been extensively discussed in the organisational semiotics literature but less attention has been paid to its modelling. Therefore the *if condition* notation offers an opportunity for control modelling as discussed in Section 4.

2.3 Business Process Modelling

Business process modelling involves the use of symbolic notations to represent organisational activities and their relationships, often in a graphical format [9]. A typical business process model graphically displays related activities and related controls [10]. Process models therefore graphically display activities and their dependencies to define order of relationships [1].

By using symbolic notations and graphical display, business process models help to communicate and provide knowledge on existing or planned organisational activities and their relationships [9]. Business process modelling is therefore expected to be a significant precursor to any business improvement initiative. In line with this expectation, this study employs organisational semiotics and WebML symbolic notations for process control modelling to support process improvement in a higher education admission system.

3 Organisational Semiotics

Semiotics refers to the doctrine of signs and their interpretations [11]. Based on this perspective, organisational semiotics views organisations as information systems where agents create and use signs to perform purposeful activities [4] that are controlled by norms [11]. Business processes are conceived as behavioural activities controlled by norms as rules and regulations that determine which activities are permitted, mandated or prohibited [4, 12] and which agents can or cannot perform such activities [13]. This study draws from three organisational semiotics models: organisational onion, organisational morphology, and norm analysis method.

3.1 Organisational Onion

Organisational onion considers activities as a taxonomy of norms classified into three layers of informal, formal and technical [4] as shown in Fig.2.



Fig. 2. The organisational onion [4]

Informal norms such as cultural values are implicit and thus not expressly documented. However, formal norms constitute documented bureaucratic procedures and guidelines. Finally, technical norms are formal norms that have been digitalized as part of computer-based systems. The three layers are however not distinct. The technical is part of the formal, which together with the informal form part of the total organisation [4]. Norms can also be transformed from one layer to another. Thus, informal norms can be documented to become formal, while formal norms can be computerized or virtualized to become technical. In this study, the technical layer constitutes the virtual environment. Therefore, process virtualization refers to transforming physical processes from the formal and informal layers into virtual processes in the technical layer.

3.2 Organisational Morphology

Organisational morphology adopts a functional view of norms and classifies them into substantive, communication and control [11, 12, 14]. First, substantive norms govern the core activities performed to achieve the basic organisational goals. Second, communication norms concern the passing of messages between agents, such as reminders, inquiries, announcements and orders concerning facts, procedures and instructions. Finally, control procedures are meant to monitor and regulate substantive and communication activities based on expected standards, values or conventions. Control activities may also sanction, reward or punish agents. As shown in Fig. 3, each of the three activities can be further extended into sub-activities following a nested tree structure.



Fig. 3. Organisational Morphology [11]

The level of detail however depends on the context of the organisation or process [11]. Traditionally, all the three types of activities were performed through direct, physical interactions. However, in the modern digital economic environment, some of these activities are being migrated online as virtual activities. As noted above, [3] focused on modelling the virtualization of substantive activities but paid less attention to control norms. The current study therefore focuses on virtualizing control activities as demonstrated below.

3.3 Norm Analysis Method

Norm analysis method [12] helps to capture details of essential norms for specifying information needs [11]. The basic format for behavioural norm specification is as follows:

whenever <context> if <condition> then <agent> is <deontic operator> to <action>

In order to accommodate process specification and their dependencies, [3] extended the basic format to include predecessor and successor activities as follows:

<predecessor> <basic norm format> <successor>

However, their extended model focused mainly on substantive activities and not on communication and control activities. While the basic norm structure is considered sufficient for communication activity, the current study further extends it for control activities with an **else** clause as follows.

whenever <*condition> if* <*state> then* <*agent> is* <*deontic operator>to* <*substantive/communication norm> else* <*control norm>*

This extended norm structure was used to define the specification for control norms of the virtual admission process in Table 1 below.

4 Case Study: Virtual Admission Control Modelling

The study is based on the postgraduate admission process of the University of Ghana. University of Ghana was established in 1948 and remains one of the oldest and leading universities in Africa. In 2011, the first author initiated an action case study to virtualize the existing postgraduate admission process. In 2013, the system was extended to include process control. The current study is an extension [3], which focused mainly on process modelling without controls. This study extends the virtual process modelling to include control norms. System and user specifications were elicited by the author through participant observation, interviews, meetings, and focus group discussions with stakeholders.

4.1 Norm Specification

The admission process involves applicants completing online forms, uploading supporting documents and submitting them online. The web application then invites referees for reference reports. Once the references have been received, relevant departments assess each application and select recommend successful ones for admission subject to general requirements and vacancy. The admission office then vets all selected applicants based on the university requirements and notify them of the outcome. Informing the applicants ends the admission process. Decision to enrol forms part of the registration process.

With control norm specification architecture introduced in Section 3.3, Table 1 presents specifications for the substantive, communication and control norms identified from the case study.

4.2 WebML Notations

WebML [7, 15] is a visual modelling language that supports data and process driven web application design and development [5]. It supports both data and hypertext modelling. This study however focuses on the hypertext model to illustrate the implementation of virtual process control based on substantive, communication and control norms. Table 2 shows relevant WebML notations for this study categorised into content, operation and navigation units.
-

Activity	Predecessor	Specification	Norm Type	Successor
Application	<open< td=""><td>WHENEVER < Admission is</td><td>Substantive</td><td>Reference</td></open<>	WHENEVER < Admission is	Substantive	Reference
	admission>	open>		raquast
		IF <applicant a="" likes="" on<="" programme="" td=""><td></td><td>request</td></applicant>		request
		offer>		
		THEN <applicant></applicant>		
		IS <may></may>		
		To <select programme="" the=""> and <</select>		
		complete the online form>and		
D (A 11 /	<submit form="" online="" the=""></submit>		
Reference	Application	WHENEVEK < applicant submits a	Communication	Reference
request		Jorm>		submission
		THEN < web-basea damission		
		system>		
		TO < request for references		
Reference	Reference	WHENEVER < a reference report	Substantive	~
submission	request	is received>	control	Selection
submission	request	IF < All required references are	leonuor	
		received>		
		THEN < Web-based admission		
		system>		
		IS <should></should>		
		TO <link references="" relevant<="" td="" to=""/> <td></td> <td></td>		
		application>		
		ELSE <keep application="" hold="" on=""></keep>		
Selection	Reference	WHENEVER < department ac-	Substantive	Vetting
	submission	cesses an application>	.control	0
		<i>IF</i> < <i>if applicant qualifies</i> >		
		THEN < Department Head>		
		IS <should></should>		
		IO <select applicant=""></select>		
		<i>ELSE</i> < <i>reject applicant</i> > <i>AND</i>		
Vetting	Selection	<i>WHENEVER capplicant</i> is se	Substantiva	
vetting	Selection	lected by department	Substantive	Admission
		THEN < Admission office>		
		IS < should >		
		TO < vet selected application >		
Admission	Vetting	WHENEVER < application is	Substantive	<pre><enrolment></enrolment></pre>
	6	vetted>	.control	
		IF < if applicant meets all depart-	.communication	
		ment and university requirements>		
		THEN <admission officer=""></admission>		
		IS <should></should>		
		TO <admit applicant="">and<submit< td=""><td></td><td></td></submit<></admit>		
		admission letter>		
		ELSE <reject applica-<="" td=""><td></td><td></td></reject>		
		tion>AND <inform and<="" applicant="" td=""><td></td><td></td></inform>		
		relevant department>		

Content units publish or accept data and therefore appear on web page. However, operation units manipulate or send data/information as backend activities. Such units do not therefore appear on web pages. Arrows are used to indicate links. While

content units publish or accept data and are therefore displayed on webpages to be manipulated by human agents, operation units are hidden activities that are performed by machine agents.



Table 2. Relevant WebML Notations

For detailed explanation and other notations see [7, 15]. In the next section, the *create* and *modify units* are used to implement substantive activities; the *If unit* and the *communication unit* are used to implement control and communication activities respectively. The content units are useful for accepting/publishing data on web pages. The *navigation unit* can be used to show direction as well as message passing.

4.3 Hypertext Model

WebML notations were used for the hypertext modelling of the virtual admission process control system. Fig. 4 presents the model and illustrates an instance of the application life cycle through the virtual environment based on the norm specifications for process controls shown in Table 1 and the hypertext notations in Table 2.

As shown in Fig. 4, the admission process begins when an applicant visits the application page to view the lists of available programmes presented by the selection programmes *index unit*. Once a programme is selected, the applicant proceeds to complete the online application form and upload all supporting documents through the submit application *data entry unit* on the application page.

An instance of the application is then created as represented by the *create unit*. The system also invites referees to present reports on the application. After which the system informs the relevant department to assess the application. Once the application is created, the system sends e-mail to referees requesting them to submit their reports. Referees then access the reference forms to complete the reports which are then linked to the application.



Fig. 4. Hypertext Model for Virtual Process Control

Following the implementation of the virtual admission process with embedded controls, the university's post-graduate admission process has become more efficient and responsive. Before the virtualization of the process controls, the enforcement of the controls were executed manually by human agents. However, by embedding them in the Web-based admission system, the responsibility has been transferred from human to machine agents, which are more efficient at ensuring compliance and enforcing conditions in the virtual process. Previous situations that relied on human memory often resulted in errors and failures to check the controls. However, the machine agent compliance is generally assured once the system has been tried and tested.

5 Conclusion

This study employed organisational semiotics and WebML for virtual process control modelling. The study contributes to organisational semiotics research, which has so far focused more on substantive norm modelling and less control norm modelling. Following [3], who employed organisational semiotics and WebML notations to propose a semiotic-based process specification architecture for substantive norms in virtual environments, the current paper extends the architecture to include an *if...then...else* clause that caters for control norm specification.

This study demonstrates the applicability of organisational semiotics and WebML notations to virtual process with control modelling. The resultant model demonstrates

how control norms can be implemented in organisational semiotics to enforce normbased conditions in Web information systems. In terms of contribution to practice, the proposed approach can be applied to organisational domains where process controls are critical such as in hospitals, logistics and inventory management.

A key limitation of the study is the idiosyncratic nature of virtual process control across institutions and contexts. The proposed model is therefore expected to be adapted to rather than adopted for specific contexts. Future research can extend the model beyond the higher education admission context to other process control-based domains such as banking, accounting and health systems.

References

- 1. Liu, D.R., Shen, M.: Workflow modeling for virtual processes: an order-preserving process-view approach. Information Systems 28(6), 505–532 (2003)
- Overby, E.: Process Virtualization Theory and the Impact of Information Technology. Organization Science 19(2), 277–291 (2008)
- Effah, J., Liu, K.: Virtual Process Modelling Informed by Organisational Semiotics: A Case of Higher Education Admission. In: Liu, K., Gulliver, S.R., Li, W., Yu, C. (eds.) ICISO 2014. IFIP AICT, vol. 426, pp. 42–51. Springer, Heidelberg (2014)
- 4. Liu, K.: Semiotics in information systems engineering. Cambridge Univ. Press (2000)
- Brambilla, M., et al.: Process modeling in Web applications. ACM Transactions on Software Engineering and Methodology 15(4), 360–409 (2006)
- Brambilla, M., et al.: Designing web applications with WebML andWebRatio. In: Rossi, G., et al. (eds.) Web Engineering: Modelling and Implementing Web Applications, pp. 221–262. Springer, London (2007)
- Ceri, S., Fraternali, P., Paraboschi, S.: Web Modeling Language (WebML): a modeling language for designing Web sites. Computer Networks 33, 137–157 (2000)
- Schaefer, T., Fettke, P., Loos, P.: Control Patterns Bridging The Gap Between Is Controls And BPM. In: ECIS (2013)
- Jaffar, A., Shah, H.: Semiotic notation principles for business process modelling. In: ECIS 2006 Proceedings. Paper 61 (2006)
- Recker, J., et al.: Business Process Modeling- A Comparative Analysis. Journal of the Association for Information Systems 10(4), 333–363 (2009)
- Stamper, R., Liu, K., Huang, K.: Organisational Morphology in Re-engineering. In: Proceeding of the 2nd European Conference on Information Systems, Nijenrode University, Breukelen (1994)
- Ali, M.N., Liu, K.: A conceptual framework for role-based knowledge profiling using semiotics approach. Knowledge-Based and Intelligent Information and Engineering Systems, 554–565 (2010)
- Li, W., et al.: Integrated clinical pathway management for medical quality improvement based on a semiotically inspired systems architecture. European Journal of Information Systems, 1–18 (2013)
- Tan, C., Liu, K.: An Organisational Semiotics Inspired Information Architecture: Pervasive Healthcare as a Case Study. In: 14th International Conference on Informatics and Semiotics in Organizations, Stockholm, Sweden (2013)
- Ceri, S., et al.: Designing Data-Intensive Web Applications. Morgan Kaufmann, San Francisco (2002)

Assessing Pragmatic Interoperability for Process Alignment in Collaborative Working Environment

Shixiong Liu¹, Weizi Li¹, and Kecheng Liu^{1, 2}

¹Informatics Research Centre, University of Reading, UK ² School of Information Management and Engineering, Shanghai University of Finance and Economics, China shixiong.liu@pgr.reading.ac.uk, weizi.li@henley.ac.uk,k.liu@henley.ac.uk

Abstract. This paper is an extension of our previous study on pragmatic interoperability assessment for process alignment. In this study, we conduct four case studies in industrial companies and hospitals in order to gather their viewpoints regarding the concerns when condensing process alignment in a collaborative working environment. Used techniques include interview, observation, and documentation. The collected results firstly are summarised into three layers based on our previous developed pragmatic assessment model, and then are transformed into the elements which constitutes the purposed method, and finally based on the summarised results we purpose a method for assessing pragmatic interoperability for process alignment in collaborative working environment. The method contains two parts: one gives all the elements of pragmatic interoperability that should be concerned when considering process alignment in collaborative working environment, and the other one is a supplementary method for dealing with technical concerns.

Keywords: Pragmatic Interoperability, Process Alignment, Collaborative Working Environment, Interoperability Assessment.

1 Introduction

Process alignment in collaborative working environment is a complex domain due to human and technical factors and multi-stakeholder involved, and multidisciplinary nature of the problems. Organisation is such a complex area where business processes and functions require multi-systems collaborations, and highly relies on effective information communications among departments, and therefore faces many challenges regarding pragmatic interoperability such as information collision, policy obstacles, and procedure mismanagement. Our previous study has developed the semiotic interoperability framework [1][2] and several methods for measuring interoperability at different organisational levels [3][4]. This paper is an extension of our previous study on pragmatic interoperability assessment for process alignment. In this study, we conduct four case studies in industrial companies and hospitals in order to gather their viewpoints regarding the concerns when condensing process alignment in a collaborative working environment. Used

techniques include interview, observation, and documentation. The collected results firstly are summarised into three layers based on our previous developed pragmatic assessment model, and then are transformed into the elements which constitutes the purposed method, and finally based on the summarised results we purpose a method for assessing pragmatic interoperability for process alignment in collaborative working environment. The method contains two parts: one gives all the elements of pragmatic interoperability that should be concerned when considering process alignment in collaborative working environment, and the other one is a supplementary method for dealing with technical concerns.

2 Background

In the study of the interoperability, most of the work focuses on discussion at a technical level. Although some of them have extended to deal with semantics, a very limited number of publications elaborate the interoperability at the pragmatic level [2]. Undoubtedly the research on technical and semantic interoperability can help establish a better understanding of data exchange and data interpretation, as well as leading to the development of supporting technologies and standards. However, the collaboration of different working processes require an assessment of pragmatic interoperability that ensures supported process can act upon the semantic information in order to deal with the complexity. Before defining pragmatic interoperability, our previous work has purposed the concept of semiotic interoperability [1], and has applied the concept in healthcare domain for analysing interoperability of collaboration at radiology department [4]. The concept of semiotic interoperability is based on the semiotic framework [5]-[7] that explains all aspects of how signs can be used and communicated for successful communication. Using the concept allows different parties/processes/organisations to work together through communication with insight into six levels: physical, empirical, syntactical, semantic, pragmatic, and social. At the pragmatic level, the interoperability is concerned with the relationship between signs and the potential behaviour and intention of responsible processes. Thus we defined the pragmatic interoperability as a level concerning the aggregation and optimisation of various business processes for achieving intended purposes of different information systems. In addition to our definition of pragmatic interoperability, other researchers have also contributed. Benson [8] defines it as coordination of work processes across different people to enabling work collaboration. Sadeghi et al. [9] state the pragmatic interoperability in healthcare is the ability among healthcare processes and various actors (i.e. healthcare providers and patients) that interact with information systems. Successful communication at this level is achieved if the hearer understands the speaker's intentions, which goes beyond the semantic interpretation of the communicative act. Interoperability is achieved at this level when processes serving different purposes under different contexts by different information systems can be composed to jointly support a common intention.

3 Methods

The study is mainly conducted through interviews and surveys in two industrial companies and two hospitals in China. One of the companies is an automobile manufacturer, and the other one is a software company that provides integration solutions for various building control systems. The background of the automobile manufacturer is that they have enabled automated information sharing among three parties: dealership repair facility, automobile rental companies, and themselves. The background of the software company is that they are currently running several integration projects which manly aim to enable information sharing among systems such as Building Management System (BMS), Energy Monitoring System (EMS), Invasion Surveillance System (ISS), etc. The background of the hospitals is that they tend to achieve information sharing among Radiology Information Systems (RIS), Electronic Health Record (EHR), and Picture Archiving and Communication Systems (PACS). The Radiology department provides diagnostic and interventional radiology for inpatients, outpatients and general practitioner referrals. Various healthcare services such as Computed Radiography (CR), Computed Tomography (CT), X-ray, and Interventional Radiology produce a huge amount of information regarding patient's healthcare delivery and clinical process.

This study adopts a qualitative research approach including various techniques [10]. During the data collection process, we reviewed the most up-to-date working documents published by the companies and hospitals, conducted an observation, and interviewed 31 experts in order to gather their viewpoints as inputs for developing the assessment method. Details of each technique are presented in following:

Documentation & Literature: The documentation included literature review covering research publications, official reports, and working papers from the companies and hospitals. The research publications were sourced from several electronic databases in terms of information systems, process integration/alignment, and health informatics. The working papers were provided by the companies and hospital IT services department.

Observations: We conducted one participant observation in working on several projects for the software company; and other three non-participant observations in the automobile manufacturer and hospitals focusing on their work processes, staff routine, individual activities, and technologies/techniques used for information sharing.

Interviews: 31 semi-structured interviews (summarised in table 1) were conducted with relevant stakeholders. The interviews lasted around 40 minutes and were on a one-to-one basis. The interviews were tape-recorded and later transcribed and rendered anonymously. The results of the interviews are summarised into categories which are used as key inputs afterwards for developing the pragmatics assessment framework.

After summarising all the key elements from interviews, this study also conducted surveys to all the interviewees asking them to scale how much each element would affect the process alignment based on their experiences. However, the results of the survey will be presented in future work.

Sectors	Sample	Years of experience				
		0-5	6-10	11-15	16-20	20+
Industry	22	7	11	2	1	1
Hospitals	9	3	2	1	1	2
Total	31	10	13	3	2	3

Table 1. Summary of interviews

4 Findings

As mentioned previously, this section presents the results from interviews, observations as well as literature reviews. The key concerns and barriers when considering working collaboratively in organisations are identified, and then each of the identified concerns are pinpointed into the Pragmatic Interoperability Measurement Model developed previously [4] as the key elements for assessment. This section firstly recaps the three layers of organisation (Informal, Formal, and Technical) which is used for setting the outline of all identified key concerns, and secondly these concerns are categorised more specifically into each element for developing assessment method based on the process of achieving intended purposes, at last some of the key elements are selected for discussion.

Our previous work purposed the pragmatic interoperability assessment model [2] based on Organisational Onion [6] defining three layers for understanding and capturing key concerns when considering process alignment and working collaboration. As depicted in Figure 1, informal layer contains aspects such as community, social norm, policy, and culture. Those aspects can be expanded to be different behaviour patterns of both organisations and individuals. The pragmatic interoperability is to align the different aspects in order to solve conflicts of cohesiveness. In formal layer, business functions and procedures play dominant role that specifies on how functions should be carried out and how tasks should be performed. The pragmatic interoperability is to align procedures and rules in order to achieve higher efficiency. It defines business goals, model business processes and brings the collaboration of administrations that aims to exchange information and have different internal structures and processes. Besides, this layer also supports the upper layer by addressing the requirements of the user community such as making services available, accessible, identifiable and useroriented. The technical layer mostly refers to the technical computer systems and their technical functions. The systems and functions can be programmed according to norms and procedures. The pragmatic interoperability does not directly refer to this layer but undoubtedly requires continuous support from it which is to align technical functions and business processes in order to achieve higher system productivity. It supports seamless sharing of data, which is automated sharing of data between information systems based on a common exchange model. It also covers the technical issues of linking computer systems and services. A few key aspects are included such as interconnection services, data integration, open interface, data presentation and exchange, and accessibility will be dealt within this level.

Based on the results from interviews, the following summaries a list of key concerns of pragmatic interoperability when considering processes alignment and working collaboration. They are split into three levels as discussed previously.

Informal	Community, social norm, policy, culture
Formal	Organisational strategy/vision, business governance, domain analysis, organisational roles, functional profile, rules, procedures,
Technical	Data semantics, information infrastructure, information model, schema, script, interface, platform, deployment model,

Fig. 1. Pragmatic Assessment Model [3]

• Informal

To enable collaboration between different processes/systems/organisations, a shared intended purpose plays a key role that supports perceiving of personal beliefs and organisational ground rules, whereas an un-shared purpose may be considerable conflicts between the organisational level and personal level. Issues like restriction to staff behaviour, information collaboration (information channels alignment), varieties of purchased information systems (different venders and services providers), and privacy and security concerns should be solved in this level. Taking one example from one of the interviewed hospital, the informal level is to concern with the understanding of the healthcare, regulatory, legislative and healthcare environment in which information systems need to be deployed to support healthcare delivery. It requires agreement on key organisational concepts such as policies, processes and roles; it also captures relevant patterns such as compliance, governance, legislative and change management. There are other concerns summarised in table 2.

Table 2. Other concerns at informal level summarised from interview resul

Concern	Explanation
Culture issue	Tacit knowledge has not been explicitly stated and shared
Ethical issue	Appropriateness of taking actions on healthcare service delivery
Behavioural factor	Willingness to be open and to share
Management style	Leadership style influencing the degree of willingness of collabora-
	tion
Policy and procedure	Internal control process, work flow, staff relationships, communica-
	tion patterns, cut-across political boundaries, etc.
Restriction to staff b	beha-Staff's fear on integrated working process as restriction that might
viour	control their behaviour
Privacy and security	Sensitive information of patient to be protected by law

Policy is one the most important and most widely mentioned key concerns in discussion of interoperability at informal level. From its perspective, collaboration always faces obstacles, because it cuts across political boundaries, and causes amount of changes (e.g. internal control process, work flow, staff relationships, communication patterns) in organisations [11]. For instance, in the healthcare, before the integration of RIS, the political issues between clinicians and radiologists have been raised for long due to the autonomous role of clinician. Comparing with the radiologists, clinicians have the right to choose and take responsibility for their treatments made, and they have direct access to the policy making. The integration of RIS will enable the information sharing between the clinicians and the radiologists, so that patient's information and treatments made by clinicians will be transparent for the radiologists. However, it is challenged as clinicians have concerns that the information they collect and the treatments they made are proprietary and thus unavailable for inclusion in the process of information sharing. The integration of RIS also solves a political issue that clinicians who are geographically separated from the hospital were having conflicts for decision making. A quote from one clinician is: "... All decisions have to be made with support of our staff... the integration has a chance to work here only if the staff can see the benefits..."

In line with the policy concern, another one comes from the medical staff is that they are seeing the collaboration of working processes as restriction that would control their behaviour. They are more interested in research than administration, and they await more benefits to patient care delivery from the information systems integration, rather than the improvements of communication with the staff. This is the decisive factor that will let them accept the collaboration. Besides there are also concerns regarding culture, privacy, and security, but there are not as highlighted as the previous concerns, thus we will elaborate them in this paper.



Fig. 2. Summarised procedure for meeting intended purpose from interview

• Formal

As discussed previously, to meeting shared purposes at formal level, organisations have a more specific procedure to follow. The procedure begins with setting up several intended objectives for the shared intended purpose, then allocates these objectives to relevant organisation roles, and signs contracts which define explicit tasks. The tasks relate to accountabilities for the completeness, quality, integrity and security of information that originates in one party and is transmitted to and used by another. Finally, the completed tasks with their deliverables are evaluated by matching the original defined intended objectives.

Besides the elements of this procedure, there are other concerns captured from the result of interviews (table 3).

Table 3. Other concerns	at formal l	level summarised	from interview	results
-------------------------	-------------	------------------	----------------	---------

Concern	Explanation	
Organisation structure	Centralised, decentralised, hierarchical, matrix, networked, etc.	
Harmonized strategy	Aligned operations to be applicable on the strategic level	
Performance constraints	Fewer investment but more effective collaboration	
Cost constraints	Unexpected budget	
Data source interoperability	Multiple data sources used for supporting process	
Context awareness	Knowledge of context of both collaborative parties/processes	
Varieties of purchased systemsPurchased systems from various venders with low capability		

To assess pragmatic interoperability, we should not only concern the information exchanged between technical systems, but also the knowledge of the context that the information exists within for each system or process. As quoted from one IT project managers, "...It is important to articulate the requirement for context awareness that process representation begins. The context of the target system should also be made available to the origin system. Key questions such as what process will first operate on the information at the target system once it receives it, and what state of preceded processes are should be concerned ... " By understanding this context, the system engineer and integration designer can ensure pragmatic interoperability is addressed for the needs of process integration. To define the context, one manager of the logistics department said that "Assume that the context is about internal workings of the process, in other words, the initialization state, the end state, the nature of data transformations, and details about the timing of the process are all considered, so that the receiving process can make better use of information it receives. This information is in context, but it also shows the dynamic nature of that context to the receiving system, because it now has specific information about the dynamic context within the originating system." For example, context is seen as a demand for more information between the Model Manufacturing Demand Service and the Rental Fulfillment Service, so that a specific understanding of the models requested has a deeper meaning. This could be a specific based on the timing of the data, the initialization state of the Rental Fulfillment Service, and the data transformations. This gives a more dynamic picture of the context for the information being produced by one process for another, and allows for a deeper understanding of the meaning of that context.

Another example in the healthcare environment explains the concern of different data sources. The patient-centred care delivery is tailored to patient and requires collaboration of several information systems, and other involved team members also require the data of patient such as status and treatment. To deliver care for an individual patient, various activities need to be collaborative and to keep updating the database in real time. However, this collaboration is challenged duo to the complexity, it requires multiple data sources integrated to support the different requirements. "... Originally, our IT environment operated with costly point-to-point interfaces, and we also lacked control of troubleshooting while the messages transmission failed... we operated within a manual environment where we needed to manually enter orders with their images received from outside reading facilities into our system, and had to fax copies back to the outside facilities..." quoted from one clinician in radiology department. Information communication is also challenged due to the varieties of purchased systems for hospital. Those systems were provided by several small venders, who remained their competitiveness by selling only one type of systems or focusing on one specific function. This results in that the stakeholders get frustrated more often because the communication of patient's data/information failed among various systems. As one clinician stated: "We became accustomed to telling our patients that we cannot provide the information for them immediately because their information cannot be accessed, although we have those information in the database... I normally have to download the hard copy and then manually re-input the data for my patient." Furthermore, information communication is also challenged because the clinicians and the radiologist were located in different rooms, and therefore the collaboration takes place asynchronously at most of the time, which can be solved via management channel.

• Technical

The purpose of technical level is to make exchanged data available for supporting the processes at upper level. For example, in healthcare environment, it is concerned with the understanding of technical functionality for supporting information systems. It requires agreement on a core set of technical concepts, such as technical components and devices, the interactions between components, interface and technical services; it also captures relevant patterns such as technical architecture styles and styles of component interactions. However, the study at this level is not the focus of the assessment of pragmatic interoperability, although it is vital to support the understanding the concerns of pragmatic interoperability at upper levels. Therefore, during the interview, only few concerns regarding technical level are summarised below, but we still purpose a method for dealing with those concerns in the next chapter.

Concern	Explanation
Semantic heterogeneity	Refers to the variation of semantic meaning in information resources which will lead to the semantic conflicts and compli- cation for data integration
Ontology structure	Approaches that employ ontologies for information systems
Operation/system language	The language using in both systems
Ambiguous terminology	Differences in the use of terms across departments

Next chapter will purpose a method for assessing pragmatic interoperability based on the results collected from this chapter. The method contains two parts: one gives all the elements of pragmatic interoperability that should be concerned when considering process alignment and working collaboration, and the other one is a supplementary method for dealing with technical concerns.

5 A Method for Assessing Pragmatic Interoperability

The nature of information communication relies on successful signs communication [1], which must start with understanding and modelling the organisation where information communication exists [6]. The organisation onion [7] stresses the distinctions as well as the interdependent links between the business process and IT systems. The organisation morphology provides a useful modelling method for understandings the norm structure of organisation. Each organisation can be characterised as a structure of norms that allow functions to be coordinated for certain purposes [6], and pragmatic interoperability, is to enable the purposes of each process can be understood and perceived during collaboration. Based on the results collected from the interviews and observations presented in previous chapter, we purpose a method for assessing pragmatic interoperability which contains two parts: one gives all the elements of

pragmatic interoperability that should be concerned when considering process alignment and working collaboration, and the other one is a supplementary method for dealing with technical concerns.

Figure 3 depicts the method purposed for assessing pragmatic interoperability. In the informal level, two key elements are defined: community participation refers to what parties in what roles are eligible to participate and what are the prerequisites for their participation, and policies refer to those policies within each party's jurisdiction that influence the interoperability of the organisation. Organisation may encode business rules that are not explicitly specified but cause incompatibilities in exchanged information. Aligning policies across jurisdictional boundaries is one of the most difficult tasks of collaboration.

In formal level, meeting shared intended purposes is the goal of achieving pragmatic interoperability when two process/organisations working collaboratively. The procedure has been identified based on the interview results. It begins with setting up several intended objectives for the shared intended purpose, then allocates these objectives to relevant organisation roles, and signs contracts which define explicit tasks. The tasks relate to accountabilities for the completeness, quality, integrity and security of information that originates in one party and is transmitted to and used by another. Finally, the completed tasks with their deliverables are evaluated by matching the original defined intended objectives.



Fig. 3. Method for Assessing Pragmatic Interoperability

In technical level, we purpose a matching process that deal with the concerns summarised from the interview results such as semantic heterogeneity, ontology structure, and ambiguous terminology. The process contains seven steps (class items extraction, elimination of irrelevant semantics, class grammatical type classification, class hierarchical disambiguation, class relational disambiguation, similarity identification, and the refinement). In the class items extraction phase, the goal is to represent all the classes of the ontology in the same form. It is to represent each class like a set of terms. The characters are executed without meaning as so punctuation marks or special characters. When dealing with issues like too many corresponding senses for each class term, the steps of grammatical type classification, hierarchical disambiguation, and relational disambiguation are used for articulating semantics of the information. After semantic disambiguation, different ontologies are compared by using defined metrics in order to identify and refine the similarities. As the matching process using at this level is not the focus of this paper, thus the elaboration of the process itself as well as its application and validation will be presented in future work.

6 Conclusion and Future Work

This paper is the extension of our previous research. It proposed a method for assessing pragmatic interoperability for process alignment in collaborative working environment. The study is conducted qualitatively by using techniques of interview, documentation, and observation. The results collected firstly summarised into three layers based on our previous developed pragmatic assessment model, and then categorised them into elements which constitutes the purposed method. The method contains two parts: one gives all the elements of pragmatic interoperability that should be concerned when considering process alignment in collaborative working environment, and the other one is a supplementary method for dealing with technical concerns. Validation and application for the purposed method will be presented in future work.

References

- Li, W., Liu, K., Liu, S.: Semiotic interoperability a critical step towards systems integration. In: The 5th International Conference on Knowledge Management and Information Sharing, pp. 508–513 (2013)
- Liu, S., Li, W., Liu, K., Han, J.: Evaluation frameworks for information systems integration: from a semiotic lens. In: The 3rd International Conference on Logistics, Informatics and Service Science, pp. 559–568 (2013)
- Liu, S., Li, W., Liu, K.: Assessing Pragmatic Interoperability of Information Systems from a Semiotic Perspective. In: 15th International Conference on Informatics and Semiotics in Organisation, ICISO (2014)
- 4. Liu, S., Li, W., Liu, K.: Pragmatic Oriented Data Interoperability for Smart Healthcare Information Systems. In: The 14th IEEE/ACM International Symposium on Cluster, Cloud and Grid Computing (2014)
- Filipe, J.B.L.: Normative Organisational Modelling using Intelligent Multi-Agent Systems. Staffordshire University: Ph.D Thesis (2000)
- 6. Liu, K.: Semiotics in Information Systems Engineering. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2000)
- 7. Stamper, R.: Information in business and administrative systems. Batsford, London (1973)
- 8. Benson, T.: Principles of health interoperability HL7 and SNOMED. Springer (2009)
- Sadeghi, P., Benyoucef, M., Kuziemsky, C.E.: A mashup based framework for multi level healthcare interoperability. Inf. Syst. Front. 14(1), 57–72 (2011)
- 10. Yin, R.: Case study research: Design and methods. Sage, pp. 85-96 (2003)
- Kim, K., Michelman, J.: An examination of factors for the strategic use of information systems in the healthcare industry. MIS Q., 201–216 (June 1990)

Clarifying the Situational Context of a TV Company towards the Design of iDTV Applications

Samuel B. Buchdid, Heiko H. Hornung, Roberto Pereira, and M. Cecília C. Baranauskas

Institute of Computing, University of Campinas (UNICAMP) Av. Albert Einstein N1251, Campinas – SP, CEP 13083-852, Brazil {buchdid, heiko, rpereira, cecilia}@ic.unicamp.br

Abstract. Television has experienced transformations that directly impact the TV companies' production chain. In this sense, digital technology and *Interactive* Digital Television (iDTV) represent business opportunities in terms of investment spent by broadcasters. In this paper, we investigate the impact an iDTV application might have within a TV company by analyzing a situated context. To clarify the problem, we use the knowledge produced from workshops that were based on the Socially Aware Computing approach and that involved various stakeholders to design an iDTV application in a real context. The analysis is illustrated with the graphical representation of Ontology Charts and Norms projected for the observed organization. The findings indicate organizational changes that both suffer from and cause impact on the design of this kind of application.

Keywords: Organizational Semiotics, Semantic and Norm Analysis, Design Process, Interactive Digital TV, iDTV applications.

1 Introduction

Terrestrial TV has undergone transformations since its establishment. The first images were in black and white, with poor image and audio quality at the receiving end. Sometime after, analog TV won a new attraction: colors. Color TV was a dream of consumption for most viewers and boosted the reach of TV on society. The last major milestone has occurred with the arrival of Digital TV (DTV). DTV includes transmission and compression of digital signals, receiver processing capability and interactivity, thereby enabling Interactive Digital TV (iDTV) [10]. During this migration process, broadcasters have to adapt constantly in order to both meet the technical needs and please an ever more demanding audience. Hence, the TV companies need to improve their production chain with new methods to produce their programming. Such investments require new business models that justify these changes and bring benefits to broadcasters as well as to the audience. In this sense, the investments on DTV and iDTV should be understood as an opportunity to explore the development of new applications, reorganization of television production chains, generating business and social transformations [9]. In fact, TV is a highly social and pervasive technology - characteristics that make it a challenging and interesting field for investments. With the arrival of DTV, a new business model emerged, and later iDTV opened up a variety of possibilities for new services for TV [15]. Cesar et al. [7] also draw attention to TV's potential social impact, and suggest research on iDTV that incorporates characteristics of viewers and everyday lives. For Kunert [11], beyond better quality in audio and video, viewers can actually interact with the TV, creating a close communication channel between the viewer and the TV companies. Moreover, in order to bring viewers to TV, Pedrosa et al. [14] consider the use of smartphones and tablets in the interaction with TV.

However, the design of interactive applications could be considered a new component into TV companies' production chains. While on the one hand, TV companies still do not have a culture of developing software systems, on the other hand, the software industry has no experience in producing TV programs. Thus, there is a need for creating a specific process for developing iDTV applications that considers both the particularities of television production and the foundations of software development processes [19]. When the need to design a new technology for a company arises, it seems necessary to understand the context into which the system will be inserted, and the main forces that act on it directly and indirectly. Understanding the forces that govern organizational contexts and identifying ontological relations and norms is necessary for the system to make sense to the company and its various sectors [12].

In this paper, we draw on the knowledge produced through workshops conducted in the practical context of a Brazilian TV company that is about to create its first iDTV application. The workshops were conducted in order to clarify forces that emerge within the practical context of this TV company towards the design of iDTV applications. The workshops were organized and conducted on the grounds of the Socially Aware Computing [2] approach to design, Organizational Semiotics [12, 17] and Participatory Design [16]. We discuss the main findings revealed from the study of Ontological Charts that were created from these situated workshops, and are grounded on Semantic Analysis Method (SAM) and the Norm Analysis Method (NAM). Our goal is to explorer how these methods can help us to understand the organizational context and also to anticipate organizational changes that might have an impact on future investments into the production chain and on the TV company's way of doing business.

The paper is organized as follows: Section 2 introduces the theories and methods that ground our work; Section 3 describes the practices conducted to support a situated and participatory design of iDTV applications; Section 4 presents the Semantic and Norm Analysis to clarify the situational context before and after the introduction of iDTV applications in the TV company production chain, and presents and discusses the main findings. Section 5 presents our final considerations and directions for future research.

2 Background of the Work

Organizational Semiotics (OS) understands organizations of people as complex systems of sign processing, and recognizes that a technical system is only part of a wider complex system in which people behave according to an organized system of norms. For this, OS proposes a comprehensive study of organizations on different levels (informal, formal and technical), and their interdependencies. According to Liu [12], organizations themselves are information systems, and the organizational functions in these different levels are essential for designing a technical information system for this organization. In the informal level, an organization is composed of social norms that drive people's behavior, perceptions, beliefs, values, customs, habits, culture, etc. In the formal level, an organization has their own rules and bureaucratic procedures to do mechanistic and repetitive tasks. The technical system is a part of the formal level which can be automated.

In order to facilitate a better understanding, development, management and use of information systems, a set of methods known as MEASUR (Methods for Eliciting, Analyzing and Specifying User's Requirements) was developed in OS [17]. In this paper, two of these methods inspired our analysis: Semantic Analysis Method and Norm Analysis Method. The understanding of the design problem in the situated context was supported by practices of Socially Aware Computing [2].

Semantic Analysis Method (SAM) is a method to understand the nature and role of affordances (invariant patterns of behavior) and agents (affordances that can take responsibility both for their own and other affordances) in business systems. A business system could be considered a real information system, which is infinitely complex, and only a part of it can be modeled: just a realization (or an instance) of patterns agents' behavior. In practice, SAM focuses on the responsible agents and their repertoires of behavior. For this, the ontology chart maps the temporal relationships between the agent and affordances [12].

Norm Analysis Method (NAM) is a means to specify the temporal patterns of behavior (the social, cultural and organizational norms) governing the agents' actions in the business domain. Norms are linked to each part of the semantic model as the conditions and restrictions for the accomplishment of affordances. A norm can define responsibility for an agent occupying a certain role inside an organizational context and can specify conditions in which some agent can perform some action inside it. Norms have valid periods of existence and can be further specified in a structured way for being translated into a computable language [12].

Socially Aware Computing (SAC) [2] is a socially responsible, participatory and universal approach to the design of systems. SAC draws on OS [12, 17] to understand the context in which the technical system will be inserted and the main forces that directly or indirectly act on it; and on Participatory Design (PD) [16] to involve heterogeneous groups of people, who may influence and/or may be influenced by the problem being discussed, and to understand the situated context.

SAC understands the design of a system as incremental cycles that start from society and cross the informal and formal layers to produce a technical solution for an organization. The movement returns crossing the formal and informal layers alike, and impacting on the society; new incremental cycles may be necessary for the technical system to fit the needs of the organization.

3 The Situated Study

The study scenario is EPTV: a Brazilian broadcasting company whose program reaches a region in Brazil that includes 300 cities and more than 10 million citizens [8]. Four participatory workshops were conducted in the situated context of EPTV

aiming at the design of an iDTV application for the TV program "Terra da Gente" (TdG; "Our Land" in English; [18]). Ten participants directly and indirectly involved in the problem domain (e.g., designer, engineers, researchers, TV program director and interns) participated in these workshops.

The workshops were grounded on the SAC approach [2], which was instantiated for the situated context of EPTV (cf. Fig. 1). In this context, we used artifacts from and inspired by OS, such as the Stakeholders Identification Diagram [13], the Evaluation Frame [1], and the Semiotic Ladder [17], and created new practices for supporting participatory and situated design activities. The activities encompassed (see Fig. 1): A) the problem understanding, the proposal of solutions, and the analysis and organization of requirements for the application to be designed; B) Prototyping activities through an adapted version of the Brain Draw participatory technique; C) The materialization of the final prototype; D) Evaluations by representatives from the target audience, by Human-Computer Interaction specialists, and also in a participatory practice with the workshop participants. These activities contributed to the problem clarification, as well as to the design and evaluation of a prototype for an iDTV application. The interested reader may consult [4], [5] and [6] for detailed results and discussions related to these activities.

In this paper, we use information raised from the discussions during these workshops with the EPTV team in order to illustrate the company's organizational structure behind the TdG TV program. The intention is to show how the company is currently organized and uses efforts of several teams that influence and suffer influences from the TdG program to create a first iDTV application. Moreover, we wanted to prospect, according to the participants' perspectives, which organizational changes in the company might arise from the introduction of an iDTV application in the TdG production chain.



Fig. 1. Situated instance of SAC's meta-model for design

4 Towards Semantic and Norm Analyses

The following text is a description of the EPTV company based on the shared knowledge constructed during the workshops with the EPTV team. EPTV is an affiliate of a large Brazilian broadcasting company. Currently, EPTV has several teams who work in different sectors that cover the management, production, marketing and transmission of the TV company. EPTV consists of a group with four main stations, and with the support of several rebroadcasting stations, it can cover all its audience with digital and analog programming. EPTV, as well as other affiliates, produces several regional programs (journalism and documentaries) that complement the national programming provided by the parent company, and reaching the local audience and providing marketing opportunities to advertisers and sponsors in the region. EPTV competes with other TV companies in order to attract the audience.

TdG is one of several programs produced by EPTV. TdG's production team works with a cohesive team of editors, writers, producers, designers, technicians and journalists, among other staff members. In addition to the television program, the TdG team also produces a printed magazine and maintains a web portal. Both the magazine and the web portal serve as complementary sources of material for the TdG audience and support TV programs from the parent company. Each member has well-defined rules inside the TdG team. For instance, the Chief Editor is the person who coordinates the production team (e.g., editors, journalists, designers, etc.) of the television program, web portal and magazine. The graphic designer is responsible for the graphic art of the television program and the web portal, and will be responsible for the graphic art of the iDTV application. TdG's team might also be engaged with financial issues such as making feasible the TV show's production costs and minimizing risks raising funding for the program as advertisers and sponsors.

After the program is produced, TdG has the support from the engineering team to transmit the program to its audience. The engineering team is responsible for technical aspects of transmission of several TV programs produced by EPTV, and also for the retransmission of television content that comes from the parent company. Engineering is also responsible for providing technical support (e.g., links between TV companies, TV programs produced for other affiliates) to distribute content among regional branches of EPTV, the parent company and other affiliates. Finally, engineering is responsible for entering data related to the local program, such as electronic programming guide (EPG), software updates and closed caption that complements the TV's schedule and are broadcasted together. The engineering team must also follow the DTV standards because the TV signal must run on several television receivers from different manufacturers. Any improper use might result in the TV signal not running properly or even blocking the receiver.

EPTV works with other relevant teams, e.g., for managing the organization and for hiring staff, but those are out of the scope of this paper. Figure 2 shows the ontology chart created for the EPTV company representing the TdG TV show as the focal problem.

When an iDTV application is introduced into a TV production chain, a development team is required in the TV company to develop the application in accordance with the programming languages defined by the Brazilian DTV standard (ISDB-Tb). For the application to use the interactive channel from connectivity companies, it is also necessary that this new team offers technical support for connectivity problems and management of data received from viewers. This team could be introduced inside EPTV as a separate department, as part of the production team or as part of engineering team. Moreover, it might be an external software company developing services



Fig. 2. Ontology Chart of EPTV representing the TdG TV show as the focal problem

for the TV company. Workshop participants suggested that the iDTV design team could be included into the production team but receiving support from engineering.

The engineering team also should propose novel technologies that can be incorporated into the TV company's production and transmission chain generating a relative market advantage. For instance, in the case of an iDTV application, engineering should evaluate solutions (e.g., programing language to be used, how to design the application, how to broadcast it) suitable to the organization's necessities. For engineering, the development of an iDTV application should require resources for purchasing multiplexing and broadcasting equipment to transmit the application with the TV show content. Furthermore, engineering should allocate human resources to operate such transmission equipment and adjust transmission according to the norms from the parent company, e.g., technical norms. The engineering team must also adjust bandwidth for the application transmission, making sure it will not overload the total bandwidth available for the transmission of television content, which includes video. audio and other data types. The period in which the application should be transmitted should also be adjusted according to the duration of the TV show. Thus, the application and its transmission should be of easy operation. Once implanted, these activities may be automated to require less effort from the engineering team.

The production team should consider that the insertion of an iDTV application might increase the TV show audience by people who like new technologies and innovations. Thus, the production team should conduct a careful analysis of the existing and potential future audience. If the iDTV application does not gain public acceptance, then it must be reformulated and not be transmitted together with the TV show. The production team must also produce the informational content of the iDTV application since it complements the current TV show. Similarly, a designer from the TV show should produce the visual iDTV application layout so that the application has the same visual identity as the TV show. The rationale to guarantee consistency between the TV

show and the application is to promote integration, i.e. by stimulating viewers to access additional information about the show or answering quizzes about the show's content.

The design of iDTV applications involves the allocation of additional resources (e.g., people and money), and this kind of application can introduce risks for the TV company since it is not yet fully consolidated in the market and does not have the full acceptance from viewers yet. Thus, the production team should analyze the viability to produce iDTV applications according to resources from the TV company.

On the one hand, EPTV understands that producing iDTV applications is a necessity from the market because other affiliates and competitors provide this type of application in their schedules. On the other hand, some sponsors and advertisers might not want this type of application because it can distract viewers, reducing their attention to their ads. Finally, as the television content is dynamic, the application development process and the produced application should be easily customizable.

Figure 3 shows the diagram with the partial Ontology Chart after inserting the design of an iDTV application within the chain of production for the TdG TV show at EPTV. The Ontology Chart is instantiated in the focal problem related to the production of the TdG TV show and the design of an iDTV application for it.



Fig. 3. Ontology Chart of EPTV after insertion of the design of an application iDTV

New norms (previously cited, and shown in Table 1) that impact on these ontological relations emerged (see Fig. 3). These norms should be analyzed by teams to identify the feasibility to produce the iDTV application. To make the dynamic part of the informational system explicit, the rules of behavior used in this paper are structured according to the behavioral norms format [12] "WHENEVER <condition> IF <state> THEN <agent> IS <deontic operator> TO <action>". Table 1 shows some of these norms: the first column contains an identification number to reference the norms in Figure 3.

Concern	Explanation
	Whenever "an iDTV application needs to be transmitted" if "it is associated with a
1	TV Show" then "the engineering team" is "obliged" to "adjust bandwidth and
	transmission time according to the duration of the TV Show"
	Whenever "an iDTV application needs to be transmitted" if "it cannot spend a lot
2	of resources" then "the engineering department" is "permitted" to "facilitate or automate the transmission operation"
	Whenever "an iDTV application is designed" if "it addresses a diverse target au-
3	dience" then "the production team" is "obliged" to "carefully analyze the au-
	dience"
	Whenever "an iDTV application is designed" if "it doesn't have public accep-
4	tance" then "the production team" is "permitted" to "reformulate it or do not
	broadcast it together with the TV show"
	Whenever "an iDTV application is designed" if "there are high risks for the TV
5	company" then "the production team" is "obliged" to "analyze the risks to design
	iDTV applications"
	Whenever "an iDTV application is designed" if "distract the audience in viewing
6	ads" then "EPTV" is "permitted" to " customize the iDTV application to prevent
	that this happens"
	Whenever "an iDTV application is designed for TdG" if "it must be updated
7	weekly according to the current TV show content" then "the production team" is
1	"permitted" to "develop easy to use mechanisms for customizing the iDTV appli-
	cation"

Table 1. Some norms for EPTV after insertion of the design of an iDTV application

4.1 Synthesis of the Discussion

EPTV workshops helped to understand in practice that to produce iDTV applications, the production chain requires efforts of several teams from the current broadcaster's production chain. Actually, an iDTV application in a TV show changes the model of developing TV content, and teams are not fully prepared to deal with the changes adequately. In addition, the passive viewer becomes an active user with the arrival of iDTV and should be examined more cautiously. Leaving this responsibility to software companies may not be suitable because of the difference between the TV show and the application domains. Finally, market uncertainties and the viewer's acceptance make it even more difficult to invest in resources for producing iDTV applications. Knowing the TV Company's situated context was a first step to understand these challenges and to propose a design process for iDTV applications that make sense for its different stakeholders, including the final audience.

The ontology and norms analysis performed to map out the organizational structure before and after the insertion of an iDTV application showed substantial changes in the organizational structure of the TV company. New organizational affordances, agents, norms and ontological relations emerged. It also was possible to point out what and where these changes occurred, giving an indication of how they should be taken into account in the adaptation process for inserting the iDTV applications in the TV production chain. The ontology relations and norms were used in this paper to understand the situated context from a TV company, and some terms (e.g., EPTV and TdG) appear as realizations or instances of "universals" (a kind of a concept) and "particulars" (a concept). Although different from the proposed in the formal literature [12], these representations were useful to highlight organizational changes from a focal problem within the situated context of a company.

Even though the norms and ontology analysis came from knowledge of the situated workshops, many of the findings pointed out by the analysis may inform other organizations with different organizational structures.

5 Conclusions

The development of a TV show can be seen as efforts of skilled individuals working in teams. Each element has an important role in the development phases of the program [3].

In this paper, we analyzed in a situated context what impacts the insertion of an iDTV application might trigger in a TV company production chain. The findings indicate challenges that a TV company must face to restructure its internal production chain in order to support iDTV applications. In this sense, this study might be helpful to anticipate the impact that an innovation (e.g., a new model of the production process) can cause within the organizational system of the TV company. Furthermore, show the knowledge that emerges from an organizational analysis in situated context opens opportunities for future studies in the iDTV field, whether they either theoretical or fundamentally practical.

As future work, we intend to develop a design process for iDTV applications that considers the needs of different teams that compose the TV company in order to propose a process that fits the reality of the TV company, and which also takes into account the needs of a diverse target audience.

Acknowledgments. This research is partially funded by CAPES, CNPq (#165430/2013-3) and FAPESP (2013/02821-1; 2014/01382-7). The authors thank EPTV who collaborated and authorized the use of the documentation in this project.

References

- 1. Baranauskas, M.C.C., Schimiguel, J., Simoni, C.A.C., Medeiros, C.M.B.: Guiding the Process of Requirements Elicitation with a Semiotic Approach. In: 11th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction, pp. 100–111 (2005)
- Baranauskas, M.C.C.: Social Awareness in HCI. ACM Interactions July–August 2014, 66-69 (2014)
- Bonasio, V.: Televisão Manual de Produção & Direção. Editora Leitura, Minas Gerais (2002)
- Buchdid, S.B., Pereira, R., Baranauskas, M.C.C.: Creating an iDTV Application from Inside a TV Company: A Situated and Participatory Approach. In: Liu, K., Gulliver, S.R., Li, W., Yu, C. (eds.) ICISO 2014. IFIP AICT, vol. 426, pp. 63–73. Springer, Heidelberg (2014)

- Buchdid, S.B., Pereira, R., Baranauskas, M.C.C.: Playing Cards and Drawing with Patterns: Situated and Participatory Practices for Designing iDTV Applications. In: 16th International Conference on Enterprise Information Systems (ICEIS 2014), pp. 14–27 (2014)
- Buchdid, S.B., Pereira, R., Baranauskas, M.C.C.: You Can Interact with Your TV and You May Like It an Investigation on Persuasive Aspects for an iDTV Application. In: Marcus, A. (ed.) DUXU 2014, Part IV. LNCS, vol. 8520, pp. 208–219. Springer, Heidelberg (2014)
- Cesar, P., Chorianopoulos, K., Jensen, J.F.: Social Television and User Interaction. Computers in Entertainment 6(1), 1–10 (2008)
- 8. EPTV news portal (2014), http://www.viaeptv.com (January 10, 2014)
- Fernandes, J., Lemos, G., Elias, G.: Introdução à Televisão Digital Interativa: Arquitetura, Protocolos, Padrões e Práticas. In: Jornada de Atualização em Informática do Congresso da Sociedade Brasileira de Computação (JAI-SBC 2004), pp. 1–56 (2004)
- 10. Gawlinski, M.: Interactive Television Production. Editora Focal Press, Oxford (2003)
- 11. Kunert, T.: User-Centered Interaction Design Patterns for Interactive Digital Television Applications. Springer, New York (2009)
- Liu, K.: Semiotics in Information Systems Engineering. Cambridge University Press (2000)
- Liu, X.: Employing MEASUR Methods for Business Process Reengineering in China, PhD Thesis University of Twente, Ensgede, the Netherlands (2001)
- Pedrosa, C., Martins, J.A.C.: Jr, Melo E. L., Teixeira, C. A. C.: A multimodal interaction component for digital television. In: Proceedings of the 2011 ACM Symposium on Applied Computing (SAC 2011), pp. 1253–1258. ACM Press, New York (2012)
- Rice, M., Alm, N.: Designing new interfaces for digital interactive television usable by older adults. Computers in Entertainment-Social television and user interaction 6(1), article 6, 1–20 (2008)
- Schuler, D., Namioka, A. (eds.): Participatory design: Principles and practices. Erlbaum, Hillsdale (1993)
- 17. Stamper, R.K.: Information in Business and Administrative Systems. John Wiley and Sons, New York (1973)
- 18. Terra da Gente Portal (2014), http://www.terradagente.com.br (January 13, 2014)
- Veiga, E.G.: Modelo de Processo de Desenvolvimento de Programas para TV Digital e Interativa. 141 f. Masters' dissertation - Computer Networks, University of Salvador (2006)

Applying Organizational Semiotics for Developing Knowledge-Based Cost Estimation of Construction Project

Shen Xu¹, Kecheng Liu¹, and Llewellyn CM Tang²

¹ Informatics Research Centre, Henley Business School, University of Reading, Reading, UK, RG6 6UD
²Department of Architecture and Built Environment, University of Nottingham Ningbo, China, 199 Taikang East Road, 315100
s.xu@pgr.reading.ac.uk, k.liu@henley.ac.uk, llewellyn.tang@nottingham.edu.cn

Abstract. Cost estimation is a dynamic and knowledge intensive process. Current practice of construction cost estimation is a process with fragmented knowledge. In order to have an integrated process, semantic should be modelled in respect to pragmatic. The investigation of BIM-based cost estimation confirmed that IFC can provide construction project semantics but incapable of relating domain semantics and pragmatics. In order to overcome this gap, we adopt organizational semiotics to fully reveal semantic units of cost estimation from a process perspective. Pilot study confirms feasibility of this approach. Future research will be a case study to collect all the instances for semantic units. Then semantic consistency and pragmatic implementation should be realized by the applications. This research highlights the importance of alignment between semantic (domain ontology) and pragmatic (meaning in use), it contributes also to identify a new approach of knowledge engineering for construction professional services under BIM environment.

Keywords: analytical cost estimation, knowledge representation, information system development, industry foundation classes, quantity surveying.

1 Introduction

An exploration and analysis of various BIM-5D applications confirmed observations in the literature that model-based construction cost estimation need a new method that could meet the need to core cost estimating workflows [1–3]. Because in addition to material quantities, product features, such as openings and repetition, also affect construction costs [4]. Previously such factors are being considered by expert into the adjustment of estimation [5]. This approach is often difficult to integrate into current computing practices because it is a 'black box' and difficult for computer to understand [6]. Therefore, existing software tools do not explicitly capture quantity surveyors' rationale for how the component properties and product features affect the cost information and cost estimation requires contextual information and current support is insufficient for this requirement [4]. Meanwhile, conventional programming language is insufficient to deal with certain estimating activities for example comply with standard, which is an essential requirement for costing practitioner.

Existing knowledge engineering process produces ontology, in the form of classification systems and product data models, lacks effective modelling of concept semantics and related pragmatics: a fundamental requirement for human-based exchange of knowledge [7]. Being investigated into human reasoning processing, more specific, the cost estimating process consists of locating objective information, recognizing it in the immediate situation or in the past, evaluating the objective information, combining the information together, and then implementing it as a certain value of estimation. With the development of information technology, locating objective information is helped by using a search engine, recognizing objective information in the immediate situation or in the past is facilitated by cost database (cost index). However, by lacking a knowledge model of cost estimation which integrates domain semantic and pragmatics, the issues remain the same, firstly time is insufficient for doing cost estimation [8], secondly we are hardly able to find the valuable information [5], thirdly, cost estimation requires contextual information [4].

Furthermore the general idea is that data and services are semantically described with respect to knowledge representation language, which are formal specifications of a domain of interest, and can thus be shared and reused in a way such that the shared meaning specified remains formally the same across different parties and applications. Then a business process is being modelled with norms in order to capture the application logic. Finally a special purpose reasoning engine could be employed, based on logic programming that operates on the above two structures in an integrated way. The paper has been structured as follows: we firstly study the advantage of applying the framework, in which corresponding to the knowledge capturing problem in quantity surveying organization. Then the results of pilot study have been demonstrated to show feasibility of introduced approach. Finally conclusion and future research is presented.

2 Semiotics in Construction Domain

While the development of information technology, many software applications, for instance Sage Timberline [16], Innovaya Visual Estimating [17], CostX [18], and Nomitech [19], have been developed and applied in the construction cost estimation. However, based on case studies of the software using in cost estimation process, for instance BIM cases [1–3,20], and quantity surveyor cases [21–27], estimators still have to read and extract useful information from the model or manully rebuild a three dimentional model specific for cost estimation then conduct measuring by strictly complying with specifications such as SMM [28] or Professional Practice Guides [29] then applying unit price intuitively. Because of working complexity and comprehending deviation during the process, analytical cost estimation is both time-consuming and error-prone [30].

To improve the communication efficiency of BIM, Hartmann (2012) introduces semiotics to analyse BIM systems. This semiotic framework is focusing on technical perspective [10], according to Liu (2000)'s semiotics ladder, it focuses on ITplatform, however, to author's best of knowledge, the communication problem is an inherent issue due to the nature of construction industry [12]. The analysis solo focuses on the technology part cannot solve the inherent problem of construction industry. High level requirements are not technical, but mainly social and organizational. Therefore, the success of information systems implementation depends more on how well an organization is prepared and organizational aspects are integrated rather than the pure technical systems itself [13].

Eastman [14] reveals that there are two major perspectives that influence the form of information technologies in the building information modelling: the organizational perspective, the technical perspectives, which includes software technology, the system architecture perspective, and the modelling technology perspective.

Organizational perspective depicts the structure of organization will influence information exchange and integration requirements. For example, traditional construction team, which is a virtual team with dispersed members working for a single project will have different requirements in contrast to an international building company that have various divisions, such as design, costing, and construction divisions [15]. Organizational requirements will guide the information techniques of the construction industry. Technical perspectives describe contribution from software technology, for instance new programming languages, function libraries, and exchange standard; the system architecture perspective, for instance different implementation methods, service oriented architecture (SOA) and P2P networks etc.; and the modelling technology perspective depict different modelling languages which focus on interoperability issues.

2.1 Current Ontology Application in BIM-Based Cost Estimation

Based on our literature reviews, current BIM-based cost estimation is a fragmented process with knowledge. Along the cost estimation process, IFC model provides the information of a building, IDM verifies the information exchanged between IFC model and the cost estimation, says quantity take off [31]. And the IFD supply the detailed components information contained in the general IFC model, however supports to cost estimation is not facilitated. Thus we need further improvement to BIM-based cost estimation.

In table 1 these researches highlight that highlight the gap of BIM-based cost estimation which it doesn't satisfy the needs of domain users. The different ontology languages used concerns us, we argue that without a process for integrating knowledge of cost estimation, such kind of knowledge is still lost by the system and mainly maintained by individual cost expertise. Furthermore we also believe that the general process can be further breakdown to support professional activities in detail, for example describe, identify, select, and adjust etc. can be employed to describe professional cost estimation process. We believe that without a new stance to review cost estimation as a human intervention process and without a comprehensive framework to provide a foundation of interaction between IT platform and human function, professional works cannot be further improved.

The greatest challenge however is that of engaging in the development of knowledge representation in BIM-based model which is a knowledge representation language as well. This requires a fully "a cost estimator mind" with high software modelling knowledge that can model the processes of developing a cost estimation. Thus it represents two major problems that the complexity of knowledge language

Estimation me-	General Cost Estimation Process		
thod	Cost Item Quantification	Unit Price Determine	
Conventional	Manual	Manual	
Cost Estimation			
BIM based Cost	Automatic*	Automatic*	
Estimation			
Ontology Im-	1: Describe cost item	3: Identify project location to	
proved BIM and	comply with standard;	select labour cost; UML+OWL.	
language used	IFC-based ontology.	4: Identify construction condi-	
	2: Identify working condi-	tion to adjust unit price; ontolo-	
	tion to select cost item;	gy language not specified	
	OWL		

Table 1. Comparison between estimation methods

83

Note: BIM based QTO and price identification doesn't comply with standard 1: [32]; 2: [33]; 3: [34]; 4: [35]

(industry foundation classes and ontology language) can hardly be understood by the domain user meanwhile knowledge engineer doesn't understand cost estimation in a good picture which could break cost estimation process into piece. Thus it is essential to have a knowledge capturing process could facilitate an integrated estimation process for estimating domain or at least could capture semantics and pragmatics.

2.2 Advantage of Applying Semiotics Framework to Cost Estimation

The adaption of the new approach needs a strong justification as it is essential for us to question about why stand from an organizational perspective for cost estimation. Capturing the rationale and identifying the knowledge intensive processes is not a trivial task. It is difficult for experts to explain what it is that they know. To data, the only thing we know is that the expert in the quantity surveying organization needs to make assumptions about future cost resulting from: different locations, fluctuation of labour productivity and changes in the market conditions [36,37]. Corresponding to our two problems of cost estimation, which are quantification and pricing. In software, the main stream is quantification which start with building drawings. Firstly expertise will extracting a set of building elements from drawings, then decomposing them into cost items. Once these cost items are complied with standard, they often make comparisons and references to historical projects respectively in order to predict the cost of the new project [38].

Together with the concerning of the development of information system, we adopt organizational semiotics which trying to understand cost estimation from an estimating process perspective. By capturing knowledge, the reasoning and inference steps can be delivered to the development of information system. We incorporate a suite of semiotics tools: semantic analysis and norm analysis [11]. Firstly, it identifies concepts of interest and the ontological dependency between semantic units, having established the ontology chart; it will then ascertain the semantic relations. Hence, formalising these relationships to model the behaviour of organisational systems design [39]. In our research, the main focus addressed in engineering aspect has been put onto knowledge representation and information analysis to provide pragmatic and semantic support to quantification and pricing for cost estimation. This engineering perspective is related to information system engineering, which studies information system design and development. There are two major reasons why the engineering aspect is important to the automatic cost estimation:

- Adopting a proper information system engineering perspective helps grasping quickly the importance of information analysis and knowledge representation for cost estimation. The knowledge and information have to semantically represented, and reasoning engine can be supplied to enable estimator to leave tedious works as much as possible to system, in other words, to enable the system to automatic or semi-automatic perform cost estimation;
- On the other hand, with the rapid development and heavy use of IT, cost estimation needs a technology-led updated estimating approach. This approach should incorporating human inference, and we argue that the analyst should use compatible and systematic analytical methods as used in information system engineering or the related disciplines. Gaining a clear understanding of the state-of-the-art approach to information system could nourish the ideas for up-to-date studies of cost estimation and receives the payoff from information system for cost estimation;
- The semiotic approach takes one a step further. It will stress the distinctions as well as the interdependent links between the organization, the business process and the IT system. The notion of human responsibility and possibility of delegation of functions to an IT system is clarified.

Therefore, the authors' approach to 'expertise-based' cost estimating, is first to examine the current practice via a well-established framework, which links the physical world and social world through the information mechanisms expertise use in the organization. Secondly we employ semantic analysis in order to understand and capture the procedure knowledge used by experts when perform surveying, moreover standard investigation and observation have been conducted. By understanding these issues, it becomes possible to model the expert behaviour and further developing model in the sense of computability. Furthermore integrating such knowledge in a BIM system which enabling a knowledge-based approach to professional services. It is interesting to notice that some researchers are tagging IFC model as a semantic rich model [40–42], but others are claiming that IFC has insufficient semantic contained in the entity and relationships [43–45]. This conflict has been addressed by our framework.

3 Pilot Study and Results Discussion

An investigation of BIM-based cost estimation through organizational semiotics ladders has been conducted, from the physical token to social norms, six aspects of signs in the semiotics ladder of IFC-based cost estimation summarized the findings in the

85

analysis, due to page constraints, and detailed results are not presented in this paper. At technical perspective, in the physical level, STEP file and API usage is sufficient for establishing software integration and database exchange, however there is no implementation in knowledge base. In the empirical level, the emphasize is focused on IDM, which provides a mechanism to reduce the information uncertainty, however it is still highly in the initial phase and did not address the semantic, pragmatic and social problem derived from organizations. In the syntactic level, IFC provides a powerful schema that transmit construction information for all stakeholders but the redundancy and complexity of schema is barrier for the implementation. Moreover, regarding the domain practice, in other words the professional service provided by the participants, is requiring new entities that should be defined in the schema, especially the standards and professional activities.

IFC lacks the formal specifications to relate the entities and relationships to reasoning mechanisms from the human reasoning process perspective. As we discussed previously without an integrated process of cost estimation and a systematic framework, in the semantic and pragmatic level, the pattern of behaviour is not fully recognized and defined. For instance, in the current detailed cost estimation process, Comply with standard is a description of this behaviour, but the activities are not recognized nor computer supported. Other examples like forming behaviour which should before adjust behaviour has not been recognized either. These unrecognized behaviour patterns on the one hand are providing the flexibilities to do cost estimation but also is a time consuming process for cost estimation as expertise are mostly dealing with various software packages and attempting to link all these behaviours together to deliver cost estimation via quantity surveying approach.

After producing ontology chart of QS organization, the above three ladders, which are semantic, pragmatic and social, can be covered from an organizational perspective. Semantic analysis reveals professional activities that expertise are acting to accomplish their tasks. Norm analysis shows the pattern of expert problem solving and the logic behind the process. Briefly, professional activities and norms can be defined in the semantic. The affordances revealed in the semantic analysis can be formed as information requirements in empirical level. In figure 2, due to page limitation, we represent the stage of preparation (it can also be called classification stage), there are four actions we need to focus. They are dissemble, decompose, selects and synthesis. Figure 2 represents the semantic units translated into semantic web ontology (OWL), which is a knowledge representation language. The language has been widely accepted and used in the construction domain. All the categories can be related with professional activities, e.g. quantity surveying in the object property. It is important to notice that the most important aspect of OWL is their emphasis on tractability of inference. Furthermore a problem instance is solved by describing it and then asking if it is subsumed by one of several possible solution categories. By revealing professional activities and showing the dependency between semantic units as well as employ a special purpose reasoning engine, for example rule-based reasoning in logic programming, we could get a step further to implement the knowledge-based system, see figure 3.







Fig. 2. Knowledge Representation of Analytical Cost Estimation in BIM



Fig. 3. Semantic and Pragmatic Implementation Map

Prepare stage: According to [46], the estimators first receive the order of cost estimation request from client. And the estimators will receive information about the new project in various forms. They *receive* a request to do the work, and data such as 3D models, drawings and project documents. From this information, the estimator deepens their understanding of what it is that needs to be estimated by *synthesising* all the data and information. The estimator needs to analyse the requirements, *decompose* the project and classify the type of product. A Work Breakdown Structure (WBS) is employed and used as the framework to cost the new product [28]. During the decomposing of project, the expert may need to obtain more data to clarify the product of the project. They also need to understand the constraints in terms of time and resources. Once they understand what is required, they establish and document any ground rules and assumptions and identify the main cost drivers of the project.

Semantic Unit: selects		
Input:	Action description:	Output:
Conditions;	Expertise strict applies measurement	1. measured
Potential measured units	rules, the process can be depicted like	unit
	that whenever certain condition meets,	
	a particular measured unit will be	
	selected, and the same as construction	
	product, and construction work results.	
Example:		
1. Masonry, width of	Together with the building section 14:	Measured
damp-proof is 500mm	Masonry, if the width of damp-proof	unit: square
2. Potential measured	is larger than 300mm, then it should	meter
units: length in meter, area	be measured in square meter	
in square meter.		

Table 2.	Semantic	Unit Analysis:	select
----------	----------	----------------	--------

Knowledge: Memory of the conditions for example 500mm width.

```
ct (Buildingcomponents) :-
                                                                    uses
1 ?- select(wall1).
Measured Unit:square_meter
true.
             write('Measured Unit:'),
Int
             has_covering(Buildingcomponents,X),
Se
             X = 0.
                                                                    2 ?- select(wall2).
Measured Unit:meter
2
             has_property(Buildingcomponents,width,Z),
 2
             C is Z*1000,
                                                                    true.
Pil
             c >500,
                                                                     3 ?- 🔳
             units (area, A),
C
             write(A),
             fail.
     elect(Buildingcomponents) :-
             has_covering (Buildingcomponents, X),
             X = 0,
             has property (Buildingcomponents, width, Z),
             c is z*1000,
             c =<500,
             units(length,meter),
             write (meter),
             fail.
     elect().
```

Fig. 4. Results from a Logical Programming Environment

Table 2 discusses select in detail for an illustration. Norm analysis specify the rules used during the process, which has been illustrated in the logic programming language, see figure 4, when expert perform professional activity of select units in order to measure wall1 and wall2, the condition has been specified according to the standard and successfully differentiate two units for two walls. It presents feasibility of realizing quantity surveying in a logic programming environment.

4 Conclusion and Future Research

In a summary, IFC is a powerful modelling language and is viewed as a semantic rich data model. More specific, it presents the project components and it's constructing processes, and how they related to each other, especially for its geometry representation. However semantic contained in the IFC is mainly focused on the components and constructing process information. Regarding the new framework introduced to BIM-based cost estimation, IFC lacks of semantic, pragmatic and social from a human reasoning perspective in which there are two aspects of knowledge, they are 'know-what' (could be mostly stored in the IFC) and 'know-how'. As we can see the domain knowledge which in terms of norms is generally manipulating the components' information derived from IFC models. Thus the professional activities are of most interesting in this research.

Organizational semiotics has the capacity to reveal full semantic units for expert reasoning process and provide the alignment between semantic and pragmatic. The semantic units are modelled by organizational semiotics ontological chart, the ontological dependency fully describes the organization structures, inputs (semantic), professional activities (pragmatics), and results (intended semantics). By a simple mapping between OS semantic model and OWL semantic model, the revealed semantic units can be converted to OWL ontology in order to establish a common vocabulary of quantity surveying under a BIM environment.

This research highlights the importance of alignment between semantic (domain ontology) and pragmatic (meaning in use), it contributes also to identify a new approach of knowledge engineering for construction professional services under BIM environment. The roadmap and government report of BIM development confirm that BIM is toward a centre database of construction project. We believe that an integrated approach of semantic and pragmatic could promote BIM into a knowledge-based system, which currently hasn't been realized. Therefore the benefits can be identified from several perspectives, which are industry, domain user and research. From an industry perspective, a knowledge-based system which not only store descriptive knowledge but also procedure knowledge is essential for industry development. From a domain user perspective, implementing new techniques should truly benefits to the domain in terms of efficiency and effectiveness that aligned with human reasoning process. From a research perspective, semantic information exchange is the main stream of researches however the leverage of ontology implementation is still at the first stage which is the classification reasoning. Introduced new approach of knowledge engineering could facilitate discussions on the suitableness of general knowledge engineer process in the BIM environment and implementing the ontology in an innovative approach.

However the limitations are that revealed semantic units of organizational units and agents have not been used and there is no explicit contribution to pragmatic and semantic consistency although they are extreme important to the structure of BIM environment. On the other hand, virtualisation of this representation for domain user is quite difficult as there are many concepts and relations integrated and result in a human unreadable diagram. Future research will be focusing on find all the instances for the semantic units based on a case study, virtualisation of ontology need also being investigated that could be easily understood by domain user and redundancy of semantic units could be reduced in order to provide a precise semantic model of BIMbased cost estimation.

References

1. Autodesk. Skidmore, Owings & Merrill Standardizes Freedom Tower Project on Autodesk Revit Platform,

http://usa.autodesk.com/adsk/servlet/item?siteID=123112&id=5
523957&linkID=14271593 (accessed July 29, 2011)

- 2. Bentley Review and Study of the Opera Theater Interior and New Works, Sydney Opera House (2012)
- Graphisoft World's Tallest Residential Tower Designed with 3D Virtual Building Concept, http://www.graphisoft.com/community/press_zone/eureka.html (accessed July 30, 2011)
- Kiziltas, S., Akinci, B.: Contextual information requirements of cost estimators from past construction projects. J. Constr. Eng. Manag., 841–852 (2009)
- 5. Ashworth, A., Hogg, K.: Willis's Practice and Procedure for the Quantity Surveyor, 12th edn., p. 440. Wiley-Blackwell (2007)
- Staub, F.S., Fischer, M.: Practical and research issues in using Industry Foundation Classes for construction cost estimating, CIFE Working Paper (2000)
- El-Diraby, T., Lima, C., Feis, B.: Domain taxonomy for construction concepts: toward a formal ontology for construction knowledge. J. Comput. Civ. ..., 394–406 (2005)
- Akintoye, A., Fitzgerald, E.: A survey of current cost estimating practices in the UK. Constr. Manag. Econ. 18, 161–172 (2000)
- Hartmann, T.: A Semiotic Analysis of Building Information Model Systems. Comput. Civ. Eng., 381–388 (2012)
- Andersen, P.: A theory of computer semiotics: Semiotic approaches to construction and assessment of computer systems, 555–562 (1997)
- 11. Liu, K.: Semiotics in Information Systems Engineering. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2000)
- Eccles, R.G.: The quasifirm in the construction industry. J. Econ. Behav. Organ. 2, 335–357 (1981), 1981
- Cui, G., Liu, K.: Infrastructural Analysis for Enterprise Information Systems Implementation. In: Lytras, M.D., et al. (eds.) WSKS 2009. LNCS, vol. 5736, pp. 356–365. Springer, Heidelberg (2009)
- 14. Eastman, C.M.: Building Product Models: Computer Environments, Supporting Design and Construction; Taylor & Francis (1999)
- Vanlande, R., Nicolle, C., Cruz, C.: IFC and building lifecycle management. Autom. Constr., 1–19 (2008)

- Sage Sage Estimating, http://na.sage.com/us/sage-construction-andreal-estate/sage-estimating (accessed April 22, 2014)
- 17. Innovaya Innovaya Visual Estimating, http://www.innovaya.com/prod_ve.htm (accessed April 22, 2014)
- Exactal CostX® | Exactal CostX : Construction Estimating Software | On-screen Takeoff Software, http://www.exactal.co.uk/products/costX (accessed November 4, 2013)
- Nomitech Nomitech Construction Oil & Gas BIM Cost Estimating Software, Estimating Services | Home, http://www.nomitech.eu/cms/en/c/index.html (accessed November 4, 2013)
- Harty, C., Throssell, D., Jeffrey, H., Stagg, M.: Implementing building information modelling: a case study of the Barts and the London hospitals. In: International Conference on Computing in Civil and Building Engineering. Nottingham University Press (2010)
- Matipa, W.M., Kelliher, D., Keane, M.: How a quantity surveyor can ease cost management at the design stage using a building product model. Constr. Innov. Information, Process. Manag. 8, 164–181 (2008)
- Gee, C.: The Influence of Building Information Modelling on the Quantity Surveying Profession. University of Pretoria (2010)
- Xu, S., Tang, L.C.M.: High value information in quantity surveying organizations. In: International Conference on Construction and Real Estate Management (ICCREM 2011), Guangzhou, China, November 18-19 (2011)
- Xu, S., Liu, K., Tang, L.C.M.: Cost Estimation in Building Information Model. In: International Conference on Construction and Real Estate Management (ICCREM 2013) (2013)
- Sabol, L.: Challenges in cost estimating with Building Information Modeling. IFMA World Work (2008)
- Olatunji, O., Sher, W., Gu, N.: Building Information Modeling and Quantity surveying Practice. Emirates J. Eng. Res. 15, 67–70 (2010)
- Xu, S., Tang, L.C.M.: BIM Environment: Quantity Surveyor 's Information Lifecycle. In: The Innovation and the Built Environment Academy (2011)
- The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. RICS New Rules of MEASUREMENT Bill of Quantities for Works Procurement, Coventry, pp. 1–231 (2011)
- AACE, Association for the Advancement of Cost Engineering (AACE) International Recommended Practice No. 25R-03 (2004)
- Ma, Z., Wei, Z.: Framework for Automatic Construction Cost Estimation Based on BIM and Ontology Technology. In: Proceedings of the CIB W78, Beirut, Lebanon, pp. 17–19 (2012)
- Open Geospatial Consortium Inc.; buildingSMART alliance Draft QTO Information Delivery Manual (2009)
- Ma, Z., Wei, Z., Zhang, X.: Semi-automatic and specification-compliant cost estimation for tendering of building projects based on IFC data of design model. Autom. Constr. 30, 126–135 (2013)
- Lee, S.-K., Kim, K.-R., Yu, J.-H.: BIM and ontology-based approach for building cost estimation. Autom. Constr. 41, 96–105 (2014)
- Abanda, H., Tah, J.H.M., Manjia, M., Pettang, C., Abanda, F.: An ontology-driven housebuilding labour cost estimation in Cameroon. J. Inf. Technol. Constr. 16, 617–634 (2011)
- Staub-French, S., Fischer, M., Kunz, J.I.K., Paulson, B.: A feature ontology to support construction cost estimating. Artif. Intell. Eng. Des. Anal. Manuf. 17, 133–154 (2003)
- Tan, F., Makwasha, T.: "Best practice "cost estimation in land transport infrastructure projects, pp. 1–15 (2010)

37. Sinclair, N., Artin, P., Mulford, S.: Construction cost data workbook. In: Conference on the International Comparison Program. World Bank, Washington, D.C (2002)

91

- Rush, C., Roy, R.: Expert Judgement in Cost Estimating: Modelling the Reasoning Process. Concurr. Eng. 9, 271–284 (2001)
- Tan, S., Liu, K., Xie, Z.: A Semiotic approach to organisational modelling using norm analysis. In: 6th Int. Conf. Enterp. Inf. ..., pp. 1–15 (2004)
- 40. Grzybek, H., Gulliver, S., Huang, Z.: Inclusion of Temporal Databases with Industry Foundation Classes-A Basis for Adaptable Intelligent Buildings. In: ICISO (2010)
- 41. Nicolle, C., Cruz, C.: Semantic Building Information Model and multimedia for facility management. Web Inf. Syst. Technol. 1, 14–29 (2011)
- Steel, J., Drogemuller, R., Toth, B.: Model interoperability in building information modelling. Softw. Syst. Model. 11, 99–109 (2010)
- Shen, Z.: Semantic 3D CAD and Its Applications in Construction Industry An Outlook of Construction Data Visualization (2007)
- 44. Venugopal, M.: Formal specification of industry foundation class concepts using engineering ontologies, p. 241
- Venugopal, M., Eastman, C., Teizer, J.: Formal Specification of the IFC Concept Structure for Precast Model Exchanges. Comput. Civ. Eng., 213–220 (2012)
- The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. RICS New Rules of Measurement Order of Cost Estimating and Elemental Cost Planning; Coventry (2007)
Designing Natural User Interfaces Scenarios for All and for Some: An Analysis Informed by Organizational Semiotics Artifacts

Vanessa R.M.L. Maike, Samuel B. Buchdid, and M. Cecília C. Baranauskas

Institute of Computing, State University of Campinas Av. Albert Einstein, 1251, Campinas/SP, Brazil {ra036374, buchdid, cecilia}@ic.unicamp.br

Abstract. The design of Natural User Interface (NUI) technologies is still in its early stages; therefore, it does not have well-established guidelines, especially ones that consider the context of Accessibility. This increases the challenges for designers of these technologies to achieve products fulfilling their purpose. In this paper we present a research project that aims at exploring NUI devices within the Accessibility context, with the goal of proposing ways to promote a better design for NUI technologies. We present this project from an Organizational Semiotics perspective, so that the context we aim to focus on shows itself clearly during the entire design process. Our ultimate goal is to promote better NUI designs, especially for people with disabilities, supporting their autonomy and inclusion in society.

Keywords: Human-Computer Interaction, HCI, NUIs, Accessibility.

1 Introduction

Known as Natural User Interfaces (NUIs), this interface paradigm in Human-Computer Interaction (HCI) encompasses devices and technologies that, as the term "natural" implies, only require users to do what comes naturally to them, instead of having to develop technical skills to be able to interact with the interface. This, as [1] argue, can both attract users who do not feel comfortable with the traditional mouse and keyboard interfaces, and elicit new design and engineering challenges that will inspire research in several different knowledge areas. However, to become actual usable products, these ideas need to consider, from the very beginning, the context in which the new technology will be used and who its potential stakeholders are. Organizational Semiotics (OS) provides tools with the potential for this analysis of organization and context, but given the novelty of NUIs there is the additional challenge derived from considerations of Accessibility and users with disabilities. Although there are some initiatives in this direction, be it in the form of general NUI guidelines [2] or in the form of design and evaluation heuristics for NUIs [3], creating new technologies with NUI that are both useful and usable by a vast diversity of users' capacities is still a challenge.

The work described and discussed in this paper is part of a research project that aims at exploring existing NUI devices and testing both their own Accessibility (i.e., its interactability by people with disabilities) and their usage in the context of facilitating everyday actions of people with disabilities. The latter implies in either employing these devices as they are or by altering them or combining them with other devices. This project has two main goals. The first is to propose a conceptual framework for the design of NUI devices that consider the context of Accessibility. The second objective is to design and engineer new devices that not only help people with disabilities, but also that meet the requirements of Universal Design (UD). Once we achieve these goals, products may help in the design of new NUIs that encompass as many users as possible. Therefore, we aim at designing NUI-based technologies with potential of being more inclusive for people with disabilities and more interesting and useful for people without disabilities.

We believe that Organizational Semiotics (OS) can help to achieve these goals by providing a contextualized view of the problem we are dealing with. In this work we use the OS artifacts to clarify and represent our research project, showing how they allow pointing either in the direction of UD or of Assistive Technologies (AT). On one hand, UD means creating products that are usable by anyone, regardless of features such as age, culture, language or disability [4]. In Computing, there is a related term, "Universal Access", which refers to ensuring that all people have access to technology and information, and that these computing services are usable by anyone [5]. Although UD might seem very hard or even impossible to achieve, it should at least inspire designers to create better solutions [6]. Therefore, we believe UD is a design goal that should guide the design process from the very beginning of a computing project. On the other hand, AT refers to devices or computing systems created to compensate, relieve or neutralize body impairments [7]. This encompasses assisting people with disabilities in the execution of tasks and, in turn, improving their social participation and autonomy. Despite their potential benefits, ATs commonly suffer from abandonment by their users, usually because of difficulties related to adapting to the AT or in learning how to use it. To overcome these problems, it is important to involve the stakeholders in the design process, especially those closest to the users, such as family, friends, caretakers, doctors and nurses [7].

Looking at the two concepts of UD and AT it is possible to see they contrast in how they treat their target users: while UD tries to tend to as many users as possible, ATs focus on helping specific users perform specific tasks. However, they have in common the fact that they both need a deeper consideration of context and both can benefit from SO artifacts. In this paper, we will show how different uses of the artifacts can best promote either AT or UD.

The paper is organized as follows: In Section 2 we give an overview of the theory behind the OS methodology we employed. Then, in Section 3 we present the OS artifacts and the practical scenarios instantiated from them. Section 4 discusses how the different problem-solving approaches taken in each scenario reflect on the SO artifacts and, ultimately, in the final solution. Finally, Section 5 presents our concluding remarks and overview of future work.

2 Theoretical Basis

The Organizational Semiotics (OS) proposes a comprehensive study of organizations in different levels of abstraction (informal, formal and technical), and their interdependencies. For OS, organizations can themselves be information systems with norms and patterns of well-defined behaviors that regulate the internal processes within the organization. In this sense, an organization is composed of three layers [8]: informal (outer layer), formal (middle layer), and technical (inner layer). The premise behind the use of OS in information systems is understanding the situated context of the organization that the system will be inserted in, and clarifying the main forces that act on it, to propose a technical information system that makes sense for these organizations. Understanding organizational functions from the social level is essential for achieving this goal [8]. To enable a better understanding, development, management and use of information systems, a set of methods known as MEASUR (Methods for Eliciting, Analyzing and Specifying User's Requirements) was developed in the OS [9]. In this paper, we make use of some of these methods aiming at clarifying the problem and proposing solutions, which can have an impact on the design of both Universal Design and Assistive Technologies. For this, we use three artefacts, two of which are from the OS: the Stakeholders Identification Diagram (SID) and the Semiotic Framework (SF). The third one is the Evaluation Frame (EF), used to discuss problems the stakeholders may find and anticipate solutions to them [10]. We briefly describe them as follows, and in the next sections, we discuss their instantiations in our research project.

The SID [11] facilitates the identification of those involved in a particular design process. SID pays attention to different levels of involvement, interests, and expectations, allowing the visualization of stakeholders and their organizations inside five different categories: Operation, Contribution, Source, Market, and Community. In turn, the EF is intended to support reasoning about problems and solutions related to each stakeholder identified through the SID. Therefore, it favors the clarification and identification of requirements as well as the anticipation of issues that may impact/influence the solution to be designed. EF is represented in a table format where the columns contain problems and solutions, and each line references one of the five SID categories. The idea is to raise, in each of these layers, the identified problems and solutions for each group of stakeholders.

Finally, the SF [9] favors the identification and organization of requirements according to six different levels that represent different aspects of signs. The first three levels can be related to technological issues (the Physical, Empirical, and Syntactic), and the other three levels can be related to aspects of human information functions (Semantic, Pragmatic and Social World). The Physical World indicates the features and signs that can be measured by physical analysis and engineering. Empiric studies the properties of the signs. Syntactic analyzes the relationship between signs (whether formal or structural). Semantic describes the relationship between a sign and their meanings. Pragmatics studies the relationship between a sign and the behavior of the involved agents. Finally, the Social World evokes the need to understand how the rules of interactions between the groups work. The SID and EF were used to clarify the scenarios in which we experienced NUI technologies, while the SF supported the organization and specification of requirements and design decisions to be made. Therefore, these three artifacts contributed with a perception of the problem domain and its possible solutions.

3 The Instantiated Artifacts and Case Studies

Although the term Natural User Interface (NUI) has gained power after the advent of innovative devices [1] such as the Microsoft[®] Kinect [12]. NUI-based devices can be created using any kind of input modality, as long as the experience feels natural and the technology best reflects the abilities of its users [2]. This means that it is possible to create a Natural User Interface with a combination of older technologies (like mouse and keyboard) with newer ones (like gestural or touch), because the potential for naturalness is in those technologies, but not the guarantee of it. This trade-off between potential and guarantee creates excellent design and research opportunities, since the possible combinations of input and output devices for the creation of new NUIs are countless. However, it also elevates the challenges behind the task, since employing a technology that is recognizably in the NUI paradigm does not give certainty that the resulting device will actually provide a natural experience for the user. Part of the challenge also lies in understanding the NUI-based devices' potential for users and their context of use. This means taking into account different user needs, based on the characteristics of the users themselves and on where they would utilize the technology. In our research project, we look at this problem from the perspective of people with disabilities. We want to investigate how NUIs can help these users in several ways, such as in accomplishing daily tasks, gaining autonomy, being included in society and interacting with other people.

The first step to understand the problem is to look at the stakeholders of the NUI technologies and devices we aim to explore and design. This is where the SID comes in. In the inner layer, Operation, we have the users of the NUI devices, and, as we move to the outer layers, we define other stakeholders such as researchers and developers (Contribution) the users' families and friends (Source and Community), technology companies (Source and Market), Government and society (Community). In the EF, this brings out questions like "How does the device affect user's interactions and relationships with friends and family?" or "How does Government regulation adapt to the new devices?". Furthermore, although we guide our project with the principles of Universal Design [4], we are also trying to understand how to better design NUI-based devices for people with disabilities. Therefore, some of our stakeholders are specific to this audience, such as the industry of accessibility materials and associations for people with disabilities. In our EF, this leads to questions like "How do the associations for people with disabilities benefit from the devices and technologies created?", which we answer as "they have early access to prototypes and, later, can use the finished final products". Therefore, the SID and the EF give us a contextualized view of our research problem, helping us anticipate problems and solutions related to each stakeholder. To explore the artifacts even further, we have created from them three different case studies. The following subsections describe these case studies and explain how they contribute to our research problem.

95

3.1 Microsoft[®] Kinect and the Visually Impaired

In the first case study, we started from two stakeholders in our SID: "people with disabilities" from the Operation layer, and "technology companies" from the Source layer. We instantiated each as "people with visual impairments" and "Microsoft", or more specifically, its NUI device, the Kinect [12]. From there, we focused on the challenge of using the Kinect to help visually impaired people (i.e., the blind or people with low vision) in their daily tasks, such as navigation and recognizing objects, informative signs and people. The Kinect is a device composed of 3D depth sensors, an RGB camera and a microphone. Therefore, the main goal of this study case is to figure out how to translate the visual information input given by the Kinect into an output the target users can easily understand. For this, we chose 3D audio because of its capability of carrying information, such as the location of an object in relation to the user, in an indirect way. To test the applicability of this solution, we built a prototype, uniting the Kinect, bone conduction headphones and algorithms of Computer Vision (to interpret the visual input) and 3D Audio (to generate the auditory output). This prototype allowed us to conduct laboratory experiments with users and figure out technical, ergonomic and usability issues. Since until now we only have conducted experiments in controlled environments, so far we have tried to answer questions from the Operation and Contribution layers of the EF, such as "How efficient is the operation?", "How comfortable does the user feel using the device?" and "How does the user benefit from the device?". Once the experiments reach real-world tests, we will also be able to get feedback on the questions and problems presented in the other layers, like "How can friends and family help the user to configure or learn how to use the device?", taken from the Source layer. Therefore, the main contributions of this case study to our research problem are the insights into the building process of a NUI-based device, especially when the starting point is an already existing NUI technology that needs to be adapted. Additionally, we will also continue to see how the analysis we made with the SID and the EF applies in this instantiation of our research problem.

3.2 Samsung[®] Galaxy Gear and the Visually Impaired

In the second case study, we again started from two stakeholders in our SID: "people with disabilities" from the Operation layer, and "technology companies" from the Source layer. We instantiated each as "people with visual impairments" and "Samsung", or more specifically, one of its NUI devices, the first generation Galaxy Gear [13]. From there, we focused on the challenge of using this device to help visually impaired people with the task of recognizing people in their surroundings. The Galaxy Gear is a smart wristwatch (or *smartwatch*) that has an 800 MHz processor, 512MB RAM, 4GB of internal memory, 2 microphones, a speaker, Bluetooth capabilities and a 1.9 Megapixel camera on the wristband. It can also communicate with the user's smartphone to execute tasks such as answering calls and reading messages. Therefore, the main goal of this case study is to figure out whether and how a wearable device such as the smartwatch can help the visually impaired with the task of recognizing people around them. This involves not only developing Computer Vision algorithms

that are able to run on a device with limited hardware capabilities, but also figuring out the best ways to provide feedback to users in ways they can easily understand. Additionally, the feedback cannot overwhelm or embarrass the user. We have conducted experiments with users within laboratory conditions and found issues related to software, ergonomics and feedback. Therefore, similar to the first case study we have so far tried to answer questions from the Operation and Contribution layers of our EF. Once we carry on to real-world tests, we will be able to answer questions from the other layers, such as "How does the device affect interactions or relationships between the users and their families or friends?" (taken from the Source layer), or "How does the new device impact on NUI devices companies?" (taken from the Market layer). Additionally, in this case study we are again exploring a NUI technology (smartwatch) within the context of a specific group of users (the visually impaired); however, in this scenario we are not adapting the device on the hardware level so far, but on the software level. Therefore, the main contributions of this case study to our research problem are the insights into adapting, on the software level, a NUI wearable device to perform tasks it did not originally fulfill (recognizing people with the camera). Furthermore, we are also able to see how the analysis made with our SID and EF will continue to apply in a concrete instantiation of our research.

3.3 Web of Things in the Supermarket

In the third and last case study, we started from several stakeholders in our SID: "people with disabilities" and "other users" (Operation and Contribution), "technology companies" (Source), "NUI devices companies" (Market), "interested society" (Community) and "Academia" (Community). Their instantiations would be, on one hand, any person interested in receiving help with the task of selecting and finding items in a supermarket ("people with disabilities", "other users" and "interested socie-ty"); on the other hand, we have those involved in the area of the Web of Things [14] ("technology companies", "NUI devices companies" and "Academia"). Then, we focused on the challenge of using the Web of Things concepts to help any kind of customer to find and select items in a supermarket.

The Web of Things (WoT) is a research field derived from another field called Internet of Things (IoT). On one hand, the IoT is concerned with the transition of the Internet from a network of computers to a network of trillions of smart "things", such as mobile devices, home appliances and sensors. On the other hand, the WoT revolves around reusing and adapting technologies and protocols that exist in the current Web to build applications that will run in the IoT. Hence, this case study has the goal of using the network of sensors, smartphones and other "things" that may exist into the supermarket to help people in the tasks of finding and choosing products in the establishment. Additionally, the case study also encompasses providing ways to use the WoT to, direct or indirectly, make users help each other. This means providing functionalities that will allow, for instance, people without disabilities to give information that may help people with disabilities, such as product reviews and translation or transcription of information presented on the packing. Notice that this can also be useful to other types of users, such as foreigners, elderly and people who are uncertain about the quality of a product.

After coming up with the general idea of the case study, we looked at the possible technologies that could be used to create the device we are aiming at. We decided an RFID (Radio-Frequency IDentification) reader, some RFID tags and a text-to-speech software were enough for a first experiment. Despite the controlled conditions of our simulated supermarket, we discovered important issues related to the sound feedback, especially regarding the semantics and the syntactic structure of the information given to the user. More specifically, several users could not comprehend the directions to find the sections of the supermarket, and others had trouble understanding reviews of products left by other users. These issues are direct reflections of questions from our EF, such as "How efficient is the operation?" (Operation layer) and "How do users report problems?" (Contribution). Once we move on our experiments to noncontrolled environments, we will be able to answer questions from other layers, like "How do supermarkets benefit from the device?" (Market layer) and "How can academia benefit from the device?" (Community layer). Therefore, the main contributions of this case study to our research problem are the insights into creating a device that, from the start, is aimed at any user and that helps people with disabilities. Additionally, also gain perspective on how our analysis made with the SID and the EF work on this instantiation of our research problem.

4 Results and Discussion

Each of the case studies described in the previous section was informed by analysis on the same SID and EF. However, while the first two scenarios adopted the approach of starting the design from an existing NUI technology, the third one started from the problem and looked for technological solutions to it. These two different approaches (and their consequences) can be evidenced in the Semiotic Framework (Fig. 1)

If we think about the organizational onion [8], the first two case studies have taken the direction that goes from the technical layer to the informal layer, while the third case study started in the informal layer and went to the technical layer. Looking at this in the SF, the first two case studies started in the most bottom step, the Physical World, by defining the technologies they would use in their designs (Kinect or smartwatch) and moved to the top step, the Social World. In turn, the third case study went the opposite way, by defining the problem and the concern for Universal Design in the top step, and then moving down to reach the Physical World. Hence, from now on in this text we will refer to the first approach as "bottom-up" and to the second as "top-down".

If we make a more detailed analysis, we can see the impact each approach has in each level of the SF (Fig. 1). The bottom-up approach starts in the Physical World by choosing a NUI device and combining it with the necessary auxiliary technologies, such as white cane for the blind user, headphones to receive audio output and, lastly, the multichannel communication needs to be considered. In the case of the Kinect, hardware and software modifications were made to implement one of the channels: the audio. In the case of the smartwatch, only software adaptations were necessary since the device's hardware already has multichannel capabilities. Moving on to the



Fig. 1. Requirements represented in the Semiotic Framework (SF)

Empiric layer, the efficiency of the audio feedback is tested and adjusted, usually by software. Then, in the Syntactic layer, the pattern and format of the feedback are defined and possibly require more adjustments. In the Semantic step, we consider how much the audio cues are understandable to the users, and possibly make more adjustments. In the Pragmatic layer, we see how much the device as a whole is actually helping the user in the execution of a task. Finally, in the Social World step we consider issues related to embarrassment and segregation.

In contrast, the top-down approach starts by defining the problem (finding and selecting products on a supermarket) and committing to Universal Design, i.e., helping as many types of users as possible in the accomplishment of the chosen tasks. Moving to the Pragmatic layer, we think about how to provide communications between users, and how to make these communications useful for them and compatible with the proposed problem. Then, in the Semantic step, we design the input (commands) and output (feedback) messages so that they are understandable by as many users as possible. In the Syntactic layer this reflects upon the format we will choose for the messages, the types of senses (vision, tact, hearing...) we will choose to reach and which databases we will use. This also carries on to the Empiric layer, where we consider which communication channels to use and how efficient each one is. Finally, in the Physical World we actually select the devices that will be used and combine them to achieve a prototype of the solution.

Therefore, it is possible to note that, on one hand, the bottom-up approach requires software and hardware implementation from the very start, and for each step we move up on the SF, adjustments are required, which can be very costly both for designers (time and labor) and users (time). Additionally, the bottom-up approach also offers

less flexibility in terms of the technologies employed, since they are chosen very early. This also implicates that once we reach the Social World it may be very difficult to adapt the current physical apparatus to fit all. On the other hand, the top-down approach only commits to specific physical devices in the very last step, allowing designers to consider UD-related issues much earlier. This gives them freedom to select the NUI devices and technologies that best fit the requirements they came up with during the descent from the Social World to the Empiric layer. This can save both time and money, since it will be possible to compare, in the Physical World, the different options that satisfy the requirements and then select the one that costs the least. We believe that these crucial differences in the two approaches point to the contrast between designing an Assistive Technology (AT) and designing a solution that follows Universal Design (UD). While AT usually refers to a device or computing system that assists people with disabilities [7]. UD defends the creation of products that are usable by the greatest possible extend of categories of users [4]. Hence, the SF indicates that, in the context of designing new NUI-based devices with a special attention to users with disabilities, the bottom-up approach may lead to an Assistive Technology that will most likely to address a specific category of user. In contrast, the topdown approach seems to promote Universal Design solutions. It is important to note, however, that within an iterative design process, it is possible to adapt the designs so they can address a wider variety of users, but this adaptation seems to be much more difficult if we are adopting the bottom-up approach.

5 Conclusions and Future Work

In this paper, we used the lens of Organizational Semiotics on a research project that aims at exploring the existing NUI-based devices in the context of Accessibility, either by testing their potential as assistive technology or by investigating how they can allow everyday actions of people with disabilities and others as well. The ultimate goals of this project are creating new NUI-based devices and proposing guidelines or conceptual frameworks for designing these devices in the future. The results of this study showed the usefulness of the Stakeholders Diagram and the Evaluation Frame to guide the creation of three different case studies scenarios and, in return, how the discoveries made in each case study reflected differently in the artifacts. In addition, we observed that the different directions of designing the scenarios reflected in the organization of requirements in the Semiotic Ladder. Finally, we observed evidence that starting a design from the top or from the bottom steps of the Semiotic Framework can have a huge impact on the way the resulting technology will address the user, either leading to an assistive technology or a solution for all, aligned to the principles of Universal Design.

We believe this evidence illustrates the contribution of Organizational Semiotics artifacts towards a design for all, especially in the context of using NUI state of the art devices. Hence, our future work includes proceeding with further iterations of each case study scenario to understand other semiotic aspects of those technologies in their real world usage. Acknowledgments. We would like to thank the support of the Institute of Computing at the State University of Campinas, of the *Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior* – CAPES (process #01-P-04554/2013), and of the *Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico* – CNPq (process #142113/2013-1).

References

- O'Hara, K., Harper, R., Mentis, H., Sellen, A., Taylor, A.: On the Naturalness of Touchless: Putting the "Interaction" Back into NUI. ACM Trans. Comput. Interact. 20, 1–25 (2013)
- 2. Wigdor, D., Wixon, D.: Brave NUI World: Designing Natural User Interfaces for Touch and Gesture (2011)
- Maike, V.R.M.L., de Sousa Britto Neto, L., Baranauskas, M.C.C., Goldenstein, S.K.: Seeing through the Kinect: A Survey on Heuristics for Building Natural User Interfaces Environments. In: Stephanidis, C., Antona, M. (eds.) UAHCI 2014, Part I. LNCS, vol. 8513, pp. 407–418. Springer, Heidelberg (2014)
- 4. Welch, P.: What is Universal Design? Strategies for Teaching Universal Design, pp. 1–4. Adaptive Environments Center (1995)
- 5. Shneiderman, B.: Universal usability. Commun. ACM 43, 84-91 (2000)
- Almeida, L.D.A., Baranauskas, M.C.C.: Universal Design Principles Combined with Web Accessibility Guidelines: A Case Study. IHC 2010 - IX Simpósio de Fatores Humanos em Sistemas Computacionais. pp. 5–8. Belo Horizonte, MG, Brazil (2010)
- Gómez, J., Montoro, G., Haya, P.A., Alamán, X., Alves, S., Martínez, M.: Adaptive manuals as assistive technology to support and train people with acquired brain injury in their daily life activities. Pers. Ubiquitous Comput. 17, 1117–1126 (2013)
- 8. Liu, K.: Semiotics in Information Systems Engineering. Cambridge University Press (2000)
- 9. Stamper, R.K.: Information in business and administrative systems. John Wiley and Sons (1973)
- Baranauskas, M.C.C., Schimiguel, J., Simoni, C.A.C., Medeiros, C.B.: Guiding the Process of Requirements Elicitation with a Semiotic Approach – A Case Study. In: 11th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction, HCII 2005, pp. 100–110 (2005)
- 11. Liu, X.: Employing MEASUR Methods for Business Process Reengineering in China (2001)
- Microsoft: Kinect for Windows, http://www.microsoft.com/en-us/kinectforwindows/
- 13. Samsung Electronics America: Samsung Galaxy Gear, http://www.samsung.com/us/mobile/wearable-tech/SM-V7000ZKAXAR
- Zeng, D., Guo, S., Cheng, Z.: The Web of Things: A Survey (Invited Paper). J. Commun. 6, 424–438 (2011)

An Evolution Method of Service View Products Supported Dynamic Integration of Information Resources

Shu Zhen, Luo Aimin, and Luo Xueshan

Science and Technology on Information Systems Engineering Laboratory, National University of Defense Technology, Changsha, Hunan, P.R. China, 410073 sz_1226@sina.com, {amluo,xsluo}@nudt.edu.cn

Abstract. The original information system architecture Framework provides an integration mechanism of information system resources to support a specific operational mission, but it is difficult to describe and analyze the dynamic integration process of the information system resources to support the dynamic adjustment of operational mission in the future complex, changeable environment. This paper presents the modeling approach of the service view product, and focus on the evolution method of service view products to support the dynamic integration process of the information system resources.

Keywords: Architecture, Operational activity Service View, System Resource, Evolution, Dynamic Integration.

1 Introduction

Information system architecture is defined as the structure of components consisting of its system, relationships, and the disciplines and guidelines governing their design and evolution over time [1-3]. It has great importance on the information system design, development, operation and evolution. Architecture is one of the key technologies to guide the information system integration. At present, much research on information system architecture is generally conducted based on the research of DoDAF. The original information system architecture Framework (C4ISRAF, DoDAF, i.e.) is based on many views, such as "Operational View, System View, Technical View," etc. through the mapping between operational activities and system functions, provides an integration mechanism of information system resources to support a specific operational mission, while it is difficult to describe and analyze the dynamic integration process of information system resources to support the dynamic adjustment of operational mission in the future complex, changeable environment. Although DoDAF2.0, NATOAFv3.0, MoDAF1.2 and other latest architecture frameworks including the description of service view[4-6], they just only describe the definition, role and content of the service view products without analyzing the internal logical relationship between operational view, system view and service view, so that it is difficult to guide modeling and analyzing application of the service view products. Therefore, using the SOA and service-oriented thinking[7-8], this paper extends the

original information system architecture framework with increasing the service view products description in order to achieve the separation between the operational activities and the system resources. Then under the service view framework, this paper presents the modeling method of the service view products, and focus on the evolution method of service view products to support the dynamic integration process of the information system resources.

This paper is organized as follows. In section 2, we present a service view description framework of information system architecture. Section 3 discusses modeling methods of the service view products within information system architecture. In section 4, we propose an evolution method of service view products within information system architecture. Section 5 concludes the paper by noting the future works.

2 Service View Description Framework of Information System Architecture

2.1 The Original Information System Architecture Framework and Data Elements Relationship

The original information system architecture framework mainly described the system from three perspectives: the operational requirement and application, system design and technical constraints, namely Operational View, System View and Technical View^[1-3]. In particular, operational view describes the operational mission decomposition, operational activity model, operational process model, the rules of operational activities execution and information exchange etc. which is contributed to complete the operational mission. Through the traceability relationship between operational activities and system functions, it can determine the relationships of systems, system functions, system communication and data transmission to support to complete operational activities, and provides an integration mechanism of information system resources. The structure and data elements of the original information system framework are shown in figure 1.



Fig. 1. The structure and data elements of the original information system architecture

2.2 The Reason of Introducing Service View

Under the guidance of the original information system architecture, to complete the system mission and realize the dynamic integration of system resources, the data elements of operational view and system view has following relation: the operational mission can be described by operational nodes which decomposed from operational task, operational activities and the relation between operational activities. The operational activities execution process need to produce and consume operational information, and operational nodes use system resources, operational activities are automated by system functions, system data exchange is fulfilled by operational information exchange between operational activities. Specifically, it is shown in the figure 2.



Fig. 2. Operational activity process oriented system resource integration

However there are many problems located in this system resource integration mechanism to complete operational activities process: firstly, system resources integration is difficult, such as the system A and B located in figure 2, may be developed by different developers using different platforms, different language and different technical implementation. Although the design of architecture describes the interface and data exchange standard of two systems in order to support the operational activities process, the workload of system integration is still relatively large. Secondly, under the condition of operational requirement change, the operational activities process may also change, system resources maybe quit or fail, and a new system resource need to be added the operational activities execution process. These changes need system resources described in system view adjust their structural connection according to the change of operational requirement and the state of system resources, in order to adapt to the change of the operational activities process makes it is difficult to support the system resources structural connection rapidly change.

Cope with the above demand, using the SOA and service-oriented thinking, this paper brings forward a service view, between operation view and system view, to describe services, manage services and the interaction process between services from the perspective of service-oriented. The services can support the exchange of information between operational activities through XML data of standard SOAP protocol.

2.3 A Service View Description Framework of Information System Architecture

Service view acted as the intermediate layer between operation view and system view. On the one hand, it can abstract and package the distributed, heterogeneous and interconnection system resources of system view, on the other hand, it also need to support and adapt to the change of operational activities process in operational view. Therefore, the data elements described in service view include the description of service itself, such as service structure, service interface, service behavior, service property, etc. and the relationship between services, such as service connection structure, service interaction rules, service level, etc. Therefore the service view description framework can be divided into: the description of service itself, the description of relationship between services and the description of the relationship between services and the relation between services and other architectural elements, as shown in the figure 3.



Fig. 3. The service view description framework of information system architecture

In order to avoid confused with the product name of systems View (SV), the name of Service View taken from the Service Oriented View, referred to as SOV.

3 The Modeling and Description Method of Service View Products within Information System Architecture

3.1 The Modeling and Description Method of Each Service View Product

(1) Service Description (SOV-1)

This product is the foundation of the description of other service view products. This product mainly realizes the package and description of a single system resources, namely the description of member service. Member Services(MS) can be represented by the following nine-tuple:

MS = (ID, Name, Description, Operation, Provider, Input, Output, Capability, QoS)

Among them, *ID* represent service identification, *Name* represent service name, *Description* represent the description of service function or the supported operational

activity, *Operation* represent the operation provided by service, Provider represent the service provider's information, *Input* and *Output* respectively represent the input and output parameters of the service, *Capability* represent the service ability, *QoS* represent the service quality attributes.

(2) Service Taxonomy (SOV-2)

This product is mainly responsible for the classification and management of numerous member services involved in the information system, including hierarchical relationships, combination relations, derived relations and classification relations of member services. For this product, we can use the concept of the Service Group, to distinguish services from the similarity of service function. Service Group (SG) can be represented by the following seven-tuple:

SG = (*ID*, *Name*, *Description*, *Operation*, *Input*, *Output*, *Capability*)

The meaning of each element in this tuple is similar to the element in MS. Each service in the SG is corresponding to one member service. Any service in the same SG has the same function and interface, but the service provider's information and QoS are different.

(3) Service interaction process model (SOV-3)

This product is mainly used to describe the dynamic interaction between services, to support to complete operational activities process. We can use object-oriented Petri net to model this product^[11]. Using the advantage of expression ability based on object-oriented Petri net, we can solve the defects of enough semantic expression based on ordinary Petri net. We can use the object of object-oriented Petri net to describe the sub-processes, and use the object Petri net hierarchical description mechanism reduces the complexity of modeling service interaction process, and can establish a mapping between service node and service group through elements of object-oriented Petri net, such as token, action function and predicate transfer function, etc. in order to solve the path selection of uncertainty activity and system resources dynamic change problem in the execution process of service interaction, to meet the needs of service interaction process model description.

(4) Mapping between service and operational activity (SOV-4)

This product is mainly used to describe the traceability relationships between operational view and service view in system architecture design, to ensure the accessibility between operational activities and services supported operational activities. It is a many-to-many relationship between services and operational activities. The traceability matrix can be used to describe this product. Traceability matrix can be represented by the following six tuple:

SerToAct = (*ID*, RelDescription, SerID, SerName, ActID, ActName)

Among them, *ID* represent mapping relation identification, Re*lDescription* represent mapping relationship description content, *SerID* and *SerName* respectively represent service identification and service name, *ActID* and *ActName* represent activity identification and activity name.

(5) Mapping between service and system resource (SOV-5)

This product describes the traceability relationships between services and system resources, to ensure services can be implemented and deployed by the specific system resources. It is a many-to-many relationship between services and system resources. The traceability matrix can also be used to describe this product. Traceability matrix can be represented by the following six tuple:

SerToSys = (*ID*, Re*lDescription*, *SerID*, *SerName*, *SysID*, *SysName*)

The meaning of each element in this tuple is similar to the element in SerToAct .

3.2 The Relationship between Service View Products

According to the above analysis of description and modeling method of service view products, the logical relationship between service view products is shown as figure 4.



Fig. 4. The relationship between service view products

Among them, SOV-1 implement system resources packaged modeling and description, and set the detailed description of member service. With using the concept of service group, SOV-2 can realize classification management of member services described in SOV-1. Mapping relationship between services and operational activities (SOV-4) and mapping relationship between services and system resources (SOV-5) determine the traceability mapping relationship among service view, operational view and system view, and with other products of service view can realize the separation between system resources and operational activities.

4 Evolution Process of Service View Products within Information System Architecture

In current complex, changeable environment, operational mission and state of system resources are easy to change, which requires decision makers adjust operational activities process and system resources timely according to the actual situation[10]. Because the heterogeneity of information system resources, it is difficult to adjust system resources to

adapt to the adjustment of operational activities process. Therefore, in the information system architecture design level, describing and analyzing the possible evolution requirements of system execution process is convenient to guide information system executing to adapt to the change of information system construction demand in the future.

4.1 Evolution Demand of Information System Architecture

(1) system resource failure

As in figure 5, through the analysis of the operational mission requirements, operational activities process model is established, including operational activity A, B, C and the information exchange among them. According to the mapping relationship between operational activities and system resources, operational activity A, B, C respectively supported by system resource 1, 2, 3, the demand of information exchange among operational activities determines connection relationship among system 1, 2, 3.



Fig. 5. Evolution demand of information system architecture

Assumes that system 2 suddenly becomes invalid, it is difficult to support to complete operational activity B. Then you need to use a system 2' which has the same function as system 2 to replace system 2, to enable the operational activities process to continue. Owing to the heterogeneity between the system resources, system 2 and system 2' may be developed by different manufacturers, used different techniques to realize, which cause their interfaces are different and difficult to establish communication connection between system 2' and system 1(system 3), thus leading to the failure of the operational activity execution process, affecting the completion of operational mission.

(2) Operational activities process adjustment

Using the above example shown in figure 5, assume it is need to increase new operational activity D, at the same time the logic relations between activity D and original activity A, B, C, such as exchange of information and sequential process, are set up. In order to satisfy the adjustment of operational activities process, it need to increase system 4 in system resources, and need to increase information exchange relations between system 4 and original system 1, 2', 3 according to information exchange relations of operational activity D. Also, owing to the heterogeneity between the system resources, it is difficult to establish communication connection between system 4 and original systems in order to support or adapt to the adjustment of operational activities process quickly.

4.2 The Analysis of Service View Products Evolution Process

Service view acted as the intermediate layer between operational view and system view can effectively realize the separation between operational activities and system resources, and do not need specify a specific service in the service interaction process model, in order to effectively adapt to the evolution requirement of system resources failure and adjustment of operational activities process.

(1) The evolution process of service view products under system resource failure

In service view, the execution resource in service interaction process model(SOV-3) choose service group, not specify the specific member service instance. Therefore we can use service group to deal with the failure situation of system resources. Service view products evolution process is shown in figure 6, assume that the failure system resource is the specific member service instance chosen in service interaction process model.

Step 1: Collect and manage member services information using service group, and learn member service status and function change through perception context and environment monitoring.

Step 2: When the service group learn the member service served as execution resource in the service interaction process model is difficult to meet the needs of the service interaction process execution, Service group reselect another member service served as the new execution resource in the service interaction process model, which does not affect the execution of service interaction process and does not need to adjust operational activity process.

Step 3: When all member services in service group are difficult to meet the functional requirements of service interaction process execution, we can choose other backup service group registered in SOV-2, and choose the suitable member service instance meeting the requirement of service interaction process execution through backup service group. If not find alternative service group, then turn to the fourth step.

Step 4: Reselect redundant service interaction process model registered in SOV-3, and need to pay attention to ensure the mapping effectiveness between service node and service group.

Step 5: If there still exist service group failure mapped by service node in redundant service interaction process model, it need to perform evolution operation on service interaction process model by architecture designers.



Fig. 6. The evolution process of service view products

(2) The evolution process of service view products under operational activities process adjustment

As operational activities execution process is supported by the service interaction process, it is need to analyze and adjust the service evolution process to deal with operational activities process adjustment.

Step 1: In the view of future uncertain operational activities process, we design the redundant service interaction process in SOV-3. If the redundant service interaction process model can satisfy the operational activities adjustment, the evolution process is over, otherwise turn to the second step.

Step 2:, According to the adjustment of operational activity process, architecture designers perform evolution operation on original service interaction process model to ensure the new model can support and adapt to the adjustment of operational activities process.

Note that, the above two evolution processes are likely to be involved in the evolution of service interaction process model. The evolution refers to adjust the service interaction process according to the adjustment of operational activity process, to support or adapt to operational activities after the adjustment process. From 3.1, we know service interaction process model is described by object-orient Petri net model, therefore the evolution of the service interaction process model can be converted into the operation of increase, delete, replace in object-orient Petri net model, at the same time also need to ensure the structure correctness and service resource effectiveness of service interaction process model after revolution. Due to the limitation of space, the specific algorithm is not introduced, and it can be found in [11].

5 Conclusions

This paper presents the modeling and analyzing of the service view within the information system architecture using service-oriented thinking and research on SOA, in order to describe and analysis the system resources dynamic integration and evolution demand of information system in the future complex, changeable environment. Our contributions make a base ground for the future research of information system architecture designing and analyzing. Future work will be perfect service view description framework of information system architecture and develop modeling tool based on this theory.

References

- 1. C4ISR Architecture Working Group. C4ISR Architecture Framework Version2.0. Department of Defense, U.S (1997)
- DoD Architecture Framework Working Group. DoD Architecture FrameworkVersion 1.0 Volume I: Definitions and Guidelines. Department of Defense, U.S (2003)
- 3. DoD Architecture Framework Working Group, DoD Architecture FrameworkVersion 1.5 Volume I: Definitions and Guidelines". Department of Defense, U.S (2007)
- 4. DoD Architecture Framework Working Group. DoD Architecture Framework Version 2.0: Architect's Guide-Architectural Data and Models. Department of Defense, U.S (2009)
- The MODAF Development Team. The MOD Architecture Framework Version1.2, The UK: Ministry of Defense, http://www.modaf.org.uk (September 22, 2008)
- 6. The NATO C3 Board, The NATO Architecture Framework Version 3.0, North Atlantic Treaty Organization (November 2007),

http://www.nhqc3s.nato.int/Browser.asp?Target=_docs/NAF_v3

- Chen, H.-M.: Towards Service Engineering: Service Orientation and Business-IT Alignment. In: Proc. IEEE Hawaii Int'l Conf. System Science (2008)
- Software as a Service (SaaS): An Enterprise Perspective, Microsoft Corp. (2010), http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/aa905332.aspx
- Merski, N.J.: Tailored Systems Architecture For Design of SpaceScience and Technology Missions Using DoDAF2.0. Wright-Patterson AirForce Base, Ohio Department of The Air Force Air University (2010)
- 10. Business Alignment and Agility, Hewlett Packard, video, http://h30423.www3.hp.com/?fr_story=0e4d9cdbd23432b8a860c6c9 dc456458debf36b3 (2010)
- Shu, Z., Chen, H., Luo, X.: Research on Military Information Service Composition and Validation Method Based on Object Petri Net. Journal of Systems Engineering and Electronics 33(7), 1558–1564 (2011)

The Adoption of Smartphones Among Older Adults in China

Shang Gao¹, Yuhao Yang², and John Krogstie¹

¹Department of Computer and Information Science, Norwegian University of Science and Technology ²School of Business Administration, Zhongnan University of Economics and Law, Wuhan, China {Shanggao,krogstie}@idi.ntnu.no, vincentyoo@foxmail.com

Abstract. This research aims to investigate the adoption of smartphones with older adults in China. Based on the literature review from previous research, a research model with eight research hypotheses is developed by extending UTAUT with a consideration of observability and compatibility from IDT, and perceived enjoyment and price value. This research model is empirically examined using survey data from a sample of 121 older adults in China. Five research hypotheses were positively significant supported, while three research hypotheses were rejected in this study. The results suggest that social influence, observability, compatibility, performance expectancy and perceived enjoyment, are important determinants for the use and adoption of smartphones with older adults in China.

Keywords: Adoption of smartphones, UTAUT, older adults.

1 Introduction

Today, smartphones become increasingly important in people's daily life. A smart phone is a mobile phone with more advanced computing capability and connectivity than basic feature phones. It allows users to make video calls, download and transfer files, and use internet-based applications. Smartphones have the potential to enhance the quality of people's life [5, 6]. For instance, people can get immediate access to information on a variety of topics through their smartphones. People get opportunities for entertainment in the form of games, movies, books through their smartphones. Moreover, smartphones can facilitate communication among family, friends and colleagues via social networking tools, emails, etc.

Most countries in the world are experiencing an increase in the average age of their population. The ageing of the population is one of the major challenges most countries have to face over the next few decades [12]. Older adults face challenges when they are using smartphones. A gap seems to exist in the adoption and use of smartphones by older adults. Some typical issues that impact their use of smartphones are as follows, lack of skills, too expensive phones, security and privacy concerns.

Given all the potential benefits smartphones can bring to the daily life of older adults, there is still an urgent need to examine the means to enable older adults to use smartphones. This research intends to bridge the research gap in the adoption of smartphones among older adults in China. The objective of this research is to examine the adoption and usage of smartphones with older adults in China. We attempt to investigate how various factors impact older adults' intention to use smartphones in China by a research model based on previous technology diffusion theories. The term older adult has been defined in a variety of ways in different articles, which ranges from over 40 to over 75. The distinction of "older" depends upon the specific context under consideration. Most people over 60 lack the essential skills to perform user survey and computer literacy to use smartphones because their education was interrupted during the Cultural Revolution in China. If we defined the older adult as people over 60, it would be extremely difficult to collect survey data for this research. Therefore, we defined older adult as people over the age of 45 in this study.

The rest of this paper is organized as follows: Section 2 discusses the theoretical background of this study. The research model and hypotheses are presented in Section 3. The research method and results are described in Section 4. This is followed by a discussion of the findings in Section 5. Section 6 concludes this research.

2 Background

2.1 Benefits of Use of Smartphones for Older Adults

Older adults can benefit from the use of smartphones in a number of ways. Mobile services available on smartphones may help older adults enhance communication with their families and friends, enrich their personal interests, and check various healthcare related information. Further, to address the problems raised by ageing population, many countries started Smart Cities project to fulfill older adults' needs across areas such as housing, social participations health care, and community support services, leisure, to make the city environment more elderly friendly. Smartphones can provide personalized health care, social services for older adults. Although there are many mobile services available on smartphones, many older adults are less aware of those services. This could be a potential reason why older adults do not use smartphones.

2.2 Digital Divide

Scholarly research on the digital divide has a long history back to the 1990s. Most researchers in Information Systems in the last two decades focus on Internet penetration through the lens of technology diffusion theory (e.g., TAM [4], IDT [14], UTAUT [18]). The digital divide refers to the gap between those who do and those who do not have access to new forms of information technology [16]. Research on digital divide often starts by looking at users' access to new technologies. The types of access can be defined as 'physical access' and 'beyond access'. An increasing number of researchers suggested to study 'beyond access' with additional attention to social, psychological and cultural background. For example, Van Dijk [16] found a shifted research attention on digital divide from physical access to skills and usage.

Along with the popularity of computers and digital technologies, the digital divide in terms of physical access seems to be reduced in most developed countries.

The uneven spread of the mobile applications on smartphones has contributed to the popularity of the concept of the 'digital divide' associated with smartphones. It highlights the emerging social gap between those individuals who use mobile applications on smartphones and those who do not. It is believed that the major gap is based on socio-demographic dimensions (e.g., age, region, income, educational background). To reduce digital inequalities, we must understand the reasons for non-users' resistance to the use of smartphones. Investigating this digital inequality is of help to understand the diffusion of smartphones with different ageing populations.

2.3 The Adoption of Smartphones with Older Adults

Research work has been carried out by researchers in studying various aspects related to the adoption of smartphones [7]. In [3], Chen, et al. combined TAM and innovation diffusion theory (IDT) to study and explain the adoption of smartphones in logistics. Self-efficacy was a strong predictor of behavioral intention through attitude. Based on a study on the performance of mobile applications, Huang et al. [8] indicated that smartphones could become a suitable substitute of traditional computer. But, the performance of the applications on smartphones is poorly understood.

Although significant effort has been done to explore the adoption of smartphones, the research on the adoption of smartphones with older adults is still in its infancy. The samples used in previous research on the adoption of smartphones are relatively young. Concerning the research on the adoption of new technologies by older adults, most previous research [20] tends to focus on the use intention and adoption of computers and Internet by older adults. Lee et al. [10] examined older computer users' constraints at various age stages. An examination of the current literature reveals that few studies have addressed the use and adoption of smartphones by older adults. Pheeraphuttharangkoon [13] investigated the adoption and use of smartphones with older adults in the UK. However, the sample size with people over 50 years old is quite small in their study.

To our best knowledge, we have not found any studies addressing the adoption of smartphones with older adults in China. The digital divide along the age dimension has become a major concern in China. In developed countries, Internet penetration is saturated and average education level is high, it is easier for users to use smartphones. However, the average education level is lower, especially for older adults in China. According to the annual report 2013 from China Internet Network Information Center, the percentage of smartphone users aged above 45 is significantly lower than the younger generation. Therefore, it is worth to carry out this research to better understand older adults' behavior intention to use smartphones in China.

3 Research Model and Hypotheses

A research model that identifies important factors that impact older adults' intention to use smartphones was developed in this research. The proposed research model (see Figure 1) is an extension of UTAUT [18], with a consideration of observability and

compatibility from IDT [14], and perceived enjoyment [15] [17] and price value [19] from other technology diffusion theories. We have developed eight research hypotheses based on the research model. Each hypothesis as labeled in Figure 1 is elaborated below.

Hypotheses developed from UTAUT

Four key factors from UTAUT, Social Influence, Facilitating Conditions, Performance Expectancy and Effort Expectancy, were included in our research model. Social Influence is the extent to which consumers perceive that important others (e.g., family and friends) believe they should use a particular technology. Previous research also indicated that social influence is important for the adoption of smartphones [21]. Facilitating Conditions refer to consumers' perceptions of the resources and support available to perform a behavior. Users need to have digital skills to use smartphones. Performance Expectancy is defined as the degree to which using a technology will provide benefits to consumers in performing certain activities. Smartphones are able to provide potential benefits (e.g., always connected, healthcare information) for users. Once users have recognized these benefits, they are likely to use and adopt smartphones. Effort Expectancy is the degree of ease associated with consumers' use of technology. Learning a new technology often takes time and effort, particularly with older adults. If using smartphones is considered as an easy and straightforward process, users are likely to adopt smartphones. Thus, we proposed the following four hypotheses.

H1: Social Influence (SI) has a positive influence on older adults' intention to use smartphones.

H2: Facilitating Conditions (FC) has a positive influence on older adults' intention to use smartphones.

H3: Performance Expectancy (PE) has a positive influence on older adults' intention to use smartphones.

H4: Effort Expectancy (EE) has a positive influence on older adults' intention to use smartphones.

Hypotheses developed from IDT

Rogers [14] indicated that innovation that are perceived by individuals as having greater relative advantage, compatibility, trialability, and observability, and less complexity will be adopted more rapidly than other innovation. To further understand older adults' intention to use smartphones, two factors from IDT were included into our research model. As for the case of smartphones, *Observability* can be defined as the degree to which smartphones are visible to potential users. *Compatibility* can be seen as users' belief in the consistency of using smartphones with the way they live and work. Previous research also demonstrated that the importance of Observability and Compatibility to the adoption of new technologies (e.g., e-banking [9]). Therefore, the following two hypotheses were proposed.

H5: Observability (OBS) has a positive influence on older adults' intention to use smartphones.

H6: Compatibility (COM) has a positive influence on older adults' intention to use smartphones.



Fig. 1. Research Model

Perceived Enjoyment and Price Value

Perceived Enjoyment is defined as the extent to which the activity of using a specific system is perceived to be enjoyable in its own right, aside from any performance consequences resulting from system use [15] [17]. Users can have fun when they are playing games, and playing music on smartphones.

Price value is another significant factor affects users' adoption of a new technology. *Price value* can be defined as consumers' cognitive tradeoff between the perceived benefit of the applications and the monetary cost for using them [19]. It is believed that users are likely to adopt smartphones when the benefits of using smartphones are perceived to be greater than the monetary cost of smartphones. Hence, we proposed the following hypotheses.

H7: Perceived Enjoyment (PEJ) has a positive influence on older adults' intention to use smartphones.

H8: Price Value (PV) has a positive influence on older adults' intention to use smartphones.

4 An Empirical Study with the Research Model

To understand older adults' use and adoption of smartphones in China, the proposed research model and hypotheses were empirically tested using the structural equation modeling approach.

4.1 Instrument Development

The validated instrument measures from previous research were used as the foundation to create the instrument for this study. In order to ensure that the instrument better fit this empirical study, some minor words changes were made to ensure easy interpretation and comprehension of the questions. For instance, wording was modified to fit the context of use of smartphones in China. A questionnaire was developed first in English and then translated into Chinese. Back-translation was conducted by bilingual third party to improve the translation accuracy. As a result, the measurement questionnaire consisted of 25 items¹. A seven point Likert scale was used to examine participants' responses to all items in this part.

4.2 Samples

The data for this study were collected through self-administered questionnaires in the central part of China. The survey was distributed in terms of paper-based questionnaires individually from Aug 20th 2014 to Sep 30th, 2014. 132 completed questionnaires were collected, among which 121 of them were valid questionnaires (i.e., valid respondent rate 91.7%). Among the participants, 72 of the participants were male, and 49 were female. Moreover, 79.3% of participants had full-time jobs, 10.8% of participates had part-time jobs, 9.8% of participants had retired. Further, the top three most used featured on smartphones for the participants were: making phone calls, text messaging, and instant messaging feature (e.g., QQ, Wechat).

Construct	Item	Factor	Composite	AVE	Cronbach's
		Loading	Reliability		Alpha
SI	SI1	0.835	0.91	0.77	0.85
	SI2	0.947			
	SI3	0.840			
FC	FC1	0.864	0.91	0.71	0.87
	FC2	0.790			
	FC4	0.887			
	FC4	0.835			
PE	PE1	0.860	0.90	0.75	0.83
	PE2	0.929			
	PE3	0.804			
EE	EE1	0.941	0.95	0.87	0.93
	EE2	0.941			
	EE3	0.917			
OBS	OBS1	0.939	0.94	0.89	0.87
	OBS2	0.946			
COM	COM1	0.941	0.95	0.87	0.92
	COM2	0.948			
	COM3	0.905			
PEJ	PEJ1	0.937	0.94	0.89	0.87
	PEJ2	0.947			
PV	PV1	0.827	0.93	0.82	0.89
	PV2	0.945			
	PV3	0.936			
IU	IU1	0.952	0.95	0.91	0.91
	IU2	0.960			

Table 1. Factor loadings, composite reliability, and AVE for each construct

¹ The survey items are available at this link:

http://www.idi.ntnu.no/~shanggao/oldadults.html

4.3 Measurement Model

The quality of the measurement model is determined by (1). Content validity, (2). Construct reliability and (3). Discriminant validity [1]. To ensure the content validity of our constructs, a pre-test of the questionnaire with a small group of respondents was conducted before the survey was distributed. To further test the reliability and validity of each construct in the research model, the Internal Consistency of Reliability (ICR) of each construct was tested with Cronbach's Alpha coefficient. As a result, the Cronbach's Alpha values range from 0.83 to 0.93. A score of 0.7 is marked as an acceptable reliability coefficient for Cronbach's Alpha. All the constructs were above 0.70.

Convergent validity was assessed through composite reliability (CR) and the average variance extracted (AVE). Bagozzi and Yi [2] proposed the following three measurement criteria: factor loadings for all items should exceed 0.5, the CR should exceed 0.7, and the AVE of each construct should exceed 0.5. As shown in Table 1, all constructs were in acceptable ranges.

The measurements of discriminant validity were presented in Table 2. According to the results, the variances extracted by the constructs were more than the squared correlations among variables. The fact revealed that constructs were empirically distinct. As good results for convergent validity and discriminant validity were achieved, the test result of the measurement model was good.

Variables	SI	FC	PE	EE	Obs	Com	PEJ	PV	IU
SI	0.88								
FC	0.66	0.84							
PE	0.51	0.47	0.87						
EE	0.43	0.43	0.38	0.93					
Obs	0.19	0.29	0.15	0.28	0.94				
Com	0.73	0.52	0.59	0.50	0.15	0.93			
PEJ	0.60	0.47	0.49	0.46	0.37	0.63	0.94		
PV	0.57	0.37	0.34	0.33	0.17	0.44	0.47	0.90	
IU	0.64	0.52	0.60	0.41	0.42	0.69	0.82	0.42	0.96

Table 2. Discriminant Validity

Note: Diagonals represent the average variance extracted, while the other matrix entries represent the squared correlations.

4.4 Structural Model and Hypotheses Testing

The structural model was tested using Amos 20.0. The results of the structural model are shown in Figure 2. The R^2 (R square) in Figure 2 denotes to coefficient of determination. It provides a measure of how well future outcomes are likely to be predicted by the model, the amount of variability of a given construct. In our analysis, the R^2 coefficient of determination is a statistical measure of how well the regression coefficients approximate the real data point. According to the result, 77% of the variance of behavior intention can be explained by the research model.

The standardized path coefficients between constructs are presented, while the dotted lines stand for the non-significant paths. Table 3 presents the path coefficients, which

are standardized regression coefficients. As a result, five (H1, H3, H5, H6, H7) of the proposed eight hypotheses were supported. The positive effects of perceived enjoyment on intention to use was quite strong, as indicated by the path coefficient of 0.85 (p<0.05). The other path coefficients of compatibility, observability, social influence, and performance expectation, to intention to use were statistically positively significant at p<0.05. But, there was no significant positive impact of facilitating conditions, effort expectancy, and price value on the intention to use smartphones with older adults. Therefore, H2, H4, and H8 were rejected.



Fig. 1. Results of structural modeling analysis

Hypothesis	Path	Hypothesis
	Coefficient	Result
H1	0.10*	Supported
H2	0.01	Rejected
H3	0.25***	Supported
H4	-0.14	Rejected
Н5	0.26***	Supported
H6	0.33***	Supported
H7	0.85***	Supported
H8	-0.05	Rejected

Table 3. Test of hypotheses based on path coefficient

*p<0.05; **p<0.01; *** p<0.001

5 Discussion

In this research, we studied the adoption of smartphones with older adults in China. The most important determinant for users' intention to use smartphones was perceived enjoyment. If using smartphones is fun, older adults are more likely to accept smartphones. Further, social influence was proved to be important for the use and adoption of smartphones with older adults. It means that the opinions of friends and family have a positive impact on older adults' intention to use smartphones.

Performance expectancy had a significant positive impact on older adults' intention to use smartphones, while effort expectancy did not have a strong positive influence on older adults' intention to use smartphones. It seemed that older adults did not use smartphones just because it was easy to use, but rather because they found it useful for their work and life. Therefore, smartphones providers need to develop better solutions to make smartphones more useful. This also implied that content providers of apps on smartphones have to pay more attention to the usefulness of the content available on smartphones for older adults.

There was no significant positive impact of facilitating conditions on the intention to use smartphones with older adults. One possible reason was that facilitating conditions might be considered as a limiting factor when the needed facilitating conditions are not perceived by older adults. Therefore, the presence of the facilitating conditions did not motivate older adults to use smartphones. Another interesting finding was that price value had no significant positive impact on the intention to use smartphones with older adults. Since smartphones become inexpensive (e.g., the cheapest model from MI costs 100 USD) in China, most participants in this study can afford smartphones. It seems that they tend to focus on the factor (e.g., perceived enjoyments, performance expectancy) when using smartphones. Therefore, price value of smartphones becomes unimportant when it comes to the adoption of smartphones with older adults in China.

However, we were also aware of some limitations. Firstly, we only tested the research model and research hypotheses with older adults from five provinces in the central part of China. This sample might not be fully representative of the entire older adults in China. Secondly, all the data were collected using self-reported scales in the research. This may lead to some caution because common method variance may account for some of the results that has been cited as one of the stronger criticisms of tests of theories with TAM and TAM-extended research [11]. However, our data analysis with convergent and discriminant validity does not support the presence of a strong common methods factor. Last but not least, the findings of this study may be limited due to the relatively small sample size.

6 Conclusion and Future Research

This research was designed to study the adoption of smartphones with older adults in China. To the best of our knowledge, we have not found any studies concerned with older adults' intention to use smartphones in China. This study investigated older adults' adoption of smartphones by extending UTAUT with a consideration of observability and compatibility from IDT, and perceived enjoyment and price value. A research model with eight research hypotheses was proposed in the study. Five research hypotheses were positively significantly supported, while three research hypotheses were rejected in this study.

Continuing with this stream of research, we plan to further examine the applicability of the research model with other group of users in China (e.g., people below 45 years old). Future research is also needed to empirically verify the research model with larger samples across the world. We also plan to carry out a comparative study with older adults in the developed countries.

References

- Bagozzi, R.P.: The role of measurement in theory construction and hypothesis testing: toward a holistic model. In: Ferrell, O.C., Brown, S.W., Lamb, C.W. (eds.) Conceptual and theoretical developments in marketing, pp. 15–32 (1979)
- Bagozzi, R.P., Yi, Y.: Specification, evaluation, and interpretation of structural equation models. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science 40(1), 8–34 (2012)
- Chen, J.V., Yen, D.C., Chen, K.: The acceptance and diffusion of the innovative smart phone use: A case study of a delivery service company in logistics. Information & Management 46(4), 241–248 (2009)
- 4. Davis, F.D.: Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use and user acceptance of information technology. MIS Quarterly 13(3), 319–340 (1989)
- 5. Gao, S., Krogstie, J., Chen, Z., et al.: Lifestyles and Mobile Services Adoption in China. International Journal of E-Business Research (IJEBR) 10(3), 36–53 (2014)
- Gao, S., Krogstie, J., Siau, K.: Adoption of mobile information services: An empirical study. Mobile Information Systems 10(2), 147–171 (2014)
- Gao, S., Krogstie, J., Siau, K.: Developing an Instrument to Measure the Adoption of Mobile Services. Mobile Information Systems 7(1), 45–67 (2011)
- Huang, J., Xu, Q., Tiwana, B., et al.: Anatomizing application performance differences on smartphones. In: Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Mobile Systems, Applications, and Services, pp. 165–178. ACM (2010)
- Kolodinsky, J.M., Hogarth, J.M., Hilgert, M.A.: The adoption of electronic banking technologies by US consumers. International Journal of Bank Marketing 22(4), 238–259 (2004)
- Lee, B., Chen, Y., Hewitt, L.: Age differences in constraints encountered by seniors in their use of computers and the internet. Computers in Human Behavior 27(3), 1231–1237 (2011)
- Malhotra, N.K., Kim, S.S., Patil, A.: Common method variance in IS research: A comparison of alternative approaches and a reanalysis of past research. Management Science 52(12), 1865–1883 (2006)
- Peacock, S.E., Künemund, H.: Senior citizens and Internet technology. European Journal of Ageing 4(4), 191–200 (2007)
- 13. Pheeraphuttharangkoon, S., Choudrie, J., Zamani, E., et al.: Investigating the adoption and use of smartphones in the UK: a silver-surfers perspective. In: The 22nd European Conference on Information Systems, ECIS 2014 (2014)
- 14. Rogers, E.M.: The diffusion of innovations. Free Press, New York (1995)
- 15. Van der Heijden, H.: Factors influencing the usage of websites: the case of a generic portal in The Netherlands. Information & Management 40(6), 541–549 (2003)
- 16. Van Dijk, J.A.: Digital divide research, achievements and shortcomings. Poetics 34(4), 221–235 (2006)
- 17. Venkatesh, V., Bala, H.: TAM 3: Advancing the technology acceptance model with a focus on interventions (2013) (Manuscript in preparation), Retrieved from http://www.vvenkatesh.com/IT/organizations/Theoretical_Models .asp

- Venkatesh, V., Morris, M.G., Davis, G.B., et al.: User Acceptance of Information Technology: Toward a Unified View. MIS Quarterly 27(3), 425–478 (2003)
- Venkatesh, V., Thong, J.Y., Xu, X.: Consumer acceptance and use of information technology: extending the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology. MIS quarterly 36(1), 157–178 (2012)
- Wagner, N., Hassanein, K., Head, M.: Computer use by older adults: A multi-disciplinary review. Computers in Human Behavior 26(5), 870–882 (2010)
- Zhou, T., Li, H., Liu, Y.: The effect of flow experience on mobile SNS users' loyalty. Industrial Management & Data Systems 110(6), 930–946 (2010)

Towards Automatic Generation of Project-Based Solutions

Krikor Maroukian¹, Kevin Lano¹, and Mohammad Yamin²

¹ School of Natural and Mathematical Sciences, Department of Informatics, King's College London, Strand, London, WC2R 2LS, UK

² Department of Information Technology, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, 21589, Saudi Arabia

{krikor.maroukian,kevin.lano}@kcl.ac.uk, myamin@kau.edu.sa

Abstract. Modern business models and processes usually demand an integrated utilisation of business frameworks and methodologies, such as PRINCE2[®] and PMBOK[®], to produce meaningful business documentation and solutions. Often, the use of such frameworks is a prerequisite to engage with public or private sector large-scale projects. However, models contained in such frameworks usually lack formal semantics which may lead to inconsistencies between modeling solutions. The maintainability and reusability of such models tends to require manual intervention which is susceptible to human error. Software engineers used to experience similar issues and partially solved these by introducing a model-driven approach called Model Driven Architecture. In an attempt to adapt to industry needs, over the past five years Domain Specific Modeling has experienced increased popularity. The authors propose a transfer of concepts and logic from MDA and DSM to a project-based model-driven approach; facilitating the automated production of supportive documents for business decision making.

1 Introduction

Rapidly changing business environments require frequent re-calculation of business strategies. Such changes are frequent and unpredictable. Human responses to these changes can be prone to human error and not within the required timeframe. The current industrial landscape predisposes business solutions (business decisions and supporting documentation) with a number of defects in terms of lack of understanding and implementation of frameworks, methodologies and best practices. As a consequence, informal models or even non-modelled business solutions offer limited value to the business.

Such informalities, may lead to a number of limitations such as: the requirement for model specific training, difficulty in capturing changing business requirements and the use of inconsistent models which are often out dated. Effectively, changes that will not be included in all corresponding models will create inconsistencies since the models will no more reflect the actual business requirements. Subsequently, models will be discarded. "Often, the modellers themselves have disappeared, and any knowledge that wasn't captured in the specialised models is inaccessible, forgotten, or written off" [1]. In addition, informal models are limited to use by individuals, small teams or within single organisations due to the lack of information clarity and understanding of non-standard models among different teams or members. This leads to the inability to address key business environment factors.

In the last decade, software engineering solved most of the system modelling problems with the introduction of the Model Driven Architecture framework (MDA). MDA divides models into four abstraction layers; Computational Independent Model (CIM), Platform Independent Model (PIM), Platform Specific Model (PSM) and generated code. The key idea behind MDA is the production of formal models through consistent model transformation. Models of the PIM layer are transformed to models of the PSM layer and then to code. At each layer, the user can add details or tune the models as needed. Any model can participate in an MDA transformation as long as it has a corresponding meta-model. A meta-model is a model that explains the semantics of its corresponding model. In other words, a meta-model is data about data.

Our research extends the applicability of MDA and uses it to solve business modelling problems in the project management domain. In effect, a *domain* can be characterised as a business discipline, customer, company, contact, location. Domain Engineering such as Product Line Engineering, is the entire process of reusing domain knowledge in the production of new software systems. An essential idea in systematic software reuse is the application domain, a software area that contains systems sharing commonalities [18].

The reason the author's attempt to shed light on project-based modeling and automation regards noteworthy references from the MDA community on benefits realised in software development project management. As a result, this paper proposes a project-based approach to inherit the MDA concepts of Modelling and Meta-modelling, separate modelling layers and model transformations. This could potentially inherit a number of MDA established benefits realised over the past decade as follows ([2],[3],[4], [5], [6], [7], [8], [9]):

- Increase productivity and reliability through automated generation of business related documentation;
- Reduce time-to-market solution;
- Richer model semantics;
- Models with higher formality.

The proposed framework will be capable of supporting corporate decision making through business solutions provided that their corresponding meta-models are present. This project-based approach can be utilised as a solution generation tool to offer artefacts given the appropriate meta-model or pool of metamodels, model transformations and/or reusable project-based artefacts (meta-model or transformation).

Further to the introduction, this paper is organised as follows; in section (2) the definition of a model is illustrated and current modelling issues in software development are presented. Section (3) discusses in brief the various aspects of Model Driven Architecture. Section (4) presents a thorough account of the proposed project-based approach. Research conclusions and future work are discussed in section (5).

2 Project-Based Modelling Issues in Software Development

A model is a representation of a concept from the real world. An interpretation of a model gives a model meaning [10]. Models are widely used and are essential in other disciplines. For instance, prior to the construction of a bridge civil engineers produce a design that will be utilised as a blueprint for the construction of the bridge. It is not possible to start the construction of a bridge without any designs. However, it is not uncommon to start a business project without any planning and sometimes without concise and well-defined requirements or specifications or even clear business goals and objectives.

The paradox is that, software engineering can benefit more from models than other disciplines [11]. The current problem with models [12] is that most of the models are described in an abstract layer which is not very useful, indicating, what needs to be done at a given moment in time.

Nevertheless, business requirements change so rapidly that it is possible that the requirements might change while the project is still under development. Most of the cases the business solution will not reflect the design due to the high abstraction level of the design, time and/or cost constraints as well as incorrect or incomplete design. Provided there is a change request it is very likely that it will only change in the business solution and there is a possibility that nobody will update the design. These reasons will create an inconsistency between solution and design that will lead to the infrequent use or ultimately the disposal of the design.

Therefore, there is an explicit industry need to address platform complexity and the inability of third generation languages to alleviate this complexity and express domain concepts effectively. There exist MDA tools which can be employed to address these issues such as Eclipse Modeling Framework (EMF), Graphical Editing Framework (GEF), Graphical Modeling Framework (GMF) to which IBM contributes, Microsoft MS/DSL Tools, and Model Integrated Computing (MIC) utilised by Generic Modeling Environment (GME) developed by Vanderbilt University.

3 Model Driven Architecture

Prior to proposing a solution it is worth investigating how software engineering solved modelling issues presented in section (2). Model Driven Architecture (MDA) is a software development approach launched by OMG, [13]. The key idea behind the MDA framework is the separation of the development into three layers and the automatic transformation of models between the four layers by software tools. The business processes and requirements of the CIM layer are mapped to PIMs. These are then transformed to PSMs which are then transformed to code.

Human experts can execute manual tuning to each model and these changes will be carried over to the next model. MDA software tools allow changes made at a higher layer of the MDA to be reflected at the lower layers of the framework."MDA is potentially advantageous because it shifts complexity away from developers and into the tool chain and, hence, the PIM-to-PSM transformation" [14]. MDA uses the Unified Modelling Language (UML), OMG's main modelling standards which are ISO standards and ITU-T recommendations. There are several model transformation languages; UML-RSDS [20], Epsilon [21], QVT-R, ATL, Kermeta, GrGen.NET. A comparison on the characteristics of some of these languages can be found in [22].

4 A Project-Based Approach

A project management oriented approach attempts to address Model Business Engineering (MBE) issues with an aim to assist project managers and other project stakeholders generate day-to-day business documents and/or perform decision making activities in an increasignly automated manner.

Research in the area of transformations of UML Activity Diagrams to BPMN 2.0 has indeed been stated in e-Government systems [15], [16]. There is also evidence for the BPMN 2.0 to UML Activity Diagram transformation [17]. However, such empirical research has not been considered in the industrial domains of project management for frameworks such as PRINCE2[®] and PMBOK[®] as well as service management such as ITIL[®].

The project-based approach can be characterised as 'a structured approach to automated generation of modelled artefacts in the context of business disciplines, that can form the basis of decisions, business documents and/or business activities.'

This approach can reach its end result i.e. business solution generation, through two abstraction layers; Project Specific Layer (PSL) and Business Solution Layer (BSL). The end result e.g. documentation, can lead to management decisions and/or a set of actions. A mechanism to support reuse of best practices when creating families of business solutions would be appropriate to consider at this stage.

To visualize a software model transformation consider Java or C++ code as the implementation solution i.e. PSM, see section 3. The model describing the code functions and variables is one abstraction layer higher than the implementation layer i.e. PIM, see section 3. In a similar way, project management documents or decision making artifacts can be characterised as part of the implementation layer or BSL. The model describing the BSL is the PSL.

The project-specific layer ensures a modelled business and leads to business solution. The business solution layer would effectively depict the real data relating to information fed in the previous layer.

In certain instances, capturing project stakeholder related information can be of substantial value in formulating an accurate business solution such as business policies that do not allow employees to work beyond the eight-hour shift since these set their rules in the environment in which the project is executed. Hence, capturing environment information can be vital for the success of projects.

Information pertinent to a specific project framework should be utilised in the project specific layer. Any pertinent information to e.g. PRINCE2® or PMBOK[®] should be utilised. Finally, PRINCE2[®] or PMBOK[®] produced documentation, roles, processes and functions signify a modelled business solution.

The project-based approach can help architects commit changes at the projectspecifc layer which can then propagate to the business solution layer instead of having a monolithic transformation. The next sections describe thoroughly the projectspecific layer.

4.1 Project Specific Layer

The project-specific layer can be defined as 'the depiction of project-based elements e.g. tasks, activities, resources, that can facilitate real world business solutions.'

In this layer, it is recommended to select models from well established frameworks or industry standards with worldwide recognition. The accuracy of the result will heavily depend on the selected framework.

Taking into consideration the information available such as a meta-model that clearly states that the more certified PMs in structured PM frameworks the more successful that PM framework could prove to be in an organisation, it is clear that a structured PM framework would be selected for use within the enterprise. The business solution would relate to real data such as strategic corporate decision of whether to use a structured or agile PM framework. The business solution can be anything from a simple decision to complex models supported by vast documentation. In the scenario considered the business solution can either be a 'Yes' or a 'No'. In order to reach this stage, the data from PSM has to be extracted.

4.2 Business Solution

The business solution layer can be defined as 'the resulting business document(s), charts and descriptive information for a specific project.'

The business solution layer, contains the produced business documents such as business plans, progress reports, status reports, risk analysis documents, time tables, schedules and more artifacts that can be used for both day to day operation or strategic level information. Before this static documents are generated their corresponding meta-models are required.

There can be actions defined as activities to be performed by a human or software agent. Such actions can include, sending emails, perform transactions, make payments and more. To support the generation of such dynamic artifacts their corresponding meta-models should also include triggers with pre and post conditions. These can be defined in OCL or any other constraint language and must also be supported by the software tool producing the project-based model.

The project-based layers have been presented and thoroughly discussed. However, a closer examination of the approach with an example can form a concrete definition.

5 BPMN to UML-RSDS Transformation

Project change is inevitable whether it comes from within the project or from external factors influencing project scope. For these reasons, whenever change occurs, an agreed logical change management process has to be initiated that allows the project to identify, assess and control any potential and approved changes to the original baselines that where originally agreed for the project.

In addition, the use of a standardised change management approach can serve as a control agent to any Request-for-Change (RfC). Once the project scope and other key key associated documents have been approved, these become the project "baselines" and can only be changed after approval by the appropriate authority; normally the
Change Advisory Board. Change control and hence change management is not there to prevent changes, but to ensure that every change is agreed by the relevant authority before implementation. This section presents the transformation of a BPMN project-specific model from PRINCE2[®], see Fig 1, to its UML-RSDS derivative model.



Fig. 1. Change Management Procedure of a Project

The next step is to produce the corresponding model using the UML-RSDS transformation engine based on a set of rules that apply for BPMN models. The transformations supported by UML-RSDS regard BPMN 2.0 elements set i.e. flow objects, connecting objects, artifacts. Swim lanes are not included in the below example nor can they be currently supported.

5.1 Rules

The mapping is described by one rule, and the execution semantics by several updatein-place rules defining how a process instance may evolve, and how its tokens may move around the process. The rules are described in textual representations derived from UML-RSDS models.

Process Instantiation. This is formalised by the following use case *initialise* post-condition on Process:

sn : flowElements & sn : StartEvent &
sn.eventDefinitions->forAll(ed I ed : TimerEventDefinition) =>
ProcessInstance->exists(pi I pi.state = RUNNING & self :
pi.process &
Token->exists(t I t : pi.tokens & sn : t.element))

"If the process has a StartEvent sn which has only TimerEventDefinition, create a process instance pi for the process, with one token at sn".

Normal termination. These are postcondition use cases of Process Instantiation:

```
state@pre = RUNNING &
process.flowElements->exists( e I e : EndEvent ) & tokens@pre->forAll(
t I t.element <: EndEvent ) => state = FINISHED &
    tokens@pre->isDeleted()
state@pre = RUNNING &
process.flowElements->forAll( e I e /: EndEvent ) &
    tokens@pre.element->forAll( n I n : FlowNode & n.outgoing->size() =
0 ) =>
    state = FINISHED &
    tokens@pre->isDeleted()
```

Either (i) the process has an EndEvent, and all its tokens occupy EndEvent nodes, or (ii) the process has no EndEvent, and all its tokens occupy nodes with no outgoing flow. In either case the process is set to FINISHED and all its tokens deleted.

Starting a process instance. A process instance can start if it has a token t on a start event with at least one outgoing flow:

```
state = RUNNING & t : tokens &
fe : t.element@pre & fe : StartEvent &
fe.outgoing->size() > 0 =>
fe.outgoing->exists( sf I t.element = Set{ sf } )
```

The token on the start event is then moved to one of the outgoing flows of the start event.

Ending a process. If a process instance has a token on a SequenceFlow with target node an EndEvent, then the token can be moved to the EndEvent:

```
state = RUNNING & t : tokens &
fe : t.element@pre &
fe : SequenceFlow &
fe.targetRef : EndEvent =>
t.element = Set{ fe.targetRef }
```

Entering a task

The same step applies if the target is a Task:

```
state = RUNNING & t : tokens &
fe : t.element@pre &
fe : SequenceFlow &
fe.targetRef : Task =>
    t.element = Set{ fe.targetRef }
```

Leaving Tasks

A process instance which has a token t on a Task fe can leave fe if fe has at least one outgoing flow:

```
state = RUNNING & t : tokens@pre &
fe : t.element@pre &
fe : Task & fe.outgoing->size() > 0 =>
    t->isDeleted() &
    fe.outgoing->forAll( sf I
        Token->exists( t1 I sf : t1.element & t1 : tokens ) )
```

t is deleted, and new tokens are created for the process instance on each outgoing flow.

Entering parallel gateway

Here we assume that there is at most one token for a given process instance on each flow element.

The process instance can enter parallel gateway pg if it has a token on every incoming flow of pg, and there is at least one such flow:

```
state = RUNNING &
pg : ParallelGateway &
v = tokens->select( t I pg.incoming->exists( sf I sf : t.element )
) &
v.size > 0 &
v.size = pg.incoming->size() =>
Token->exists( t1 I pg : t1.element & t1 : tokens ) &
v->isDeleted()
```

A single token ti for the process instance on pg is then created, and the set v of the instance tokens on the incoming flows of pg is deleted.

In this case the constraint requires fixed-point iteration, as it writes the same data (Token: :element) that it reads. The let variable v is used to store the prevalue of the expression it is assigned.

Leaving parallel gateway

This is formalised by the following postcondition use case on Process Instantiation:

```
state = RUNNING & t : tokens@pre &
fe : t.element@pre &
fe : ParallelGateway &
fe.outgoing->size() > 0 =>
    t->isDeleted() &
    fe.outgoing->forAll( sf I
        Token->exists( t1 I sf : t1.element & t1 : tokens ) )
```

"If the process instance is running, and has a token t in a parallel gateway fe, with an outgoing flow, then delete t, and create a token for the process instance in each outgoing flow of fe."

5.2 Modeled Solution

The corresponding modelled solution of Fig. 1 is described with seven (7) tasks, two parallel gateways and a start and end node as follows below.

```
p1 : Process
  pl.name = "BPMN2UMLRSDS"
  pq1 : ParallelGateway
  pq1.name = "pq1"
  pq1 : pl.flowElements
  pg2 : ParallelGateway
  pg2.name = "pg2"
  pg2 : p2.flowElements
  se : StartEvent
  se.name = "start event"
  se : pl.flowElements
  ee : EndEvent
  ee.name = "end event"
  ee : pl.flowElements
  tl : Task
  t1.name = "Create the RFC"
  tl : pl.flowElements
  t2 : Task
  t2.name = "Review, Assess
and Evaluate"
  t2 : pl.flowElements
  t3 : Task
  t3.name = "Change
Advisory Board
Authorization"
  t3 : pl.flowElements
  t4 : Task
```

t4.name = "Emergency Change Advisory Board Authorization" t4 : pl.flowElements t5 : Task t5.name = "Receive and Plan Change" t5 : pl.flowElements t6 : Task t6.name = "Coordinate and Implement" t6 : pl.flowElements t7 : Task t7.name = "Publish Implementation Results" t7 : pl.flowElements sf1 : SequenceFlow sfl.name = "startTotask1" sf1 : pl.flowElements sfl.sourceRef = se sfl.targetRef = t1sf2 : SequenceFlow sf2.name = "task1Totask2" sf2 : pl.flowElements sf2.sourceRef = t1sf2.targetRef = t2sf3 : SequenceFlow sf3.name = "task2Topg1"

```
sf3 : pl.flowElements
sf3.sourceRef = t2
sf3.targetRef = pg1
sf4 : SequenceFlow
sf4.name = "pg1Totask3"
sf4 : pl.flowElements
sf4.sourceRef = pq1
sf4.targetRef = t3
sf5 : SequenceFlow
sf5.name = "pq1Totask4"
sf5 : pl.flowElements
sf5.sourceRef = pq1
sf5.targetRef = t4
sf6 : SequenceFlow
sf6 .name = "task3Topq2"
sf6 : pl.flowElements
sf6.sourceRef = t3
sf6.targetRef = pg2
sf7 : SequenceFlow
sf7 .name = "task4Topq2"
sf7 : pl.flowElements
sf7.sourceRef = t4
```

sf7.targetRef = pq2sf8 : SequenceFlow sf8 .name = "pq2Totask5" sf8 : pl.flowElements sf8.sourceRef = pq2sf8.targetRef = t5sf9 : SequenceFlow sf9 .name = "task5Totask6" sf9 : pl.flowElements sf9.sourceRef = t5sf9.targetRef = t6sf10 : SequenceFlow sf10.name = " task6Totask7" sf10 : pl.flowElements sf10.sourceRef = t6sf10.targetRef = t7sfl1 : SequenceFlow sfl1.name = "task7Toend" sfl1 : pl.flowElements sfl1.sourceRef = t7sfll.targetRef = ee

The following shows a trace of the execution of the transformation on this model:

Model loaded Entering startTotask1 Left startTotask1 Entered Create the RFC Left task Create the RFC Entered flow task1Totask2 Left task1Totask2 Entered Review, Assess and Evaluate Left task Review, Assess and Evaluate Entered flow task2Topg1 Entered parallel pg1 Left pq1 Entering pg1Totask3 Left pg1 Entering pg1Totask4 Left pg1Totask3 Entered Change Advisory Board Authorization Left pq1Totask4 Entered Emergency Change Advisory Board Authorization Left task Change Advisory Board Authorization

Entered flow task3Topg2 Left task Emergency Change Advisory Board Authorization Entered flow task4Topg2 Entered parallel pg2 Left pg2 Entering pg2Totask5 Left pg2Totask5 Entered Receive and Plan Change Left task Receive and Plan Change Entering task5Totask6 Left task5Totask6 Entered Coordinate and Implement Left task Coordinate and Implement Entering task6Totask7 Left task6Totask7 Entered Publish Implementation Results Left task Publish Implementation Results Entered flow task7Toend

The aforementioned textual workflow indicates consistency with explanations provide in section 5.1 whereby each step is thoroughly described. The benefits such an approach can realise in project management regard formalised models which respect project management processes modelled in BPMN. The textual representation of these models can potentially lead to advantages described in section 1.

6 Conclusions and Future Work

This paper attempts to highlight the potential research areas that can extend MDA aspects on DSM to business-specific model and more specifically project management. There are suggestions [19], that corporate decision analysis and decision making leading to changes, can be linked to business needs and improved decision making techniques by adopting approaches in model driven environments for software development.

Developing an integrated methodology on the marriage of MDA and business models is a multi-faceted issue. The paper proposes the utilisation of a renewed project-based approach that will form part of a structured treatment to business models and contribute to increased clarity and formality.

The proposal includes two layers; that can signify business oriented solutions and result to modelled decisions and management guidance documentation.

Extended research in the area of project-based automation could include transformations that support the full BPMN 2.0 elements set i.e. flow objects, connecting objects, swim lanes, artifacts. Future work should also focus on other practices outside MDD such as business analysis and service management. The MDA and BPM communities have taken steps towards attaining a more business-oriented approach to identified parts of projects which can be standardised. However, it is the authors' belief that building on the already available knowledge of both research communities, there are valuable lessons to learn and apply to other standardised business frameworks such as PRINCE2[®] for project management, BABOK[®] for business analysis and even ITIL[®] for service management.

References

- 1. Denno, P., Steves, M.P., Libes, D., Barkmeyer, E.J.: Model-Driven Integration Using Existing Models. IEEE Software (2003)
- Mohagheghi, P., Dehlen, V.: Where Is the Proof? A Review of Experiences from Applying MDE in Industry. In: Schieferdecker, I., Hartman, A. (eds.) ECMDA-FA 2008. LNCS, vol. 5095, pp. 432–443. Springer, Heidelberg (2008)
- 3. Guttman, M., Parodi, J.: Real-Life MDA: Solving Business Problems with Model Driven Architecture. Morgan Raufmann (2007)
- Presso, M.J., Belaunde, M.: Applying MDA to Voice Applications: An Experience in Building an MDA Tool Chain. In: Hartman, A., Kreische, D. (eds.) ECMDA-FA 2005. LNCS, vol. 3748, pp. 1–8. Springer, Heidelberg (2005)
- Staron, M.: Adopting Model Driven Software Development in Industry A Case Study at Two Companies. In: Wang, J., Whittle, J., Harel, D., Reggio, G. (eds.) MoDELS 2006. LNCS, vol. 4199, pp. 57–72. Springer, Heidelberg (2006)

- Bloomfield, T.: MDA, Meta-Modelling and Model Transformation: Introducing New Technology into the Defence Industry. In: Hartman, A., Kreische, D. (eds.) ECMDA-FA 2005. LNCS, vol. 3748, pp. 9–18. Springer, Heidelberg (2005)
- Burgstaller, R., Wuchner, E., Fiege, L., Becker, M., Fritz, T.: Using Domain Driven Development for Monitoring Distributed Systems. In: Hartman, A., Kreische, D. (eds.) ECMDA-FA 2005. LNCS, vol. 3748, pp. 19–24. Springer, Heidelberg (2005)
- Baker, P., Loh, S.C., Weil, F.: Model-Driven Engineering in a Large Industrial Context Motorola Case Study. In: Briand, L.C., Williams, C. (eds.) MoDELS 2005. LNCS, vol. 3713, pp. 476–491. Springer, Heidelberg (2005)
- 9. M1 Global Solutions.: Model Driven Software Development and Offshore Outsourcing (2004)
- 10. Seidewitz, E.: What models mean. IEEE Software 20(5), 26 (2003)
- 11. Bran, S.: The pragmatics of model-driven development. IEEE Software 20, 19 (2003)
- 12. Anneke, G., Kleppe, J.W., Bast, W.: MDA Explained: The Model Driven Architecture: Practice and Promise. Addison-Wesley Longman Publishing Co., Inc., Boston (2003)
- OMG, Meta Object Facility (MOF) Specification, Object Management Group (2003), http://doc.omg.org/formal/02-04-03
- 14. Weis, T., Ulbrich, A., Geihs, K.: Model Metamorphosis. IEEE software(2003)
- Kalnins, A., Vitolins, V.: Use of UML and Model Transformations for Workflow Process Definitions, Databases and Information Systems. In: Vasilecas, O., Eder, J., Caplinskas, A. (eds.) BalticDB&IS'2006, pp. 3–15. Vilnius, Technika (2006)
- Heitkoetter, H.: Transforming PICTURE to BPMN 2.0 as Part of the Model-Driven Development of Electronic Government Systems. In: Proceedings of HICSS, pp. 1–10 (2011)
- Macek, O., Richta, K.: The BPM to UML activity diagram transformation using XSLT. In: Proceedings of DATESO, pp. 119–129 (2009)
- Roebuck, K.: Model-driven Architecture (MDA): High-impact Strategies What You Need to Know: Definitions, Adoptions, Impact, Benefits, Maturity, Vendors, USA, 88-90 (2011)
- Apostolopoulos, H., Maroukian, K.: Model Driven Architecture Transformation for Business Models: Decision Analysis Based on a Collateral Analysis Model. In: 13th International Conference on Informatics and Semiotics in Organisations, Leeuwarden, The Netherlands, pp. 33–39 (2011)
- 20. Lano, K.: Advanced Systems Design with Java UML and MDA. Elsevier (2005)
- 21. Kolovos, D., Paige, R., Rose, L., Polack, F.: The Epsilon Book. Structure 178 (2010)
- Lano, K., Poernomo, I., Kolahdouz-Rahimi, S.: Comparative Evaluation of Model Transformation Specification Approaches. International Journal of Software and Informatics 6(2), 233–269 (2012)

Translation of Requirements Engineering Models

Imad Eddine Saidi¹, Taoufiq Dkaki¹, Nacer Eddine Zarour², and Pierre-Jean Charrel¹

¹ Jean Jaurès University, 5 Allée Antonio Machado, F-31058 Toulouse Cedex 9. France ²Ali Mendjli University, B.P.76. Constantine. Algeria

{Imad-Eddine.Saidi,Pierre-Jean.Charrel,Taoufiq.Dkaki}@Irit.fr, Nasro_Zarour@yahoo.fr

Abstract. The globalization and the rapid development of information and communication technologies encourage organizations to work together. In software development, many works have emerged to support this cooperation using different tools and methodologies. Most of them focus on the designstage concerns. However, very little works have dealt with cooperation during the early stage of software projects, namely Requirements Engineering (RE), despite the importance of this stage for the failure or the success of software projects. There exist different kinds of approaches to support the RE process in different contexts, based on models such as goal, viewpoint and scenario oriented. Each of these models relies on concepts which differ from one model to another. One of the difficulties for organizations that intend to work together in the upstream phases of software projects is summarized by the following question: What is the most appropriate approach every partner has to adopt? In this paper, we propose a translation process between RE models in order to ensure that organizations with different types of RE backgrounds and methodologies can work together to achieve their objectives while still using their own approach. The translation is performed using a unified meta-model issued from a semantic process of computing similarities between concepts of RE models.

Keywords: Requirements Engineering, Meta-modelling, models translation, similarities.

1 Introduction

In software engineering, many factors can be responsible for the success or the failure of projects. One of the reasons affecting the failure of these projects is the poor definition and management of requirements [1]. Hence, predicting and writing good requirements [2] is a key factor for the success or the failure of software projects. Requirements Engineering (RE) [3] is the discipline which aims at defining, managing and documenting software requirements in upstream phases of software lifecycle.

However, due to present-day globalization [4] of the business world, many organizations should cooperate in order to achieve their objectives. Cooperation is the manner of coordination that is necessary for agreeing on common objectives and for the coordinated achievement of common work among participants [5]. Unfortunately, most of the work that discusses cooperation in software engineering such as [6] and [7] focuses only on the design stage of software development lifecycle and do not address the RE upstream phase. Very little works have focused on the cooperation in RE. The fact that RE is important should have led to more interest in cooperation in this phase.

Different kinds of solutions have been proposed to support the RE process: goal oriented approaches such as i* [8] deal with actor dependencies, goals and intentions, viewpoint oriented approaches such as PREview [9] deal with the perception of actors, and scenario oriented approaches such as CREWS [10] describe functional behaviors by means of scenarios. This variety of solutions makes cooperation among organizations stakeholders in this phase a difficult activity due to the heterogeneity between these models.

Bendjenna et al. [11] proposed a solution which aims to integrate the three concepts of goal, viewpoint and scenario into one model in a cooperative environment. The work is embodied in the proposal of MAMIE as a new approach that should be used by all organizations stakeholders in order to allow cooperation between them. On the contrary, our work stems from the idea that preserving as far as possible the working environment of the stakeholders involved in organizations which aim to cooperate is more realistic. This leads us to propose a translator between different kinds of existing RE models that follows, in a broader way, the principle of Cares and Franch [12]. These ones have defined a "super meta-model" hosting identified variations of i* and implementing a semantic preservation oriented translation algorithm between these different variations.

Our translator allows organizations that use different kinds of RE models to cooperate continuing to use their usual approaches, without forcing them to spend time, human and financial resources in order to migrate to a unique RE model. The RE translator lies on our so called UREM unified meta-model which is issued from a semantic process of computing similarities between concepts of RE models ([8], [9] and [10]).

In this paper, we present a 3 phases process to translate RE models (Fig. 1). The following section 2 presents the two first phases of the translation process: the unified requirements engineering meta-model UREM, and how correspondences between concepts are built. In section 3, we discuss the third phase of building the RE translator which involves 'how' the translation between heterogeneous RE models is performed. Section 4 presents a case study to evaluate our work. In section 5, we conclude and draw perspectives.



Fig. 1. RE Translator Building Process

2 UREM: Unified Requirements Engineering Meta-model

In this section, we use a unified RE meta-model to create correspondences between meta-models of 3 representative RE approaches: i*, PREview and CREWS. This meta-model represents the common abstraction of those RE meta-models. These correspondences represent the core component of the translator between RE models. The translation between models using these correspondences can be achieved by finding for each concept in a source model the most suitable correspondent concept or collection of concepts in a target model. The resulting so called UREM meta-model is illustrated in Figure 2.



Fig. 2. UREM Meta-model

Each class (abstract concept) in UREM (Fig. 2) represents an abstraction of a set of similar RE concepts. These concepts are labeled beside each abstract concept in Fig 2. Similar concepts are concepts that share some common ground (attributes). In a previous work, we adopted a rigorous semantic process [13] based on the semantics of words which represent RE concepts. This process is performed using WordNet [14] and is composed of several steps starting with the classification of RE concepts into two categories: concepts that can be retrieved directly from WordNet (category 1) and

concepts that cannot (category 2). This categorization leads us to develop an incremental process by applying several algorithms on concepts of category 1 using WordNet: (1) Word Sense Disambiguation (WSD), (2) treat concepts as a tree in WordNet and compute distances by finding the least common parent (hypernym). Afterwards, we compare concepts of the category 2 to the tree that represents concepts of the category 1 and their parents in order to find similarities.

UREM is represented as a tree where abstract concepts are parent nodes (hypernyms) of different RE concepts (nodes). For each concept, we can find the most suitable correspondent (the most similar concept) in a target model by browsing the tree as follows:

- If several paths lead from a given concept to one concept in another model, we use least common hypernyms as described in [13] to find the shortest path between concepts. If the shortest path leads to several concepts in a same target model, we consider all these concepts as a correspondent. For example: Goal concept of i* has the same distance to several concepts in PREview: Viewpoint, History, Name and Source. If a concept has child and parent nodes, we always browse the tree according to the shortest path. Finding paths is a key factor to build correspondences.
- We build sets of correspondences between the three RE models from the results of the previous steps. For example: Goal and SoftGoal concepts in i* have Scenario, Object and Goal target concepts in CREWS, and Viewpoint, History, Name, Source target concepts in PREview. In the same time, Scenario, Object and Goal concepts in CREWS have Viewpoint, History, Name,Source target concepts in PREview. UseCase has also a short path to these concepts. We build the overall correspondence: {Scenario, Object, UseCase, Goal (CREWS), Goal, SoftGoal (i*), Viewpoint, History, Name, Source (PREview)} that is stored and used as a reference to translate these concepts from a model to another.

The resulting sets of correspondences are:

- C1 = {Scenario, Object, UseCase, Goal (CREWS), Goal, SoftGoal (i*), Viewpoint, History, Name, Source (PREview)}
- C2 = {Action, Event, StructureObject (CREWS), Task (i*), Reqirements (PREview)}
- C3 = {Agent, StateTransition, State (CREWS), Actor, Resource (i*), Concern, Focus (PREview)}.

In this section, we have built correspondences relationships among RE concepts. In the next section, we discuss the last phase illustrated in Fig. 1 to build the RE translator related to; how to perform translation between those concepts using the defined correspondences.

3 Translation between Requirements Engineering Models

In this section we describe how to translate RE concepts using correspondences created in the previous section. Figure 3 illustrates the design of the translation process between concepts. The design illustrated in Fig. 3 is based on the factory design pattern [15] which allows users to translate and create, for a source concept, one or more target concepts without bothering them with the entire specification of these target concepts that they do not need to know, or they do not have the abilities to handle. The translation should be performed through a common interface called IConcept. The user asks ConceptsFactory for translation that needs the use of a referential repository: RefRepository.



Fig. 3. Design of Translation Process

RefRepository stores all possible correspondences generated in the previous section between concepts of i*, PREview and CREWS models. For each correspondence, there exist translation rules which describe how to translate a source concept to a target model. RefRepository defines two types of translation:

- Automatic translation is used with the first and the second type of translation. This
 rule operates when the Concepts Factory creates automatically a new instance of a
 target concept from the source one by checking the most suitable correspondence
 in RefRepository. Afterward, the factory translates source attributes to target
 attributes in the new target concept by moving the value of source attributes to a
 target attributes. The factory uses simple naming conventions to name the new target concepts.
- Semi-Automatic translation is performed after the automatic translation if a part of source concepts cannot be translated correctly to the target model. We perform a translation aided by questions {Which, How or What}. Two lists of elements (concepts and attributes) are created, one for source elements that are not translated correctly to the target model and the other is composed of empty instances which represent target elements in the target model that are not created in the automatic translation. Fig. 4 illustrates these lists. Each list is divided in three sets according to the correspondences that are previously defined. Users can help the RE translator

using their experience by answering several questions on the source elements. Answers to these questions are a guide to find a matching (translation) between source and target elements that are not translated automatically.



Fig. 4. Structure of Semi-Automatic Translation using Questions

RefRepository (Fig. 5) contains a set of elements. Each element is either a concept or an attribute and it belongs to a model. Each element is included in a correspondence where each one has a set of Naming Conventions and a set of questions that will be used in the semi-automatic translation.



Fig. 5. Class diagram of the referential repository (RefRepository)

4 Case Study: Software Bugs Management

The evaluation of our work can be achieved by applying several case studies in order to verify the soundness of the translation process we propose. In this paper, we present one of these case studies to illustrate the translation process: a requirements specification for a software bugs management system. We uses i*, PREview and CREWS to represent requirements models. For the sake of space we only represent i* model (cf. Annex), the translation between i* and PREview and the results of translation between the three models. We compare source models for each type to the models obtained according to the translation rules defined in the previous section.

The comparison is performed using a three rows and three columns translation confusion matrix [16] to calculate the translation accuracy of our solution. Rows and columns respectively represent source models (actual classes) and target models (predicted classes): i*, PREview and CREWS. Each cell $C_{i,j}$ represents the number of concepts instances which are translated correctly from the source model i into the target model j. Afterward, we compute the accuracy of the translation A_T between each couple of models M_1 and M_2 by applying a simple formula to find the average of translated concepts ratio between any couple of models. Let C_1 and C_2 be respectively the numbers of concepts of M_1 and M_2 . Let $C_{1,2}$ and $C_{2,1}$ be the number of translated concepts respectively from M_1 to M_2 and from M_2 to M_1 .

$$R_{\rm T} = \frac{\left(c_{1,2}/c_1 + c_{2,1}/c_2\right)}{2} \tag{1}$$

Any difference between predicted and actual concepts is considered as an error. In our case study, we apply an automatic translation which represents the most important part of translation without any expert intervention, and then we can improve the translation results by using a semi-automatic translation between RE models.

The case study involves a requirements specification for a system which aims to manage and resolve software bugs. A bug is an "Imperfections in software development process that would cause software to fail to meet the desired expectations" [17]. Therefore a bug can be defined as an abnormal behavior or a malfunction of the software system. To monitor these bugs, the use of a bug-tracker is inevitable to eliminate or at least reduce them. This system aims at providing actors with the possibility to report malfunctions, comment them, track the status of the anomaly, notify other actors of the problems encountered, and suggest solutions or opportunities for circumvention.

4.1 Application of Translation between PREview and i*

The translation between RE models of this case study is performed according to translation rules and correspondences C1, C2 and C3 defined in section 2.

To translate the PREview source model to i*, the user of PREview asks the Translator (ConceptsFactory) to translate the different 13 instances of concepts that compose the specification of the case study to target concepts in i*. ConceptsFactory checks for each instance the most suitable correspondence in the target model i*. Table 1 illustrates the results of the translation process grouped by correspondences.

Source (Preview) Concepts	Target (i*) Concepts	Translation Rule			
3 instances of Viewpoint concept	3 instances of Goal concept:	Automatic			
with their names:	{BugsManagementGoal,	Translation using C1.			
{BugManagementViewpoint,	BugsReportingGoal,				
BugReportingViewpoint &	BugsFixingGoal}				
BugFixgingViewpoint}					
8 instances of Requirement	8 instances of Task Concept:	Automatic			
Concepts:	AddBugReproducibilityDegree	Translation using C2			
BugReproducibilityDegree-	Task,				
Requirement,	AddBugResolutionPriorityTask,				
BugResolutionPriorityRequirement	AddBugSeverityDegreeTask,				
, BugSeverityDegreeRequirement,	AddBugSummaryRequirement				
BugSummaryRequirement,	Task, SuggestSolutionTask,				
SuggestSolutionRequirement,	TestSolutionTask,				
TestingRequirement,	CommitSolutionTask,				
CommitRequirement,	NotifyPersonsTask}				
NotificationRequirement}					
Concern: {Bug Unavailability}	4 actors {ManagerActor,	Semi-Automatic			
	ReporterActor, QATesterActor,	translation using C3			
	EngineerActor	and the question:			
		'Who is responsible			
		for'+ Concern			

Table 1. Translation from Preview to i*

The overall translation for the 13 instances of PREview is automatically performed to 11 instances in i*, and semi-automatically to 4; i.e. a total of 15 instances if the semi-automatic translation is well performed. Recall that an original source model of i* is composed of 20 instances of concepts. The 5 concepts in i* that are not translated are: Tasks (ReportBugTask, FixBugTask, ManageBugsTask), SoftGoal (Immediate-Reporting), Resource (BugResource). The Source concept (SoftwareSource) is not translated correctly to i* model.

The translation from an i* source model to PREview is performed in the same way with the same correspondences as illustrated in Table 2.

The overall translation of i* model (20 instances) are translated automatically to 11 instances of PREview concepts, and semi-automatically to one instance; that leads to a total of 12 instances if the semi-automatic translation is well performed. Knowing that an original source model of PREview is composed of 13 instances, the Resource and the SoftGoal of i* model are not translated correctly to PREview concepts.

4.2 Evaluation

In the evaluation, we compute the rate of translation successes obtained from the source models (Rows) of i*, PREview and CREWS. Table 3 presents the confusion matrix that summarizes the translation results of the models in the case study.

Proceeding from Table 3, we compute the accuracy of translation A_T of the case study when using automatic translation. We apply the formula (1) between each couple of RE models:

Source (i*) Concepts	Target (PREVIEW) Concepts	Translation Rule
3 instances of Goal concept mentioned in Table 1	3 instances of Viewpoint concept mentioned in Table 1	Automatic Translation using C1
11 instances of Task: 8 mentioned in Table 1 that represent sub tasks for ReportBugTask FixBugTask, ManageBugsTask.	8 instances of Requirement (mentioned in Table 1).	Automatic Translation using C2.
4 Actors mentioned in Table 1	Concern mentioned in Table 1	Semi-Automatic translation using C3 and the question: "What is the concern of"+ Actor.

Table 2. Translation from I * to PREview

Table 3.	Automatic	translation	matrix	for so	oftware	bugs	management	system
	1 10/00/11/00/10	er en concerco m		101 00		cago	management	0,00011

	I*	PREview	CREWS
$I^{*}(20^{a})$		11	20
PREview (13 ^a)	11		16
CREWS (21 ^a)	15	11	

a. Numbers of concepts instances presented in the requirements specification

• PREview to/from i*: $R_T = (11 \div 20 + 11 \div 13) \times 0.5 = 70\%$

• CREWS to/from i*: $R_T = (15 \div 20 + 20 \div 21) \times 0.5 = 85\%$

• CREWS to/from PREview: $R_{T} = (11 \div 13 + 16 \div 21) \times 0.5 = 80\%$

The total average translation accuracy A_T among all models is 78%. We observe the best translation rate is between i* and CREWS. The translation rate can be improved using a semi-automatic translation.

The case study presents a specific part of defined correspondences. The other concepts are not applied in this case study and have to be used in a future case study.

5 Conclusion

This paper presents a solution which allows the translation between different kinds of RE models in order to improve cooperation between stakeholders issued from cooperating companies. The translation is performed using a set of correspondences between the RE models, based on a unified meta-model called UREM. UREM is composed of a set of abstract concepts that represent these correspondences. For a given correspondence, we define translation rules to ensure the translation between concepts from one RE model to another. We present a case study in order to assess the correspondences and the rules that are defined. Unfortunately, we observe that some concepts are not successfully translated. We fix to some extent a part of this problem by adjusting some correspondences such as the concept Actor of i* and Agent of CREWS that can be integrated into the attribute StakeHolder of the PREview Viewpoint concept. Recall that the overall translation accuracy among all models is 78%.

We are currently developing ReqTranslator: it is a web platform which aims to illustrate and apply our solution of RE models translation. The platform proposes several features including translation of different kinds of RE models in addition to ensure the auto-integration of new types of RE models. This integration can be easily achieved due to the structure of the data model proposed for the platform which allows extensibility. Another perspective is to enhance the visualization form tables to graphs which will simplify the representation of requirements. We will also study more complex case studies in order to improve the evaluation of our work.

References

- 1. McConnel, S.: Code Complete: A Practical Handbook of Software Construction, 2nd edn. (2004), ISBN-13: 079-0145196705, ISBN-10: 0735619670
- Kotonya, G., Sommerville, I.: Requirements Engineering: Processes and Techniques. Wiley (1998), ISBN: 978-0-471-97208-2
- 830-1998 IEEE Recommended Practice for Software Requirements Specifications, E-ISBN 978-0-7381-0448-5 (1998)
- Joshi, M.: International Business. Ox-ford University Press, India (June 22, 2009), ISBN-10: 0195689097, ISBN-13: 978-0195689099
- Bauknecht, K., Mühlherr, T., Sauter, C., Teufel, S.: Computerunterstützung für die Gruppenarbeit. Addison-Wesley, Bonn (1995)
- McChesneya, I.R., Gallagherb, S.: Communication and co-ordination practices in software engineering projects. Information and Software Technology Journal 46(7), 473–489 (2004)
- Altmann, J., C.: Cooperative software development: concepts, model and tools, Technology of Object-Oriented Languages and Systems, TOOLS 30 Proceedings, pages 194-207, (1999)
- 8. Yu, E.: Modelling Strategic Relationships for Process Reengineering, Phd Thesis, University of Toronto (1995)
- 9. Sommerville, I., Sawyer, P.: Requirements Engineering: A Good Practice Guide. Wiley (1997), ISBN: 978-0-471-97444-4
- 10. Sutcliffe, A.G., Maiden, N.A.M., Minocha, S., Manuel, D.: Supporting Scenario-Based Requirements Engineering. IEEE Transactions on Software Engineering 24(12) (1998)
- 11. Bendjenna, H., Zarour, N., Charrel, P.J.: Eliciting Requirements for an Inter-company Cooperative Information System. J. Systems and IT 12(4), 305–333 (2010)
- Cares, C., Franch, X.: A Metamodelling Approach for *i** Model Translations. In: Mouratidis, H., Rolland, C. (eds.) CAiSE 2011. LNCS, vol. 6741, pp. 337–351. Springer, Heidelberg (2011)
- Saidi, I., Dkaki, E., Zarour, T., Charrel, N.E.: P.,J.: Semantic Based Process towards Unification of different Requirements Engineering Approaches. In: International Conference on Knowledge Management and Information Sharing, Vilamoura, Portugal. SciTePress (2013)
- 14. Miller, G., WordNet, A.: A Lexical Database for English. CACM 38(1) (1995)
- Johnson, R., Vlissides, J., Helm, R., Gamma, E.: Design Patterns: Elements of Reusable Object-Oriented Software (1994), ISBN-13: 078-5342633610, ISBN-10:0201633612
- Stehman, S.V.: Selecting and interpreting measures of thematic classification accuracy. Remote Sensing of Environment 62(1), 77–89 (1997)
- 17. Kumaresh, S., Baskaran, R.: Defect Analysis and Prevention for Software Process Quality Improvement. International Journal of Computer Applications 8(7), 875–887 (2010)

Annex



Fig. 6. i* meta-model



Fig. 7. i* Specification for Software Bugs Management System

An Optimization of Collaborative Filtering Personalized Recommendation Algorithm Based on Time Context Information

Xian Jin¹, Qin Zheng^{1,2}, and Lily Sun³

¹School of Information Management and Engineering, Shanghai University of Finance and Economics, Shanghai, China ²South University of Science and Technology of China, Shenzhen, China ³School of Systems Engineering, University of Reading, Whiteknights, Reading, UK 13491299@qq.com, qing.zheng@mail.shufe.edu.cn, lily.sun@reading.ac.uk

Abstract. This paper proposes an improved collaborative filtering algorithm based on time context information. Introducing the time information into the traditional collaborative filtering algorithm, the essay studies the changes of user preference in the time dimension. In this paper the time information includes three aspects: the time context information; the interest decays with the time; items similarity factor. This paper first uses Pearson correlation coefficient calculates time context similarity, pre-filtering the time-context. Through the experiment, the improved algorithm has higher accuracy than the traditional filter algorithms without time factor in the TOP-N recommendation list. It proves that time-context information of user's can affect the user's preference.

Keywords: Personalized recommendation, collaborative filtering, time-context.

1 Introduction

Recommender algorithms belong to a class of personalized information filtering technologies that aim to identify which items in a catalog might be of interest to a particular user. The scenario is a very important factor for mobile e-commerce personalized recommendation process. User's interests and needs tend to change with time and space associated with situation changes. Therefore, how to accurately predict the information of interest to users has become a key issue in personalized recommendation problems. Traditional collaborative filtering algorithm does not consider the situation. Therefore, it cannot reflect the needs tendency of users due to the different situations. This shortage caused a lack of personality in recommendation process. The length of time will affect a user memory of interest degree, thereby affecting their user preferences. Meanwhile, the mobile commerce environment is dynamical, and the context information are facing constantly changing, thus affecting the user's interest and purchasing decisions.

Based on this, this paper research on the impaction from time contextual information to users interested and the user interest preferences attenuation occurs over time context information. This paper provides an UIT (users-project-time) model. The model can achieve precise recommendation and marketing mobile environments. Our research work contributes to three levels: 1) at the method level, we improve the traditional collaborative filtering algorithms, combined with the time context information and collaborative filtering algorithm and improved mobile environment recommended accuracy in traditional collaborative filtering algorithm and improved mobile environment recommended accuracy in traditional collaborative filtering algorithms; 2) at the theoretical level, this study intends to enrich personalized recommendation research of mobile commerce. Currently, most of the research is focused on mobile business mobile business process, trust, risk, and decision-making issue, but consumer behavior, personalized research is still at an exploratory stage. This study also improves the quality of the recommendation system by time context information; and 3) at the commercial value level, the development of mobile Internet and mobile commerce will enter a rapid growth phase, how to provide a valuable service for these users, and then find the right business model is an important strategy for many Internet companies. We provide also a reference model for personalized recommendation in mobile environment.

2 Theoretical Background

2.1 Personalized Recommendation Algorithms

Collaborative filtering recommendation is the most successful technology. For example, Goldberg (1992) describes the similarity between users using artificial mail processing system. Ringo (1997) uses the social information filtering method and the music recommendation system. Currently collaborative filtering is mainly divided into two categories: User-based Collaborative Filtering, and Item-based Collaborative Filtering (Yang, 2012). The User-based Collaborative Filtering algorithm is the oldest algorithms in recommender systems. Goldberg (1992) has applied User-based Collaborative Filtering algorithm into email filtering system, and Grouplens (1994) has then applied the User-based Collaborative Filtering algorithm into news filter. But the key shortage of User-based Collaborative Filtering algorithm is data sparseness; the diversity of recommend list and the scalability of recommend system. To resolve the problems, professor Sarwar (2001) puts forward Item-based Collaborative Filtering algorithm. Amazon, YouTube, and Hulu are using Item-based Collaborative Filtering algorithm.

2.2 Research on time Context Information Recommendation

The traditional personalized recommendation only works with User-Item structure, it does not considerate the context information of user's. It cannot fully reflect the preferences of the user. For example, users like to browse news and information in "morning", like to browse social networks to share information in the "noon", like to play various entertainment games in the "night". Some users may order some things without payment online because of the exquisite pictures, but after whole day working, the users feels meaningless and then cancel the order. These user's preferences changes is due to the context information of user behavior changes. Schilit (1995) divides the context information into three categories, such as computing context, user context,

and physical context. Chen (2000) considers that the time context information is another factor. Jonna (2005) divides the context information into five categories, i.e., physical environment, user goals, equipment application, link to person/service, and equipment connection. Kenta (2006) takes views of user's plan, time, user's friends, and external environment in a restaurant recommendation system. Zhang (2007) devises the context information in terms of user preference and context position, such context information refers to the ability to handle user terminal and wireless network. In a music recommendation system, Kim (2008) sets the context information as gender, age, location, time, weather, temperature and pulse for a music recommendation system. Adomavicius and Tuzhilin (2008) put forward the definition of context information and the different method of the user model when context information is constructed. Other scholars (Wang et al., 2012) also offer some research in the theory, methods, and applications of context aware systems, e.g., the New York University, University of Konstanz, the IBM Institute, and the Microsoft research institute. In summary, the diverse context information is appropriately set according to the specific object of research. We select the context information based on the time dimension, and research the change of time context information under user's interest changes, and then improve the traditional collaborative filtering algorithm. With the development of mobile Internet, the research of context information, especially it has great theoretical and practical significance of the context information in mobile environment.



Fig. 1. Ebbinghaus forgetting curve

2.3 User Preferences Attenuation Mechanism Base on Time

Time window mechanism from Song et al. (2006) believes that the user is only interested in recent accessing behavior. Kubat (2006) and Widmer (2007) have improved the time window method that the window size can be automatically adjusted with the change of system prediction accuracy changes. The forgetting function principle is the attenuation of the user's interest and preference by forgetting function. Michalski (2009) and Maloof (2010) use this method to achieve attenuation.

Ebbinghaus (1885) describes the speed of forgetting curve in Figure 1. This curve shows the time weight function is similar to the shape of the forgetting curve forgetting, it is a nonlinear function. The time weight function commonly used for linear function and a nonlinear function (Zheng, 2007; Yin, 2012). Hong and Li (2010) find that recommendation results of nonlinear forgetting functions are better than the linear functions. This paper will use the nonlinear forgotten time functions to improve collaborative filtering algorithm.

3 Methodology

3.1 Data Source and Data Collection

This research work adopts the movies rating dataset of Movielens provided by Minnesota University for our experiment on personalized recommendation. We selected the dataset of Movielens-100K, which contains 100,000 real rating scores for 1682 movies by 943 users. The data sparsity is 6.3%.

This study adopts the accuracy of recommendation as the evaluation index in the other word, the ration of intersection of the TOP-N recommended list and predicting set relative to TOP-N recommended list is better when bigger. The item of predicting set is visited by the user in real world, as defined in Equation (1).

$$p=|\text{List}\cap\text{Test}|N$$
 (1)

where N is the count of TOP-N recommended list. N=30.

3.2 Improvement on Time-Base Collaborative Filtering Algorithms

Time context information is introduced to improve the collaborative filtering algorithm on the time dimension. Our study takes the time weight function of users' interest attenuation and the time context weight of the user into consideration in the time to describe the impact on the users' preference, base on which the algorithm used to calculate the similarity between items in the collection can be improve. The following are details about how to decide the weight to improve the algorithm.

3.3 Improvement on time-based weight

Users' preferences decay over time. Compared with the early behavior, the recent behavior of user reflects a better user's interest, based on which, this paper introduce the user's-visit- time-base weight function describing the preference weight changes over time to improve the importance of recent behavior in recommendation. There are two types of weight function: Linear and Nonlinear. Linear function considers the user's preferences are forgetting linearly. Meanwhile the Nonlinear function thinks changes of user's preferences are nonlinearly. The research by YuHong (2010) shows that the algorithm of closely forgetting curve is superior to the linear function. That's why this paper chooses the nonlinear time function.

Defined by the curve, the attenuation function is a non-increasing function. Time function is defined in Equation (2).

$$f(u,t) = \frac{1}{1+\alpha|tui-tuj|}$$
(2)

where

 α : decay parameter

tui /tuj : behavior time of user u access the item i/j

f (T) will be smaller when ltui–tujl is bigger. The value of α can be decided according to the change of system user interest. Lager value means big change since smaller value means small change. The interest degree of user u on item j in the original item based collaborative filtering algorithm is expressed in Equation (3).

$$f(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{j}) = \sum_{i \in I_{\mathbf{u}}} r_{\mathbf{u}i} \sin(i, \mathbf{j})$$
(3)

where

Iu means the set of items accessed by user u

j means the predicting item

rui means the interest of user u on item i. rui will be 1 when the user u access the item i. After introducing the time decay function, the interest degree of user u on item i will change over time. K*j* means the neighbor items collection of item j. It can be calculated by Equation (4).

$$f(u, j, t) = \sum_{i \in I_u \cap K_j} sim(i, j) \frac{1}{1 + \alpha |t_0 - t_{ui}|}$$
(4)

where

t0 means the current time since tui means the time when user u accesses item i. α can be decided according to the situation.

3.4 Improvement on Resource-Based Weight

Because the users' early interest is similar with recent interest, this paper takes the similarity between items to measure the similarity between early and recent behavior. T means the recent time period of the user u. IuT is the set of the items accessed by user u in T. Iu means the whole set of the items accessed by user u. We got IuT \subseteq Iu. P(u'i) means the item-similarity-based weight since $i \in$ Iu. The average similarity between item $i \in$ Iu and the item $j \in$ IuT can be calculated by Equation (5).

$$p_{t}(u, i) = \frac{\sum_{j \in I_{uT}} sim(i, j)}{|I_{uT}|}$$
(5)

where

| IuT | means the count of the items recent accessed in T.

sim(i'j) means the similarity between item i and j, which can be calculated by Pearson correlation coefficient calculating formula:

$$sim(i, j) = \frac{\sum_{u \in I_{ij}} (R_{u, i} - \overline{R}_i)(R_{u, j} - \overline{R}_j)}{\sqrt{\sum_{u \in I_{ij}} (R_{u, i} - \overline{R}_i)^2} \sqrt{\sum_{u \in ij} (R_{u, j} - \overline{R}_j)^2}}$$

By measuring the similarity of the recent and early items accessed, we can figure out the influence on recent interest from the early interest. Sometimes, the interest is forgotten over time. But it can be evoked by the visual or other relevant stimuli, which will impact the users' recent behavior. The resource-based weight can improve the recommendation quality effectively.

3.5 Improvement on Time-Context-Based Information

The mobility of mobile device makes the contextual environment of the user changing dynamically. The interest and requirement will be different in the different contexture environment. For example, user will browser the news app after 18:00 on the metric and shop on line or play games at noon in the office and shop or have dinner outside at the weekend. So that introducing the time contextual information of the user into the recommendation system can help to figure out the users' interest and the weight of each interest.

We take the users' time contextual information into consideration to calculate the similarity of the time to decide the users' interest, which provide the useful information for the recommended results. The vector model was used to express the set of time contextual information collected by n time contextual information. Given TContext= {TC1, TC2, ..., TCn}, in which TCi={tc1, tc2, ..., tcn}, tci(1 $\leq i \leq n$) is a time contextual information at time I and tci is an attribute of the information. This paper category the accesses time by week, and calculate the access preference everyday within a week. The time context information can be described as TC={Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday, Friday, Saturday, Sunday}. Post to the time context information being defined, User-Time Matrix can be added into time division.

In the User-Time matrix, the task T as item I, the value of T is Ti, (i=0..6). The value in the matrix represents that user's interest degree in a day within a week. Base on this, we can get the time series similarity according to Pearson Correlation Coefficient.

3.6 Calculate User's Interest Preference Base on Items

This research work considers that user's interest preference changes based on time weight, item similar weight and time weight. Then the results can determine user preferences on items, judge the transfer direction of user interest more accurately and then provides a recommendation list more accurate for the users, improve the quality of recommendation system. Firstly the time context information was pre-filtered. Secondly get the time context information similarity set N(t) was retrieved. Finally calculate time weight function and item similarity weight according to the N (t). In the time weight function Tuj \in N (t), items of similar time T \in N (t), then u has access to items #i interest preference value user time context information as defined in Equation (6).

$$H(u,t,i) = \alpha 1 \times f(u,t) + \alpha 2 \times pt(u,i)$$
(6)

where

 α i(i=1, 2) \in [0,1] shows the weight under different factors;

 $\sum_i \alpha i = 1$ f(u,t) means that user #u interested in item #i attenuation degree with time and the time preference;

p(u,i) is the weight based on items similarity;

H(u,t,i)is user interest preference base on the time context information.

The three functions characterize the time context information influence on the user's interests in different aspects, by adjusting the weight values of α i to achieve more accurate recommendations.

4 Results

4.1 The Results of Experiment

Through many times experiments, we obtain the best weight value combination recommendation accuracy rate is 0.2667, then transform the value of TOP-N, validate the recommendation accuracy under different N value. By adjusting the number of items in the list of recommended, determined recommendation accuracy under different N value, the results as shown in Figure 2.



TOP-N numbers in recommendation list

Fig. 2. Recommendation accuracy under Time context information

When N=10, the highest recommendation accuracy rate is 0.3; When N=20, the highest recommendation accuracy rate is 0.25, achieved at a1>=0.8; When N=40, the highest recommendation accuracy rate is 0.268, achieved at a1>=0.5; When N=50, the highest recommendation accuracy rate is 0.28, achieved at a1=1.

Compared with the results produced from Yuhong (2010) and Xing et al. (2007) that do not contain the time context information and other scholars' research, our experimental results show that the recommendation accuracy was significantly higher than the accuracy without time context the comparison of the results, as shown in Figure 3.



Fig. 3. Recommendation accuracy without time context information

In our result, the recommendation accuracy is no less than 0.25 by improved collaborative filtering recommendation algorithm, even if N value changed in TOP-N recommended list, when N=10, the accuracy rate is the highest for the 0.3. This result is same as most of present e-commerce website recommendation number. Thus, it is obviously shows that users have different preferences under different time context information.

5 Conclusion

Mobile commerce will change people's life. Accessing to the information users' needs in a short period of time become the key value. In this paper mainly results as follows: 1) Apply the time context information to the traditional collaborative filtering algorithms. Established the three dimensional matrix of user-item-time (U-I-T) by pre filtering function and combining the processing time context information; 2) Convert all times information to one day of a week, and then confirm the user's time interest, and then find the item which was accessed the second time at that time point, these results can improve the recommendation accuracy effectively; and 3) Combined the time function and item similarity. The arbitrary time in the interval time functions is the number of days within a week. This method reflects more clearly that user preference is influenced by time context information. On the other hand, combined with the recent information mining. It can determine the impact of the recent behavior of the current user's interests.

The limitation of this paper is that the data source only can shows the visit behavior online. Therefore, the results of this paper needs more validation in actual scenario, such as mobile commerce. That is what I should improve in the future. And, I will continue to research in these problems: (1) accuracy and diversity of the recommendation algorithm. Currently, most of recommendation algorithms only consider recommending accuracy, while ignoring the diversity of the recommendation. But the user's interests are changeable. Therefore, it is lot of research work need to do on how to balance the two fetors the future balance is also a big problem. (2) The different explanation on different data sets. Different datasets shows different characteristics, the performance of various recommendation algorithms on these data sets will also have differences, the reason can be the further studied topics.

Acknowledgements. Our appreciation goes to Ziyi Wang for her valuable comments to this paper.

References

- 1. Abbar, S., Bouzeghoub, M., Lopez, S.: Context-Aware recommender systems: A serviceoriented approach. In: Proceedings of the VLDB Workshop on PersDBLyon (2009)
- Agrawal, R., Rantzau, R., Terzi, E.: Context-sensitive ranking. In: Proceedings of the 2006 ACM SIGMOD International Conference on Management of Data, pp. 383–394 (2006)
- Billsus, D., Pazzani, M.J.: Learning collaborative information filters. In: Proceedings of the 15th National Conference on Artificial Intelligence, vol. 4(20), pp. 235–259. AAAI Press, Menlo Park (1998)
- 4. Breese, J.S., Heckerman, D., Kadie, C.: Empirical analysis of predictive algorithms for collaborative filtering. In: Proceedings of the Fourteenth Conference on Uncertainty in Artificial Intelligence, vol. 461, pp. 143–162 (2008)
- Chien, Y.H., George, E.I.: A Bayesian model for collaborative filtering. In: Proceedings of the 7th Int. Workshop on Artificial Intelligence and Statistics, vol. 6(1), pp. 152–159 (1999)
- 6. Dey, A.K.: Understanding and using context. Personal and Ubiquitous Computing 8(10), 256–268 (2001)
- Getoor, L., Sahami, M.: Using probabilistic relational models for collaborative filtering. In: Proceedings of the Workshop Web Usage Analysis and User Profiling, vol. 9(12), pp. 134–147 (1999)
- Herlocker, J.L., Konstan, J.: Content-independent task-focused recommendation. IEEE Internet Computing, 240–257 (2001)
- Kim, J.H., Jung, K.Y., Ryu, J.K.: Design of Ubiquitous Music Recommendation System. In: Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Networked Computing and Advanced Information Management, pp. 250–263 (2008)
- Jani, J.: Collaboration in Context-Aware Mobile Phone Applications. Proceedings of the 38th Hawaii International Conference on System Science 5(13), 156–172 (2005)
- Oku, K., Nakajima, S., Miyazak, J.: Context-aware SVM for context-dependent information recommendation. In: Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Mobile Data Management, vol. 5(19), pp. 189–207 (2006)
- Kobsa, A.: Generic user modeling system: user modeling and user-adapted interaction. Information Research System 9(12), 143–165 (2001)
- Melville, P., Mooney, R.J., Nagarajan, R.: Content-boosted collaborative filtering for improved recommendations. In: Proceedings of the 18th Conference on Artificial Intelligence, vol. 5(15), pp. 243–264 (2002)
- Park, H.S., Yoo, J.O., Cho, S.B.: A context-aware music recommendation system using fuzzy Bayesian networks with utility theory. In: Proceedings of IEEE Fuzzy Systems and Knowledge Discovery (2006)

- Pavlov, D., Pennock, D.: A maximum entropy approach to collaborative filtering in dynamic, sparse and high dimensional domains. In: Proceedings of the 16th Annual Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems (2002)
- 16. Pazzani, M., Billsus, D.: Learning and revising user profiles: the identification of interesting web sites. Machine Learning (1997)
- 17. Stender, M., Ritz, T.: Modeling of B2B mobile commerce processes. International Journal of Production Economics 9(19), 359–372 (2006)
- Hong, Y., Yun, L.Z.: Collaborative filtering recommendation algorithm based on forgetting curve. Journal of Nanjing University 46(5), 34–38 (2010)
- Chunxiao, X., Fengrong, G., Zhan, S.N.: A collaborative filtering recommendation algorithm to adapt to the user interest change. Journal of Computer Research and Development 44(2), 10–14 (2007)

A Meta-heuristic Approach for Copper Price Forecasting

Fabián Seguel¹, Raúl Carrasco¹, Pablo Adasme¹, Miguel Alfaro², and Ismael Soto¹

¹ Department of Electrical Engineering, Universidad de Santiago de Chile, Avenida Ecuador 3519, Estación Central, Chile
² Department of Industrial Engineering, Universidad de Santiago de Chile, Avenida Ecuador 3769, Estación Central, Chile {Fabian.Seguelg, Raul.Carrasco.A, Pablo.Adasme Miguel.Alfaro, Ismael.Soto}@ usach.cl

Abstract. The price of copper and its variations represent a very important financial issue for mining companies and for the Chilean government because of its impact on the national economy. The price of commodities such as copper is highly volatile, dynamic and troublous. Due to this, forecasting is very complex. Using publicly data from October 24th of 2013 to August 29th of 2014 a multivaried based model using meta-heuristic optimization techniques is proposed. In particular, we use Genetic Algorithms and Simulated Annealing in order to find the best fitting parameters to forecast the variation on the copper price. A non-parametric test proposed by Timmermann and Pesaran is used to demonstrate the forecasting capacity of the models. Our numerical results show that the Genetic Algorithmic approach has a better performance than Simulated Annealing, being more effective for long range forecasting.

Keywords: Genetic Algorithms, Simulated Annealing, Forecasting, Simulated Annealing, Copper.

1 Introduction

As suggested by Adrian E. Drake: "*The increasing availability of computing power in the last two decades has been used to develop new techniques of forecasting*"¹. This paper presents a multivaried based model to forecast the copper price variation. For this purpose, we propose two meta-heuristic algorithmic approaches in order to find the best fitting parameters for our multivaried model.

The first one corresponds to a Genetic Algorithm (GA) which is inspired by natural selection [1]. Genetic algorithms were initially proposed by Holland [2] and have found applications in diverse areas such a process optimization [3], machine learning [4], and so on. Particularly, Recursive Genetic algorithms have been used for time

¹ Drake, Adrian E. Genetic Algorithms in Economics and Finance: Forecasting Stock Market Prices and Foreign Exchange: a Review. Sydney: Australian Graduate School of Management, University of New South Wales, 1998.

K. Liu et al. (Eds.): ICISO 2015, IFIP AICT 449, pp. 156-165, 2015.

[©] IFIP International Federation for Information Processing 2015

series forecasting in [5] while adjusting the parameters of a dynamic multivaried model [6]. The second one, is based on Simulated Annealing (SA) approach. In particular, SA has been combined with artificial neutral networks and fuzzy systems to forecast time series as well [7] [8]. As far as we know, it has never been used in order to adjust a dynamic multivaried model to forecast a financial time series.

Forecasting of copper price is an important task not only for investors, but also for the government and agents who are involved on copper mining businesses. Particularly, mining is one of the pillars of Chilean economy. Chile is the largest copper producer around the world² and the production of this product represents the 12.2% of the Gross Domestic Product (GDP)³.

The price of copper, as well as all the commodities, has a highly volatile, dynamic and troublous behavior making the forecasting a complex task. Antonino Parisi, Franco Parisi and David Díaz suggest that "…*transaction strategies based on forecast of the direction in the price level fluctuation are more effective and can generate higher benefits than those based on a specific price level prediction.*"⁴.

The proposed model uses both Genetic and Simulated Annealing algorithm procedure to forecast the sign of the variation on copper price. The publicly data used to this purpose correspond to copper price from October 24th of 2013 to August 29th of 2014 and Dow Jones price for the same period. The organization of the paper is as follows.

The methodology and model formulation is described in Section 2.The metaheuristic algorithms used to fit the model parameters are explained in Section 3. The analysis of the numerical results is explained in Section 4. A discussion section is presented in 5. Finally, the conclusions of the study are presented in Section 6.

2 Methodology

In this section, both the management of the data and the model formulation are presented. The non-parametric test and the sign predictive percentage are also explained and mathematically described.

2.1 Data Management

The publicly data obtained for copper and Dow Jones price corresponds to two hundred and twenty four observations from October 24th of 2013 to August 29th of 2014. The data was divided in two sets. The first one is used to train initially the multivaried model whereas the remaining data correspond to out-of-sample data and it is used to

² Edelstein, Daniel L. «US Geological Survey: Mineral Commodity Summaries - Copper» January 2012.

³ SOFOFA «Estructura de la industria Chilena». 2012 http://web.sofofa.cl/informacion-economica/indicadoreseconomicos/estructura-de-la-industria/

⁴ Parisi, Antonino and Parisi, Franco and Diaz, David, Forecasting Gold Price Changes: Rolling and Recursive Neural Network Models. Journal of Multinational Financial Management, Vol. 18, No. 5, pp. 477-487, November 26 2007

measure the predictive capacity of the model. Several models estimate their forecasting rates based on the entire amount of observations. In particular, the proposed model uses a "*Rolling operation*" methodology which means that the in-sample size remains constant to "n" samples. For each iteration, the algorithm includes the next observation and discards the oldest one. The rolling time considered in the present paper corresponds to n = 45 observations. By doing this, a recently added sample is considered by the model and the oldest one is discarded. Therefore, our model can predict until a three-step ahead forecasting.

2.2 Model Formulation

A dynamic multivaried model is proposed to forecast the price variation of copper considering the past four variations on the copper price and Dow Jones. For this purpose, we first define the variation on the copper price at instant "t" as

$$\nabla \mathbf{C} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{t}} = \mathbf{C} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{t}} - \mathbf{C} \mathbf{u}_{\mathsf{t-1}} \,. \tag{1}$$

Where

VCut:	Variation on the copper price from $t - 1$ to t .
Cu _t :	Copper price at time t .
Cu _{p-1} :	Copper price at time $t - 1$.

Similarly, the variation of Dow Jones price at time "t" is defined as

$$\nabla \mathsf{Dow} = \mathsf{Dow}_{\mathsf{t}} - \mathsf{Dow}_{\mathsf{t}-1} \,. \tag{2}$$

Where

VDow _t :	Variation on the Dow Jones price from $t - 1$ to t .
Dow _t :	Dow Jones price at time t.
Dow _{t-1} :	Dow Jones price at time $t - 1$.

To forecast the variation on the copper price, we use the past four variations on the copper price, Dow Jones price and the error of the forecasted prices. The model can be expressed formally as

$$\nabla \overline{\mathbf{Cu}}_{t} = \sum_{i=1}^{4} \beta_{\mathbf{d}_{i}} \nabla \mathbf{Dow}_{t-i} + \beta_{\mathbf{e}_{i}} \nabla \mathbf{Cu}_{t-i} + \beta_{\mathbf{e}_{i}} \varepsilon_{t-i} .$$
(3)

Where

	€ _{t−i} =	VCu _t .	. <u>i</u> — Vi	Cu _{t-j} .				
∈ _{t−i} :	Error	on	the	past	forecasted	variations	obtained	as
VCu _{t-1} :	Real v	ariatic	on on t	he copp	er price at tin	ne t — i .		
VDow _{t−1} :	Real v	Real variation on the Dow Jones price at time t – i.						
VCu _t	Foreca	sted v	variatio	on on th	e copper price	2.		

 β_{4} , β_{4} and β_{4} are parameters determined by using the meta-heuristic approaches.

The parameters are adjusted within three steps as follows:

- 1) The parameters of the model are obtained for the "n" samples.
- 2) Then, a one (two or three) step ahead price is forecasted.
- 3) Subsequently, the new observation is added on the in-sample data and the oldest value is discarded. Steps 1) and 2) are repeated.

This method requires to be adjusted permanently with new real data. The model parameters are not supplied in this paper, but only the sign predictive percentage is reported in Section 3.1.

2.3 Sign Prediction Percentage

As it was exposed in Section 1, determining the sign of the variation of copper price is an effective strategy which allows generating higher benefits. To determine the sign variation percentage of each forecasted period we use the following equation

$$SPP = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \Theta(\nabla Cu_{i} \cdot \nabla \overline{Cu_{i}})}{m} * 100\%.$$
(4)

Where

SPP:	Sign prediction percentage.				
VCut:	Variation on the price of copper from $t - 1$ to t				
VCu _t	Forecasted variation on the price of copper.				
0 <u>0</u> :	The Heavyside function where $\Theta(\nabla Cu_t \cdot \nabla Cu_t) = 1$ if				
	$\nabla Cu_t \cdot \nabla \overline{Cu}_t > 0$ and $\Theta(\nabla Cu_t \cdot \nabla \overline{Cu}_t) = 0$ if $\nabla Cu_t \cdot \nabla \overline{Cu}_t < 0$.				
m:	Number of forecasts made.				

In case, the **SPP** is lower than 50% the predicted variation on the copper price will have the opposite sign of the model $(-\sqrt[3]{Cu}_t)$. Due to this the prediction percentage is obtained by

$$SPP = \max(SPP, 1 - SPP).$$
(5)

2.4 Non-parametric Test of Predictive Performance

Pesatan and Timmermann proposed a non-parametric test of predictive performance based on the correct direction of the forecasted variable [9] (Directional accuracy). This procedure proves the null hypothesis that the observed variations on the price are independently distributed from the forecasted variations. If the hypothesis is rejected, it means that there is statistical evidence that the model is able to forecast a future variation on the price. The Pesatan and Timmermann test compares the sign of the real variation on the price and the sign of the forecasted variation on the price. In order to obtain the real positive variations on the copper price, we use the equation (6) 160 F. Seguel et al.

$$\mathbf{P} = \frac{\sum \mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{r}} \theta(\mathbf{v} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{r}})}{\mathbf{m}} . \tag{6}$$

Where

P: Percentage of the real positive variation on the price of copper.

Similarly, the percentage of positive variations on the forecasted price is obtained by means of

$$\overline{\mathbf{P}} = \frac{\Sigma \underline{\mu}_{\mathbf{t}} \theta(\overline{\mathbf{v}} \overline{\mathbf{c}} \underline{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathbf{t}})}{\mathbf{m}}.$$
(7)

Where

 $\overline{\mathbf{P}}$: Percentage of the forecasted positive variation on the copper price.

Furthermore, the success ratio index (SRI) when the forecasted variations and the real variations on the price are independently distributed is obtained by means of

$$SRI = \mathbf{P} \cdot \overline{\mathbf{P}} + (\mathbf{1} - \mathbf{P}) \cdot (\mathbf{1} - \overline{\mathbf{P}}). \tag{8}$$

The variance of **M** rate is obtained by means of equation (9) as follows

$$\operatorname{var}(SRI) = \frac{\left(n(2\overline{p}-1)^{2}\overline{p}(1-\overline{p})+n(2\overline{p}-1)^{2}\overline{p}(1-\overline{p})+4p\overline{p}(1-\overline{p})(1-\overline{p})\right)}{m^{2}}.$$
 (9)

Consequently, the variance on the success ratio (SPP) is defined as

$$\operatorname{var}(\operatorname{SPP}) = \frac{\operatorname{SRI}(1 - \operatorname{SRI})}{m}.$$
 (10)

Finally, the directional accuracy test (DAT) is given by the equation

$$DAT = \frac{SPP-SRI}{\sqrt{var(SPP)-var(SR0)}} \sim N(0,1).$$
(11)

This test follows a standard normal distribution and it is used to prove the null hypothesis that the forecasted prices are independently distributed. This means, the larger the value of DAT the better the accuracy of the model.

3 Meta-Heuristic Optimization Algorithms

In this section, the meta-heuristic optimization algorithms used to adjust the model parameters are briefly described.

(12)

3.1 Genetic Algorithm

Genetic algorithms were initially proposed by Holland in 1975 [2]. A genetic algorithm is a meta-heuristic approach inspired by Darwin's theory which is based on the survival of the fittest [1]. Genetic Algorithms use a direct analogy of natural evolution. A possible solution is codified as an individual and each individual is composed of variables (or chromosomes). Each individual will have as many chromosomes as variables in the problem. In order to obtain an initial solution for the problem, a population of individuals is generated randomly. The population is modified within each iteration of the algorithm depending on the following operators:

1. Fitness Function: The fitness function (objective function) must be defined. In this particular optimization problem there are no constraints on the optimization problem. Thus, the fitness function is defined as:

max SPP

- 2. Selection: A portion of the existing population is selected. The best solutions are more likely to be selected as parents for the next generation.
- 3. Crossover: Crossover combines the chromosomes of each parent in order to create new solutions called offsprings.
- 4. Mutation. Some offsprings are randomly modified by a mutation process. Mutation changes a particular gen on the chromosome. The mutation operator enables the population to explore new zones of the feasible space.

The process is continuously repeated creating new generations of individuals until a stopping criteria is met. In this particular problem the stopping criteria selected was four hundred generations of individuals. In particular, Genetic Algorithms have been previously used on financial forecasting [6] [10].

3.2 Simulated Annealing

Simulated Annealing is a meta-heuristic optimization method proposed independently by Scott Kirkpatrick, C. Daniel Gelatt and Mario P. Vecchi in 1983 and by Vlado Černý in 1985 [11] [12]. The Simulated Annealing algorithm is inspired from the process of annealing in the metallurgical industry. It starts with an initial high temperature and then it slowly decreases during the execution of the algorithm. This reduction allows the algorithm to explore the solution space and avoid a possible local optimal. As the temperature is reduced so is the chance of accepting worse solutions. This temperature reduction allows the algorithm to focus on areas of the solution space where the global optimum may lie. Simulated Annealing has not been applied for multivaried dynamic models, however it has been mixed with fuzzy models [7] and artificial neural networks [8] for time series forecasting. Similarly, as in our genetic algorithmic approach, we use the objective function given by the equation (12) and the stopping criteria selected was four hundred iterations.

4 Numerical Results

The numerical results are presented in two subsections. The first one summarizes the model results for the adjustment of the parameters using in-sample data while the second one summarizes the forecasting results of the out-of-sample data.

4.1 In-sample Data Results

For each time step the model parameters where adjusted in order to maximize the SPP. A total of one hundred and seventy nine different iterations were performed using the multivaried model. Figure 1 shows the values of SPP for each iteration of the model.



Fig. 1. a) Sign Predictive Percentage using Genetic algorithm. b) Sign Predictive Percentage using Simulated Annealing

From the numerical results presented in Figure 1a), the SPP is larger than 50% when using Genetic Algorithms for all the iterations. In Figure 1b), we observe similar trends when using Simulated Annealing approach. For in-sample data the Genetic Algorithmic approach has a sign predictive performance mean of 66.96% while Simulated Annealing has a mean of 64.59%. This clearly shows that the genetic algorithmic approach is more effective.

4.2 Out-of-Sample Data Results

With the out-of-sample data, we compute the sign prediction percentage and perform the directional accuracy test for one, two and three step ahead forecasting. Table 1 shows the performances obtained.

One Step Ahead							
Model	SPP (%)	DAT	p-value of DAT				
Genetic Algorithm	57.54%	2.0282	0.05100				
Simulated Annealing	58.10%	2.1724	0.03768				
Two Steps Ahead							
Model	SPP (%)	DAT	p-value of DAT				
Genetic Algorithm	57.54%	1.9773	0.0564				
Simulated Annealing	50.28%	0.03135	0.3987				
Three Steps Ahead							
Model	SPP (%)	DAT	p-value of DAT				
Genetic Algorithm	53.63%	0.9772	0.2474				
Simulated Annealing	51.40%	0.3211	0.3788				

 Table 1. Sign predictive percentage and directional accuracy test for one, two and three step ahead forecasting obtained with Genetic and Simulated Annealing approaches

In Table 1, column 1 presents the name of the algorithmic approach. Column 2 shows the SPP values obtained in percentage. Finally, in columns 4 and 5 we present the values obtained for the DAT and p-values for the DAT, respectively. For the one hundred and sixty nine forecasted variations, the Genetic Algorithm has a Sign Predictive Performance of 57.54%, 57.54% and 53.63% for one, two and three step ahead forecasting, respectively. While the Directional Accuracy tests are 2.0282, 1.9773 and 0.9772 for one, two and three steps ahead forecasting, respectively. These values prove that the predictive capacity of the model is useful up to two steps ahead forecasting.

On the other hand, the Simulated Annealing based model has a Sign Predictive Performance of 58.1%, 50.28% and 51.40% and a Directional Accuracy Test of 2.1724, 0.03135 and 0.3211 for one, two and three steps ahead forecasting, respectively. These values prove that the model can be used only for one step ahead forecasting while using Simulated Annealing.

5 Discussion

Other authors have adapted their forecasting models by using genetic algorithms [13] [14]. Nevertheless, there are still meta-heuristic approaches which have not yet been tested in order to compare their performances with Genetic Algorithms. Both algorithms used the same model to predict future prices. In the current literature, different models and their advantages to forecast future price of commodities based on the spot prices are well described [15] [16]. However, the algorithms used to adapt these models have not been compared in order to guarantee that the decision of using genetic algorithms is the
right choice. This paper compares Simulated Annealing and Genetic Algorithms in a dynamic multivaried model. Both have been compared for learning problems showing that Simulated Annealing found meanly better solutions than Genetic Algorithms in less computational cost [17] [18]. In this paper, we confirm that the Genetic Algorithmic approach is the right choice as it gives better solutions when compared to Simulated Annealing for short and long range forecasting. Finally, the decision maker can use the adapted parameters in order to forecast future copper prices using the equation (3) proposed in subsection 2.2.

6 Conclusions

In this article, we proposed two different meta-heuristic approaches to forecast the variation on the copper price. The proposed model requires to be adjusted every time the copper price changes. An initial adjusted model would not have the capability of forecast many steps in the future if it does not have the most recent information about the copper price behavior. Genetic Algorithms have proved be an efficient optimization approach to forecast time series. In particular, when compared with another meta-heuristic optimization technique such as Simulated Annealing as it has proved to be superior for short and long range forecasting. Forecasting on the copper price can increase the return and reduce the risk associated with the transactions of this base metal. Therefore, this methodology can be used on a real scenario. As future research, we plan to use Genetic Algorithms hybridized with nonlinear model architectures such as Non-linear autoregressive with exogenous input networks (NARX) for long range forecasting.

Acknowledgments. The authors acknowledge the financial support of the "Center for Multidisciplinary Research on Signal Processing" (CONICYT/ACT1120 Project) and the USACH/DICYT 061413SG Project.

References

- 1. Darwin, C.: The Origin of Species. Penguin Classics (1859)
- 2. Holland, J.H.: Adaptation in Natural and Artificial Systems. University of Michigan Press, Ann Arbor (1975)
- Kumar, M.P., Vijayachitra, S.: Process optimization using genetic algorithm. In: 2009 International Conference on Control, Automation, Communication and Energy Conservation, INCACEC 2009, June 4-6, pp. 1–6 (2009)
- Chisholm, K.J., Bradbeer, P.V.G.: Machine learning using a genetic algorithm to optimise a draughts program board evaluation function. In: IEEE International Conference on Evolutionary Computation, April 13-16, pp. 715–720 (1997)
- Chai, C.T., Chuek, C.H., Mital, D.P., Huat, T.T.: Time series modelling and forecasting using genetic algorithms. In: Proceedings of the 1997 First International Conference on Knowledge-Based Intelligent Electronic Systems, KES 1997, May 27-23, vol. 1, pp. 260–268 (1997)

- Parisi, A., Parisi, F., Cornejo, E.: Algoritmos genéticos y modelos multivariados recursivos en la predicción de índices bursátiles de América del norte: IPC, TSE, NASDAQ Y DJI*. El Trimestre Económico. Fondo De Cultura Economica. 2004. HighBeam Research (October 8, 2014)
- Almaraashi, M., John, R., Coupland, S., Hopgood, A.: Time series forecasting using a TSK fuzzy system tuned with simulated annealing. In: 2010 IEEE International Conference on Fuzzy Systems (FUZZ), pp. 1–6 (July 2010)
- Wu, J.-Y.: Advanced simulated annealing-based BPNN for forecasting chaotic time series. In: 2010 International Conference on Electronics and Information Engineering (ICEIE), August 1-3, vol. 1, pp. V1-38–V1-43 (2010)
- Pesaran, M.H., Timmermann, A.: A Simple Nonparametric Test of Predictive Performance. Journal of Business & Economic Statistics 10(4), 461–465 (1992)
- Jeong, B., Jung, H.-S., Park, N.-K.: A computerized causal forecasting system using genetic algorithms in supply chain management. J. Syst. Softw. 60(3), 223–237 (2002)
- Kirkpatrick, S., Gelatt Jr, C.D., Vecchi, M.P.: Optimization by Simulated Annealing. Science 220(4598), 671–680 (1983)
- 12. Černý, V.: Thermodynamical Approach to the Traveling Salesman Problem: An Efficient Simulation Algorithm. Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications, 41–51
- Jeong, B., Jung, H., Park, N.: A computerized causal forecasting system using genetic algorithms in supply chain management 60, 223–237 (2002)
- 14. Khadka, M.S., Popp, B., George, K.M., Park, N.: A New Approach For Time Series Forecasting Based on Genetic Algorithm
- Chakriya Bowman and Aasim M. Husain.: Forecasting Commodity Prices: Futures Versus Judgment. International Monetary Foung (March 2004)
- Reeve, T.A., Vigfusson, R.J.:Evaluating the Forecasting Performance of Commodity Futures Prices. Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. International Finance Discussion Papers, Number 1025 (August 2011)
- Ghazanfari, M., Alizadeh, S., Fathian, M., Koulouriotis, D.E.: Comparing simulated annealing and genetic algorithm in learning FCM. Appl. Math. Comput. 192(1), 56–68 (2007)
- Soares, S., Antunes, C.H., Araújo, R.: Comparison of a genetic algorithm and simulated annealing for automatic neural network ensemble development. Neurocomputing 121, 498–511 (2013)

Complexity Management in the Semiconductor Supply Chain and Manufacturing Using PROS Analysis

Can Sun^{1, 2}, Thomas Rose^{1, 3}, Hans Ehm², and Stefan Heilmayer²

¹ RWTH Aachen University, Templergraben 55, 52062 Aachen, Germany ² Infineon Technologies AG, Am Campeon 1-12, 85579 Neubiberg, Germany ³ Fraunhofer FIT, Schloss Birlinghoven, 53754 Sankt Augustin, Germany {Can.Sun, Hans.Ehm, Stefan.Heilmayer}@infineon.com, Thomas.Rose@fit.fraunhofer.de

Abstract. Supply chain complexity is a rising problem, especially in the semiconductor industry. Many innovative activities occur in the daily supply chain and manufacturing, and these changes inevitably bring in the complexities to the organization. But not all of them are valuable to the business goals. Decision makers want to keep value-added complexity and reduce non-value-added complexity. To manage the complexity, we propose a framework with four steps from changes identification towards the final decision making. The core solution of this framework is PROS (process, role, object, state) idea, which provides an understandable and structural way to describe the complexity. A simplified small real example from semiconductor supply chain is used to demonstrate this approach. The results indicate that the PROS idea is able to analyze complexity from different aspects and extract most key information; however, how to measure the structural complexity of a large complex system without complete information is still under investigation.

Keywords: supply chain complexity, change management, process model, complexity assessment, semiconductor industry.

1 Introduction

The semiconductor industry is considered to be one of the most complex industries. From the raw material of silicon to the advanced semiconductor chips, there are more than 500 processing steps involved in the manufacturing. It also faces a highly volatile and turbulent market due to economic cycles, which bring the challenge to manage dynamic production environments with the pace of change in the industry [1], [2], [3].

The semiconductor supply chain is characterized by long throughput times, high levels of stochasticity, non-linearity in the manufacturing process [4], and short product life cycles. These all lead to complexity to be managed in the supply chain. It is reflected as: network complexity (e.g. multiple production sites and global distribution centers), process complexity (manufacturing and business processes), product complexity (e.g. about 10,000 Stock keeping units and 500,000 order line item buckets), organizational complexity (e.g. many geographic regions with various tax and customs regulations), and

information complexity (data structure and information flow) [5]. And all of them are interlinked.

Managing complexity in the supply chain adds value to business. According to A.T. Kearney's report, companies can increase their Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) by 3 to 5 percent on average through systematic complexity management [6]. Many changes via innovations are ongoing in operational, tactical and strategic supply chain activities and thus complexities are added but not all of them are valuable to the business goals. Therefore, we need to distinguish: the "good" complexity which adds value to the supply chain whereas the "bad" one does not. Value-adding ("good") complexity offers ways to meet customer demands and create a real competitive advantage; while value-destroying ("bad") complexity dissatisfy customers and sends the company into chaos and confusion [6], [7]. These two different categories of complexity should be controlled efficiently to create value; for the value-destroying complexity, the part that does not add value needs to be eliminated, reduced and minimized [8], [9], and avoided in the early phase of generation.

In reality these two types of complexity often occur together and thus a strategic balance is demanding, e.g., lead firms increase complexity by placing new demands on the value chain and in parallel adopt strategies to reduce the complexity of these transactions [10]. This brings the challenges to detect the complexity-added part and then to evaluate them in order to get rid of the non-valuable parts and support decision making.

1.1 Research Question

My research aims to manage the complexities from the computer science view. By tracking the changes on the system level, the complexity drivers can be identified and described in a systematic way. After all the key information related to complexity being captured and structured, we can assess the complexity through selected instruments and categorize it as a value-added complexity or not. In the end, the results should be validated and thus can support decision making by applying corresponding strategies (e.g. reduce complexity, avoid complexity, etc.).

1.2 Status of Problem Domain and Related Solutions

Much relevant research has been done on complexity management. Literature shows that most analysis is on the theoretical level based on an abstract model instead of operational excellence on the practical level [11]. However, the mapping process from "a real complex problem" to "a defined model for complexity" is not much explored.

Research on change management is mostly analyzed from the organizational view [12], small amount is viewed from the system engineering field, which is more related to the business process re-engineering and process management [13] and provides certain process meta-models or patterns for change management [14].We are more interested in the latter direction, however, the connection between *model of system change* and the *complexity management* is not obvious.

Complexity in a supply chain is often viewed from three aspects: product, process and organization [15], [16], [17]. Research on the complexity analysis usually focuses on certain aspects, e.g. product variety, while it is not common to consider the complexity from a holistic view. Considering the inter-dependencies of different aspects of complexity, we prefer to use a comprehensive approach to capture all the important features of a complex system.

Regarding the methods and instruments of complexity assessment, much research is on the strategic level and only provides qualitative evaluation; some quantitative methods are available but still lack practicability and tools [11], [15], [18], [19]. To support decision making, we are also interested in the implementation details, such as, formal indicators and structural measurement.

From above analysis, it is seen that there is a gap between the existing approaches to handle complex problems and our objective. Therefore, we bring in a framework including 4 steps to manage complexity: 1) Identify complexity caused by changes 2) Represent complexity 3) Assess complexity via developed instruments 4) Evaluate and support decision making. In this paper we address the first three steps on a real problem from semiconductor industry, which are also expected to be beneficial in the last stage of decision making. And in the second step a proposed conceptual model called PROS to describe complexity is highlighted.

2 Proposed approach

2.1 Identification of Changes and Complexity

Change is one of the main reasons to cause the complexity, so our research starts from the change analysis. The goal of this step is to capture the complexity caused by changes on the detailed level. Two parts related to changes should be considered: the change itself and its impact to the system. The change itself, also referred to as the initial change or one-time-change, means the "effort to implement a change", which normally only execute once. For the impact of change, it is "the potential consequence of a change on a system or what needs to be modified of a system in order to accomplish a change" [20]. This often requires executing affected processes regularly in order to maintain the change of system. Both change related parts usually lead to increased complexity. The output of this step is the added processes during the initial change phase; and the affected processes during the maintenance phase.

2.2 Information Extraction and Representation – PROS Idea

The purpose of this step is to represent the complexity in a structural way without losing any important information. System models are employed to formalize the complexities receiving from the 1st phase using modeling language such as SysML.

The premise to accurately describe supply chain complexity is to define the boundary of the complex system and its environment. We adopt a system delimitation technique from a generic Systems Engineering (SE) methodology to define the environment and intervention system [21], [22]. Some similar approaches, e.g., a knowledge representation language called Telos [23] can also be used to distinguish the environment in a later stage.

Once the investigation area is reduced, we can identify the elements and their relationships using the system consideration of SE. Then we develop a conceptual model called PROS (Process, Role, Object, State), which defines the basic elements and relationships in a complex system.

The idea of PROS originated from Object Process Methodology (OPM) [24], [25]. OPM defines three basic entities: objects with states and processes. Among them objects and processes are higher-level building blocks, while states are always associated with objects and cannot be state-alone. It can be used to model the complex dynamic systems and embedded into other models for specified application [26].

Also we notice that supply chain is similar to economic, ecological, and social systems, which are characterized by interactive "agents" (roles) [27], [28]. Therefore, we assume role is as important as the object and process, while OPM only handles human as an instance of object. Comparing with OPM, PROS also considers the human behaviors and their initiatives.

PROS model is characterized by entities, relationships and constraints.

Entities. A Process is a pattern of transformation that an object undergoes; A Role is a person to execute a process. This definition can be extended to: A role could be a person, a department, a customer, a supplier or any other group of persons or a software tool to execute a process. An Object is a thing that has the potential of stable, unconditional physical or mental existence. A State is a situation or position at which the object can exist for a period of time.

Relationships. We customize the OPM relationship set [24] for our purpose and define 6 relevant pairs of relations: Process-Process, Process-Role, Process-State, Process-Object, Object-Object, Object-State. For each pair, there are one or more sub-relationships. E.g., there are several different types of Process-State relationships. The attributes of these relationships are also defined: name, direction, symbols, dynamics, etc.

Constraints. Two constraints are highlighted: Cardinality and Relationship rule. Cardinality defines 3 types of data structure: one-to-one relationship, one-to-many relationship and many-to-many relationship. Relationship rules imply that all the relationship definitions should follow the rules of the above 6 pairs strictly. The cardinality constraints and relationship rule can be used together.

PROS Diagram and Prototype. In working with complex problems we found out that representation is an important goal for PROS. Thus we design a PROS diagram to visualize the entities and their relationships, which can be viewed as the integration of the use case and object diagram of UML notations. We also developed a prototype as shown in Fig.1. The layout divides the canvas into 5 areas, and each contains one independent diagram. In the area marked with 1, the navigation of the whole object diagram is shown. Area 2 shows the navigation of the complete process diagram. Area 3 shows the dynamic object and state diagram for a running process. It reflects the details and changes of the objects during the processing. Area 4 shows the roles involved in the process. Area 5 shows the running step for the process. Area 1 and 2

do not change during the whole process analysis, only the analyzed area of processes and objects is highlighted. Other areas change with the process step in analysis.

PROS analysis normally starts with the process aspect, similar to other system modeling languages like BPMN and UML. Besides this process-oriented analysis, the human-oriented analysis can also be applied. Agent-based modeling and simulation is a widely used technique to formalize the human (agents in broad definition) behavior and their interactions [29]. Another technique is goal-oriented modeling, e.g., *i*-Star approach can analyze the agents from the view of their personal goals and what activities could be done in order to achieve these goals [30].



Fig. 1. Visualization Prototype for PROS

The results of the PROS analysis contain most key information from a complex system and which can be used as an input for the assessment step.

2.3 Structural Complexity Measurement Using PROS

Structural complexity is about the complexity resulting from physical interconnection of components. It belongs to the physical domain and can be directly calculated from the elements and the relationships among them [15], [31]. Since this information can be received from the step 2, we can at least calculate the complexity oriented from elements (states of a system) and the complexity oriented from relationships (number of all connections). A further step measure is to calculate the entropy of statistical complexity based on the Shannon information theory [18].

Besides the basic quantity (size) information, we assume that the structural complexity is also decided by the attributes of each individual element, such as category, importance or diversity, and whether it is interrelated to the rest of system. We also need to highlight the impact of roles (often humans), as their behaviors can lead to uncertainty and thus complexity of the system. To be able to distinguish the complexity impact of different roles, we added a weight value for each role by considering the number of involved processes [32].

3 Case Study

3.1 Shared reticle vs. Mono Reticle

We select a case from semiconductor manufacturing to explain how complexity is generated. A set of reticles (up to 35) is needed to produce a wafer. In this paper we call the reticle set "reticle" for simplicity. Comparing with the as-is solution with mono reticle, an alternative solution using shared reticle could produce more products on one wafer, and thus reduce the quantity of reticles required. The reduction of reticle costs decreases manufacturing costs substantially.

There is certain degree of truth that, shared reticle technology is cost beneficial, but the flip side of the coin is that the change process from mono reticle to share reticle is not that simple. For example, certain processes need to be updated, people need to be motivated to accept the changes, etc., which leads to increased complexities.

Before making decision to adopt the shared reticle solution or not, it is necessary to assess its increased supply chain complexity and evaluate whether the reduced reticle cost offsets the increased complexity.

The cost saving from the economic view is given on monetary values; however, the change process and its increasing complexity are not systematically assessed. Current Business Process Management (BPM) solution cannot reflect all aspects of the complex problem, while other supply chain process models are not detailed on the operational level. This gap hinders the making of high-quality decisions.

3.2 Results Achieved so Far

By following the framework provided in section 2, we have achieved some intermediate results, which are mainly centered on the changes and complexities identification and measurement.

Changes and Complexity Identification and Presentation. The change management can be analyzed from the aspects of process, organization (roles) via PROS.

The process analysis follows the supply chain operations reference-model (SCOR) model, the most widely accepted framework for standardization in supply chain management, developed by the Supply Chain Council¹. It defines the first three levels of supply chain processes. The top level has 5 processes: *Plan, Source, Make, Deliver* and *Return*. Each level-1 process has 10-20 level-2 processes and spans multiple level-3 and 4 processes. Processes below level 3 are defined by the companies themselves. Following the SCOR model, the major processes of shared reticle up to level 4 can be identified.

Considering around all 500 steps of Produce and Test Process (sub-process of Make) related to wafer manufacturing with mono and shared reticle, it can be roughly said that 480 steps are not changed. Complexity is mainly added in the Test process (for simplicity step 480 to 490) and the Optical Control process (for simplicity step

¹ http://www.apics.org/sites/apics-supply-chain-council

490 to 500). For the Plan Process, the overall planning including short-term plan and mid-term plan need to be changed; and Front End Plan needs to be rescheduled.

The main affected processes and their added complexities are listed in Table 1. It is important to highlight which types of change the complexity belongs to, as this would be part of assessment on the next stage.

0			
SCOR	Process Changed	Added complexity	СТ
Model			
Layer			
1.1.2	Make-Front End-Test	Equipment reprogramming in order to manage the changes	
1.1.2	Make-Front End-Test	For shared reticle, in testing at least every second product is different and thus the testing process needs to be switched too.	R
1.1.3	Make-Front End –Optical Control	Equipment update	0
1.1.3	Make-Front End –Optical Control	Training the operators	0
1.1.3	Make-Front End –Optical Control	More operators are allocated to work with optical inspections systems	0
1.1.3	Make-Front End –Optical Control	Monitor the optical inspection systems	R
2.1.1	Plan- Production Program	Overall planning processes are changed	0
2.1.1	Plan- Production Program	Execute the changed planning processes	R

Table 1. Shared reticle: added complexity (CT means Change Types, O is one-time-change and R is regular maintenance)

We also notice that the stakeholders' attitudes towards these affected processes may influence the new solution and thus lead to complexity. Research shows people may not like change or may not adopt changes [33], [34]. Therefore, we need to consider the human goals in order to measure complexity accurately in the next step.

Based on the interviews and process analysis, we identify the key stakeholders involved in the change project and assess their interests. Here a goal-oriented modeling approach is employed, e.g., *i*-Star can be used to analyze personal goals and behaviors of alternative solutions [30]. For each stakeholder, first we analyze their goals and corresponding actions, and then we can check how these actions benefit or hurt their goals. By doing that the relationships among stakeholders are detected too. One part of our result shows that, test engineer does not like to accept the change as it hurts his goal while the development engineer is motivated for this change.

The main object involved in this change is wafer and its states are related to the different stages of manufacturing process steps.

PROS approach can be used as a guide to obtain the key elements of processes, roles and objects, as well as different relationships. We could gain this information:

- Description about the stakeholders and their goals
- Description about the changed process

- Description about the objects and their states involved in the processes
- Partial information about the dependencies network

Complexity assessment. We can get statistic information from above analysis, e.g., the change includes 4 processes and 10 sub-processes, 7 roles and 2 objects with 10 states. Using the measurement methodology proposed in section 2.3, we can calculate its element complexity. However, for the relationships among these elements, it is not easy to detect all dependencies within a large complex system.

Besides that, we should measure the different types of process changes separately. Table 1 shows two types of changes: the one-time-change needs only to be calculated once, while the regular maintenance needs to be calculated periodically.

To evaluate whether the benefits of a new solution outweigh the added complexity, we could calculate the deviated complexity from two solutions (the changes part) and compare it with the saved costs. For example, if the cost of added complexity is smaller than the saved reticle benefits, we can identify "switch to shared reticle" as a value-adding complexity, otherwise, it is the value-destroying complexity.

3.3 Discussion

It is seen from above analysis, PROS approach helps to analyze from different aspects: the processes and their required changes, people and their conflicts. However, for a large complex system, it is not feasible to use an exhaustive method to detect all relationships between elements. How to estimate the relationship intelligently (sufficiently accurate within a given time) is still a challenge for us.

The lessons learned focus on two areas: 1) each aspect of a complex problem can be detailed and deeply analyzed by following a certain model or method - e.g., process analysis with SCOR, role analysis with goal-oriented mode. For large systems the accuracy within a given time is a challenge. 2) The qualitative analysis is not sufficient for decision making, to make better decision we need to quantify complexity oriented from all aspects of a system. The PROS approach is promising but a formula ending up with a complexity number is still missing.

4 Conclusion and Future Work

This paper introduces a framework to manage supply chain complexity from computer science view, which sets up a connection between change management and complexity management. We conclude that complexity should be managed from a systematic view instead of the single aspect.

The core part of this framework is the PROS conceptual model, which represents and visualizes the complex system by capturing its important elements and relationships. It can supplement the quantitative complexity measurement by separating it into the elements and relationships part. Calculating the numerous relationships in a large system requires more sophisticated methodologies.

An industrial case from the semiconductor industry with two alternative solutions is analyzed from different aspects and the measurement of added complexity is discussed in order to select the optimal solution. The framework is not limited to the semiconductor industry or supply chain field and could be extended to a broad area: project management, organization changes, government policy analysis, etc.

In future research we optimize the PROS approach to larger systems and improve the quantitative measurement of complexity. Two aspects will be addressed: 1) Understand and track the dynamic interaction between elements. 2) Investigate the weight value of human behaviors and their impact, and other components leading to uncertainties and thus complexity of the system.

References

- Uzsoy, R., Lee, C.Y., Martin-Vega, L.A.: A Review Of Production Planning And Scheduling Models In The Semiconductor Industry Part I: System Characteristics, Performance Evaluation And Production Planning. IIE Transactions 24(4), 47–60 (1992)
- Bauer, H., Kouris, I., Schlögl, G., Sigrist, T., Veira, J., Wee, D.: Mastering Variability In Complex Environments. Mckinsey Semiconductors (Autumn 2011)
- Emami-Naeini, A., De Roover, D.: Control in Semiconductor Wafer Manufacturing. In: Proc. Symposium To Honor Bill Wolovich, 47th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, Cancun, Mexico (2008)
- Wang, W., Rivera, D.E.: Model Predictive Control For Tactical Decision-Making In Semiconductor Manufacturing Supply Chain Management. IEEE Transactions On Control Systems Technology 16(5), 841–855 (2008)
- Christopher, M.: The Agile Supply Chain: Competing In Volatile Markets. Industrial Marketing Management 29(1), 37–44 (2000)
- 6. Scheiter, S., Scheel, O., Klink, G.: How Much Does Complexity Really Cost? A.T. Kearney, Düsseldorf (2007), http://www.mycomplexity.com/publications.asp
- 7. Etheredge, K., O'Keefe, J.: Getting A Handle On Complexity. Supply Chain Management Review, A.T. Kearney (2010), http://www.atkearney.com/documents
- Heywood, S., Spungin, J., Turnbull, D.: Cracking the complexity code. The McKinsey Quarterly (2), 85–95 (2007)
- Birkinshaw, J., Heywood, S.: Putting organizational complexity. The McKinsey Quarterly (3) (2010)
- 10. McKinsey and Company: McKinsey on Semiconductors (1) (Autumn 2012)
- Aelker, J., Bauernhansl, T., Ehm, H.: Managing complexity in supply chains: a discussion of current approaches on the example of the semiconductor industry. Procedia CIRP 7, 79–84 (2013)
- Todnem By, R.: Organisational change management: A critical review. Journal of Change Management 5(4), 369–380 (2005)
- Kettinger, W.J., Teng, J.T., Guha, S.: Business process change: a study of methodologies, techniques, and tools. MIS Quarterly, 55–80 (1997)
- Weber, B., Reichert, M., Rinderle-Ma, S.: Change patterns and change support features– enhancing flexibility in process-aware information systems. Data & knowledge Engineering 66(3), 438–466 (2008)
- ElMaraghy, H.A., Kuzgunkaya, O., Urbanic, R.J.: Manufacturing systems configuration complexity. CIRP Annals-Manufacturing Technology 54(1), 445–450 (2005)
- 16. Deger, R.: Managing Complexity in Automotive Engineering. In: DSM 2007: Proceedings of the 9th International DSM Conference, Munich, Germany, October 16-18 (2007)

- 17. Lindemann, U., Maurer, M.: Facing multi-domain complexity in product development. In: The Future of Product Development, pp. 351–361. Springer, Heidelberg (2007)
- Shannon, C.E.: A Mathematical Theory of Communication. Bell System Technical Journal 21, 623–656 (1948)
- Schuh, G., Monostori, L., Csáji, B.C., Doering, S.: Complexity-based modeling of reconfigurable collaborations in production industry. CIRP Annals-Manufacturing Technology 57(1), 445–450 (2008)
- 20. Bohner, S.A., Arnold, R.S.: Software change impact analysis. IEEE Computer Society Press, Los Alamitos (1996)
- 21. Haberfellner, R.: Systems Engineering: Methodik und Praxis. Daenzer, W.F. (ed.). Verlag Industrielle Organisation (2002)
- 22. Alard, R.: ETH Chair of Technology and Innovation Management, Systems Engineering Methodology (2013), http://www.timgroup.ethz.ch/en/courses?id=55, retrieved on January 27, 2015
- Mylopoulos, J., Borgida, A., Jarke, M., Koubarakis, M.: Telos: Representing knowledge about information systems. ACM Transactions on Information Systems (TOIS) 8(4), 325–362 (1990)
- 24. Dori, D.: Object Process Methodology: A Holistic Systems Paradigm; with CD-ROM. Springer (2002)
- Dori, D.: Object-process analysis: maintaining the balance between system structure and behaviour. Journal of Logic and Computation 5(2), 227–249 (1995)
- Sharon, A., Dori, D.: A model-based approach for planning work breakdown structures of complex systems projects. In: Proc. 14th IFAC Symposium on Information Control Problems in Manufacturing (2009)
- Berry, B.J., Kiel, L.D., Elliott, E.: Adaptive agents, intelligence, and emergent human organization: Capturing complexity through agent-based modeling. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 99(Suppl. 3), 7187–7188 (2002)
- Holling, C.S.: Understanding the complexity of economic, ecological, and social systems. Ecosystems 4(5), 390–405 (2001)
- Helbing, D., Balietti, S.: How to do agent-based simulations in the future: From modeling social mechanisms to emergent phenomena and interactive systems design. Tech. Rep. 11-06-024, Santa Fe Institute, NM, USA, santa Fe Working Paper (June 2011)
- Eric, S.K., Giorgini, P., Maiden, N. (eds.): Social modeling for requirements engineering. MIT Press (2011)
- Salado, A., Nilchiani, R.: The Concept of Problem Complexity. Procedia Computer Science 28, 539–546 (2014)
- Sun, C., Rose, T., Ehm, H., Heilmayer, S.: Complexity Measurement in the Semiconductor Supply Chain. Presented at International Conference on Operations Research 2014: business analytics and optimization (Aachen 2014)
- Bakker, C.B.: Why people don't change. Psychotherapy: Theory, Research & Practice 12(2), 164 (1975)
- Kotter, J.P., Cohen, D.S.: The heart of change: Real-life stories of how people change their organizations. Harvard Business Press (2002)

Simulation on Resident Individual Trip Choice Decision Making: Based on Modeling of Rough Set and Genetic Algorithms

Jing Li¹, Xin Zhu², and Dan Chang³

¹School of Economics and Management, Beijing Jiaotong University, Beijing, China 100038 jingli@bjtu.edu.cn ²School of Economics, Peking University, Beijing, China 100871 86369771@163.com ³School of Economics and Management, Beijing Jiaotong University, Beijing, China 100038 dchang@bjtu.edu.cn

Abstract. Urban Residents are the evaluation subjects for the transportation policy. It is very important for the scientific development of transportation policy to research on the travel behavior from the perspective of quantitative modelling. Urban residents scientific of individual travel decisions are the pre-requisites for group urban residents travel behaviors. This paper analyses the general population travel behavior based on the basis of the actual survey data and uses rough set theory to reduce the residents travel decision influencing factors. The univariate weight matrix and the corresponding weight matrix could be obtained. On this basis, the genetic algorithms objective function and fitness function could be optimized. Finally, an example simulation is given in this paper to verify the validity of the travel decision-making simulation model.

Keywords: Travel decision, Rough Set, Genetic Algorithms, Modeling.

1 Introduction

Citizens are the most important parts of urban transportation formations. The choice of citizen travel mode will be influenced by the individual competency and preference; meanwhile, it will be influenced by the transportation environment. The aim of the urban transportation policy is to allow the majority of the population could reach their destinations with a faster, safer, more comfortable and more affordable travel mode. Moreover, both the localized and the whole domain liquidity established by the citizens traveling activities should be taken into consideration. A valid transportation policy is determined by the social satisfaction, economic benefit and level of environmental protection. Scientific and rational analysis on various citizen travelling behaviors, such as choosing public transport or non-public transport will help to find the problems in the existing transport policy system and give fair recommendations.

At the present stage, research on resident individual trip mainly involves following fields: commuter and structure of urban space, character of commuter behavior basing on traveling investigation, character of trip chain and trip behavior modelling.

The researches on resident individual trip behavior theory are very fresh and mainly focus on several fields.

The first field is how to confirm factors that influent individual trip behavior. Iseki Hiroyuki and Smart Michael (2012) invested 2122 residents and analyzed the factors such as age, sex, income, race, religion, private car travel mode and frequency of public facilities using. They found that security is the most important factor for all the residents and individuals with different background will have different attitudes to different factors which will be changed with trip experience.

The second field is to develop the individual trip rules. Abou-Zeid Maya and Ben-Akiya Moshe (2011) proposed a framework basing on dynamic selection to catch the society influence on trip choice. They defined comparison of happiness and proved that comparison of happiness rising from comparison of the individual and others. Hence, the overall satisfaction or utility commute would be increased.

The third field is about the resident individual trip information. Son Sanghoon and Khattak Asad (2011) comparatively analyzed the university students' access and use of information about travel. The results showed that the internet and a wide range of information have great impact on the students' trip choice.

Although research on individual trip behavior has been carried out for several years, the theory supports and application explorations are still weak which could be formulated as following:

In the aspect of subject investigated: there is few study on simulation of individual trip decision. They always focus on degree of satisfaction more than personal preference.

In the aspect of research method: They are always qualitative and learned from other existing results. Most studies focus on the travel factors of specific travel groups and only extract the importance of factors even if using the quantitative methods. Moreover, the method always is a statistical analysis of the factors. The application of modern mathematics is only a minority. Meanwhile, the comparison and analysis of different methods basing on results is lack.

Therefore, this study hopes to achieve a breakthrough in the above areas. The research content focus on the simulation of travel decisions basing on personal preference. In the research methods, combined with statistical theory, the modern mathematical theory, accurately extracting of certain population preferences through rough set theory to establish individual travel decision model based on genetic algorithms and simulation analysis.

2 Methodology

The travelers are considered absolutely rational in the traditional transportation trip model. However, more and more research and practical experience shows that the assumption of absolutely rational is incorrect. Hence, the conception of bounded rationality in Behavioral Economics provides new ideas for research on individual trip behaviors and decisions. Bounded rationality means that the travelers will not chase the best travel utility those are always affected by the factors such as trip experience and travel habits. They want to guarantee the difference between actual travel utility and best travel utility to be in an acceptable range. The conception of bounded rationality is of course accepted in this paper. However, this paper is still taking conception of absolutely rational as foundation in order to carry out the research procession. The assumptions are as following,

- 1. The decisions are at least 2 when a resident will start travel. That is $n_d \ge 2$;
- 2. The residents confirm all the decisions before one travel, ignoring all the second decision on the road;
- ^{3.} The travel utility U_d is different for individual preference. Each resident is always chasing their best travel utility. The best travel utility is marked as U_{out} .

4. The resident decision set D is the independent variable. Travel utility U is the dependent variable. The merits of the decision-making travel decide the effectiveness of travel utility.

5. In this section, the resident decisions set are divided into two categories: good set and bad set. At the same time, more vivid examples could be used to illustrate the relationship between residents travel decisions and travel utility. To make:

$$\begin{cases} D_B = 1 \\ D_G = 2 \\ \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} U_d = 1 \\ U_{opt} = 2 \end{cases}$$

However, it is necessary to cost for resident making travel decision, for example time costs and experience costs. Therefore, d is the explanatory variables of C. Good decision-making cost should be higher than the cost of inferior decisions because the merits of the decision-making will lead to changes of the decision-making cost. Therefore, to make:

$$\begin{cases} C_{D_B} = 1/2 * d \\ C_{D_G} = d \end{cases}$$

Residents are always wandering between the worst decision and the optimal decision. They do not want to make the worst decision; Meanwhile, they are also likely unable to make optimal decisions. The reason lays in the uncertainty of complex travel environment. Therefore, residents who have bounded rationality are always making decision between optimal and worst. It is an acceptable decision set for residents. However, this paper only focuses on the personal preference because of the travel environment's uncertainty and complexity. The assumption in this paper is the resident is absolutely rational and chasing best travel utility.

Therefore, this paper will start with the resident individual travel behavior. Firstly, rough set theory will be applied to research on travel decision affecting factors and the contribution of each factor weight or the contribution weight of any two factors could be confirmed. Secondly, simple genetic algorithms will be used to simulate individual residents travel decisions and each genetic operator specific parameters and corresponding fitness function will be confirmed. Finally, modified single urban resident travel decision model basing on rough set and simple genetic algorithms will be established, compared and explained.

Hutchison individual residents y, individual resident's travel decisions affecting factors x supposing there are n factors affecting the individual a trip. The complete

factor set which are affecting individual resident trip decision could be defined as $X = \{x_1, x_2, x_3, \dots, x_n\}$. The travel utility of individual y is U_d . Individual y is always chasing the best travel utility U_{opt} . Therefore, y may choose a group of feasible decisions D. He could achieve the best travel utility through the comparative analysis. At the same time, the assumption above for the residents travel decisions here is still applicable.

2.1 Pre-processing the Model Based on Rough Set Theory

(1) Select important factors

There are some other factors may influent the individual decision expect for some common factors such as safe, comfort, cost and time which are always influencing the trip decision because of the differences in individual preferences, the inequality of individual travel decision quantity and the difference in purposes. Those factors could be defined as $\hat{\lambda}$

Define the decision $D = f(X) = f_1(X_c) + f_2(\lambda)$. X_c is common factor. Meanwhile, X_c and λ establish the complete factor set. That is $X_c \cup \lambda = X, X_c \cap \lambda = \Phi$.

The common factors and other factors influence the individual y's decision. However, they could not decide the decision combination of y. The final decision of y could determine the individual travel utility U_d in the end.

Define $U_d = g(D)$, in which the best travel utility $U_{opt} \ge U_d$.

Obviously, there are n factors in the complete factors set x. There are k factors in common factors set x_c . Of course, $k \le n$. The function of rough set is to reduce the original complete factors set to get an important factors set. Hence, the important factors set is basing on common factors set. The important factors set could be marked as x_i , $X_i = \{x_i \mid x_j \in X_c\}$. That means there are P important factors selected.

(2)Expression of knowledge System

Generally speaking, a knowledge system could be expressed as an ordered quad $S = \{U, R, V, f\}$ among which, $U = \{x_1, x_2, x_3, \dots, x_n\}$ is on the field. It is the set of whole samples. $R = C \cup D$ is the set of attributes, among which sub set *C* is condition attribute set reflecting the characteristics of an object and $_D$ is decision attribute set reflecting the categories of objects. $V = \bigcup V_r$ is the set of attributes values. V_r represents the range of attributes. $f: U \times R \to V$ is an information function to confirm the attribute of every object *X* in set *U*. That is, if $x_i \in U$, $r \in R$, then $f(x_i, r) = V_r$. Hence, R is a rough set. $\alpha_R(X)$ could be considered as the accuracy which is approximating the set X under the equivalence relation R.

The original data could be filtered and the invalid data and the inapplicable data will be deleted. Furthermore, a two-dimensional decision information table will be established to describe urban travel choice factors knowledge expression system.

(3) Calculate the univariate weighting matrix

The univariate weighting matrix could be obtained by extending the reduction important factors set. $I = \{w_1, w_2, \dots, w_p\}$.

(4) Calculate the correlation factor weighting matrix

The correlation factor weighting matrix could be obtained by the univariate weighting matrix,

$$R = \begin{bmatrix} w_{11} & w_{12} & \cdots & w_{1p} \\ w_{21} & w_{22} & \cdots & w_{2p} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ w_{p1} & w_{p2} & \cdots & w_{pp} \end{bmatrix}$$

Meanwhile, R is a $P \times P$ real symmetric matrix. The weight value on the main diagonal equal the corresponding weight values in the univariate factor matrix, which is $R.w_{11} = I.w_1, R.w_{22} = I.w_2, \dots, R.w_{pp} = I.w_p$

The univariate factor matrix and correlation factor matrix will be explained and analyzed. The Genetic Algorithms will be introduced after the confirmation of univariate factor matrix and correlation factor matrix.

2.2 Genetic Algorithms Modeling

The decision is not always single when the individual resident y is travelling. Therefore, the set of decision variables is $D = \{d_1, d_2, d_3, \dots, d_m\}$.

$$d_{i} = \begin{cases} 0 \\ 1 \end{cases}$$

The m is the number of decisions and

Define the trip objective function of individual resident y is $U(D) = RX_{i}$. It represents the best travel utility that y is chasing. The fitness function could be marked as *fitness* and $U_{opt} = \max U(D)$.

The fitness evaluation criteria are:

- 1. The value of fitness is the larger the better. The larger means the individual travel utility is better and the adaptability is better.
- 2. The individual travel optimal effectiveness could be selected by selecting the superior individual fitness.
- 3. The best travel utility $U_{opt} = \max U(D)$ is the maximum value of the objective function and it is positive number.

3 Data Modelling, Calculation and Analysis

3.1 Research Data Sources

Data in this paper is obtained by questionnaires. Questionnaires were issued in September 2010 to about 1000 and recovered 486 valid questionnaires. The investigation time covered three daily time paragraphs: 7:00~11:00, 11:00~13:00 and 15:00~19:00. The

survey subjects covered all sectors of society in Beijing as entirely as possible including different ages and different occupation. The survey locations covered the major urban areas in Beijing including bus stations, railway stations, shopping street, business office, park attractions, transit hub, as well as subway cars and other places. The questionnaire questions reflected the urban travel choice influence factors. These factors constituted the index system of urban travel choices, as shown in Table 1.The five factors were travel time, travel prices, travel distance, travel safety, traveling comfort.

Aim Factors		Index		
	_	Age		
	_	Sex		
	Characteristics	Occupation		
		Travel options		
		The average monthly disposable income		
		The average monthly transport expendi-		
		Car or not		
	Travel time accu- racy -	The accuracy of the destination arrival		
		Peak or off peak		
		Waiting time		
Analysis on urban	Travel costs	Ticket price		
travel options factors		Parking price		
traver options factors		Fuel costs		
		tolls		
	Travel distance	Total distance		
		Transfer distance		
		Number of transfers		
	Travel safety	Driving safety		
		Property security		
	Traveling comfort –	Seat or not		
		Crowded or not		
		Facilities convenience		
		Bulky items or not		

Table 1. Index system of urban travel choices

3.2 The Knowledge Expression of Urban Travel Factors and Weight Calculation

As seen from Table 1, urban travel choice factors are not only including time, piece and other factors known to public, but also including comfort, safety and other factors.

The resident survey questionnaire orders could be used as research object collection according to the rough set theory. The invalid data and inapplicable data are deleted. The remaining data set is $U=[x_1, X_2, x_3, x_4, x_5]$, a, b, c, d, e represents the importance of the accuracy of the time, the importance of the travel expense, the importance of the total travel distance, the importance of travel safety, and the importance of travelling comfort. It is the public factors set $X_c = \{a, b, c, d, e\}$, which establishing the condition attribute set of urban travel choice influence factors $c = \{a, b, c, d, e\}$ The decision

attribute collection set D is established by the chosen travel mode. Hence, the corresponding figures are used to represent the items in condition attribute as following,

{1=very unimportant; 2=relatively unimportant; 3=general; 4=more important; 5=very important}

Similarly, in the decision attribute, the corresponding set is

{0=bicycle; 1=bus; 2=underground; 3=taxi; 4=car}

Therefore, dimensional decision information table could be established to describe the urban travel choice influencing factors knowledge expression system. As shown in Table2 (Experts):

No			Condition Attribu	ites		Decision
1.0.	Time accura-	Cost	Distance	Safety	Comfort	Travel
x ₁	1	4	4	5	5	2
x ₂	1	5	4	5	3	1
X ₃	2	3	2	3	3	2
x4	2	4	3	3	3	1
X5	3	1	3	5	4	1
x ₆	3	2	3	5	4	1
X ₇	3	2	5	5	5	0
X8	3	3	2	5	5	3
X9	3	3	2	4	2	4

Table 2. Urban travel choice influencing factors knowledge expression system

The univariate weight matrix could be calculated result as $I = \{4/27, 8/27, 7/27, 2/27, 6/27\}$ according to the rough set theory. And the corresponding weight matrix could be calculated result as

	4/27	15/126	17/126	4/126	14/126
	15/126	8/27	18/126	10/126	15/126
R =	17/126	18/126	7/27	10/126	14/126
	4/126	10/126	10/126	2/27	9/126
	14/126	15/126	14/126	9/126	6/27

On this questionnaire concerned, the crowd comprehensive collective preferences $cost \succ distance \succ comfort \succ time accurancy \succ safety$

are (symbol \succ represents perference and means better tha n)

3.3 Rough- Genetic Algorithms Modelling

The cost (C), distances (L), comfort (C, F), time accuracy (T) as well as cost and time accuracy combination(C, T), time accuracy and distant (T, L) are selected as parameters according to the calculation result basing on rough set theory.

$$U(D) = WX = \sum \begin{bmatrix} W_{C}H(C) + W_{L}K(L) + W_{C,F}Q(C,F) + W_{T}G(T) + W_{C,L}P(C,T) + W_{T,L}V(T,L) + \varphi \end{bmatrix}$$

In the formula, φ represents the additional satisfaction. It is the utility value of other factors $\hat{\lambda}$. These factors are generally classified as one group due to the unobserved character.

The objective function is transformed into the fitness function.

$$f(D_{j}) = \sum_{d_{1}}^{d_{n}} [w_{i}g(t_{d_{j}}) + w_{c}h(c_{d_{j}}) + w_{i}k(t_{d_{j}}) + w_{c,f}q(c_{d_{j}}, f_{d_{j}}) + w_{c,t}p(c_{d_{j}}, t_{d_{j}}) + w_{t,l}v(t_{d_{j}}, t_{d_{j}}) + \varphi_{d_{j}}]$$

A specific fitness function could be given according the univariate weight matrix and the corresponding weight matrix which are confirmed basing on rough set theory.

 $f(d_1, d_2) = \frac{8}{27} * d_1^2 + \frac{7}{27} * d_2^2 + \frac{18}{126} * d_1^3 + \frac{17}{126} * d_2^3 - \frac{15}{126} * d_1 * d_2$ - 4/27 * d₁ - 6/27 * d₂

4 Examples of Simulation, Results and Analysis

The model in this paper is for individual. The data is randomly selected from actual questionnaire in order to fit the simulation results more realistic. This questionnaire is answered by a lady living in Beijing. The average monthly disposable income is 2000 to 3000 RMB. The average monthly transportation expense is from 200 to 300RMB. And she did not have a car.

The simulation follows the travel situation: (1) the travel aim is tourism; (2) no bulky items; (3) no travel this line before. A calculation shows that the cost of travel traffic scope of its disposable income is [6.7%, 15%]. The proportion of expenditure is relatively high.

The trip will be converted to a travel decision model based on genetic algorithms. The decisions that should be confirmed including (1) Travel satisfaction should achieve highest; (2) Line i select sub way, bus or taxi? (3) Line ii select subway, bus or taxi? Conventions decision variable D is taken from [1, 4]. If the value of D is [1, 2) the selection is bus. If the value of D is [2, 3) the selection is underground; if the value of D is [3, 4] the selection is taxi. $d_1, d_2 \in [1,4]$, which are two decision variable. Matlab tool box is used to do program. The following figures are the results of the operation.

Fig.1 shows the individuals which has the best fitness value of each generation. According to fig. 1, the final selections of the individual are: 3.6474 and 3.14209. The corresponding phenotypes are both taxi.

Fig.2 describes the average distance between individual in each generation. According to Fig.2, the average distance among individuals from far to near and from big to small are eventually nearly coincides through the rough –genetic algorithms optimization. That represents the individual selected eventually by the rough-genetic algorithms are high quality.

Therefore, the lady is advised to choose taxi both on line i and on line ii according to the results given by the rough-genetic algorithms. The final prediction is that the lady should choose a taxi directly on this trip and she will achieve the optimal effectiveness.



Fig. 1. Rough- genetic algorithms simulation results



Fig. 2. The average distance among individuals in rough-genetic algorithms model

5 Conclusions

In this paper, the single factor weight matrix and various factors related to weight matrix are brought out by analyzing the factors of individual residents travel behavior and decisions which are restricting their travel. Furthermore, this paper utilizes the advantage of Genetic algorithm to simulate the individual residents travel decision behavior. An example simulation is given in this paper to verify the validity of the travel decision-making simulation model.

It is contributing for improve the accuracy of the study by combining the rough set and genetic algorithm together in this paper. However, most of the residents could not make the best travel decisions during the travel time. They would choose a group of satisfaction with the decision-making under common situation. That is to allow the difference of travel utility and optimal utility in the acceptable range. Therefore, in process of the genetic algorithm modeling, the objective function and fitness function should be changed. This is the further research contents.

Acknowledgments. This paper is supported by the National Natural Science Foundation (No. 71103014) and Beijing Philosophy and Social Science Fund (No.14JGC095).

References

- Hiroyuki, I., Michael, S.: How Do People Perceive Service Attributes at Transit Facilities? Examination of Perceptions of Transit Service by Transit User Demographics and Trip Characteristics. Transportation Research Record, 164-174 (2012)
- Maya, A.-Z., Moshe, B.-A.: The effect of social comparisons on commute well-being. Transportation research part A-Policy and Practice, 345-361 (2011)
- Sanghoon, S., Asad, K., Ju-Yin, C.: Comparative analysis of university students'acquisition and use of travel information. Transportation Research Record, 46-54 (2011)
- Kim, K., Pant, P., Yamashita, E.Y.: Hit-and-Run Crashes: Use of Rough Set Analysis with Logistic Regression to Capture Critical Attributes and Determinants. Transportation Research Record, 114-121 (2008)
- Clark, S.: Characterising and predicting car ownership using rough sets. Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, pp. 381-393 (2009)
- Fan, M., Zou, P., Xing, D.Z.: Transportation choice model based on rough set theory. In: Proceeding of 2010 Asia-Pacific Youth Conference on Communication, pp. 982–984 (2010)
- Huseyin, C., Halim, C.: A Hybrid Harmony Search and Transyt hill climbing algorithms for signalized stochastic equilibrium transportation networks. Transportation Research part C-Emerging Technologies, 152-167 (2012)
- 8. Mireia, R.-R., Miquel, E.: Trapote Cesar. The design of interurban bus networks in city centers. Transportation Research part A-Policy and Practice, 1153-1165 (2012)
- 9. Wei-Chiang, H., Yucheng, D., Feifeng, Z., Yuhg, W.S.: Hybrid evolutionary algorithms in a SVR traffic flow forecasting model. Applied Mathematics and Computation, 6733-6747 (2011)
- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: Rough Fuzzy Sets and Fuzzy Rough Sets. International Journal of General System, 191-209 (1990)

Visualization of the UK Stock Market Based on Complex Networks for Company's Revenue Forecast

Ziyi Wang and Jingti Han

School of Information Management and Engineering, Shanghai University of Finance and Economics, Shanghai 200433, China zy_wang1008@outlook.com, hanjt@mail.shufe.edu.cn

Abstract. As an emerging research field, the complex network theory is able to depict the most daily complex systems' topologies, but in terms of financial market analysis, it still needs more attention. We can apply this theory to construct financial networks and detect them both from macro level and micro level to support a company in forecasting its revenue. This paper aims to explore the macro-characteristics of the UK stock market. We examine the properties of return ratio series of selected components in FTSE100 index, adopt the Kendall's τ rank correlation coefficient between series to write adjacency matrices and transform these matrices into complex networks. Then we visualize the networks, analyze features of them at different thresholds and find evidence of WS small world property in the UK stock networks. All these work follow our research framework proposed at beginning of this paper. According to the framework, more future work needs to be done to achieve the goal and make decision support in a company.

Keywords: Complex networks, FTSE100 index, WS small world property, Revenue forecast.

1 Introduction

The function of the stock market is to provide a public platform for trading businesses and raise capital for companies. Various information technologies and statistics methods have been engaged in analyzing its dynamics, such as Internet, portable computers, regression analysis and so on. However, the interactions between companies are rarely taken into account, but undoubtedly they play an important role to impact the markets. From inside perspective of a company, forecasting its revenue through the stock market's behavior could be one way to support decision making. In order to achieve this research aim, we propose utilizing complex network theory to visualize and analyze the complexity of the interactions in this paper.

Complex network theory is able to abstract and depict the most daily complex systems' topologies. As an emerging hotspot, this theory has attracted attention of scholars increasingly from various research fields and became one of the most significant tools in social network analysis. Complex network theory has been introduced since decades ago. To date, it has been widely used in the study of social relationships, transport networks, biology, ecology, emergency management, power grids, etc., and as a credible and powerful tool to characterize the markets.

Up to now, some scholars have done several researches about the major stock markets all over the world. In 1999, Mantegna [1] proposed a hierarchical tree to investigate the common economic factors affecting the stocks' prices. In 2005, Boginski et al.[2,3] constructed a market graph which followed a power-law model and calculated cross-correlations to reflect the market behavior with the data from US stock markets. Till 2009, Haldane [4], the Chief Economist and the Executive Director of Monetary Analysis and Statistics at Bank of England, first convincingly explained the current financial markets with complex networks in an official speech. Caraianie (2012) [5] analyzed the properties of the returns of European stock markets by complex networks, and found that the networks are scale-free and self-similarity. Zhuang et al. [6] constructed a network of stock prices fluctuations in Shanghai stock market and analyzed its topology. Further, Zhang et al. [7] compared the networks extracted from the original series and return series. They showed different characteristics because of different data. The former one fitted with a power law distribution and was a smallworld and free-scale network, while the latter one governed by an exponential degree distribution. For Hang Seng index of Hong Kong stock market, Li and Wang[8] found fluctuation patterns based on the network topological statistic. In these researches, networks from various databases and statistic results are visualized to make texts more visually attractive and help audience understand more effectively.

The aim of this research is to apply the complex networks theory to the UK stock market to forecast companies' revenue. The research framework is shown below (Fig.1). The first two steps are contents in this paper and the others are the future work in our research.



Fig. 1. A basic framework to forecast company's revenue using complex networks

In this paper, we investigate the relationship between return series with observations from 2004 to 2014 in FTSE100. We find that return series show significant non-linear correlations that do not meet strict assumption of Pearson's correlation; therefore we adopt Kendall's τ correlation as edges' weight to construct and analyze networks more accurately.

2 Methodology

FTSE100 index, being one of the most professional stock market exchange indices all over the world, has 101 components from various industries. However, not every company contributes to the market during the period we chose. Hence, an analysis of these long term running companies would give us a big picture of the network structure of the British stock market.

2.1 Data Collection and Pre-processing

The weighted network is able to describe the nodes and relations between them much more really and clearly than non-weighted network, therefore, a whole connected, no direction and weighted network is constructed in this paper. Within different thresholds, the research will find their macro-characteristics.

The data are extracted from "Yahoo Finance", and the timespan in consideration of this paper is from 1st January 2004 to 10th October 2014. The dates of the public holidays in UK are deleted as stock market is closed, including New Year's Day, Good Friday, Easter Monday, Early Bank Holiday, Spring Bank Holiday, Summer Bank Holiday, Christmas Day and Boxing Day in each year. To reflect facts as real as we can, companies that do not have data in full period are deleted as well. Consequently, there are 86 components of FTSE100 as the vertices in network, such as BP plc (British Petroleum), LSE (London Stock Exchange Group PLC), and LLOY (Lloyds Banking Group PLC) and so on so forth. The edges are the relationships among the 86 stocks and the correlation coefficient is the weight of each edge.

Pre-processing each company's closing price data series is needed. Denoting the original daily closing price of the stock i at time t is $P_i(t)$. These data are calculated as

$$r_i(t) = 100 \times \ln\left(\frac{P_i(t)}{P_i(t-1)}\right), (t = 1, 2, \dots, n).$$
 (1)

Then there will be the return ratio data series $R_i(t) = \{r_i(t)\}, i t = (1, 2, \dots, n-1), i = (1, 2, \dots, 86)$, and the number of data in one series is $((a_1, \dots, a_d), (b_1, \dots, b_d) \in [0, 1]^d)n - 1$.

The more data we have, the greater extent network can reflect the real UK stock market from results we conclude. Therefore, the components we choose have the most amounts of data during the period. Following this principle, there are 234 178 (2723 per each companies) pieces of efficient data.

2.2 Edges and Their Weights

Analysing the statistical characteristics of the return series is the first thing we should do to understand the basic statistic of the return series. Six random return ratio series are shown in table1.

Company	Mean	Median	Std. Dev.	Skewness	Kurtosis –	Jarque-Bera	
						Statistic	Probability
AAL	0.003166	0.040642	2.760246	-0.13138	10.06153	5665.449	0
ABF	0.052881	0.062794	1.341194	-0.07136	10.78818	6884.209	0
ADN	0.072697	0	2.347117	0.146311	10.15676	5820.97	0
AGK	0.082391	0.063191	2.350748	-0.55548	29.70248	81038.36	0
AHT	0.151669	0	3.27993	0.003828	14.71018	15558.36	0
ANTO	-0.01732	0.060223	4.265728	-19.2306	719.1176	58352041	0

Table 1. Basic statistics of six return ratio series

From this table, it is clear to see that the means are around 0 and the standard deviations are all over 1, that is to say, there are bigger fluctuations in these return series. Obviously, the fluctuations are depended by the uncertainty of the stock market. Majority skewnesses of data series' distributions, in this table, are smaller than 0, and kurtoses are greater than 6 (twice of 3), which mean the return series show left skewed (thick/fat tail) and high peak distribution. Meanwhile, the probabilities of Jarque-Bera are all 0 and do not accept the hypothesis: the return series are normal distribution. Because of these characteristics, it can be seen that these six return series obey student T distribution, the same as the rest 80 series.

The Q-Q graphs below give evidence of the judgment we made above.



Fig. 2. Q-Q graph of return series against normal distribution

As the graphs showed, the return series have the features mentioned above and do not accept the hypothesis of normal distribution.

To examine the correlations among the series, it is calculated the autocorrelation and partial autocorrelation of 21 period-lag of these series. The Ljung-BoxQ value is significant and the results show that there are no significant relations. Therefore, all the return series we chose are independent in the period.

According to the test results, in this paper, we employ the Kendall's τ correlation as the edges' weights. A correlation coefficient is a measure of the consistency of changes between the variables. Pearson Product Moment Correlation or PPMC (Pearson's correlation, for short), which is a measure of the linear correlation between two variables, is common to see in the correlation research of the stock exchange markets since it is easier to understand and calculate than others. However, there are some limitations for Pearson's correlation. For example, the variables should be normally distributed and it is for linear relationship between the two variables. Kendall's τ correlation measures the coordination degree of variables that based on the rank of random variables. Therefore, Kendall's τ correlation coefficient is able to reflect nonlinear dependences better without restriction mentioned above.

With these calculations, we can write adjacency matrices. Through the adjacency matrices, we construct complex networks and analyse them with respect to degree distribution, average shortest length path and clustering coefficient.

3 **Results and Discussion**

With Pajek, a social network analysis tool, we transform the adjacency matrices into complex networks.

3.1 Network Structure Analysis from Macro Perspective

Visualising networks at a threshold of 0.36 as below: the nodes are the 86 companies from FTSE100 index and the edges are determined by the Kendall's τ correlations between the series. The network is the whole connected weight network.



Fig. 3. Complex Network of FTSE100 index at a threshold of 0.36

In Fig.3, the darker edges represent the bigger correlation coefficient between the companies. It is noticed that five companies have the strongest relationships and these five companies are formed into two clusters: AAL01 (Anglo American Plc.), BLT17 (BHP Billiton Plc.) and RIO73 (Rio Tinto Plc.); BLND16 (British Land Co Plc.) and LAND53 (Land Securities Group Plc.). The first three companies highlighted by the green are all multinational mining companies. The last two highlighted by the blue are all the property companies and they all turned into a real estate investment trust (REIT) in January 2007. British Land is the second largest REIT in the UK and Land Securities is the largest one. Undoubtedly, the companies in the same industries would be easy to have strong relations.

In order to describe a network from the macro aspect, it is usual to characterise its density and scale. Clustering coefficient and average path length are the indicators to measure these two features.

Clustering coefficient reflects that how close a vertex's neighbors are being cliques, which is the density of a network. Assume in a network G, a vertex i has k_i edges to connect other k_i vertices, and these k_i vertices named neighbourhood of i. Therefore for each vertexi, there are at most $k_i(k_i - 1)/2$ links that could exist in an undirected graph, whereas real number of edges of neighbours in this undirected graph is N_i . Then the clustering coefficient C_i is:

$$C_i = \frac{2N_i}{k_i(k_i - 1)}.$$
(2)

The overall level of clustering C in a network is defined by Watts and Strongatz [9] as the average of all the C_i :

$$C = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} C_{i} .$$
(3)

Obviously, $0 \le C \le 1$. If C = 0, all the vertices in the network are independent. If C = 1, any two nodes are directly connected in a network, i.e. the network is a global coupling network.

Average path length is defined as the average number of steps for all possible pairs of network nodes. It is a measure of the efficient of information transport on a network, i.e. the scale of a network. Suppose in a network G G the length of any two nodes i and j is l_{ij} , which is the shortest number of steps from node i to j. The average length of a whole network L is

$$L = \frac{2}{N(N-1)} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^{N} l_{ij}$$
(4)

N is the number of vertices in a network. We do not consider vertices' own distance in this paper.

Clustering coefficients and average path lengths are calculated at different thresholds with data mentioned before, showing in table 2.

Thresholds	Clustering coefficient	Average path length	Number of edges	
0.25	0.7848	1.6426	3104	
0.27	0.7278	1.8666	2282	
0.30	0.6463	2.1320	1206	
0.33	0.5772	2.4169	594	
0.36	0.6015	2.8870	250	
0.40	0.6744	1.3582	86	
0.50	0.8571	1.1579	32	

Table 2. Clustering coefficient and Average path length at different thresholds

In table 2, at various thresholds, the FTSE100 network has a small average shortest path length and a large clustering coefficient. With these two characteristics in a network, referencing the research did by Watts and Strogatz[9,10]in 1998, it is a Watts-Strogatz small-world network (WS small-world network for short). With these features, the fluctuation in this stock exchange market would spread rapidly. Specifically, it is found that sharp changes of some influential companies' stocks will spread at a faster pace to a wider range. These two characteristics, small average path length and large clustering coefficient, are two indicators to measure the small-world property. WS small world network is a transition from a complete regular network to a complete random graph.

3.2 Thresholds in Networks

Reasonable threshold selection is a crucial step for constructing networks. If a selected threshold is too small, there would be false associations due to the random noise, resulting in the complete connected network; if the selected threshold is too large, more isolated points will make the existence of the network, the network will contain fewer vertexes, and hence lots of important related information will be lost. Under these situations, it is no need to analyse the network degree distribution and clustering coefficient any more. In addition, according to the same interval, when the thresholds change from small to large, if the number of relations among stocks decreases rapidly, the left companies are more significant than others to contribute to the national economy or local economy. Otherwise, there are no more huge differences among companies to make contribution to a nation or a region. So the research with appropriate thresholds can explore real relationship among stocks to the whole system.

In this paper, the research draws 26 complex networks at 26 thresholds respectively, and the number of edges shows in Fig. 4, which reveals a descending trend of the edges. As we all know, even with the same vertices, various numbers of edges can construct various networks. Based on the specific networks, researches for parameters could be processed, such as the adjacency matrix of networks, the cumulative distribution of degree, clustering coefficient, average nearest neighbour degree, k-core and partitions and so on so forth. For the thresholds of the financial network we construct, it is steadier to the edges' number between 0.3 and 0.4.



Fig. 4. The number of edges at different thresholds of financial network

4 Conclusion and Future Work

As an emerging method in economic disciplines, complex networks still needs more attention. In this study, we proposed a basic framework to forecast revenue for a company to make decision support based on complex networks theory. We detected data from the FTSE 100 index and write adjacency matrices to construct networks and visualize them. Based on basic statistics of data, we explored features of networks, and found the FTSE100 index network is a WS small world network and thresholds are playing a significant part in constructing networks. We investigated the UK stock market data independently with other research data. Similarly, the WS small world properties show in US stock market, Shanghai stock market[7], international stock markets[11]and so on. Combining data analysis with visualised graphs, decision makers could do predictions much faster and more reliably to support strategies in companies. Other macro features and in-depth micro research will be conducted in the future, for example, clustering communities, detecting topology changes of networks with impacts from internal and external events in companies. Many networks from stocks markets have been studied, but there are still some important questions need to be answered: what are common features in international stock markets, what these markets differ in each country and how we can visualise them clearly to support making decision, as examples.

Acknowledgments. The authors would like to thank Prof. Kecheng Liu for engaging discussion. We also thank the editor and reviewers for their insightful comments and helpful suggestions. This research is supported by (1) the Research on Control and Efficiency of Emergency Support Networks (No. 71271126), financed from National Natural Science Foundation of China; (2) Study on Control and Efficiency of Emergency

Transportation Support Networks (No. 20120078110002), financed from Research Fund for the Doctoral Program of Higher Education of China; (3) the Research on Scenario Construction and Decision Model of Unconventional Emergency (No. CXJJ-2013-437), financed from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics; (4) the China Scholarship Council.

References

- Rosario, N.M.: Hierarchical structure in financial markets. The European Physical Journal B-Condensed Matter and Complex Systems 11(1), 193–197 (1999)
- Vladimir, B., Sergiy, B., Panos, M.P.: Statistical analysis of financial networks. Computational Statistics & Data Analysis 48(2), 431–443 (2005)
- Vladimir, B., Sergiy, B., Panos, M.P.: Mining market data: a network approach. Computers & Operations Research 33(11), 3171–3184 (2006)
- 4. Andrew, G.: Haldane, Rethinking the financial network (2009)
- Petre, C.: Charaterizing emerging European stock markets through complex networks: from local properties to self-similar charateristics. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and Its Applications, 3629-3637 (2012)
- 6. Xintian, Z., Zhifeng, M., Shiyang, C.: Characterizing analysis of complex network for shanghai stock market. Journal of Northeastern University: Nature Science, 1053-1056 (2007)
- 7. Jianhua, Z., Huaxi, Z., Lu, J., Yongui, W.: Network topologies of Shanghai stock index. Physics Procedia, 1733-1740 (2010)
- 8. Ping, L., Binghong, W.: Extracting hidden fluctuation patterns of Hang Seng stock index from network topologies. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and Its Applications, 519-526 (2007)
- Watts, D.J.: Steven Strogatz: Collective dynamics of 'small-world' networks. Nature, 440– 442 (1998)
- Xiaofan, W., Xiang, L., Guanrong, C.: Complex networks theory and applications. Tsinghua University Press (2006)
- Dongmei, H., Wen, W.: Analysis of International stock market structure and feature from the perspective of complex networks. Complex Systems and Complexity Science, 50-57 (2014)
- 12. Nick, C.: At last! A coherent account of the financial crisis (2009)
- 13. http://www.finextra.com/blogs/fullblog.aspx?blogid=2835
- 14. Jukka Pekka, O., Jari, S., Kimmo, K., Janos, K.: Financial Market–A Network Perspective. Practical Fruits of Econophysics, 302-306 (2006)
- 15. Kendall, M.: A new measure of rank correlation. Biometrika 30(pt. 1/2), 81-93 (1938)
- Mohamed Rehan, M.S., HariHaran, M., Neha Singh, C.: Grover.D.: Visualizing the Indian stock market: A complex network approach. International Journal of Advances in Engineering and Technology, 1348-1353 (2013)
- 17. Salter-Townshend, M., White, A., Gollini, I., Murphy, T.B.: Review of statistical network analysis: models, algorithms and software. Stat. Anal. Data. Min., 243-264 (2012)
- Xiaoping, X., Huan, Y., Dingding, H.: Empirical study on Chinese stock network under financial crisis. Complex Systems and Complexity Science, 13-22 (2012)
- 19. Newman, M.: Fast algorithm for detecting community structure in networks. Physical Review E (2004)
- Chunxia, Y., Yanhua, C., Lei, N., Qian, L.: Cointegration analysis and influence rank—A network approach to global stock markets. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications, 168-185 (2014)

Creativity Filter and Start-Ups to Resolve the Innovation Paradox

David Audretsch¹ and Maksim Belitski²

¹ Institute for Development Strategies, Indiana University Bloomington 1315 E. 10th Avenue SPEA Bloomington, IN 47405, USA ² Henley Business School, University of Reading Whiteknights, Reading, RG6 6UD, United Kingdom daudrets@indiana.edu, m.belitski@reading.ac.uk

Abstract. The literature on creativity and innovation traditionally focuses on how individuals and R&D teams generate and implement novel ideas and search for opportunities. It also highlights the role of skills, motivation and knowledge as a source of opportunities and innovation. As the gains from skills and knowledge are uncertain, the degree of creativity spillover could be an important consideration. To address this gap in the literature we examine the role of the creativity filter in the relationship between knowledge and innovation in the organization.

Keywords: Creativity filter, innovation, knowledge management, skills, interorganization.

1 Introduction

There is an increasing interest in understanding how opportunities and new ideas are created [2], [3]. Firms need new ideas that expand their market share and bring new products [22]. One of the key focus of entrepreneurship is understanding why some firms are better than others to identify opportunities and bring new ideas [3] and why employment of high level skills and knowledge may not result in greater innovation, known as an "Innovation paradox" [17]. While there is a disagreement in the management and innovation literature about the process of creating innovation [1], the central components of opportunities are knowledge, motivation and skills [15], [6], [17]. Fostering skills and knowledge that help to create new opportunities [18], has become the priority for new entrepreneurial firms. New entrepreneurial firms have greater abilities to innovate than established mature firms, as new entrepreneur's ability to identify opportunities is related to knowledge [3], experience and skills. Employment of people within certain functional areas (design, software, and engineering) helps firms to shape knowledge and innovate [14].

Despite extensive theorizing about the importance of various external factors as predictors of new ideas and economic performance, that include education and competences [15]; team creativity and leadership [12]; cognitive styles of creativity [16], [17] extant empirical research misses the link between available knowledge and skills,

knowledge management and innovation outcomes [7]. In understanding this link scholars have integrated goal orientation theory [13], the knowledge spillover of entrepreneurship theory [3], [4], organizational creativity theory [2], [14] social capital theory [24] and social information processing and exchange theory [12], [17].

Despite all of this knowledge, above theories have not examined availability the role of knowledge management and organizational factors that enable knowledge and skills transformation into new ideas and performance [20], [21].

In this study, knowledge is seen as availability of skills within the company or purchase external skills (e.g. design and graphics, multimedia and software, and engineering and math skills) and human capital that includes both the formal education as well as tacit knowledge from experience and practical learning. Following prior studies [3], [4], [5], we expect that knowledge promotes innovation and economic efficiency. Motivation through a broad range of organizational and inter-organizational practices aiming in developing creativity within the organization and innovative orientation of a firm is likely to moderate the relationship between knowledge and innovation [12]. We aim to understand how characteristics of a firm, in particular skills and education effect innovation of a focal firm. What is the role of knowledge management and firm-specific internal characteristics (further - creativity filter) in the relationship of knowledge management and commercialisation?

This study makes a discussion and contributes into open innovation and creativity literature by unpacking the role of creativity as a filter of knowledge to innovation [1], [8]. We take a firm level perspective, exploring firm-level characteristics as a conduit of knowledge to innovation.

2 Knowledge, Creativity and Innovation

Knowledge and skills are the building blocks of creativity [2] and are important to the ability to innovate [8]. They allow firms to deviate from their counterparts and come up with breakthroughs that may change methods of production and processing while promoting the acceptance of innovation. By generating novel ideas that require new solutions, workers with creative skills and knowledge [10] provide their companies with new knowledge that brings new marketable opportunities [5]. The most direct link is reflected in the commercialization of knowledge through the creation of a new business. This relationship lies at the heart of the 'knowledge spillover theory of entrepreneurship' [4]. The combination of skills and ideas is not static, and may respond to changes in the firms organizational and innovation climate. Employing creative individuals and encouraging the expression of their voices increases the likelihood of identifying problems and generating new ideas [14], triggering new ways of thinking and modes of [17]. Traditional measurement of knowledge by the human capital or occupations [10] was found to be correlated with a range of other indicators capturing the formal qualifications of the workforce. Hence it was unclear whether the knowledge captures only education or more generic skills and experiences. We use a combination of skills and a proportion of workforce with scientific degrees as measure knowledge at a firm-level. Both skills and workforce qualification enable firms to change the way opportunities are defined, and be a source of these opportunities to increase innovation [7], [1] we assume:

Proposition 1. Firms that deploy skills and employ workforce with scientific degrees are likely to have higher level of innovation.

3 The Innovation Paradox and the Creativity Filter

Despite the importance of skills and formal education for generating new ideas previous management literature has found a neutral or even negative outcomes related to idea implementation [16]Although firms may employ individuals within certain functional areas with the personal attributes associated with idea generation (e.g., creativity) [2] it is unclear whether these ideas and experiences will become innovation. This finding is not surprising given innovation requires out-of-the-box thinking, exploration, risk-taking and tolerance of mistakes. It requires promoting knowledge through firm organizational and managerial practices and channels, creating a conducive environment for innovation in organization [25]. Thus, if the above conditions do not hold successful implementation of ideas becomes questionable [26]. This contradiction inherent in innovation was called "The innovation paradox."

We know that workers often complain that their firms are reluctant to introduce change, and that they find it difficult to work within the existing firm strategy and practices, and so that these practices may impede new ideas to sprout out [17], [8]. Deploying variety of skills (e.g. IT, multimedia, design, math, engineering, graphics, etc.) within certain functional areas may not result in higher level of innovation, as positive effect of some companies will be cancelled out by the negative effects. Workers with skills are subjected to inter-organizational environment and factors that are there to motivate workers and enhance not "enforce" the implementation of new ideas [5]

Social information processing theory [12] and knowledge spillover of entrepreneurship theory [4] could be used to further describe the process linking knowledge, creativity and innovation.

Within the social information perspective, firms acquiring creative for their innovation create certain types of behaviors and performance that gives rise to an environment supportive of creativity [26]. It also conveys expectations of creative performance within the firm. Empirical studies found this dimension is the only significant predictor of innovation novelty [26], as workers may or may not agree to share their idea should the benefits of doing so be uncertain and the working environment hazardous for creativity [20], [21]. A complex of organizational and inter-organizational practices work as a creative environment, which enables more efficient conversion of knowledge into innovation. This mechanism describing the link between knowledge and innovation may be described a creativity and work as a filter to knowledge. The creativity filter is a high-level umbrella construct that captures the impeding or moderating effects of a broad range of organizational as well as inter-organizational mechanisms that may hamper innovation and innovative orientation by a firm through

investment in in-house R&D and other creative expenses to support innovation inhouse. According to the social information processing theory, creativity will moderate the power of knowledge. Unlike the knowledge filter, described [4, 12, 47] as, "the inertia inherent in decision-making under uncertainty within incumbent organizations", the "creativity filter" refers to enforcement of organizational and interorganizational mechanisms and R&D intensity that moderate or hamper innovation [5]. These practices and innovation inputs pose significant constraints on the behavior of employees [25]. First, we expect more creative behavior to evolve through the new organizational and inter-organizational mechanisms (e.g. systems of employee responsibilities, teamwork, de-centralization, integration or de-integration of work, and training) when individuals can access and implement new ideas, perspectives, and knowledge. Second, the employee's creative behavior will be supported by an information exchange with external firms or public institutions (e.g. alliances, partnerships, outsourcing or sub-contracting), provides a platform through which innovation can diffuse. Both activities make up an organizational component of the filter. Another R&D component of the filter represents creative expenditure that improves innovation [23] exposes workers to diverse ideas both internally and through external interactions.

The creativity filter will enforce a higher flow of knowledge and deployment of skills through promoting responsibilities, teamwork, integration, and information exchange resulting in more ideas to sprout-out [9].

Proposition 2. The creativity filter moderates the relationship between the knowledge and innovation.

4 Creativity and New Entrepreneurial Firms

The mechanism of commercialization of knowledge and ideas is new entrepreneurial start-up described in the 'knowledge spillover theory of entrepreneurship' [2]. Since knowledge tends to be 'sticky' in space, it becomes a determinant of entrepreneurial start-ups.

Drawing on the knowledge spillover theory of entrepreneurship and its human capital component [1] we posit that knowledge needs to be enhanced by someone, whether an individual or a company, who can take a responsibility of ideas and deliver innovation to the market. Starting an entrepreneurial venture spillovers knowledge which otherwise would remain un-commercialized [5]. New entrepreneurial firms are more successful than their old counterparts in enhancing innovation.

Along with the creativity filter, young businesses are better in resolving the "Innovation paradox" by outperforming their market counterparts through creative destruction. Next we consider the time period for knowledge spillovers. We assume up to three year time lag is a sufficient period for any specific information on development decisions, R&D, and new ideas to spread in the market and across all sectors. The speed of information spread and commercialization of a product could be higher for other sectors, such as IT and engineering. We suggest start-ups serve as a conduit of

new ideas and as a creativity filter per se which filters out good ideas resulting in start-ups.

Although new firms moderate the relationship between skills and innovation, the same role could also be performed by existing and more experienced firms operating in innovative fields, like knowledge-based companies (ICT, bioengineering, pharmaceutics). Such firms typically hire highly educated and skilled individuals (engineers, telecommunications graduates) to implement and further develop new ideas and innovations (e.g., Sony, Apple or Microsoft). In measuring the moderation role of both start-ups and established firms, we need to take into account several possible channels of creativity to the market which allows us not to overstate the relevance of any specific type of a conduit.

Proposition 3. New entrepreneurial firms moderate the relationship between the knowledge and innovation.

5 Measures and Approach

Innovation is measured as the percentage of a business's total turnover from goods and services that were new to the market [26]. In line with the management and economics literature [1, 4, 5]. *Productivity* could be reflected by two measures. The first measure consists of the gross value added in sales. The second measure consists of the wages and other employment benefits paid to firm's sales.

Our variables of interest are creativity and the creative environment which can either enhance or constrain the creativity. Building on what is needed for individual creativity [11], we follow [1, 20, 21] in operationalizing a firm's creativity in terms of the employment of individuals with skill at any level in the graphic arts/layout/advertising and design of objects, multimedia/web design, software/database development and management, or engineering/applied sciences and mathematics/statistics. Firms may also obtain these skills from external sources for in-house use. Usually a binary answer is obtained for each of the three types of creative skills (0 means skills were not employed, and 1 means skills were employed).

We draw on [26], who originally developed the scale measuring the creative climate supportive for innovation along with [8], [11]. The mechanism describing the link between creativity and innovation may work as a filter to knowledge and therefore termed a creativity filter.

The creativity filter is a composite indicator of complex organizational systems. It consists of an organizational and innovation input (R&D) component. To be able to design and develop the creativity filter researchers jointly with the Office of national Statistics, UK have conducted phone interviews. In the sample 155 R&D managers located in various UK regions representing the manufacturing, service and R&D sectors. 130 responses were interviewed. The results were used to assign appropriate weights to organization component of the filter – introduced by three organizational and business practices (see formula 1 below).

$$F_i = (w_{0.25}M_{1i} + w_{0.5}M_{2i} + w_{0.25}M_{3i}) + RD_i$$
(1)
F_i is the size of the filter of a firm *i* in industry *j*. The R&D effort - innovation component of the filter is given as the choice of a firm to invest in in-house creative work undertaken within the business that increases knowledge. This can be for the purpose of developing new and improved products and processes for current or future innovation. The R&D component contributes half of the filter size, which varies between zero - no R&D expenditure - and one - in-house R&D expenditure is undertaken.

The organizational part of the filter is a composite sum of the three types of organizational strategies and practices applied by organization. It aims at raising internal efficiency and the effectiveness of approaching markets and customers. The higher the score, the smaller the size of the creativity filter and the smaller the gap between commercialized and un-commercialized creativity.

Companies that have fewer than 10 employees, have not introduced at least one method of organizing work and business practices over the period of 2008-2010 and companies that did not provide any rank of those practices were excluded. Respondents were asked to rank organizational and business practices by their importance to innovation. Most respondents (102) placed M_{2i} , referring to new methods of organizing work responsibilities and decision making (i.e. the first use of a new system of employee responsibilities, teamwork, de-centralization, the integration or de-integration of departments, education/training systems, etc.) as the most relevant component of organizational innovation. More than half of the respondents (70) ranked M_{1i} as the first or second most important component of innovation, which refers to new business organizing procedures (i.e. supply chain management, business re-engineering, knowledge management, lean production, quality management, etc.) and constitutes a quarter of the organizational component of the filter. Finally, the rest of the group ranked M_{3i} as the second or third most important component of innovation, which refers to new methods of organizing an organization's external relationships with other firms or public institutions (i.e. the first use of alliances, partnerships, outsourcing or sub-contracting etc.).

We distributed the weights equally between M_{2i} and M_{3i} by assigning 0.25 of the unity of the organizational components that contribute half of the filter size. This varies between zero (no organizational strategy or practices were introduced) and one (all three types were introduced). The interview method was used in order to shed more light on the relevance of each specific organizational practice to the process of introducing new products to the market. This meant we could be flexible and precise when distributing the weights, rather than treating all new practices as equally important. The organizational and innovation components of the filter vary between zero and two.

In order to test the moderating effects of the filter in linking the process of creativity and knowledge flow to innovation we included the interaction of each type of creative skill in the model. As control variables we will need to include firm size (log of the number of employees and the square of the log of number of employees), UK regions, sector dummy, an exporting dummy, the effectiveness of patent protection (0: patent protection not used to 3: high efficacy), enterprise age.

6 Managerial Implications

The model demonstrates firm's reliance on availability of skilled and creative employees both inside and outside a firm. Business start-ups and experienced established companies exploring new opportunities is an important factor shaping creativity into marketable products and processes. On the one hand, establishing a new business is the most efficient and quick way to commercialize creative skills. On the other hand, start-ups are on average less productive than established firms, unless they are successful in employment of individuals with a mix of creative skills to secure higher wages, and add value to their products.

Our creativity filter reveals the importance of innovative and organizational effort when working on innovation. This enables more creative behavior and thereby the smaller size of the filter. The filter is something to be taken into consideration by R&D managers, as it correlates strongly with innovation output. As filter impedes the creative behavior of employees, it also constraints the development of new products. Thus, changes in organizational business strategy and R&D support are important. Managers may find it useful to foster the learning activities of their employees through lean manufacturing, introducing a system of employee responsibilities, promoting the development of team work, the de-centralization of tasks, temporary job placements, and educational systems such as Sigma 6, Invest in People and other similar strategies. Developing team-building and rewarding the implementation of new ideas will perform some conduit of creativity functions. An open exchange of information via the organizational and managerial practices discussed is critical to innovation and the creativity-filter-innovation link.

Within these boundaries, R&D and finance managers may encourage internal research and development in a number of ways, such as by financing it in-house or finding sponsors to fund creative work undertaken within the business. In particular, focus should be on the generation and implementation of new ideas employees both inside and outside of organization. To sum up, the creativity is a multilevel phenomenon, and managers should apply a systematic approach to institutionalized platforms as routines and practices inside their firm. Creativity filter is a conduit of creativity to innovation and it is about both innovation inputs and organizational practices (capabilities) that enables to commercialize creativity mix through recruitment of employees with various creative skills and experimenting to see what works best.

7 Conclusion

This study is the first to examine creativity filter as a conduit of creativity in innovative firms, demonstrating that creativity comes before knowledge and skills. Further integration of goal orientation theory, the knowledge spillover of entrepreneurship theory, organizational creativity theory and information exchange theory is needed to release the black box explaining the "creativity-innovation-productivity" links.

Policies targeting an increase local economic growth and tax revenues may focus on better commercialization of available creative skills at the firm level, and by providing support to new firm start-ups to spillover creativity. Developing a policy to support both extramural and intramural spillovers of creativity could increase innovation. Any increase in the gross value added in sales will accordingly affect the amount of corporate tax collected. To continue growing an entrepreneurial policy that supports both established firms and new businesses start-ups which employ individuals with creative skills at any level is important.

Government policies that enable businesses to implement new management techniques as well as major changes to their organizational structure while increasing their innovation should be further promoted. Having the creativity filter monitored by both shareholders and R&D innovation teams in organizations may help to avoid possible failures in the development and impediment to novel ideas. To enhance radical innovation, our study suggests that innovation and skills policies should encourage the employment of individuals with software, multimedia, math, applied science and engineering skills. These skills could be easily transferred into innovation and profits.

Specifically, policies may focus on setting up a scheme that enables the development of R&D teams at the firm level which are composed of both experienced entrepreneurs and individuals with a creative skills mix. The target of the creativity filter is to ensure that the gap between creativity and knowledge exchange is kept to a minimum and more ideas flow throughout the filter. In embedding the R&D teams with entrepreneurs who can see opportunities and negotiate with "attentive-to-detail" members will intensify the knowledge flow. More start-ups may take place within the organization and benefit the productivity of established firms. The failure in doing so will increase the creativity filter size and increase the number of workers leaving and starting a new business.

References

- Agarwal, R., Audretsch, D.B., Sarkar, M.: Knowledge Spillovers and Strategic Entrepreneurship. Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal 4, 271–283 (2010)
- Amabile, T.M.: Stimulate creativity by fueling passion. In: Locke, E. (ed.) Handbook of principles of organizational behavior, pp. 331–341. Blackwell, Malden (2000)
- 3. Audretsch, D.B., Lehmann, E.E.: Does the knowledge spillover theory of entrepreneurship hold for regions? Research Policy 34(8), 1191–1202 (2005)
- 4. Audretsch, D.B., Keilbach, M.C.: The Theory of Knowledge Spillover Entrepreneurship. Journal of Management Studies 44, 1242–1254 (2007)
- Audretsch, D.B., Belitski, M.: The missing pillar: the creativity theory of knowledge spillover entrepreneurship. Small Business Economics 41(4), 819–836 (2013)
- Bilton, C.: Management and creativity: From creative industries to creative management. Blackwell, London (2007)
- Collins, C.J., Smith, K.G.: Knowledge exchange and combination: The role of human resource practices in the performance of high-technology firms. Academy of Management Journal 49, 544–560 (2006)
- Cummings, A., Oldham, G.: Enhancing creativity: Managing work contexts for the high potential employee. California Management Review 40(1), 22–38 (1997)
- 9. Dirks, K.T., Ferrin, D.L.: The role of trust in organizational settings. Organization Science 12, 450–467 (2001)

- 10. Florida, R.L.: The rise of the creative class. Basic Books, New York (2002)
- George, J.M., Zhou, J.: Dual tuning in a supportive context: Joint contributions of positive mood, negative mood, and supervisory behaviors to employee creativity. Academy of Management Journal 50, 605–622 (2007)
- Gong, Y., Kim, T.Y., Zhu, J., Lee, D.R.: A Multilevel Model of Team Goal Orientation, Information Exchange, and Creativity. Academy of Management Journal 56, 827–851 (2013)
- Hirst, G., van Knippenberg, D., Zhou, J.: A crosslevel perspective on employee creativity: Goal orientation, team learning behavior, and individual creativity. Academy of Management Journal 52, 280–293 (2009)
- 14. Levitt, T.: Creativity is not enough. Harvard Business Review 80(8), 137-144 (2002)
- Lovelace, K., Shapiro, D.L., Weingart, L.R.: Maximizing cross-functional new products teams' innovativeness and constraints adherence: A conflict communications perspective. Academy of Management Journal 44, 779–793 (2001)
- Miron, E., Erez, M., Naveh, E.: Do personal characteristics and cultural values that promote innovation, quality, and efficiency compete or complement each other? Journal of Organizational Behavior 25, 175–199 (2004)
- Miron-Spektor, E., Erez, M., Naveh, E.: The effect of the conformist and attentive-to-detail members on team innovation: reconciling the innovation paradox. Academy of Management Journal 54(4), 740–760 (2011)
- Oldham, G.R., Cummings, A.: Employee creativity: Personal and contextual factors at work. Academy of Management Journal 39, 607–634 (1996)
- 19. Taggar, S.: Individual creativity and group ability to utilize individual creative resources: A multilevel model. Academy of Management Journal 45, 315–330 (2002)
- Shalley, C.E., Zhou, J., Oldham, G.R.: The effects of personal and contextual characteristics on creativity: Where should we go from here? Journal of Management 30, 933–958 (2004)
- Shalley, C.E., Gilson, L.L., Blum, T.C.: Interactive effects of growth need strength, work context, and job complexity on self-reported creative performance. Academy of Management Journal 52, 489–505 (2009)
- Taylor, A., Greve, H.R.: Superman or the fantastic four? Knowledge combination and experience in innovation teams. Academy of Management Journal 49, 723–740 (2006)
- Tierney, P., Farmer, S.M.: Creative self-efficacy: Potential antecedents and relationship to creative performance in two organizational settings. Academy of Management Journal 45, 1137–1148 (2002)
- 24. Tsai, W., Ghoshal, S.: Social capital and value creation: The role of intrafirm networks. Academy of Management Journal 41, 464–476 (1998)
- West, M.A.: Sparkling fountains or stagnant ponds: An integrative model of creativity and innovation implementation in work groups. Applied Psychology: An International Review 51, 355–386 (2002)
- West, M.A., Anderson, N.R.: Innovation in top management teams. Journal of Applied Psychology 81, 680–693 (1996)

The Relationship between Flexible Human Resource Management and Enterprise Innovation Performance: A Study from Organizational Learning Capability Perspective

Jin Chen¹ and Weizi Li²

¹ Busienss School, University of Shanghai for Science and Technology, Shanghai, China ² Henley Busienss School, University of Reading, Reading, UK susanna0201@vip.sina.com, weizi.li@henley.ac.uk

Abstract. Currently the enterprises are facing complex external environment. This paper aims to identify relationships among flexible human resource management, organizational learning capability and innovation performance. The qualitative research through surveys from 250 companies is designed based on organizational learning and flexible human resource management theory. The findings reveal that: 1) functional flexibility and behavior flexibility have significant positive effects on organizational learning capability; 2) extended skill flexibility is not conducive to the improvement of organizational learning capability. Therefore enterprise can use functional flexibility strategy, extended skill flexibility strategy and behavior flexibility strategy to improve enterprise innovation performance. Organisational learning capabilities, on the other hand, act as an intermediate between flexible human resource management and organizational innovation performance. From practical point of view, the research findings provide guidance for practitioners to improve human resource management and enterprise innovation levels.

Keywords: flexible human resource management, organizational learning capability, innovation performance.

1 Introduction

Knowledge economy and digital age has brought great change into enterprises. Enterprises are facing fierce competition in an uncertain, dynamic and complex environment [1]. These new features therefore require enterprises to have characteristics such as adaptabilities, changes and learning capabilities. In comparison with the traditional human resource management, flexible characteristics, such as cooperation, sensitivity and harmony etc., are more indispensable to human resource management in contemporary society. Employees are encouraged to assimilate and utilize new knowledge in the environment of organizational learning. Knowledge management and integration is necessary to realize organizational innovation to achieve competitive advantage and innovation performance. The aim of this paper is to analyze the relationship between flexible recourse management and innovation performance, as well as the function of the intermediary--organizational learning capability.

2 Flexible Human Resource Management, Innovation Performance and Organizational Learning Capabilities: State-of-the-Art

2.1 Flexible Human Resource Management

Flexible human resource management is a management practice to affect directly or indirectly skills, behaviors and learning capabilities of employees. This is achieved through flexible management such as flexible adjustment of employee structure, employment mode, training plan and incentive plan. The research of human resource flexibility starts from 1990s, which is based on resource theory and core competence theory. Human resource flexibility investigates how enterprises adjust to the changing environment and keep their competitive advantages through flexible human resource management strategy. This flexible management mode provides distinct insights from traditional human resource management in terms of management objective, management role and strategic position [1] (Table 1).

The focus of flexible human resource management lies in enhancing employees' flexibility of functions, skills and behaviors according to organizational needs. This involves a series of human resource management strategies to influence employees' psychology, guide their behavior, and finally achieve and align personal and organizational objectives together. Therefore, this paper divides flexible human resource management into three dimensions: functional flexible strategy, extended skill flexible strategy and behavior flexible strategy. These three dimensions are based on the Beltran [2] and Sanchez [3]'s classification of flexible human resource management measurement. Functional flexible strategy is to foster multi-skilled employees who are capable to undertake multiple tasks in various circumstances and adaptable to work among different departments quickly and with low cost. This will be achieved through employee-participated job (tasks) design, role shift and establishing a cross functional team. Extended skill flexible strategy is to create environment for employees to learn new skills and enhance their flexibility to learn quickly and undertake new tasks. This will be achieved through employee relationships system and training design, such as personnel external allocation, training and socialization. Behavior flexible strategy is to adjust employees' behavior and psychology, enrich behavior patterns enhance employee's autonomy and support the diversity of behaviors in different circumstances. These will be achieved through organization internal motivation and constraint mechanism [3].

Management	Traditional Human Resource	Flexible Human Resource Man-
mode	Management	agement
Purpose	To improve the efficiency of	To improve the dynamic adapta-
	enterprises	tion ability and competitiveness
		of enterprises
Management	Job evaluation, performance	Employee relationship manage-
Function	appraisal, salary management	ment, team management, human
		resource outsourcing
Management	The one who maintain the organ-	The driver of organizational
Role	ization at "as-is" level	reform towards "to-be" level
Organization	Pyramid type	Flattening type
Structure		
Management	Employees and the organization	Employees and the organization
Perspective	are of a labor capital relation-	are of a cooperative partnership
D . 1 D	ship	D
External En-	Controllable and stable external	Dynamic and complex external
vironment	environment	environment
Strategic	enterprise strategy executor	The decision makers and execu-
Position		tor of enterprise strategy
Management	Iraditional Human Resource	Flexible Human Resource Man-
mode	Management	agement
Purpose	To improve the efficiency of	To improve the dynamic adapta-
	enterprises	tion ability and competitiveness
		or enterprises

 Table 1. Differences between traditional human resource management and flexible human resource management

2.2 Flexible Human Resource Management and Innovational Performance

Innovation is highly dependent on the integration of talents and knowledge, which requires organisational capability of acquiring and attracting talent. Mei's [4] research indicates that flexible human resource management can form an human resource allocation which is difficult to substitute and imitate through embedded into the enterprises' internal situation and external environment, in order to improve their survivability and development capability. Robert [14] holds that flexible human resource management comes from the flexible policies and practices in the related fields of human resource management which facilitate employees to balance job, family and livelihood to acquire senses of safe and support and also post a positive influence on organizational innovation and participation so as to motivate employees to provide extra work to organization in return. Nie [5] considers that flexible human capital and flexible human resource system are the two aspects of flexible human resource. Flexible human capital fully utilizes team knowledge to create new knowledge constantly. On the other hand, flexible human recourse system acts as a coordination mechanism. It supports fast responses and focus on the value and scarcity of the enterprise' flexibility for long term competitiveness [5].

2.3 Organizational Learning Capability as An Intermediary between Flexible Human Resource Management and Innovation Performance

The concept "organizational learning" was first proposed by Agyris and Schon in the 1970s [6]. At first, it indicated the procedure that an organization finds mistakes and reframes its "Theories-in-use" to correct the mistakes. Kodama held that the realization of innovation target demanded for flexible staff employment [9]. Cao [7] proposed that the enterprises needed to bring in flexible human resource management according to the features of knowledge workers and adopt flexible human resource management strategies to narrow the knowledge gap and boost the efficiency of knowledge acquisition [7].

Flexible human resource management offers management support in terms of time and technology for organizational learning. The flexible extended skill strategies offers to broaden knowledge and the flexible behavior strategies facilitate the change of working mode. From the analysis above, organizational learning capability stands between the flexible human resource management and innovation performance and plays an intermediate role.

3 Research Model and Hypothesis

There is an inner link between the flexible human resource management and innovation performance. The flexible human resource management plays an important role in the process of clearing away of the obstacles for the organizational learning. In other words, the flexible human resource management can affect the innovation performance indirectly through the organizational learning capability. We construct our theoretical underpinning based on existing theories including flexible human resource management [2, 3], organizational learning capability Pilar [15] and the innovation performance [10, 11]. We therefore proposed a conceptual model as show in Fig. 3-1 as well as the measure index for the latent variables. The analysis of the relationships among the variables is presented in details in the later sections. The aim is to illustrate and verify the combined effect of flexible human resource management and organizational learning capability on innovation performance and the mediating effect of the organizational learning capability between flexible human resource management and organization innovation performance.



Fig. 1. Conceptual Model of organizational learning capability, flexible human resource management and innovation performance

3.1 Analysis of the Influence of Flexible Human Resource Management on Organizational Learning

The flexible strategies of human resource are often accompanied by the innovative transformation of workflow and mode. The independent and open culture can be created through enrichment and enlargement of work, job rotation and the feedback of performance evaluation. The employee can obtain senses of achievement, senses of identity, senses of duty and self-development. This can affect the staff's psychology indirectly and make them realize the necessity of constant learning and improvement.

Based on the above, we propose the hypotheses as follows:

H1: Flexible human resource management (functional flexibility, extended skill flexibility and behavior flexibility) is beneficial to the improvement of organization learning capability.

H1a: Functional flexibility is beneficial to the improvement of organizational learning capability.

H1b: Extended skill flexibility is beneficial to the improvement of organizational learning capability.

H1c: Behavior flexibility is beneficial to the improvement of organizational learning capability.

3.2 Analysis of the Influence of Organizational Learning Capability on Innovation Performance

Organizational innovation cannot be done without the acquisition and utilization of knowledge, and organizational learning is a main way to acquire, exploit and disseminate the knowledge. From organizational learning perspective, organisations could adopt two forms of learning including exploitation learning and exploration learning to obtain competitive advantages. Exploitation learning tries to boost the utilization ratio of current acquired knowledge resource. Exploration learning tries to absorb and create new knowledge and identify new technical and business opportunities. In term of learning propose that there exists an "action community" which can integrate and store knowledge effectively. The external learning emphasizes on the role of customers, suppliers, competitors and other partners to gather, transfer, apply and create knowledge.

Based on the above, we propose the hypotheses as follows:

H2: Organizational learning capability has a positive effect on the improvement of innovation performance.

H2a: Organizational learning capability has a positive effect on the improvement of technical innovation performance.

H2b: Organizational learning capability has a positive effect on the improvement of management innovation performance.

3.3 Analysis of the Influence of the Practice of Flexible Human Resource Management on Innovation Performance

The influence of the practice of flexible human resource management on innovation performance is often by the help of some mediator to affect the staff's abilities and behaviors. Specifically, flexible human resource management emphasizes the enhancement of knowledge management and formation of dynamic capability to affect the innovation performance.

Resource Based View (RBV) takes an enterprise as a composition of various resources. If an enterprise possesses some unique resource, it then processes the capability of improving competitive advantage. Knowledge acquisition, sharing and creation form the key link of an innovation procedure. Human resource management boosts innovation through knowledge management. The enterprise dynamic capability was first raised by Teece and Pisano[8]. They emphasize the dynamic diversity of environment on the one hand and the adaptability of the capability on the other hand [8]. Modern human resource management uses internal motivation and constraint mechanisms to adjust enterprise's dynamic capability that is able to response to changes in the dynamic environment.

Based on the above, we propose the hypotheses as follows:

H3: Flexible human resource management (functional flexibility, extended skill flexibility and behavior flexibility) has positive effects on the improvement of technical innovation performance.

H3a: Functional flexibility has positive effects on the improvement of technical innovation performance.

H3b: Extended skill flexibility has positive effects on the improvement of technical innovation performance.

H3c: Behavior flexibility has positive effects on the improvement of technical innovation performance.

H4: Flexible human resource management (functional flexibility, extended skill flexibility and behavior flexibility) has positive effects on the improvement of management innovation performance.

H4a: Functional flexibility has positive effects on the improvement of management innovation performance.

H4b: Extended skill flexibility has positive effects on the improvement of management innovation performance.

H3b: Behavior flexibility has positive effects on the improvement of management innovation performance.

3.4 Mediating Effect of Organizational Learning Capability

Kodama thinks that the realization of innovation goal requires fast leaning capability and making use of external expertise, knowledge as well as talents outside the organization, which requires the flexibility in the employment [9]. This flexible employment is helpful to get creative ideas and reduce cost for the organization. The reason of employing temporary workers is the low cost, but in the meantime the organization can also get competitive advantages by applying the new knowledge and creation. Based on the discussion above, we propose the hypotheses as follows:

H5: The organizational learning capability has a mediating effect during the procedure in which the functional flexibility human resource management positively affects the innovation performance.

3.5 The Measurement of Innovation Performance

We hold that innovation performance does not only include technical innovation performance, but also management innovation. The essence of innovation is an insight into the market changes and business opportunities and the integration of products, technology, manufacture, marketing, which can bring the enterprises competitive advantages and business profit. We have designed the measurement of innovation performance based on the existing research on innovation [10,11] . Specifically, the innovation performance is categorized as technical innovation performance and management performance. Technical innovation performance refers to the innovation performance of products, manufacturing process and equipment. The management innovation performance refers to the innovation performance of organization planning, management methods, resource allocation and business models.

4 Results and Managerial Implications

4.1 Results

This research has used quantitative methods with large samples to verify the relationships between flexible human resource management, organizational learning capability and innovation performance. Through a series of regression analysis, we verify that the flexible human resource management and organizational learning capability have positive effect on innovation performance. Organizational learning capability plays an intermediary role between flexible human resource management and innovation performance. The specific relationships are as follows:

(1) Functional flexibility and behavior flexibility have obvious positive effect on organizational learning capability. Extended skill flexibility has negative effect on organizational learning capability.

By adopting functional flexibility strategy (e.g. work design participation, job rotation, trans-department teams, etc.) and extended skill flexibility strategy (e.g. training, flexible employment, mentoring program, etc.), employees normally should be actively involved in the whole process of knowledge absorbing, conveying and integration. The organizational learning capability will be aligned with organizational goals. However, contrary to the hypothesis, the extended skill flexibility is not beneficial to the improvement of the organizational learning capability. The reason may be: when hiring part-time staff, external staff or professional consultants, core internal workers may feel it pose a threat to their feeling of security in the organization. This will leads to a falling of the psychological contract and worse relationship between the employee and the employers. This potential atmosphere changes may influence employee's s learning motivation and effects.

(2) Organizational learning capability has obvious positive effect on the innovation performance

In the structural model equation, the standardized path coefficient between organizational learning capability and innovation performance is 0.16, which is significant in the 0.01 level and indicates that the organizational learning capability can predict the innovation performance. The enterprise can develop its core competence through organizational learning to promote the knowledge acquisition, storage and innovation. Furthermore enterprises can improve management innovation ability through interorganizational learning that brings in advanced management method as their own management expertise.

(3) In terms of flexible human resource management, the functional flexibility, extended skill flexibility and behavior flexibility have positive effects on innovation performance.

Through the functional flexible strategies such as job rotation and across teamwork, the staff has opportunities to develop multiple skills. This is helpful to consolidate core knowledge and transforms into human capital. Through the extended skill flexible strategies such as training, social mentor or external recruitment, it helps staff raise learning ability, achieve their goals and values as well as to improve readiness for innovation. Through behavior flexible strategies such as flexible working time, rational authorization and salary motivation, it is helpful to enhance the staff's behavior freedom and diversities, rouse their initiative and improve the management level and overall performance significantly.

(4) The analysis of the mediating effect of the organizational learning capability between the flexible human resource management and innovation performance

From the structural equation analysis, we find that the organizational learning capability plays an intermediary role between flexible human resource management and innovation performance. The enterprise is able to influence the staff's motivation and attitude by using flexible human resource strategies, Which will help to provide management support for organizational learning and improve the whole innovation performance.

4.2 Management Implications

By regarding organizational learning capability as the intermediary of flexible human resource management and innovation performance, we verify the importance of flexible human resource management on innovation performance and the mediating effect of organizational learning capability. The conclusion of this research provides guidance for human resource management and the enhancement of innovation capability.

(1) "Couple hardness with softness" in management

Flexible human resource management should be combined with rigid management properly. Although the flexible human resource management provides good elasticity, it demands higher level of management. In most cases, it depends on a mature human resource system to acquire the compatible mechanisms and appropriate environment, which is essential to maximize the effect of flexible human resource management.

(2) Apply flexible motivation in organizational learning

Flexible human resource management has a long-term feature because it aims to meet the employees' demands for future development. On one hand, the leader should highly appreciate the need of flexible human resource management. On the other hand, it requires the enterprises to pay attention to the employees' psychological needs and motivate employees through specific flexible strategies, in order to transform organization goal to the employees' spontaneous behaviors. The flexible motivation is very beneficial to individual and organizational learning. For example, in performance improvement, the flexible improvement plan, such as performance communication, performance feedback and flexible training programs, can make up the deficiency of employees. Learning capability of employee should be an important target of the performance improvement. It is necessary to push the stuff to enhance their learning capability, especially of learning from the mistakes and experiences, and to lead the stuff to the way that is helpful to the development of the enterprise. Again for instance, through tuning the proportion of internal and external payment, more attention can be paid to the motivation of employees' personality developments and value realization by internal payment.

(3) Identify both enterprise' characteristics and its environment

Both the flexible management and rigid management have their pros and cons. In the practice of flexible human resource management, the enterprise needs to determine appropriate flexible strategies according to its characteristics, stage of development, external environment and development objectives. Especially, since most of the related theories of our present flexible human resource management come from western countries, the enterprises in China should consider the differences with the context of theories and the implication environment.

References

- 1. Xinmin, T.: Flexible human resource management: A new perspective of strategic human resource management, pp. 34–41. Shanghai Jiao Tong University press, Shanghai (2007)
- 2. Martin, B.: Human resource flexibility as a mediating variable between high performance work systems and performance. Journal of Management Review 34(5), 1009–1044 (2008)
- 3. Sanchez: The Dynamics of Labor Flexibility: Relationships between Employment Type and Innovativeness. Journal of Management study 48(4), 715–736 (2011)
- Mei, S.: The empirical study on flexible human resource management, strategic entrepreneurship and hi-tech enterprise. Management of Science and Technology (8), 157–162 (2010) (in Chinese)
- 5. Nie, H.: Human resource flexibility and its impact on organizational performance. PhD thesis. Management School, Wuhan University of technology (2009) (in Chinese)

- 6. Argyris, C., Schon, D.A.: Organizational Learning: A Theory of Action Perspective. Addison-Wesley, Reading (1978)
- Cao, L., Chen, J.: Flexible human resource management strategy to improve organizational knowledge management. Management of Science and Technology (8), 86–91 (2005) (in Chinese)
- Teece, Pisano: Profiting from technological innovation: implications for integration, collaboration, licensing and public policy. Research Policy (15), 285–305 (1986)
- 9. Kodama, F.: Measuring emerging categories of innovation: Modularity and business model. Technological Forecasting & Social Change 71(4), 623–633 (2004)
- Daft RL. A dual-core model of organizational innovation. Academy of Management Journal 21(2), 193–210 (1978)
- 11. Nonaka, T.H.: The knowledge creating company: howJapanese companies create the dynamics of innovation. Oxford University Press, Oxford (1995)
- 12. Wu, M.: Structured equation model: using AMOS, pp. 138–256. Chongqing Publishing Group, Chongqing (2007) (in Chinese)
- 13. Liang, Y., Cui, X.: SPSS statistical analysis and application, Beijing, China, pp. 234–279. China Railway Publishing House (2007) (in Chinese)
- Michel, R.D.J.: Faculty satisfaction and work-family enrichment: The moderating effect of human resource flexibility. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences 46, 5168–5172 (2012)
- Jerez-Gomez, P., Lorentea, J.C., Cabrerab, R.V.: Organizational learning capability: a proposal of measurement. Journal of Business Research (58), 715–725 (2005)

Author Index

Adasme, Pablo 156Aimin, Luo 102Alfaro, Miguel 156Audretsch, David 195Baranauskas, M. Cecília C. 30, 70, 92 Belitski, Maksim 195Buchdid, Samuel B. 70, 92 Carrasco, Raúl 156Chang, Dan 176Charrel, Pierre-Jean 135Chen, Jin 204Dkaki, Taoufiq 135Effah, John 51Ehm, Hans 166 Galofaro, Francesco 1 Gao, Shang 41, 112 Han, Jingti 186 Heilmayer, Stefan 166Hornung, Heiko H. 70Jin, Xian 146Krogstie, John 41, 112 Lano, Kevin 123Li, Jing 176Li, Weizi 60, 204

Liu, Kecheng 30, 60, 80 Liu, Shixiong 60 Maike, Vanessa R.M.L. 92Maroukian, Krikor 123Pereira, Roberto 30, 70 Rose, Thomas 166 Saidi, Imad Eddine 135Sarbo, Janos J. 10Seguel, Fabián 156Soto, Ismael 156Sun, Can 166Sun, Lily 146Suurmond, Coen 20Tang, Llewellyn CM 80 Wang, Ziyi 186Xu, Shen 80 Xueshan, Luo 102Yamin, Mohammad 123Yang, Jessica H. 10Yang, Yuhao 112Zarour, Nacer Eddine 135Zhen, Shu 102Zheng, Qin 146Zhu, Xin 176